

# General practice activity in Australia

# 2011-12

# Family Medicine Research Centre

Helena Britt, Graeme C Miller, Joan Henderson, Janice Charles, Lisa Valenti, Christopher Harrison, Clare Bayram, Carmen Zhang, Allan J Pollack, Julie O'Halloran, Ying Pan

GENERAL PRACTICE SERIES N°31

GENERAL PRACTICE SERIES Number 31

# General practice activity in Australia 2011–12

# BEACH Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health

Helena Britt, Graeme C Miller, Joan Henderson, Janice Charles, Lisa Valenti, Christopher Harrison, Clare Bayram, Carmen Zhang, Allan J Pollack, Julie O'Halloran, Ying Pan

November 2012



Sydney University Press

Published 2012 by Sydney University Press SYDNEY UNIVERSITY PRESS University of Sydney Library sydney.edu.au/sup

© Sydney University Press 2012

#### **Reproduction and Communication for other purposes**

Except as permitted under the Act, no part of this edition may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or communicated in any form or by any means without prior written permission. All requests for reproduction or communication should be made to Sydney University Press at the address below:

Sydney University Press Fisher Library F03 University of Sydney NSW 2006 AUSTRALIA Email: sup.info@sydney.edu.au

Any enquiries about or comments on this publication should be directed to:

The Family Medicine Research Centre Sydney School of Public Health, University of Sydney Level 7, 16–18 Wentworth Street, Parramatta NSW 2150 Phone: +61 2 9845 8151; Fax: +61 2 9845 8155 Email: gpstats@fmrc.org.au

This publication is part of the General practice series based on results from the BEACH program conducted by the Family Medicine Research Centre. A complete list of the Centre's publications is available from the FMRC's website <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/>.

ISSN 1442-3022 ISBN 978-1-74332-018-1 pbk ISBN 978-1-74332-019-8 online

#### Suggested citation

Britt H, Miller GC, Henderson J, Charles J, Valenti L, Harrison C, Bayram C, Zhang C, Pollack AJ, O'Halloran J, Pan Y. General practice activity in Australia 2011–12. General practice series no.31. Sydney. Sydney University Press, 2012.

#### Keywords

Australia, delivery of health care/statistics and numerical data, family practice/statistics and numerical data, healthcare surveys/methods.

Companion publication Britt H, Miller GC, Charles J, Henderson J, Valenti L, Harrison C, Zhang C, Chamber T, Pollack AJ, Bayram C, O'Halloran J, Pan Y. A decade of Australian general practice activity 2002–03 to 2011–12. General practice series no. 32. Sydney: Sydney University Press, 2012. Available at <hdl.handle.net/2123/7771>

Cover design by Miguel Yamin, the University Publishing Service

Printed in Australia

# Preface

#### "We believe that it would be useful for researchers to keep up databases ... over several years so that changes over time and their consequences on quality of care can be quantified" (Norton, Dunn and Soberman, 1994)

In Australia the general practice profession has a unique opportunity to assess its strengths and weaknesses, and see the changes in its practice over time, through the reports from the BEACH program. This 31st book in the General practice series describes clinical activity at GP-patient encounters in 2011–12 and is accompanied by the 32nd book, *A decade of Australian general practice* 2002–03 to 2011–12.

The General practice series provides timely information to the profession of general practice, professional organisations, researchers, health planners and policy makers. When BEACH began in 1998 as a paper based survey program, many believed it would only last about two years ... just until we could organise the secure download of data from GP electronic health records (EHRs). The BEACH program is now in its 15th year.

It took over 20 years of extensive research and development to get to the national BEACH program – testing validity and reliability of each aspect of the methods (funded by small NHMRC grants), followed by 'proof of concept' in 1990–91 in the conduct of the national Australian Morbidity and Treatment Survey (AMTS). The AMTS data provided the basis on which we further developed the standards for GP encounter data – national sample size requirements, data structures, data elements and their definitions, and coding and classification systems. Many used the AMTS data and over the next seven years the need for more up-to-date information became clearly recognised.

So BEACH was born, the only continuous, national, representative study of GP activity in the world that links management actions with morbidity. This linkage is essential for the understanding of what treatments are given for which morbidity, but Medicare and the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme do not have such linkages. Governments were not prepared to fund the program in full but were willing to help, so the program has somewhat tenuous research funding from multiple organisations, many of which have changed over time.

BEACH remains a paper based study. The barriers to reliable electronic measurement of GP clinical activity remain large. Most people assumed that with EHRs, there was no need for research and development of the type leading to the BEACH program. As a result, we still have no mandated standards for EHR structure, data elements, definitions, terminologies and classification systems, and no minimum data set required about the patient, their past history, family history and their encounter.

Over the years much of the ground work has been done. For example in the early 90's, as part of the Aus-Read trial, we developed detailed specifications for GP EHRs, and these were regarded as a major achievement by the independent reviewers of the project. However, no-one took up these specifications and Government decided not to proceed with development of standards for computerised data recording and collation. We assume these specifications remain in someone's drawer.

Then in 1997, IBM produced a Functional Requirements Specification for Clinical and Administrative General Practice Computer Systems for the (then) Commonwealth Department of Health and Family Services. In 2000, in collaboration with the profession and the FMRC, Simsion Bowles and Associates developed a comprehensive general practice data model and core data set, funded by the Department of Health and Ageing through the General Practice Computer Group (GPCG). Later the GPCG did considerably more work in the area of standards for EHRs. In 2003, the International Classification of Primary Care (ICPC-2) was declared the recommended standard for classifying patient reported and GP recorded morbidity data. Sadly, this again failed to become an enforced standard.

In 2005, following the establishment of the National eHealth Transition Authority (NeHTA), government funding for the GPCG ended and it was effectively shut down with the cessation of dedicated government funded GP IT development. NeHTA has subsequently concentrated on developing the Personally Controlled Electronic Health Record (PCEHR). The RACGP is currently reviewing GP EHR standards, but without substantial funding support this work is likely to be protracted.

So while much work has been done, none has resulted in implementation of the necessary GP EHR standards. Currently we have multiple EHR systems with different structures, data elements and terminologies. This lack of adherence to standards has increasingly restricted practice freedom to change EHR systems; it has a negative effect on interoperability, and has ensured that national data collection programs cannot rely on passive data collection from GP desktops to provide a reliable picture of the care provided to the population. Such lack of data standards is amazing in a country with 125 million GP services claimed through Medicare in the 2011–12 financial year, at a cost to government of about \$5 billion dollars.

With increasing prevalence of multimorbidity in an ageing population, and growing acceptance of the need for a more holistic approach to an individual's care within the healthcare system, the care given in general practice has become more than that provided by the GPs alone. Since the introduction of Medicare item numbers for selected practice nurse and Aboriginal health worker activities, the work of individual GPs has changed.

It is likely that more and more of the services provided by other health professionals will be conducted independently of the GP-patient encounter. As this occurs, BEACH is likely to show a decrease in some clinical activities by GPs. However, we will not know whether this is due to others in the practice taking over this role, or whether, in fact, there has been a decrease in provision of such care in general practice.

Therefore, until we have standardised GP EHRs that are constantly updated by all healthcare providers within general practices, we need a parallel study of the work undertaken by practice nurses and other health professionals within general practices. These data could be combined with BEACH data to provide a complete picture of the care provided by all clinical staff in the care of their practice population.

Together with the profession and other stakeholders, we have learned an enormous amount about general practice quality and changes over time in the last 14 years as a result of the BEACH program. BEACH has made a significant contribution to the debate and policy change driving primary care reform and professional GP development. How much more could we learn if we were able to collect reliable, valid, representative longitudinal patient based data from GP EHRs and how much more could this contribute to the continuing development of primary care in Australia? Why are we still waiting?

Helena Britt BA, PhD Associate Professor, Director Graeme Miller MB BS, PhD, FRACGP Associate Professor, Medical Director

Principal Investigators, the BEACH Program. Family Medicine Research Centre, University of Sydney

# Acknowledgments

The BEACH program 2011–12 was conducted by the Family Medicine Research Centre, University of Sydney.

The Family Medicine Research Centre thanks the 984 general practitioners who participated in BEACH between April 2011 and March 2012. This report would not have been possible without their valued cooperation and effort in providing the data.

We thank the following organisations for their financial support and their contribution to the ongoing development of the BEACH program in 2011–12.

- Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing
- AstraZeneca Pty Ltd (Australia)
- Merck, Sharp and Dohme (Australia) Pty Ltd
- Pfizer Australia Pty Ltd
- Sanofi-Aventis Australia Pty Ltd
- Novartis Pharmaceuticals Australia Pty Ltd
- GlaxoSmithKline Australia Pty Ltd
- CSL Biotherapies Pty Ltd

Some financial support for the program was also provided by:

• Australian Government Department of Veterans' Affairs.

We acknowledge the support of the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, the Australian Medical Association, the Australian General Practice Network, the Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine, and the Consumers Health Forum, and the contribution of their representatives to the BEACH Advisory Board.

We thank Professor Richard Madden, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Sydney for his thorough independent review of this publication, Clare Bayram for her assistance in editing this report, Timothy Chambers for his IT support, Denise Barratt and Gervaise Woods for their administrative support. We recognise the valuable contribution of the general practitioner recruitment staff (Errol Henderson, Jan Fitzgerald and David Went) and data entry staff and the contribution of past members of the BEACH team. We appreciate the cooperation of the Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing in regularly supplying general practitioner random samples and national Medicare statistics.

# Contents

Lis	t of ta	ıbles	x
Lis	t of fi	gures	xiii
Su	mmar	у	xiv
1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Background	1
	1.2	The BEACH program	2
	1.3	Using BEACH data with other national data	4
	1.4	Access to BEACH data	7
2	Met	hods	9
	2.1	Sampling methods	9
	2.2	Recruitment methods	9
	2.3	Ethics approval and informed patient consent	10
	2.4	Data elements	10
	2.5	The BEACH relational database	11
	2.6	Supplementary Analysis of Nominated Data	13
	2.7	Statistical methods	13
	2.8	Classification of data	14
	2.9	Quality assurance	18
	2.10	Validity and reliability	18
	2.11	Extrapolated national estimates	20
3	The	sample	22
	3.1	Response rate	22
	3.2	Representativeness of the GP sample	23
	3.3	Weighting the data	27
	3.4	Representativeness of the encounter sample	27
	3.5	The weighted data set	30
4	The	participating GPs	31
	4.1	Characteristics of the GP participants	31
	4.2	Computer use at GP practices	35
	4.3	Changes in characteristics of the GPs over the decade 2002-03 to 2011-12	36
5	The	encounters	37
	5.1	Content of the encounters	37
	5.2	Encounter type	38
	5.3	Consultation length	42

	5.4	Changes in the encounters over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12	43
	5.5	Discussion	43
6	The	patients	45
	6.1	Age-sex distribution of patients at encounter	45
	6.2	Other patient characteristics	46
	6.3	Patient reasons for encounter	47
	6.4	Changes in patients and their reasons for encounter over the decade 2002–03 to	50
7	Prob	2011-12	52 53
,	7.1	Number of problems managed at encounter	53
	7.2	Problems managed by ICPC-2 component	55
	7.3	Problems managed by ICPC-2 chapter	
	7.4	Most frequently managed problems	58
	7.5	Most common new problems	60
	7.6	Most frequently managed chronic problems	61
	7.7	Work-related problems managed	63
	7.8	Management of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease in 2011–12	64
	7.9	Changes in problems managed over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12	68
8	Ove	rview of management	69
	8.1	Changes in management over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12	72
9	Med	lications	73
	9.1	Source of medications	73
	9.2	Prescribed medications	74
	9.3	Medications supplied by GPs	81
	9.4	Medications advised for over-the-counter purchase	82
	9.5	Proton pump inhibitors prescribed or supplied in 2011-12	83
	9.6	Changes in medications over the decade 2002-03 to 2011-12	85
10	Oth	er treatments	86
	10.1	Number of other treatments	86
	10.2	Clinical treatments	87
	10.3	Procedural treatments	90
	10.4	Practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker activity	92
	10.5	Changes in other treatments over the decade 2002-03 to 2011-12	98
11	Refe	errals and admissions	100
	11.1	Number of referrals and admissions	100
	11.2	Most frequent referrals	101
	11.3	Problems most frequently referred to a specialist	102
	11.4	Problems most frequently referred to allied health services and hospitals	108
	11.5	Changes in referrals over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12	110

12	Investigations	111
	12.1 Number of investigations	111
	12.2 Pathology ordering	112
	12.3 Imaging ordering	115
	12.4 Other investigations	117
	12.5 Changes in investigations over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12	119
	12.6 Discussion	120
13	Patient risk factors	121
	13.1 Body mass index	121
	13.2 Smoking (patients aged 18 years and over)	127
	13.3 Alcohol consumption (patients aged 18 years and over)	129
	13.4 Risk factor profile of adult patients	132
	13.5 Changes in patient risk factors over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12	134
14	SAND abstracts and research tools	135
	SAND abstract number 180: Polypharmacy and adverse drug events in general practice patients aged 50 years and over	136
	SAND abstract number 181: Influenza and pneumococcal infection risk and vaccination status among adult general practice patients	138
	SAND abstract number 182: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in general practice patients (2)	141
	SAND abstract number 183: Cardiovascular disease, risk factors, antiplatelet use and gastrointestinal side effects among general practice patients	144
	SAND abstract number 184: CKD and dyslipidaemia among general practice patients	146
	SAND abstract number 185: Diabetes management and self-monitoring in general practice patients	148
	SAND abstract number 186: Hepatitis B and travel vaccinations	150
	SAND abstract number 187: General practice patient behaviour in seeking help for depression	152
	SAND abstract number 188: Acute coronary syndrome among general practice patients	154
	SAND abstract number 189: Menopause symptoms among female general practice patients aged 40–69 years	156
	SAND abstract number 190: Benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) and symptoms among male general practice patients aged 40 years or older	159
	SAND abstract number 191: NSAID use, gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risk in general practice patients with arthritis	161
	SAND abstract number 192: Influenza risk, vaccination and diagnosis among general practice patients	163

SAND abstract number 193: Diabetes, macular oedema and dyslipidaemia among general practice patients	166
SAND abstract number 194: Adult general practice patients' cardiovascular risk and lipid medication use	168
References	170
Abbreviations	177
Symbols	178
Glossary	179
Appendices	183
Appendix 1: Example of a 2011–12 recording form	183
Appendix 2: GP characteristics questionnaire, 2011–12	185
Appendix 3: Patient information card, 2011–12	186
Appendix 4: Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS	188

# List of tables

Table 2.1:	Number of general practice professional services claimed from Medicare Australia each financial year, 2002–03 to 2011–12 (million)	20
Table 3.1:	Recruitment and participation rates	22
Table 3.2:	Comparison of BEACH participants and all active recognised GPs in Australia (the sample frame)	24
Table 3.3:	Comparison of all active recognised GPs in Australia (the sample frame), GPs in the sample from Medicare claims data (drawn by DoHA), and BEACH participants 2011–12	25
Table 3.4:	Quarterly activity level of participating and non-participating GPs	26
Table 3.5:	Annual activity level of participating and non-participating GPs	26
Table 3.6:	Age-sex distribution of patients at BEACH and MBS GP consultation service items	28
Table 3.7:	The BEACH data set, 2011–12	30
Table 4.1:	Characteristics of participating GPs and their practices	32
Table 4.2:	Computer applications available/used at major practice address	35
Table 5.1:	Summary of morbidity and management at GP-patient encounters	38
Table 5.2:	Overview of MBS items recorded	39
Table 5.3:	Breakdown of MBS/DVA items of service according to provider (counting one item number per encounter)	39
Table 5.4:	Type of encounter at which a source of payment was recorded for the encounter (counting one item number per encounter)	40
Table 5.5:	Summary of GP only MBS/DVA items recorded (counting one item number per encounter)	41
Table 5.6:	Distribution of all MBS/DVA item numbers recorded, across item number groups and encounters	42
Table 6.1:	Characteristics of the patients at encounters	46
Table 6.2:	Number of patient reasons for encounter	47
Table 6.3:	Patient reasons for encounter by ICPC-2 component	48
Table 6.4:	Patient reasons for encounter by ICPC-2 chapter and most frequent individual reason for encounter within chapter	ıs 49
Table 6.5:	Most frequent patient reasons for encounter	51
Table 7.1:	Number of problems managed at an encounter	54
Table 7.2:	Problems managed by ICPC-2 component	55
Table 7.3:	Problems managed by ICPC-2 chapter and frequent individual problems within chapter	56
Table 7.4:	Most frequently managed problems	59
Table 7.5:	Most frequently managed new problems	60
Table 7.6:	Most frequently managed chronic problems	62
Table 7.7:	Work-related problems, by type and most frequently managed individual problems	63

Table 8.1:	Summary of management	69
Table 8.2:	Encounters and problems for which management was recorded	70
Table 8.3:	Most common management combinations	71
Table 9.1:	Prescribed medications by ATC levels 1, 3 and 5	77
Table 9.2:	Most frequently prescribed medications	80
Table 9.3:	Medications most frequently supplied by GPs	81
Table 9.4:	Most frequently advised over-the-counter medications	82
Table 10.1:	Summary of other treatments	87
Table 10.2:	Relationship between other treatments and pharmacological treatments	87
Table 10.3:	Most frequent clinical treatments	88
Table 10.4:	The ten most common problems managed with a clinical treatment	89
Table 10.5:	Most frequent procedural treatments	90
Table 10.6:	The ten most common problems managed with a procedural treatment	91
Table 10.7:	Summary of PN or AHW involvement at encounters	93
Table 10.8:	Distribution of PM/AHW worker item numbers recorded	94
Table 10.9:	Summary of treatments given by GPs, and by PN or AHW at GP-patient encounters	95
Table 10.10:	Most frequent activities done by a PN or AHW at GP encounters	96
Table 10.11:	The most common problems managed with involvement of PNs or AHWs at GP-patient encounters	97
Table 11.1:	Summary of referrals and admissions	.100
Table 11.2:	Most frequent referrals, by type	.101
Table 11.3:	The ten problems most frequently referred to a medical specialist	.102
Table 11.3.1:	The ten problems most frequently referred to a surgeon	.103
Table 11.3.2:	The ten problems most frequently referred to an orthopaedic surgeon	.103
Table 11.3.3:	The ten problems most frequently referred to a cardiologist	.104
Table 11.3.4:	The ten problems most frequently referred to a dermatologist	.104
Table 11.3.5:	The ten problems most frequently referred to an ophthalmologist	.105
Table 11.3.6:	The ten problems most frequently referred to a gastroenterologist	.105
Table 11.3.7:	The ten problems most frequently referred to an ear, nose, and throat (ENT) specialist	.106
Table 11.3.8:	The problems most frequently referred to a gynaecologist	.106
Table 11.3.9:	The ten problems most frequently referred to an urologist	.107
Table 11.3.10:	The ten problems most frequently referred to a neurologist	.107
Table 11.4:	The ten problems most frequently referred to allied health services	.108
Table 11.5:	The ten problems most frequently referred to hospital	.109
Table 11.6:	The ten problems most frequently referred to an emergency department	.109
Table 12.1:	Number of encounters and problems for which pathology or imaging was ordered	.111
Table 12.2:	Pathology orders by MBS pathology groups and most frequent individual test orders within group	.112
Table 12.3:	The ten problems for which pathology was most frequently ordered	.114

Table 12.4:	Imaging orders by MBS imaging groups and the most frequent imaging tests ordered within group	115
Table 12.5:	The ten problems for which an imaging test was most frequently ordered	117
Table 12.6:	Other investigations ordered by GPs or performed in the practice	118
Table 13.1:	Patient body mass index (aged 18 years and over)	124
Table 13.2:	Patient smoking status (aged 18 years and over)	127
Table 13.3:	Patient alcohol consumption (aged 18 years and over)	131
Table 13.4:	Risk factor profile of patients (aged 18 years and over)	133
Table 13.5:	Number of risk factors, by patient sex	133
Table 14.1:	SAND abstracts for 2011-12 and sample size for each	135

# List of figures

Figure 2.1:	The BEACH relational database	12
Figure 2.2:	The structure of the International Classification of Primary Care - Version 2 (ICPC-2).	15
Figure 3.1:	Age distribution of all patients at BEACH and MBS GP consultation services 2011-12.	29
Figure 3.2:	Age distribution of male patients at BEACH and MBS GP consultation services 2011-12	29
Figure 3.3:	Age distribution of female patients at BEACH and MBS GP consultation services 2011-12	30
Figure 6.1:	Age-sex distribution of patients at encounter	45
Figure 7.1:	Age-sex-specific rates of problems managed per 100 encounters with 95% CI	54
Figure 7.2:	Management of GORD in general practice, 2011-12	67
Figure 9.1:	Number of medications prescribed per problem	74
Figure 9.2:	Number of repeats ordered per prescription	75
Figure 9.3:	Age-sex-specific prescription rates per 100 problems managed	75
Figure 9.4:	Proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) prescribed or supplied in general practice, 2011-12	84
Figure 13.1:	Age-sex-specific rates of overweight/obesity in sampled adults	124
Figure 13.2:	Age-sex-specific rates of underweight in sampled adults	125
Figure 13.3:	Age-specific rates of obesity, overweight, normal weight and underweight in sampled male children	126
Figure 13.4:	Age-specific rates of obesity, overweight, normal weight and underweight in sampled female children	.126
Figure 13.5:	Smoking status - male age-specific rates of sampled patients	128
Figure 13.6:	Smoking status - female age-specific rates of sampled patients	128
Figure 13.7:	Age-sex-specific rates of at-risk alcohol consumption in sampled patients	131

# Summary

This report describes clinical activity at, or associated with, general practitioner (GP) encounters, from April 2011 to March 2012, inclusive. It summarises results from the 14th year of the Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health (BEACH) program, using a sample of 98,400 patient encounters with 984 randomly selected GPs. After post-stratification weighting, 99,030 encounters were analysed in this report.

BEACH is a continuous cross-sectional national study that began in April 1998. Every year each of about 1,000 randomly selected GPs records details of 100 consecutive encounters on structured paper recording forms, and provides information about themselves and their practice. BEACH is the only continuous randomised study of general practice activity in the world, and the only national program that provides direct linkage of management (such as prescriptions, referrals, investigations) to the problem under management.

The BEACH database now includes information for almost 1.4 million encounters from 13,815 participants representing 9,111 individual GPs.

In subsamples of the BEACH encounters smaller patient-based (rather than encounterbased) studies are conducted. This publication includes results for patient body mass index, smoking status and alcohol consumption, and abstracts (with the research tools) are provided for each of the other substudies conducted in 2011–12.

The companion report highlighting major change over the most recent 10 years of BEACH, *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 *to* 2012–12,<sup>1</sup> is available at <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320204>.

#### The general practitioners

Of the 984 participating GPs in 2011–12:

- 59% were male, 41% were aged 55 years and over, 67% had graduated in Australia
- spent an average of 36.9 hours per week (median 38 hours) in direct patient care
- more than 50% were Fellows of the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP), and 7% were Fellows of the Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine (ACRRM)
- 29% bulk-billed Medicare for all patients and 71% bulk-billed for selected patients
- 50% had provided care in a residential aged care facility in the previous month
- 71% practised in Major cities (using Australian Standard Geographical Classification)
- 57% were in practices of fewer than five full-time equivalent (FTE) GPs
- 77% worked in a practice employing practice nursing staff
- nearly two-thirds (62%) had a co-located pathology laboratory or collection centre and almost half (47%) had a psychologist in or within 50 metres of the practice
- 42% worked in a practice that provided their own or cooperative after-hours care
- 63% worked in a practice teaching undergraduates, junior doctors, and or registrars

• 94% of GPs were producing prescriptions electronically, 93% were receiving pathology results online, 81% were producing and printing pathology orders, and 36% were ordering pathology electronically. Almost two-thirds (65%) reported they used electronic medical records exclusively (that is, were paperless).

There were no significant differences in the characteristics of the final sample of BEACH participants and all GPs in the sample frame in terms of sex, age, place of graduation, state, or location by the Australian Standard Geographical Classification.

Participating GPs were slightly less 'busy' than non-participants, with an average 6.8 fewer MBS claims for GP consultation service items per week over the previous year.

#### The encounters

After weighting the data for non statistically significant minor differences in GP activity and the age-sex distribution of the GP participants, the age-sex distribution of patients at BEACH encounters had an excellent fit (precision ratios 0.91–1.09), with that of patients at all GP services claimed under the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS).

- On average, patients gave 155 RFEs, and GPs managed about 154 problems per 100 encounters.
- Chronic problems accounted for 36%, and new problems for 38% of all problems.
- Work-related problems were managed at a rate of 2.6 per 100 encounters.
- Medications were the most common treatment choice, (107 per 100 encounters). Most were prescribed (87 per 100 encounters), rather than supplied by the GP (10 per 100) or advised for over-the-counter (OTC) purchase (11 per 100).
- At an 'average' 100 encounters, problem management involved: 47 pathology tests/batteries of tests; 37 clinical treatments; 17 procedures; 15 referrals [most commonly to medical specialists (9) and to allied health services (5)]; and 10 imaging tests.
- Direct encounters (patient seen) accounted for 98% of encounters at which a payment source was recorded. Of these: 95% were claimable either through the MBS or the DVA; 2% through workers compensation, 1% through other sources.

In a subsample of 33,096 BEACH MBS/DVA-claimable encounters at which start and finish times were recorded, mean consultation length was 15.2 minutes, median 13.0 minutes

#### Who were the patients?

- Females accounted for 57% of encounters, and the greater proportion of encounters in all adult age groups. Children (aged < 15 years) accounted for 12% of encounters; 15–24 years 9%; 25–44 years 23%, 45–64 years 28%; 65–74 years 13%; and 75 years and over 16%.
- The patient was new to the practice at 8% of encounters, held a Commonwealth concession card at 45%, and was from a non-English-speaking background at 11%.
- At 1.6% of encounters the patient identified themselves as an Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander person.

For every 100 encounters, patients gave 155 reasons for encounter (RFEs): 67 symptom and complaint RFEs, 29 diagnosis/disease RFEs, 59 requests for processes of care (e.g. procedures, referrals).

#### What problems do GPs manage at patient encounters?

There were 152,286 problems managed, average 154 per 100 encounters: one problem was managed at 62% of encounters, two or three being managed at 35%, and four at 3%. The number managed increased with age group of patients.

Two-thirds (68%) of problems were described as diagnoses or diseases, 18% in terms of symptoms or complaints, and 9% as diagnostic or preventive procedures (e.g. check-ups).

- The most common managed were: respiratory problems (20 per 100 encounters); problems of a general and unspecified nature (19); musculoskeletal problems (17); cardiovascular (17); and skin problems (17 per 100 encounters).
- Individual problems managed most often were hypertension (9.1 per 100 encounters), check-ups (6.4), upper respiratory tract infection (URTI) (6.0), immunisation/vaccination (4.7), and depression (4.4 per 100 encounters).
- At least one chronic problem was managed at 42% of encounters and 56 chronic problems were managed per 100 encounters.
- Almost half of all chronic problems managed were accounted for by the top six chronic problems: non-gestational hypertension (16% of chronic conditions), depressive disorder (8%), non-gestational diabetes (7%), chronic arthritis (7%), lipid disorder (6%), and oesophageal disease (5%). Extrapolation of these results suggests that, across Australia in 2011–12, there were 11.0 million encounters involving hypertension, 5.4 million involving depression and 5.0 million involving diabetes.

An example of the relationship between a problem managed and other data fields is provided for GP management of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease in 2011–12 in Section 7.8.

#### What management actions were recorded for problems managed?

For an 'average' 100 patient problems, GPs provided 57 prescriptions and 24 clinical treatments, undertook 11 procedures, made 6 referrals to medical specialists and 3 to allied health services, and placed 31 pathology test orders and 7 imaging test orders.

#### **Medications**

There were 106,007 medications, 107 per 100 encounters but only 70 per 100 problems managed: 81% were prescribed, 10% supplied by the GP and 11% recommended for OTC purchase.

Extrapolation to the 122.5 million Medicare GP consultation items claimed in 2011–12 suggests GPs wrote about 106 million prescriptions, supplied 11.9 million medications directly to the patient, and advised medications for OTC purchase 12.9 million times.

- At least one medication (most commonly prescribed) was given for 55% of problems managed.
- No repeats were given for 35% of prescriptions, and five repeats were ordered for 36%. The ordering of one repeat was also quite common (16%).
- Medication types most often prescribed were those acting on: the nervous system (22.8% of scripts), particularly opioids (6.8%) and antidepressants (4.7%); and the cardiovascular system (19.3%), particularly antihypertensives and lipid lowering agents. The most commonly prescribed individual medications were: the antibiotics amoxycillin (3.7% of all prescriptions), cephalexin (3.2%) and amoxycillin with potassium clavulanate (2.1%); the analgesics paracetamol (3.4%) and paracetamol/codeine (2.2%); the lipid modifying agent atorvastatin (1.8%); and the opioid oxycodone (1.7%).

- Medications were GP-supplied at a rate of 10 per 100 problems managed and vaccines accounted for the vast majority of these.
- Medications were advised for OTC purchase at a rate of 7 per 100 problems managed. Paracetamol accounted for 27% of these and ibuprofen for 7%.

The pattern of GP prescription or supply of proton pump inhibitors (to whom and for what) is provided as an example of pharmaco-epidemiological analysis in Section 9.5.

#### **Other treatments**

At least one other treatment was provided at 41% of encounters and 53,395 other treatments were recorded, 69% being clinical treatments.

**Clinical treatments:** 36,610 clinical treatments were recorded, 37 per 100 encounters, or 24 per 100 problems managed. General advice and education (16% of clinical treatments), and counselling about the problem being managed (13%) were most common. Preventive counselling/advice about nutrition and weight, exercise, smoking, lifestyle, prevention, and alcohol was also frequently provided by GPs (together at a rate of 7.7 per 100 encounters).

Of all problems for which clinical treatments were provided, the top ten accounted for 29%. The most common were depression (5.5% of problems with clinical treatments), URTI (5.2%), hypertension (3.4%) and diabetes (3.4%).

**Procedural treatments:** 16,785 procedural treatments were recorded, 17 per 100 encounters, or 11 per 100 problems. The most common were: excisions (2.8 per 100 encounters), dressings (2.5 per 100), local injections (2.2) and rehabilitation (1.4).

#### Practice nurse (PN)/Aboriginal health worker (AHW) activity

These data are limited to PN/AHW work associated with recorded GP-patient encounters.

- PNs/AHWs were involved in 7% of encounters and in management of 5% of the problems managed. A practice nurse Medicare item number was recorded for 27% of those encounters involving a practice nurse, the most common claims being for immunisation (55% of PN/AHW item number claims) and wound treatment (33%).
- The majority of their activities were procedural (89%) and these procedures represented 35% of all procedures recorded. Clinical treatments accounted for 11% of practice nurse activity, but only 2% of all recorded clinical treatments.
- The most common procedures done by PNs/AHWs were injections (36% of recorded procedures), dressings (20%), check-ups (8%) and INR tests (7%).

#### **Referrals and admissions**

There were a total of 14,382 referrals, 15 per 100 encounters or 9 per 100 problems. The most frequent were to medical specialists (9 per 100 encounters, 6 per 100 problems managed), followed by referrals to allied health services (5 per 100 encounters, 3 per 100 problems). Very few patients were referred to hospitals or emergency departments (0.6 per 100 encounters, 0.4 per 100 problems).

Referrals to specialists were most often to surgeons (10% of specialist referrals), orthopaedic surgeons (9%), cardiologists (8%), dermatologists (8%) and ophthalmologists (7%). Diabetes, malignant skin neoplasms, pregnancy and osteoarthritis were the problems most often referred to specialists.

For the first time, this report incorporates information about what problems are referred by GPs to each of the most common medical specialties: surgeons, orthopaedic surgeons,

cardiologists, dermatologists, ophthalmologists, gastroenterologists, ear, nose and throat (ENT) specialists, gynaecologist, urologist, and neurologist. When analysed by individual medical specialty, the top ten problems accounted for 39.9% of all referrals to surgeons (indicative of the broad range of conditions referred to them), and for 74.9% of all referrals to dermatologists, consistent with a more defined range of problems referred.

Referrals to allied health services were most often to physiotherapists (28% of allied health referrals), psychologists (19%), podiatrists (10%) and dietitians/nutritionists (8%). Problems most likely to be referred to allied health services were depression, diabetes and back complaints.

#### **Tests and investigations**

**Pathology tests ordered:** GPs recorded 46,544 orders for pathology tests/batteries, at a rate of 47 per 100 encounters (31 per 100 problems managed). At least one pathology test was recorded at 18% of encounters (for 14% of problems managed).

- Chemistry tests accounted for 59% of pathology test orders, the most common being: lipid tests (2.9 per 100 problems managed); electrolytes, urea and creatinine (2.1); multi-biochemical analysis (1.9); and thyroid function tests (1.7 per 100).
- Haematology tests accounted for 18% of pathology and included full blood count, the most frequently ordered individual test (14% of all pathology), ordered at a rate of 4.3 per 100 problems managed.
- Microbiology accounted for 13% of pathology orders. Urine microscopy, culture and sensitivity was the most frequent test ordered within the group.
- Almost 40% of all pathology tests were generated by orders for ten problems, led by diabetes, hypertension, general check-ups, and lipid disorders.

**Imaging ordered:** There were 9,978 imaging test orders recorded, 10 per 100 encounters and 7 per 100 problems managed. At least one imaging test was ordered at 9% of encounters (for 6% of problems managed). Diagnostic radiology accounted for 46%, ultrasound 39%, and computerised tomography for 12% of all imaging orders.

#### Patient risk factors

**Overweight and obesity in adults (18 years and over):** Of 32,372 adults, 62% (69% of males and 57% of females) were overweight or obese: 35% being overweight and 27% obese.

**Overweight and obesity in children (2–17 years):** Of 3,093 children, 29% were overweight (18%) or obese (11%). Prevalence and age pattern did not differ between the sexes.

**Smoking status (adults 18 years and over):** Of 33,086 adults, 15% (18% of men and 13% of women) were daily smokers and this was most prevalent among 25–44 year olds (21.2%).

**Alcohol consumption in adults (18 years and over):** Of 32,257 adult patients 25% (29% of men and 23% of women) reported drinking at-risk levels of alcohol. It was most prevalence among 18–24 year olds.

Adult risk profile (18 years and over): Of the 31,401 patients for whom all three risk factor data were available: 25% had no risk factors, 52% had one, 19% had two, and 4% had three.

# 1 Introduction

This publication is the 14th annual report and the 31st book in the General Practice Series from the BEACH (Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health) program, a continuous national study of general practice activity in Australia. It provides the annual results for the period April 2011 to March 2012 inclusive, using details of 98,400 encounters between general practitioners (GPs) and patients (almost a 0.1% sample of all general practice encounters) from a random sample of 958 practising GPs across the country.

Released in parallel with this report is a summary of results from the most recent ten years of the BEACH program, *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12,<sup>1</sup> available at purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320204>. The BEACH program began in April 1998 and was the culmination of about 20 years research and development work at the University of Sydney. BEACH is currently supported financially by government and private industry (see Acknowledgments).

From 1998 to 2011 the BEACH program was conducted by the Family Medicine Research Centre (FMRC), University of Sydney, in collaboration with the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW), under the *AIHW Act*. The collaboration ceased in March 2011. The FMRC continues to conduct the BEACH program.

BEACH is the only continuous randomised study of general practice activity in the world, and the only national program that provides direct linkage of management actions (such as prescriptions, referrals, investigations) to the problem under management. The BEACH database now includes information for almost 1.4 million encounters from 13,815 participants representing 9,111 individual GPs.

## 1.1 Background

In June 2011, the population of Australia was estimated to be 22.6 million people.<sup>2</sup> Australia's health expenditure in 2009–10 was \$121.4 billion, an average \$5,479 per Australian, and accounted for 9.4% of GDP. Governments funded 69.9%, with the remainder (30.1%) being paid by the non-government sector.<sup>3</sup> Government expenditure on general practice services (including those of the practice nurses) was almost \$5.6 billion dollars in the 2011–12 financial year.<sup>4</sup>

GPs are usually the first port of call in the Australian healthcare system. Payment for GP visits is largely on a fee-for-service system, there being no compulsory patient lists or registration. People are free to see multiple practitioners and visit multiple practices of their choice. There is a universal medical insurance scheme (managed by Medicare Australia), which covers all or most of an individual's costs for a GP visit.

In 2009 in Australia, there were 25,707 practising primary care practitioners (vocationally recognised GPs and other medical practitioners), making up 24,614 full-time equivalents (based on a 40-hour week), or 112.1 per 100,000 people.<sup>5</sup> While more recent labor force data have been published,<sup>6</sup> the national figures reported do not include data from Queensland and Western Australia, so are not quoted here.

In the April 2011 – March 2012 year, about 83% of the Australian population claimed at least one GP service from Medicare (personal communication, Department of Health and Ageing [DoHA], April 2012). From April 2011 to March 2012, Medicare paid rebates for about 122.5 million claimed general practice service items (excluding practice nurse items),<sup>7</sup> at an average of about 5.36 GP visits per head of population or 6.55 visits per person who visited at least once. This equates to about 2.36 million GP-patient encounters per week.

While Medicare statistics provide information about frequencies and costs of visits claimed from Medicare for GP service items, they cannot tell us about the content of these visits. The BEACH program fills this gap.

## 1.2 The BEACH program

In summary, the BEACH program is a continuous national study of general practice activity in Australia. Each year an ever changing random sample of about 1,000 practising GPs participate, each recording details of 100 patient encounters on structured paper-based recording sheets (Appendix 1). This provides details of about 100,000 GP-patient encounters per year. They also provide information about themselves and their major practice (Appendix 2). The BEACH methods are described in Chapter 2 of this report.

#### Aims

The three main aims of the BEACH program are to:

- provide a reliable and valid data collection process for general practice that is responsive to the ever-changing needs of information users, and provides insight into the evolving character of GP-patient encounters in Australia
- establish an ongoing database of GP-patient encounter information
- assess patient risk factors and health states, and the relationship these factors have with health service activity.

#### **Current status of BEACH**

BEACH began in April 1998 and is now in its 15th year. The BEACH database now includes records for 1,381,500 GP-patient encounters from 13,815 participating GPs. Each year we publish an annual report of BEACH results collected in the previous 12 months. This publication reports results from April 2011 to March 2012. A companion publication *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12,<sup>1</sup> provides summaries of changes in the most frequent events that have occurred over the decade.

The strengths of the BEACH program

- BEACH is the only national study of general practice activity in the world that is continuous, relying on a random ever-changing sample of GPs, and directly linking management actions to the morbidity under management.
- The sheer size of the GP sample (1,000 per year) and the relatively small cluster of encounters around each GP provide more reliable estimates than a smaller number of GPs with large clusters of patients and/or encounters.<sup>8</sup> Our access to a regular random sample of recognised GPs in active practice, through DoHA, ensures that the GP sample is drawn from a very reliable sample frame of currently active GPs.
- There are sufficient details about the characteristics of all GPs in the sample frame to test the representativeness of the final sample, and to apply post-stratification weighting to correct for any under or over-representation in the sample when compared with the

sample frame. The ever-changing nature of the sample (where each GP can participate only once per triennium) ensures reliable representation of what is happening in general practice across the country. The sampling methods ensure that new entrants to the profession are available for selection because the sample frame is based on the most recent Medicare data.

- Where data collection programs use a fixed set of GPs over a long period, they are measuring what that group is doing at any one time, or how that group has changed over time, and there may well be a 'training effect' inherent in longer-term participation. Such measures cannot be generalised to the whole of general practice. Further, where GPs in the group have a particular characteristic in common (for example, all belong to a professional organisation to which not all GPs belong; all use a selected software system which is not used by all GPs), the group is biased and cannot represent all GPs.
- Each GP records for a set number of encounters (100), but there is wide variance among them in the number of patient consultations they conduct in any one year. DoHA therefore provides an individual count of activity level (that is, number of Medicare GP service items claimed in the previous period) for all randomly sampled GPs, allowing us to give a weighting to each GP's set of encounters commensurate with his or her contribution to total general practice encounters. This ensures that the final encounters represent encounters with all GPs.
- The structured paper encounter form leads the GP through each step in the encounter, encouraging entry of data for each element (see Appendix 1), with instructions and an example of a completed form. In contrast, systems such as electronic health records rely on the GP to complete fields of interest without guidance.
- BEACH includes all patient encounters and management activities provided at these encounters, not just those encounters and activities funded by Medicare.
- The medication data include all prescriptions, rather than being limited to those prescribed medications covered by the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS).
- BEACH is the only source of information on medications supplied directly to the patient by the GP, and about the medications GPs advise for over-the-counter (OTC) purchase, the patients to whom they provide such advice and the problems managed in this way.
- The inclusion of other (non-pharmacological) treatments such as clinical counselling and procedural treatments provides a broader view of the interventions used by GPs in the care of their patients than other data sources.
- The link from all management actions (for example, prescribing, ordering tests) to the problem under management provides a measure of the 'quality' of care rather than just a count of the number of times an action has occurred (for example, how often a specific drug has been prescribed).
- The use of an internationally standard well-structured classification system (ICPC-2)<sup>9</sup> designed specifically for general practice, together with the use of an extended vocabulary of terms which facilitates reliable classification of the data by trained secondary coders, removes the guesswork often applied in word searches of available records (in free text format) and in classification of a concept.
- The use of the World Health Organization's (WHO) Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification for pharmaceuticals at the generic level ensures reporting of medications data is in terms of the international standard.

- The analytical techniques applied to the BEACH data ensure that the clustering inherent in the sampling methods is dealt with. Results are reported with 95% confidence intervals. Users are therefore aware of how reliable any estimate might be.
- Reliability of the methods is demonstrated by the consistency of results over time where change is not expected, and by the measurement of change when it might be expected.

# 1.3 Using BEACH data with other national data

Users of the BEACH data might wish to integrate information from multiple national data sources, as this can provide a more comprehensive picture of the health and health care of the Australian community. It is therefore important that readers are aware of how the BEACH data differ from those drawn from others. This section summarises differences between BEACH and other national sources of data about general practice in Australia.

#### The Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

Prescribed medications paid for under the PBS are recorded by Medicare Australia. The PBS data:

- count the prescription each time it crosses the pharmacist's counter (so that one prescription written by the GP with five repeats in BEACH would be counted by the PBS six times if the patient filled all repeats)
- count only those prescribed medications subsidised by the PBS and costing more than the minimum subsidy (and therefore covered by the PBS for all patients), or medications prescribed for those holding a Commonwealth concession card or for those who have reached the safety net threshold
- will change with each change in the PBS co-payment level for non-Commonwealth concession cardholders when the co-payment level increases, those medications that then fall under the new level will no longer be counted in the PBS for non-Commonwealth concession cardholders<sup>10</sup>
- have no record of the problem being managed (with the exception of authority prescriptions, which require an indication and account for a small amount of PBS data). The morbidity cannot be reliably assumed on the basis of the prescription type.<sup>11-13</sup>

In BEACH:

- total medications include those prescribed (whether covered by the PBS or not), those supplied to the patient directly by the GP, and those advised for OTC purchase
- each prescription recorded reflects the GP's intent that the patient receives the prescribed medication, and the specified number of repeats; the prescription, irrespective of the number of repeats ordered, is counted only once
- the medication is directly linked to the problem being managed by the GP
- there is no information on the number of patients who do not present their prescription to be filled (this also applies to the PBS).

These differences have a major impact on the numbers of prescriptions counted and also affect their distribution. For example, the majority of broad spectrum antibiotics such as amoxycillin fall under the PBS minimum subsidy level and would not be counted in the PBS data, except where patients received the medication under the PBS because they are Commonwealth concession cardholders or had reached the annual safety net threshold.<sup>10</sup>

#### **Medicare Benefits Schedule**

Consultations with GPs that are paid for in part or in full under the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) are recorded by Medicare Australia.

- Publicly available MBS claims data do not include data about patients and encounters funded through the Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA).
- The MBS data include GP services that have been billed to Medicare. BEACH includes all consultations, irrespective of whether a charge is made or who pays for them.
- The MBS data reflect the item number charged to Medicare for a service and some patient demographics, but hold no information about the content of the consultation.
- BEACH participants were limited to recording three Medicare item numbers for each encounter. In contrast, MBS data include all Medicare item numbers claimed. In the BEACH data set this may result in a lower number of 'other' Medicare items than would be counted in the Medicare data.
- In activities of relatively low frequency with a skewed distribution across individual GPs, the relative frequency of the event in the BEACH data may not reflect that reported in the MBS data. For example, a study of early uptake of some enhanced primary care items by GPs demonstrated in 2002 that almost half the enhanced primary care items claimed through the MBS came from about 6% of active GPs.<sup>14</sup> Where activity is so skewed across the practising population, a national random sample will provide an underestimate of activity because the sample reflects the population rather than the minority.
- One of the advantages of BEACH over the MBS is also the relative consistency over time of the data collection form. BEACH is relatively resilient to changes in MBS payment policies, such as the inclusion or removal of items from the MBS.

#### Pathology data from the MBS

Pathology tests undertaken by pathologists that are charged to Medicare are recorded by Medicare Australia. However, these Medicare data are not comparable with BEACH data.

- MBS pathology data reflect pathology orders made by GPs and other medical specialists. About 70% of the volume of MBS pathology data are generated by GP orders.<sup>15</sup>
- Each pathology company can respond differently to a specific test order label recorded by the GP. So the tests completed by a pathologist in response to a GP order for a multibiochemical analysis may differ between companies.
- The pathology companies can charge through the MBS only for the three most expensive items undertaken, even when more were actually done. This is called 'coning' and is part of DoHA pathology payment system. This means that the tests recorded in the MBS include only those charged for, not all those that were done. Coning applies only to GP pathology orders, not to those generated by medical specialists.
- This means that the MBS pathology data reflect those tests billed to the MBS after interpretation of the order by the pathologist, and after selection of the three most expensive items.
- Pathology MBS items contain pathology tests that have been grouped on the basis of cost (for example, 'any two of the following ... tests'). Therefore an MBS item often does not give a clear picture of the precise tests performed.

In BEACH, the pathology data:

- include details of pathology tests ordered by the participating GPs; however, the GP is limited to the recording of five tests or battery of tests at each encounter, and as the number of tests/batteries ordered on any single occasion is increasing,<sup>16</sup> an increasing number of additional tests ordered will be lost
- reflect the terms used by GPs in their orders to pathologists, and for reporting purposes these have been grouped by the MBS pathology groups for comparability.

The distributions of the two data sets will therefore differ, reflecting on the one hand the GP order and on the other the MBS-billed services from the pathologist.

Pathology ordering by GPs is described in Chapter 12 of this report. Those interested in pathology test ordering by GPs should also view the following publications:

- Are rates of pathology test ordering higher in general practices co-located with pathology collection centres?<sup>17</sup> This publication investigated the independent effect of general practice co-location with pathology collection centres on GP pathology test ordering in Sydney and Melbourne metropolitan areas.
- Evidence-practice gap in GP pathology test ordering: a comparison of BEACH pathology data and recommended testing.<sup>18</sup>
- Changes in pathology ordering by general practitioners in Australia 1998–2001.<sup>19</sup>

#### Imaging data from the MBS

Some of the issues discussed regarding pathology data also apply to imaging data. Although coning is not an issue for imaging, radiologists can decide whether the test ordered by the GP is the most suitable and whether to undertake other tests of their choosing. The MBS data therefore reflect the tests that are actually undertaken by the radiologist, whereas the BEACH data reflect those ordered by the GP.

#### **The National Health Survey**

The National Health Survey, conducted by the Australian Bureau of Statistics, provides estimates of population prevalence of specific diseases, and a measure of the problems taken to the GP by people in the two weeks before the survey.

- Prevalence estimates are based on self-reported morbidity from a representative sample of the Australian population, using a structured interview to elicit health-related information from participants.<sup>20</sup>
- Community surveys such as the National Health Survey have the advantage of accessing people who do not go to a GP as well as those who do. They can therefore provide an estimate of population prevalence of disease and a point estimate of incidence of disease.
- Self-report has been demonstrated to be susceptible to misclassification because of a lack of clinical corroboration of diagnoses.<sup>21</sup>

Management rates of health problems in general practice represent GP workload for a health problem. BEACH can be used to estimate the period incidence of diagnosed disease presenting in general practice through the number of new cases of that disease. The management rates of individual health problems and management actions can be extrapolated to national management rates.

The general practice patient population sits between the more clinical hospital-based population and the general population,<sup>22,23</sup> with about 83% of Australians visiting a GP at least once in 2011–12 (personal communication, DoHA, April 2012). Disease management rates are a product of both the prevalence of the disease/health problem in the population, and the frequency with which a patient visits a GP for the treatment of that problem. Those who are older and/or have more chronic disease are therefore likely to visit more often, and have a greater chance of being sampled in the encounter data.

There was a substudy of disease prevalence among patients seen in general practice (using the Supplementary Analysis of Nominated Data method, see Section 2.6). Those interested in disease prevalence should refer to the following papers: *Estimating prevalence of common chronic morbidities in Australia*,<sup>24</sup> and *Prevalence and patterns of multimorbidity in Australia*.<sup>25</sup>

## 1.4 Access to BEACH data

Different bundles of BEACH data are available to the general public, to BEACH-participating organisations, and to other organisations and researchers.

#### Public domain

This annual publication provides a comprehensive view of general practice activity in Australia. The BEACH program has generated many papers on a wide variety of topics in journals and professional magazines. All published material from BEACH is available at <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/index.php>.

Since April 1998, a section at the bottom of each encounter form has been used to investigate aspects of patient health or healthcare delivery not covered by general practice consultation-based information. These additional substudies are referred to as SAND (Supplementary Analysis of Nominated Data). The SAND methods are described in Section 2.6. Abstracts of results and the research tools used in all SAND substudies from April 1998 to March 2011 have been published. Those from:

- April 1998 to March 1999 were published in *Measures of health and health care delivery in general practice in Australia*<sup>26</sup>
- April 1999 to July 2006 were published in *Patient-based substudies from BEACH: abstracts and research tools* 1999–2006<sup>27</sup>
- August 2006 to March 2011 were published in each of the BEACH annual reports<sup>28-32</sup>
- April 2011 to March 2012 are included in Chapter 14 of this report.

Abstracts of results for all SAND substudies are also available on the FMRC website <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts/index.php> where you can search by topic.

#### Participating organisations

Organisations providing funding for the BEACH program receive summary reports of the encounter data quarterly, and standard reports or specifically designed analyses about their subjects of interest. Participating organisations also have direct access to straightforward analyses on any selected problem, medication, pathology or imaging test through an interactive web server. All data made available to participating organisations have been

further 'de-identified'. Patients' encounter data are not identifiable even from the original forms, but are further stripped of date of birth (replaced with age in years and months) and postcode of residence (replaced with state and area type). GP characteristics data are provided only in the form of grouped output (for example, GPs aged less than 35 years) to any organisation.

#### **External purchasers of reports**

Non-contributing organisations may purchase standard reports or other ad hoc analyses. Charges are outlined at <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/beach/data-reports/forpurchase/index.php>. The FMRC should be contacted for specific quotations. Contact details are provided at the front of this publication.

Analysis of the BEACH data is a complex task. The FMRC has designed standard reports that cover most aspects of a subject under investigation. Examples of a problem-based standard report (subject: ischaemic heart disease in patients aged 45 years and over), a group report (subject: female patients aged 15–24 years) and a pharmacological-based standard report (subject: allopurinol) for a single year's data are available at <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/beach/data-reports/for-purchase/index.php>.

Customised data analyses can be done where the specific research question is not adequately answered through standard reports.

# 2 Methods

In summary:

- each year, BEACH involves a new random sample of about 1,000 GPs
- each GP records details about 100 doctor-patient encounters of all types
- the GP sample is a rolling (ever-changing) sample, with about 20 GPs participating in any one week, 50 weeks a year (with two weeks break over Christmas)
- each GP can be selected only once per Quality Improvement & Continuing Professional Development (QI & CPD)Program triennium (that is, once in each three-year period)
- the encounter information is recorded by the GPs on structured paper encounter forms (Appendix 1)
- GP participants also complete a questionnaire about themselves and their practice (Appendix 2).

# 2.1 Sampling methods

The source population includes all vocationally registered GPs and all general practice registrars who claimed a minimum of 375 Medicare general practice items of service in the most recently available three-month Medicare data period (which equates to 1,500 such claims in a year). This ensures inclusion of the majority of part-time GPs, while excluding those who are not in private practice but claim for a few consultations a year.

The Medicare statistics section of the DoHA updates the sample frame from the Medicare records quarterly from the Medicare claims data, then removes from the sample frame any GPs already randomly sampled in the current triennium, and draws a new sample from those remaining in the sample frame. This ensures the timely addition of new entries to the profession, and timely exclusion of those GPs who have stopped practising, or have already participated or been approached in the current triennium.

# 2.2 Recruitment methods

The randomly selected GPs are approached by letter, posted to the address provided by DoHA.

- Over the following ten days, the telephone numbers generated from the Medicare data are checked using the electronic white and yellow pages. This is necessary because many of the telephone numbers provided from the Medicare data are incorrect.
- The GPs are then telephoned in the order they were approached and, referring to the approach letter, asked whether they will participate.
- This initial telephone contact with the practice often indicates that the selected GP has moved elsewhere, but is still in practice. Where new address and/or telephone number can be obtained, these GPs are followed up at their new address.
- GPs who agree to participate are set an agreed recording date several weeks ahead.
- A research pack is sent to each participant before the planned start date.

- Each GP receives a telephone reminder early in the agreed recording period this also provides the GP with an opportunity to ask questions about the recording process.
- GPs can use a 'freecall' (1800) number to ring the research team with any questions during their recording period.
- Non-returns are followed up by regular telephone calls for 3 months.
- Participating GPs earn clinical audit points towards their QI & CPD requirements through the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) and/or the Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine (ACRRM). As part of this QI process, each receives an analysis of his or her results compared with those of nine other de-identified GPs who recorded at about the same time. Comparisons with the national average and with targets relating to the National Health Priority Areas are also provided. In addition, GPs receive some educational material related to the identification and management of patients who smoke or consume alcohol at hazardous levels. Additional points can be earned if the participant chooses to do a follow-up audit of smoking and alcohol consumption among a sample of patients about six months later.

## 2.3 Ethics approval and informed patient consent

Ethics approval for this study in 2011–12 was obtained from the Human Ethics Committee of the University of Sydney.

Although the data collected by the GPs is not sufficient to identify an individual patient, informed consent for GP recording of the encounter details is required from each patient. GPs are instructed to ensure that all patients presenting during their recording period are provided with a Patient Information card (Appendix 3) and that they ask the patient if they are happy for their data to be included in the study. If the patient refuses, details of the encounter are not recorded. This is in accordance with the Ethics requirements for the BEACH program.

### 2.4 Data elements

BEACH includes three interrelated data collections: GP characteristics, encounter data and patient health status. An example of the form used to collect the encounter data and the data on patient health status is included in Appendix 1. The GP characteristics questionnaire is provided in Appendix 2. The GP characteristics and encounter data collected are summarised below. Patient health status data are described in Section 2.6.

#### GP profile form (Appendix 2)

- **GP characteristics:** age and sex, years in general practice, number of direct patient care hours worked per week, country of graduation, postgraduate general practice training status, Fellow of the RACGP status, Fellow of the ACRRM status, usual bulk-billing behaviour, use of computers at work, work undertaken in other clinical settings.
- **Practice characteristics:** postcode and GP Division of major practice, number of individual, and number of full-time equivalent GPs working in the practice, number of individual and number of full-time equivalent practice nurses working in the practice, usual after-hours care arrangements, whether the practice is accredited, whether it is a teaching practice.

#### Encounter recording form (Appendix 1)

- **Encounter data:** date of consultation, type of consultation (direct/indirect) (tick box options), up to three MBS/DVA item numbers (where applicable), and other payment source (where applicable) (tick boxes).
- **Patient data:** date of birth, sex and postcode of residence. Tick boxes (yes/no options) are provided for Commonwealth concession cardholder, holder of a Repatriation health card (from DVA), non-English-speaking background (patient self-report a language other than English is the primary language at home), Aboriginal person (self-identification), and Torres Strait Islander person (self-identification). Space is provided for up to three patient reasons for encounter (RFEs) (see 'Glossary').
- **The problems managed** at encounter (at least one and up to four). Tick boxes are provided to denote the status of each problem as new or continuing for the patient and whether the problem is considered by the GP to be work-related.
- Management of each problem, including:
  - medications prescribed, supplied by the GP and advised for over-the-counter purchase including brand name, form (where required), strength, regimen, status (new or continuing medication for this problem), number of repeats
  - other treatments provided for each problem, including counselling, advice and education, and procedures undertaken, and whether the recorded other treatment was provided by practice nurse (tick box)
  - new referrals to medical specialists, allied health services, emergency departments, and hospital admissions
  - investigations, including pathology tests, imaging and other investigations ordered.

## 2.5 The BEACH relational database

The BEACH relational database is described diagrammatically in Figure 2.1. Note that:

- all variables can be directly related to the encounter, the GP and the patient characteristics
- all types of management are directly related to the problem being managed
- RFEs have only an indirect relationship with problems managed, as a patient may describe one RFE (such as 'repeat prescriptions') that is related to multiple problems managed, or several RFEs (such as 'runny nose' and 'cough') that relate to a single problem (such as upper respiratory tract infection) managed (see Section 6.3).



## 2.6 Supplementary Analysis of Nominated Data

A section at the bottom of each recording form investigates aspects of patient health or health care delivery in general practice not covered by the consultation-based data. These additional substudies are referred to as SAND, Supplementary Analysis of Nominated Data.

- Each year the 12 month data period is divided into ten blocks, each of five weeks, with three substudies per block. The research team aims to include data from about 100 GPs in each block.
- Each GP's pack of 100 forms is made up of 40 forms that ask for the start and finish times of the encounter, and include questions about patient risk factors: patient height and weight (used to calculate body mass index, BMI), alcohol intake and smoking status (patient self-report). The methods and results of topics in the SAND substudies for alcohol consumption, smoking status and BMI are reported in Chapter 13. The start and finish times collected on these encounters are used to calculate the length of consultation. The length of consultation for Medicare-claimable encounters is reported in Section 5.3.
- The remaining 60 forms in each pack are divided into two blocks of 30, so each SAND block includes about 3,000 records. Some topics are repeated to increase sample size. Different questions are asked of the patient in each block and these vary throughout the year.
- The order of SAND sections is rotated in the GP recording pack, so that 40 patient risk factor forms may appear first, second or third in the pad. Rotation of ordering ensures there was no order effect on the quality of the information collected.

Abstracts of results and the research tools used in all SAND substudies from April 1998 to March 2012 have been published. Those:

- from April 1998 to March 1999 were published in *Measures of health and health care delivery in general practice in Australia*<sup>26</sup>
- from April 1999 to July 2006 were published in *Patient-based substudies from BEACH: abstracts and research tools* 1999–2006<sup>27</sup>
- conducted between August 2006 and March 2011 have been published in each of the general practice activity annual reports<sup>28-32</sup>
- conducted in the 2011–12 BEACH year are provided in Chapter 14 of this publication.

Abstracts of results for all SAND substudies are also available on the FMRC's website <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts/index.php>.

# 2.7 Statistical methods

The analysis of the 2011–12 BEACH data was conducted with Statistical Analysis System (SAS) version 9.2,<sup>33</sup> and the encounter is the primary unit of inference. Proportions are used only when describing the distribution of an event that can arise only once at a consultation (for example, patient or GP age and sex), or to describe the distribution of events within a class of events (for example, problem A as a percentage of total problems). Due to rounding, proportions may not always add to exactly 100%.

Rates per 100 encounters are used when an event can occur more than once at the consultation (for example, RFEs, problems managed or medications).

Rates per 100 problems are also used when a management event can occur more than once per problem managed. In general, the results present the number of observations (*n*), the rate per 100 encounters, and (in the case of management actions) the rate per 100 problems managed, and the 95% confidence interval.

BEACH is a single stage cluster sample study design, each 100 encounters forming a cluster around each GP participant. In cluster samples, variance needs to be adjusted to account for the correlation between observations within clusters. Procedures in SAS version 9.2 were used to calculate the intracluster correlation, and adjust the confidence intervals accordingly.<sup>33</sup>

Post-stratification weighting of encounter data adjusts for: any difference in the age-sex distribution of the participating GPs and those GPs in the sample frame from which the samples were drawn; and for the varying activity level of each GP (measured by number of claims each has made in the previous 12 months from Medicare Australia) (see Chapter 3).

Statistical significance is tested by chi square statistic for GP characteristics, but significance of differences in/for rates is judged by non-overlapping confidence intervals of the results being compared. The magnitude of this difference can be described as at least p < 0.05. Assessment using non-overlapping CIs is a conservative measure of significance,<sup>34-36</sup> particularly when differences are assessed by comparing results from independent random samples, as is the case when changes over time are investigated using BEACH data. Due to the number of comparisons made in this and the companion publication we believe a conservative approach is warranted.

### 2.8 Classification of data

The following data elements are classified according to the International Classification of Primary Care – Version 2 (ICPC-2), a product of the World Organization of Family Doctors (Wonca):<sup>9</sup>

- patient reasons for encounter (RFEs)
- problems managed
- clinical treatments (for example, counselling, advice)
- procedural treatments
- referrals
- investigations ordered (including pathology, imaging and other investigations).

The ICPC-2 is used in more than 45 countries as the standard for data classification in primary care. It is accepted by the World Health Organization (WHO) in the WHO Family of International Classifications,<sup>37</sup> and is the declared national standard in Australia for reporting of health data from general practice and patient self-reported health information.<sup>38</sup>

The ICPC-2 has a biaxial structure, with 17 chapters on one axis (each with an alphabetic code) and seven components on the other (numeric codes) (Figure 2.2). Chapters are based on body systems, with additional chapters for psychological and social problems. Component 1 includes symptoms and complaints. Component 7 covers diagnoses – it can also be expanded to provide data about infections, injuries, neoplasms, congenital anomalies and 'other' diagnoses.

Component 2 (diagnostic, screening and prevention) is often applied in describing the problem managed (for example, check-up, immunisation). Components 3 to 6 cover other processes of care, including referrals, other (non-pharmacological) treatments and orders for

pathology and imaging. The components are standard and independent throughout all chapters. The updated component groupings of ICPC-2 codes, released by the Wonca International Classification Committee in 2004<sup>39</sup> have been used in this report.

The ICPC-2 is an excellent epidemiological tool. The diagnostic and symptom rubrics have been selected for inclusion on the basis of their relative frequency in primary care settings, or because of their relative importance in describing the health of the community. ICPC has about 1,370 rubrics and these are sufficient for meaningful analyses. However, reliability of data entry, using ICPC-2 alone, requires a thorough knowledge of the classification for correct classification of a concept to be ensured.

In 1995, recognising a need for a coding and classification system for general practice electronic health records, the Family Medicine Research Centre (FMRC) (then Unit) developed an extended clinical terminology classified according to the ICPC, now called ICPC-2 PLUS.<sup>40</sup> This is an interface terminology, developed from all the terms used by GPs in studies such as the Australian Morbidity and Treatment Survey 1990–91 (113,468 encounters),<sup>41</sup> A comparison of country and metropolitan general practice 1990–91 (51,277 encounters),<sup>42</sup> the Morbidity and Therapeutic Index 1992–1998 (a clinical audit tool that was available to GPs) (approximately 400,000 encounters), and BEACH 1998–2011 (about 1.3 million encounters), that together make up about 2.7 million encounter records, involving more than 4 million free text descriptions of problems managed and a further 4 million for patient reasons for encounter. These terms are classified according to ICPC-2 to ensure data are able to be compared internationally. Readers interested in seeing how coding works can download the ICPC-2 PLUS Demonstrator at <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/icpc-2-plus/demonstrator/index.php>.

When the free-text data are received from the GPs, trained secondary coders (who are undergraduate students), code the data in more specific terms using ICPC-2 PLUS. This ensures high coder reliability and automatic classification of the concept, and provides the ability to 'ungroup' such ICPC-2 rubrics as 'other diseases of the circulatory system' and select a specific disease from the terms within it.

Com	nponents	Α	в	D	F	н	κ	L	Ν	Ρ	R	S	т	U	W	x	Υ	Ζ
1. S	ymptoms, complaints																	
2. Di	iagnostic, screening, prevention																	
3. Tr	reatment, procedures, medication																	
4. Te	est results																	
5. Administrative																		
6. Other																		
7. Di	iagnoses, disease																	
А	General and unspecified	L	Mu	Musculoskeletal							U	Ur	rinary	y				
В	Blood & blood-forming organs	Ν	Neu	Neurological						W	Pregnancy, family planning							
D	Digestive	Ρ	Psychological					Х	Female genital									
F	Eye	R	R Respiratory			Y	Male genital											
Н	Ear	S Ski		Skin							Z	So	ocial					
K Circulatory		Т	End	docri	ne, n	utriti	onal	& me	etabo	olic								

Figure 2.2: The structure of the International Classification of Primary Care - Version 2 (ICPC-2)

#### Presentation of data classified in ICPC-2

Statistical reporting is usually at the level of the ICPC-2 classification (for example, acute otitis media/myringitis is ICPC-2 code H71). However, there are some exceptions where data are grouped either above the ICPC-2 level or across the ICPC-2 level. These grouped morbidity, pathology and imaging codes are defined in Appendix 4 available at: cpurl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>.

#### Reporting morbidity with groups of ICPC-2 codes

When recording problems managed, GPs may not always be very specific. For example, in recording the management of hypertension, they may simply record the problem as 'hypertension'. In ICPC-2, 'hypertension, unspecified' is classified as 'uncomplicated hypertension' (code K86). There is another code for 'complicated hypertension' (K87). In some cases the GP may simply have failed to specify that the patient had hypertension with complications. The research team therefore feels that for national data reporting, it is more reliable to group the codes K86 and K87 and label this 'Hypertension\*' – the asterisk indicating that multiple ICPC-2 codes (as in this example) or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see below) are included. Appendix 4, Table A4.1 lists the codes included in these groups.

#### Reporting morbidity with groups of ICPC-2 PLUS codes

In other cases, a concept can be classified within (but be only part of) multiple ICPC-2 codes. For example, osteoarthritis is classified in ICPC-2 in multiple broader codes according to site, such as L92 – shoulder syndrome (includes bursitis, frozen shoulder, osteoarthritis of shoulder, rotator cuff syndrome). When reporting osteoarthritis in this publication, all the more specific osteoarthritis ICPC-2 PLUS terms classified within all the appropriate ICPC-2 codes are grouped. This group is labelled 'Osteoarthritis\*' – the asterisk again indicating multiple codes, but in this case they are PLUS codes rather than ICPC-2 codes. Appendix 4, Table A4.1 lists the codes included in these groups.

#### **Reporting chronic morbidity**

Chronic conditions are medical conditions characterised by a combination of the following characteristics: duration that has lasted or is expected to last six months or more, a pattern of recurrence or deterioration, a poor prognosis, and consequences or sequelae that affect an individual's quality of life.

To identify chronic conditions, a chronic condition list<sup>43</sup> classified according to ICPC-2 was applied to the BEACH data set. In general reporting, both chronic and non-chronic conditions (for example, diabetes and gestational diabetes) may have been grouped together when reporting (for example, diabetes – all\*). When reporting chronic morbidity, only problems regarded as chronic have been included in the analysis. Where the group used for the chronic analysis differs from that used in other analyses in this report, they are marked with a double asterisk. Codes included in the chronic groups are provided in Appendix 4, Table A4.2.

#### Reporting pathology and imaging test orders

All the pathology and imaging tests are coded very specifically in ICPC-2 PLUS, but ICPC-2 classifies pathology and imaging tests very broadly (for example, a test of cardiac enzymes is classified in K34 – Blood test associated with the cardiovascular system; a CT scan of the lumbar spine is classified as L41 – Diagnostic radiology/imaging of the musculoskeletal

system). In Australia, the MBS classifies pathology and imaging tests in groups that are relatively well recognised. The team therefore regrouped all pathology and imaging ICPC-2 PLUS codes into MBS standard groups. This allows comparison of data between data sources. The groups are marked with an asterisk, and inclusions are provided in Appendix 4, Tables A4.8 and A4.9.

#### **Classification of pharmaceuticals**

Pharmaceuticals that are prescribed, provided by the GP or advised for over-the-counter purchase are coded and classified according to an in-house classification, the Coding Atlas for Pharmaceutical Substances (CAPS).

This is a hierarchical structure that facilitates analysis of data at a variety of levels, such as medication class, medication group, generic composition and brand name.

When strength and regimen are combined with the CAPS code, we can derive prescribed daily dose for any prescribed medication or group of medications.

CAPS is mapped to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC)<sup>44</sup> classification, which is the Australian standard for classifying medications at the generic level.<sup>38</sup> The ATC has a hierarchical structure with five levels. For example:

- Level 1: C Cardiovascular system
- Level 2: C10 Serum lipid reducing agents
- Level 3: C10A Cholesterol and triglyceride reducers
- Level 4: C10AA HMG CoA reductase inhibitors
- Level 5: C10AA01 Simvastatin (the generic drug).

#### Use of the pharmaceutical classifications in reporting

For pharmaceutical data, there is the choice of reporting in terms of the CAPS coding scheme or the ATC. They each have advantages in different circumstances.

In the CAPS system, a new drug enters at the product and generic level, and is immediately allocated a generic code. Therefore, the CAPS classification uses a bottom-up approach.

In the ATC, a new generic may initially enter the classification at any level (1 to 5), not always at the generic level. Reclassification to lower ATC levels may occur later. Therefore, the ATC uses a top-down approach.

When analysing medications across time, a generic medication that is initially classified to a higher ATC level will not be identifiable in that data period and may result in under-enumeration of that drug during earlier data collection periods.

- When reporting the 2010–11 annual results for pharmaceutical data, the CAPS database is used in tables of the 'most frequent medications' (Tables 9.2 to 9.4).
- When reporting the annual results for pharmaceuticals in terms of the ATC hierarchy (Table 9.1), ATC levels 1, 3, and 5 are used. The reader should be aware that the results reported at the generic level (Level 5) may differ slightly from those reported in the 'most frequent medication' tables for the reasons described above.
# Practice nurse and Aboriginal health worker activities associated with the encounter

The BEACH form was changed in 2005–06 to capture 'other treatments' performed by practice nurses (PNs) following the introduction of MBS item numbers for defined PN activities. GPs were asked to tick the 'practice nurse' box if a treatment was provided by the PN. If not ticked, it was assumed that the GP provided the 'other treatment'.

Over the years new PN item numbers were added to the MBS and some items were broadened to include work done by Aboriginal health workers (AHWs). In past years we have reported the results referring to PNs alone. However in 2011–12 a few GPs indicated (of their own accord) that the recorded action was done by an AHW rather than a PN. This information is now included, and now refer to work undertaken at encounters by PNs and AHWs in conjunction with the GPs, though the vast majority will have been done by PNs. There is a limitation to this approach. Few GPs specifically indicated that the work was done by an AHW. Others may have thought that because the question referred specifically to PNs, and recording of work done by AHWs was not specifically requested. These results therefore have the potential to be an underestimate of the work undertaken at GP-patient encounters by PNs and AHWs.

## 2.9 Quality assurance

All morbidity and therapeutic data elements were secondarily coded by staff entering key words or word fragments, and selecting the required term or label from a pick list. This was then automatically coded and classified by the computer. To ensure reliability of data entry we use computer-aided error checks ('locks') at the data entry stage, and a physical check of samples of data entered versus those on the original recording form. Further logical data checks are conducted through SAS regularly.

## 2.10 Validity and reliability

A discussion of the reliability and validity of the BEACH program has been published elsewhere.<sup>45</sup> This section touches on some aspects of reliability and validity of active data collection from general practice that should be considered by the reader.

In the development of a database such as BEACH, data gathering moves through specific stages: GP sample selection, cluster sampling around each GP, GP data recording, secondary coding and data entry. At each stage the data can be invalidated by the application of inappropriate methods. The methods adopted to ensure maximum reliability of coding and data entry have been described above. The statistical techniques adopted to ensure valid analysis and reporting of recorded data are described in Section 2.7. Previous work has demonstrated the extent to which a random sample of GPs recording information about a cluster of patients represents all GPs and all patients attending GPs,<sup>46</sup> the degree to which GP-reported patient RFEs and problems managed accurately reflect those recalled by the patient,<sup>47</sup> and reliability of secondary coding of RFEs<sup>48</sup> and problems managed.<sup>41</sup> The validity of ICPC as a tool with which to classify the data has also been investigated in earlier work.<sup>49</sup>

However, the question of the extent to which the GP-recorded data are a reliable and valid reflection of the content of the encounter must also be considered. In many primary care consultations, a clear pathophysiological diagnosis is not reached. Bentsen<sup>50</sup> and Barsky<sup>51</sup> suggest that a firm and clear diagnosis is not apparent in about half of GPs' consultations,

and others suggest the proportion may be even greater.<sup>52</sup> Further, studies of general ambulatory medical practice have shown that a large number of patients presenting to a primary care practitioner are without a serious physical disorder.<sup>53,54</sup> As a result, it is often necessary for a practitioner to record a problem in terms of symptoms, signs, patient concerns, or the service that is requested, such as immunisation. For this reason, this report refers to patient 'problems' rather than 'diagnoses'.

A number of studies have demonstrated wide variance in the way a GP perceives the patient's RFE and the manner in which the GP describes the problem under management. Further, in a direct observational study of consultations via a one-way mirror, Bentsen demonstrated that practitioners differ in the way they labelled problems, and suggested that clinical experience may be an important influence on the identification of problems within the consultation.<sup>50</sup> Two other factors that might affect GPs' descriptions of patient RFEs have been identified: although individuals may select the same stimuli, some label each stimulus separately, whereas others cluster them under one label; and individuals differ in the number of stimuli they select (selective perception).<sup>55</sup>

The extent to which therapeutic decisions may influence the diagnostic label selected has also been discussed. Howie<sup>56</sup> and Anderson<sup>53</sup> argue that, while it is assumed that the diagnostic process used in general practice is one of symptom  $\rightarrow$  diagnosis  $\rightarrow$  management, the therapeutic method may well be selected on the basis of the symptom, and the diagnostic label chosen last. They suggest that the selection of the diagnostic label is therefore influenced by the management decision already made.

Alderson contends that to many practitioners 'diagnostic accuracy is only important to the extent that it will assist them in helping the patient'. He further suggests that if major symptoms are readily treatable, some practitioners may feel no need to define the problem in diagnostic terms.<sup>57</sup> Crombie identified 'enormous variability in the rates at which doctors perceive and record illnesses'. He was unable to account statistically for this variation by the effect of geography, age, sex or class differences in the practice populations.<sup>58</sup> Differences in the way male and female GPs label problems also appear to be independent of such influences.<sup>59</sup>

These problems are inherent in the nature of general practice. Knottnerus argues that the GP is confronted with a fundamentally different pattern of problems from the medical specialist, and often has to draw up general diagnostic hypotheses related to probability, severity and consequences.<sup>60</sup> Anderson suggests that morbidity statistics from family practice should be seen as 'a reflection of the physician's diagnostic opinions about the problems that patients bring to them rather than an unarguable statement of the problems managed'.<sup>53</sup>

While these findings regarding limitations in the reliability and validity of practitioner-recorded morbidity should be kept in mind, they apply equally to data drawn from health records, whether paper or electronic, as they do to active data collection methods.<sup>61,62</sup> There is as yet no more reliable method of gaining detailed data about morbidity and its management in general practice. Further, irrespective of the differences between individual GPs in their labelling of the problems, morbidity data collected by GPs in active data collection methods have been shown to provide a reliable overview of the morbidity managed in general practice.<sup>63</sup>

## 2.11 Extrapolated national estimates

A section at the end of each chapter highlights changes that have occurred over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12. These sections summarise results published in the companion publication, *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> Where the results demonstrate a significant change over time, the estimated national change across total GP Medicare services from 2002–03 to 2011–12 can be calculated using the method detailed below. Note that extrapolations are always based on rate per 100 encounters rather than rate per 100 problems because there is no independent measure of the total number of problems managed in Australian general practice. In contrast, the number of national encounters can be drawn from Medicare claims data.

In this report, we also occasionally extrapolate data for the single year 2011–12 to give the reader some feeling of the real size of the issue across Australian general practice.

When extrapolating from a single time point we:

• divide the 'rate per 100 encounters' of the selected event by 100, and then multiply by the total number of GP service items claimed through Medicare in that year, 122.5 million in 2011–12 (rounded to the nearest 100,000, see Table 2.1), to give the estimated number of the selected event across Australia in 2011–12.

When extrapolating measured change over the decade to national estimates, we:

- divide the 'rate per 100 encounters' of the selected event for 2002–03 by 100, and then multiply by the total number of GP service items claimed through Medicare in that year, 96.9 million (rounded to the nearest 100,000, see Table 2.1), to give the estimated national number of events in 2002–03.
- repeat the process using data for 2011–12.

The difference between the two estimates gives the estimated national change in the frequency of that event over the decade. Estimates are rounded to the nearest 100,000 if more than a million and to the nearest 10,000 if below a million.

Change is expressed as the estimated increase or decrease over the study period (from 2002–03 to 2011–12), in the number of general practice contacts for that event (for example, an increase or decrease in the number of GP management contacts with problem X); or an increase or decrease in the number of times a particular medication type was prescribed in Australia in 2011–12, when compared with 2002–03.

Table 2.1 provides the rounded number of GP service items claimed from Medicare in each financial year from 2002–03 to 2011–12.

# Table 2.1: Number of general practice professional services claimed from Medicare Australia each financial year, 2002–03 to 2011–12 (million)

	2002–03	2003–04	2004–05	2005–06	2006–07	2007–08	2008–09	2009–10	2010–11	2011–12 <sup>(a)</sup>
Rounded number of MBS GP items of service claimed	96.9	96.3	98.2	101.1	103.4	109.5	113.0	116.6	118.1	122.5

(a) Medicare data for the 2011–12 year included data from the April 2011 to March 2012 quarters because the 2011–12 financial year data were not available at the time of preparation of this report.

Source: Medicare statistics7

### **Examples of extrapolation:**

### 1. Number of GP encounters at which hypertension was managed nationally in 2011-12

Hypertension was managed at a rate of 9.1 per 100 GP encounters (95% CI: 8.5 to 9.6) in 2011–12 (shown in Table 7.3). How many times does this suggest that hypertension was managed in GP encounters across Australia in 2011–12?

Our best estimate is: 11.15 million times  $[(9.1/100) \times 122.5 \text{ million}]$ , but we are 95% confident that the true number lies between 10.4 million  $[(8.5/100) \times 122.5 \text{ million}]$  and 11.8 million  $[(9.6/100) \times 122.5 \text{ million}]$ .

### 2. National increase in the number of problems managed from 2002-03 to 2011-12

There was a statistically significant increase in the number of problems managed at encounter, from 144.9 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 153.8 in 2011–12 (see Table 7.2 in *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> The calculation used to extrapolate the effect of this change across Australia is:

 $(144.9/100) \times 96.9$  million = 140.4 million problems managed nationally in 2002–03, and  $(153.8/100) \times 122.5$  million = 188.4 million problems managed nationally in 2011–12.

This suggests there were 48.0 million (188.4 million minus 140.4 million) more problems managed at GP-patient encounters in Australia in 2011–12 than in 2002–03.

This is the result of the compound effect of the increase in the number of problems managed by GPs at encounters **plus** the increased number of visits over the decade across Australia.

### **Considerations and limitations in extrapolations**

The extrapolations to the total events occurring nationally in any one year are only estimates. They may provide:

- an underestimate of the true 'GP workload' of a condition/treatment because the extrapolations are made to GP Medicare items claimed, not to the total number of GP encounters per year an additional 5% or so of BEACH encounters annually include encounters paid by sources other than Medicare, such as DVA, state governments, workers compensation insurance, and employers, or not charged to anyone.
- an underestimate of activities of relatively low frequency with a skewed distribution across individual GPs. Where activity is so skewed across the practising population, a national random sample will provide an underestimate of activity because the sample reflects the population rather than the minority.

Further, the base numbers used in the extrapolations are rounded to the nearest 100,000, and extrapolation estimates are rounded to the nearest 100,000 if more than a million and to the nearest 10,000 if below a million, so can only be regarded as approximations. However, the rounding has been applied to all years, so the effect on measures of change will be very small. Therefore, the extrapolation still provides an indication of the size of the effect of measured change nationally.

Extrapolations are based on the unit of the encounter because the number of national encounters is quantifiable using Medicare claims data. However, the reader should be aware that where an event can occur more than once per encounter, the extrapolation represents the number of occasions at which that event occurs in general practice encounters, rather than the number of encounters where that event occurs.

# 3 The sample

This chapter describes the GP sample and sampling methods used in the BEACH program. The methods are only summarised in this chapter. A more detailed explanation of the BEACH methods are described in Chapter 2.

A summary of the BEACH data sets is reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the companion report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

## 3.1 Response rate

A random sample of GPs who claimed at least 375 general practice Medicare items of service in the previous three months is regularly drawn from Medicare claims data by the Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing (DoHA) (see Chapter 2).

Contact was attempted with 4,309 GPs but 15.4% could not be contacted. More than onethird of these had moved (and were untraceable), or had retired or died (Table 3.1), although more than half were those with whom contact could not be established after five calls. Younger GPs were harder to contact. Of the GPs approached who were aged less than 35 years, 27.1% were no longer at that practice and could not be traced. These would largely be registrars moving through practices during training. In contrast, 14.3% of GPs aged 35 years and over were not traceable (results not shown).

The final participating sample consisted of 984 practitioners, representing 27.0% of those who were contacted and available, and 22.8% of those with whom contact was attempted (Table 3.1).

		Per cent of approached	Per cent of contacts established
Type of contact	Number	( <i>n</i> = 4,309)	( <i>n</i> = 3,644)
Letter sent and phone contact attempted	4,309	100.0	_
No contact	665	15.4	_
No phone number	26	0.6	_
Moved/retired/deceased	241	5.6	_
Unavailable (overseas, maternity leave, etc)	48	1.1	_
No contact after five calls	350	8.1	_
Telephone contact established	3,644	84.6	100.0
Declined to participate	2,395	55.6	65.7
Agreed but withdrew	265	6.2	7.3
Agreed and completed	984	22.8	27.0

### Table 3.1: Recruitment and participation rates

## 3.2 Representativeness of the GP sample

Whenever possible, the study group of GPs should be compared with the population from which the GPs were drawn (the sample frame) to identify and, if necessary, adjust for any sample bias that may affect the findings of the study. Comparisons between characteristics of the final GP sample and those of the GPs in the sample frame are provided below. The methods by which weightings are generated as a result of these comparisons and applied to the data are described in Section 3.3.

Statistical comparisons, using the chi-square statistic ( $\chi^2$ ) (significant at the 5% level), were made between BEACH participants, and all recognised GPs in the sample frame during the study period (Table 3.2). The GP characteristics data for BEACH participants were drawn from their GP profile questionnaire. DoHA provided the data for all GPs in the sample frame, drawn from Medicare claims data.

Table 3.2 demonstrates that there were no significant differences in GP characteristics between the final sample of BEACH participants and all GPs in the sample frame, in terms of sex, age, place of graduation, state, or practice location as classified by the Australian Standard Geographical Classification.

Occasionally, the random sampling process produces a sample that may be slightly disproportionate to the national sample frame, which can then impact on the final representativeness of the BEACH participants. In 2011–12 the sample provided by DoHA and the final BEACH participant sample were both highly representative of the national sample frame (Table 3.3).

	BEA	CH <sup>(a)(b)</sup>	Aus	Australia <sup>(a)(c)</sup>	
Variable	Number	Per cent of GPs ( <i>n</i> = 984)	Number	Per cent of GPs ( <i>n</i> = 20,360)	
Sex ( $\chi^2$ = 1.2, <i>p</i> = 0.27)					
Males	582	59.2	12,399	60.9	
Females	402	40.9	7,961	39.1	
Age ( $\chi^2$ = 1.96, <i>p</i> = 0.57)					
< 35 years	65	6.6	1,453	7.1	
35–44 years	190	19.4	4,027	19.8	
45–54 years	322	32.9	6,279	30.8	
55+ years	402	41.1	8,601	42.2	
Missing	5	_	0	_	
Place of graduation ( $\chi^2$ = 0.79 <i>p</i> = 0.37)					
Australia	661	67.2	13,409	65.9	
Overseas	322	32.8	6,951	34.1	
Missing	1	_	0	_	
State ( $\chi^2$ = 13.3, <i>p</i> = 0.07)					
New South Wales	375	38.3	6,738	33.1	
Victoria	220	22.5	5,116	25.1	
Queensland	168	17.2	3,966	19.5	
South Australia	78	8.0	1,703	8.4	
Western Australia	88	9.0	1,861	9.1	
Tasmania	28	2.9	528	2.6	
Australian Capital Territory	15	1.5	308	1.5	
Northern Territory	7	0.7	140	0.7	
ASGC ( $\chi^2 = 0.62, p = 0.96$ )					
Major Cities of Australia	700	71.5	14,553	71.5	
Inner Regional Australia	185	18.9	3,843	18.9	
Outer Regional Australia	79	8.1	1,596	7.8	
Remote Australia	9	0.9	241	1.2	
Very Remote Australia	6	0.6	127	0.6	

# Table 3.2: Comparison of BEACH participants and all active recognised GPs in Australia (the sample frame)

(a) Missing data removed.

(b) Data drawn from the BEACH GP profile completed by each participating GP.

(c) All GPs who claimed at least 375 MBS GP consultation services during the most recent three month Medicare Australia data period. Data provided by the Department of Health and Ageing.

Note: ASGC - Australian Standard Geographical Classification.

	Sample (all Aust	frame ralia) <sup>(a)</sup>	Sample from claims	m Medicare data <sup>(b)</sup>	BEACH p	articipants
Variable	Number	Per cent of GPs	Number	Per cent of GPs	Number	Per cent of GPs
Sex (missing)	(0)		(2)		(0)	
Males	12,399	60.9	2,642	61.3	582	59.2
Females	7,961	39.1	1,665	38.7	402	40.9
Age (missing)	(0)		(3)		(5)	
< 35 years	1,453	7.1	365	8.5	65	6.6
35–44 years	4,027	19.8	899	20.9	190	19.4
45-54 years	6,279	30.8	1,402	32.6	322	32.9
55+ years	8,601	42.2	1,640	38.0	402	41.1
State (missing)	(0)		(1)		(0)	
New South Wales	6,738	33.1	1,506	35.0	375	38.3
Victoria	5,116	25.1	1,064	24.7	220	22.5
Queensland	3,966	19.5	807	18.7	168	17.2
South Australia	1,703	8.4	344	8.0	78	8.0
Western Australia	1,861	9.1	390	9.1	88	9.0
Tasmania	528	2.6	106	2.5	28	2.9
Australian Capital Territory	308	1.5	65	1.5	15	1.5
Northern Territory	140	0.7	26	0.6	7	0.7
Total	20,360	100.0	4,309	100.0	984	100.0

Table 3.3: Comparison of all active recognised GPs in Australia (the sample frame), GPs in the sample from Medicare claims data (drawn by DoHA), and BEACH participants 2011–12

(a) Sample frame – all recognised (see 'Glossary') GPs in Australia who claimed at least 375 general practice service items in the previous quarter (from Medicare claims data).

(b) Random sample of GPs from the sample frame, drawn from Medicare claims data and supplied by DoHA to approach for BEACH participation.

### GP activity in the previous quarter

Data on the number of MBS general practice service items claimed in the previous quarter were also provided by DoHA for each GP in the drawn samples, and for all GPs (as a group) in the sample frame. These data were used to determine the 'activity level' of each GP drawn in the samples, and to compare the activity level of the final participants with that of GPs in the samples who declined to participate.

There were significant differences in the distribution of BEACH participants and nonparticipants across activity levels. A greater proportion of participants than non-participants were in the low activity group (375–750 services), and a smaller proportion in the high activity group (> 1,500 services). There were similar proportions in the 750–1,500 services group (Table 3.4).

Participants had a significantly (p < 0.01) lower mean number of consultation items claimed in the previous quarter (1,311.1) compared with GPs who declined to participate (1,412.6). Comparisons of these groups showed a median difference of 7.7 consultations per week (median difference 7.8 per week) (Table 3.4).

### GP activity in the previous year

When comparing GP activity level in the previous 12 months, there was a significant (p = 0.017) difference between the proportions of participating and non-participating GPs in each of the claims categories with the exception of the 3,001–6,000 services category. However, comparison of the median and mean number of claims for each group showed a difference in the median of 6.5 consultations per week (based on a difference of 339 per year), and 6.8 consultations per week in the mean (based on 355 per year) (Table 3.5).

	Participants <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 984)		Non-participar ( <i>n</i> = 2,660)	nts <sup>(a)</sup>
Variable	Number of GPs	Per cent	Number of GPs	Per cent
Activity ( $\chi^2$ = 6.7, <i>p</i> = 0.0349)				
375–750 services in previous quarter	259	26.3	605	22.7
750–1,500 services in previous quarter	404	41.1	1,088	40.9
> 1,500 services in previous quarter	321	32.6	967	36.4
	Number of claims		Number of claims	
Mean activity level (t = 3.42, $p$ = 0.0006)	1,311.1	_	1,412.6	_
Median activity level	1,130.5	_	1,231.0	_
Standard deviation	770.2	_	805.8	_

Table 3.4: Quarterly activity level of participating and non-participatin	ng Gr	rs
---	-------	----

(a) Missing data removed.

### Table 3.5: Annual activity level of participating and non-participating GPs

	Participants <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 984)		Non-participan ( <i>n</i> = 2,660)	ts <sup>(a)</sup>
Variable	Number of GPs	Per cent	Number of GPs	Per cent
Activity ( $\chi^2$ = 10.1, <i>p</i> = 0.0174)				
1–1,500 services in previous year	45	4.6	127	4.8
1,500–3,000 services in previous year	237	24.1	528	19.6
3,001–6,000 services in previous year	394	40.0	1,057	39.7
> 6,000 services in previous year	308	31.3	948	35.6
	Number of claims		Number of claims	
Mean activity level (t = $3.02$ , $p = 0.0025$ )	5,099.2	_	5,453.8	_
Median activity level	4,459.5	_	4,798.5	_
Standard deviation	3,034.0	_	3,187.3	_

(a) Missing data removed.

The similarity of the BEACH participants to the national sample frame in terms of age, sex, place of graduation, state and practice location, and the marginal difference in activity level (equating to about one consultation per day), shows a final BEACH participant sample that is highly representative of GPs in the Australian sample frame.

## 3.3 Weighting the data

### Age-sex weights

As described in Section 3.2, comparisons are made annually to test how representative BEACH participants are of the Australian sample frame. Occasionally, where participants in a particular age or sex group are over-represented or under-represented, GP age-sex weights are applied to the data sets in post-stratification weighting to achieve comparable estimates and precision. The BEACH participants were representative in all age and sex categories, but because there are always marginal (even if not statistically significant) differences, post-stratification weighting was applied for consistency over recording years.

### Activity weights

In BEACH, each GP provides details of 100 consecutive encounters. There is considerable variation among GPs in the number of services each provides in a given year. Encounters were therefore assigned an additional weight directly proportional to the activity level of the recording GP. GP activity level was measured as the number of MBS general practice service items claimed by the GP in the previous 12 months (data supplied by DoHA).

### **Total weights**

The final weighted estimates were calculated by multiplying raw rates by the GP age-sex weight and the GP sampling fraction of services in the previous 12 months. Table 3.6 shows the precision ratio calculated before and after weighting the encounter data.

## 3.4 Representativeness of the encounter sample

BEACH aims to gain a representative sample of GP-patient encounters. To assess the representativeness of the final weighted sample of encounters, the age-sex distribution of patients at weighted BEACH encounters with GP consultation service items claimed (excluding those with Department of Veterans' Affairs [DVA] patients) was compared with that of patients at all encounters claimed as GP consultation service items through Medicare in the 2011–12 study period (data provided by DoHA).

As shown in Table 3.6, there is an excellent fit of the age-sex distribution of patients at the BEACH (weighted) with that of the MBS claims distribution, with precision ratios all within the 0.91–1.09 range. Even prior to the weightings, the range of raw precision ratios (0.91–1.08) indicates that the BEACH sample is a good representation of Australian GP-patient encounters, as no age-sex category varied by more than 9% from the population distribution.

The age-sex distribution of patients at BEACH encounters and for MBS GP consultation service item claims is shown graphically for all patients in Figure 3.1, for males in Figure 3.2, and for females in Figure 3.3.

	BEACH–raw <sup>(a)</sup>		BEACH-raw <sup>(a)</sup> BEACH-weighted <sup>(b)</sup>		Australia <sup>(c)</sup>	Precision ratios (Australia = 1.00)	
Sex/age	Number	Per cent ( <i>n</i> = 82,465)	Number	Per cent ( <i>n</i> = 83,395)	Per cent ( <i>n</i> = 103,753,815)	Raw <sup>(a)</sup>	Weighted <sup>(c)</sup>
All							
< 1 year	1,747	2.1	1,617	1.9	2.0	1.07	0.98
1–4 years	4,082	5.0	3,968	4.8	5.2	0.96	0.92
5–14 years	4,649	5.6	4,761	5.7	6.2	0.91	0.92
15–24 years	7,066	8.6	7,135	8.6	8.7	0.98	0.98
25–44 years	18,715	22.7	18,685	22.4	22.9	0.99	0.98
45–64 years	22,613	27.4	23,074	27.7	27.3	1.01	1.01
65–74 years	11,223	13.6	11,483	13.8	13.0	1.05	1.06
75+ years	12,370	15.0	12,672	15.2	14.8	1.01	1.03
Male							
< 1 year	937	1.1	858	1.0	1.1	1.07	0.97
1–4 years	2,174	2.6	2,159	2.6	2.7	0.96	0.94
5–14 years	2,381	2.9	2,466	3.0	3.2	0.91	0.93
15–24 years	2,354	2.9	2,594	3.1	3.2	0.90	0.98
25–44 years	6,365	7.7	7,023	8.4	8.6	0.90	0.98
45–64 years	9,018	10.9	9,995	12.0	11.8	0.93	1.02
65–74 years	4,986	6.1	5,482	6.6	6.0	1.01	1.09
75+ years	4,873	5.9	5,276	6.3	6.1	0.97	1.04
Female							
< 1 year	810	1.0	759	0.9	0.9	1.07	0.99
1–4 years	1,908	2.3	1,809	2.2	2.4	0.95	0.89
5–14 years	2,268	2.8	2,295	2.8	3.0	0.91	0.91
15–24 years	4,712	5.7	4,541	5.5	5.5	1.03	0.98
25–44 years	12,350	15.0	11,662	14.0	14.3	1.05	0.98
45–64 years	13,595	16.5	13,079	15.7	15.5	1.06	1.01
65–74 years	6,237	7.6	6,001	7.2	7.0	1.08	1.03
75+ years	7,497	9.1	7,396	8.9	8.7	1.04	1.02

### Table 3.6: Age-sex distribution of patients at BEACH and MBS GP consultation service items

(a) Unweighted GP consultation Medicare service items only, excluding encounters with patients who hold a DVA Repatriation health card.

(b) Calculated from BEACH weighted data, excluding encounters with patients who hold a DVA Repatriation health card.

(c) MBS claims data provided by the Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing.

Note: GP consultation Medicare services - see 'Glossary'. Only encounters with a valid age and sex are included in the comparison.



Figure 3.1: Age distribution of all patients at BEACH and MBS GP consultation services 2011-12





### 3.5 The weighted data set

The final unweighted data set from the 14th year of collection contained encounters, reasons for encounters, problems and management/treatments. The apparent number of encounters and number of medications increased after weighting, and the number of reasons for encounter, problems managed, other treatments, referrals, imaging and pathology all decreased after weighting. Raw and weighted totals for each data element are shown in Table 3.7. The weighted data set is used for all analyses in the remainder of this report.

Variable	Raw	Weighted
General practitioners	984	984.0
Encounters	98,400	99,030.0
Reasons for encounter	152,696	153,217.8
Problems managed	154,963	152,285.5
Medications	103,320	106,007.4
Other treatments <sup>(a)</sup>	55,890	53,395.0
Referrals and admissions	15,219	14,382.0
Pathology	50,339	46,544.3
Imaging	10,280	9,978.2
Other investigations	969	896.5

Table 3.7: The BEACH data set, 2011-12

(a) Other treatments excludes injections for immunisations/vaccinations (raw n = 3,656, weighted n = 3,459) (see Chapter 10).

# 4 The participating GPs

This chapter reports data collected between April 2011 and March 2012 about the participating GPs and their practices from the 14th year of the BEACH program. Details of GP and practice characteristics are reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the tenyear summary report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

## 4.1 Characteristics of the GP participants

All participants returned a GP profile questionnaire, although some were incomplete. The results are provided in Table 4.1. Of the 984 participants:

- 59% were male, and 41% were aged 55 years and over
- 59% had been in general practice for more than 20 years
- 67% had graduated in Australia
- 34% spent more than 40 hours each week on direct patient care services (mean hours worked was 36.9; median was 38.0 hours)
- 27% conducted some consultations in a language other than English
- more than 50% were Fellows of the RACGP, and 7% were Fellows of the ACRRM
- 29% bulk-billed Medicare for all patients and 71% bulk-billed for selected patients; only 1% did not bulk bill Medicare for any patient consultations
- 50% had provided care in a residential aged care facility in the previous month
- 71% practised in Major cities (using Australian Standard Geographical Classification)<sup>64</sup>
- 37% were in practices of fewer than five individual GPs, and 21% were in practices of ten or more individual GPs
- 57% were in practices of fewer than five full-time equivalent (FTE) GPs
- 77% of the GPs worked in a practice that employed practice nursing staff for more than a third of these (36.6%) the practice employed less than two full-time equivalents (35–45 hours per week). On average, there were 0.3 FTE practice nurses per FTE GP.
- 89% worked in an accredited practice
- nearly two-thirds (62%) had a co-located pathology laboratory or collection centre and almost half (47%) had a psychologist in or within 50 metres of the practice
- 42% worked in a practice that provided their own or cooperative after-hours care, and 53% in a practice that used a deputising service for after-hours patient care (multiple responses allowed)
- 63% worked in a practice teaching undergraduates, junior doctors, registrars, or all three.

Those interested in the clinical activity of overseas trained doctors will find more information in Bayram et al. (2007) *Clinical activity of overseas trained doctors practising in general practice in Australia.*<sup>65</sup> Readers interested in the effects of GP age on clinical practice will find more information in Charles et al. (2006) *The independent effect of age of general practitioner on clinical practice.*<sup>66</sup> For more information about the effect of the sex of the GP on clinical practice see Harrison et al. (2011) *Sex of the GP.*<sup>67</sup>

GP characteristic	Number <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent of GPs <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 984)
Sex (missing = 0)		
Male	582	59.2
Female	402	40.8
Age (missing = 5)		
< 35 years	65	6.6
35–44 years	190	19.4
45–54 years	322	32.9
55+ years	402	41.1
Years in general practice (missing = 5)		
< 2 years	14	1.4
2–5 years	102	10.4
6–10 years	109	11.1
11–19 years	182	18.6
20+ years	572	58.4
Place of graduation (missing = 1)		
Australia	661	67.2
Overseas	322	32.8
Asia	123	12.5
United Kingdom/Ireland	80	8.1
Africa and Middle East	55	5.6
Europe	33	3.4
New Zealand	16	1.6
Other	15	1.5
Direct patient care hours (worked) per week (missing = 13)		
≤ 10 hours	12	1.2
11–20 hours	118	12.2
21–40 hours	515	53.0
41–60 hours	312	32.1
61+ hours	14	1.4
Consult in languages other than English (missing = 3)		
< 25% of consultations	213	21.7
25–50% of consultations	28	2.9
> 50% of consultations	27	2.8
Currently in general practice training program (missing = 9)	38	3.9
Fellow of RACGP (missing = 3)	557	56.8
Fellow of ACRRM (missing = 29)	70	7.3

### Table 4.1: Characteristics of participating GPs and their practices

(continued)

GP characteristic	Number <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent of GPs <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 984)
Bulk-billing <sup>(b)</sup> (missing = 2)		
All patients	282	28.7
Some patients	690	70.3
No patients	10	1.0
Patient care provided in previous month <sup>(b)</sup>		
In a residential aged care facility (missing = 3)	497	50.1
As a salaried/sessional hospital medical officer (missing = 19)	108	11.2
Practice location by RRMA (missing = 5)		
Capital	649	66.3
Other metropolitan	74	7.6
Large rural	66	6.7
Small rural	69	7.1
Other rural	104	10.6
Remote central	6	0.6
Other remote, offshore	11	1.1
Practice location by ASGC remoteness structure (missing = 5)		
Major cities	700	71.1
Inner regional	185	18.9
Outer regional	79	8.1
Remote	9	0.9
Very remote	6	0.6
Size of practice – number of individual GPs (missing = 16)		
Solo	104	10.7
2–4	257	26.6
5–9	409	42.3
10–14	142	14.7
15+	56	5.8
Size of practice – full-time equivalent GPs (missing = 111)		
< 1	7	0.8
1.0–1.99	113	12.9
2.0–2.99	134	15.3
3.0–3.99	120	13.7
4.0-4.99	127	14.5
5.0–9.99	303	34.7
10.0–14.99	51	5.8
15+	18	2.1

### Table 4.1 (continued): Characteristics of participating GPs and their practices

(continued)

GP characteristic	Number <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent of GPs <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 984)
Practice nurse at major practice address (missing = 7)	747	76.5
Number of individual practice nurses (missing = 25)		
0	230	24.0
1	148	15.4
2	185	19.3
3	134	14.0
4–5	175	18.2
6+	87	9.1
Number of full-time equivalent practice nurses (missing = 134)		
0	230	27.1
< 1	64	7.5
1.0–1.99	247	29.1
2.0–2.99	157	18.5
3.0–3.99	81	9.5
4.0+	71	8.3
Accredited practice (missing = 11)	862	88.6
Co-located services <sup>(c)</sup> (missing = 2)		
Pathology laboratory/collection centre	609	62.0
Psychologist	465	47.4
Physiotherapist	336	34.2
Medical specialist	227	23.1
Imaging	154	15.7
After-hours arrangements <sup>(b)</sup> (missing = 7)		
Practice does own and/or cooperative with other practices	410	42.0
Practice does its own	299	30.6
Cooperative with other practices	122	12.5
Deputising service	518	53.0
Other arrangement	109	11.2
Teaching status of major practice <sup>(b)</sup> (missing = 4)		
Yes – a teaching practice	620	63.3
For undergraduates	518	52.9
For junior doctors	114	11.6
For registrars	389	39.7

### Table 4.1 (continued): Characteristics of participating GPs and their practices

(a) Missing data removed.

(b) Multiple responses allowed.

(c) Services located/available on the same premises, in the same building or within 50 metres, available on a daily or regular basis.

Note: RRMA – Rural, Remote and Metropolitan Areas classification; ASGC – Australian Standard Geographical Classification; RACGP – Royal Australian College of General Practitioners; ACRRM – Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine.

## 4.2 Computer use at GP practices

As computers are increasingly being used by GPs in their clinical activity, the GP profile questionnaire was redesigned in 2010–11 so that more comprehensive information could be gained about the uses to which computers are put in a general practice clinical environment (see Appendix 2). In particular, more specific information was collected about pathology and imaging test ordering and receipt of results, and whether the medical records used were paper only, a mix of paper and electronic medical records, or whether the practice was completely paperless in this regard.

Table 4.2 shows the proportion of individual participating GPs who used computers for each of nine listed activities.

- Only 4.1% of GPs did not use a computer at all for clinical purposes.
- Computers were used mainly for prescribing, receiving pathology results electronically and for internet use.
- 93.9% of GPs were producing prescriptions electronically.
- 92.7% were receiving pathology results online, 81.1% were producing and printing pathology orders, and 35.5% were ordering pathology electronically.
- 74.5% were receiving imaging results online, 73.4% were producing and printing imaging orders, and 20.0% were ordering imaging tests electronically.
- Almost two-thirds (65.0) reported they had electronic medical records exclusively (that is, were paperless).
- Over one-quarter (29.3%) reported maintaining a hybrid record where some patient information is kept electronically and some on paper records.

Computer use	Number	Per cent of GPs ( <i>n</i> = 984)
Not available	31	3.2
Not used at all	40	4.1
Internet/email only	4	0.4
Prescribing	924	93.9
Internet	832	84.6
Email	655	66.6
Pathology ordering (online) <sup>(a)</sup>	350	35.5
Produce/print pathology orders <sup>(a)</sup>	798	81.1
Pathology results receipt (on line) <sup>(a)</sup>	912	92.7
Imaging ordering (online) <sup>(a)</sup>	197	20.0
Produce/print imaging orders <sup>(a)</sup>	722	73.4
Imaging results receipt (on line) <sup>(a)</sup>	733	74.5
Medical records – complete (paperless)	640	65.0
Partial/hybrid records	288	29.3
Paper records only	54	5.5
(a) Multiple responses allowed.		

### Table 4.2: Computer applications available/used at major practice address

Those interested in the effect of computerisation on quality of care in general practice will find more detailed information in Henderson (2007) *The effect of computerisation on the quality of care in Australian general practice.*<sup>68</sup>

# 4.3 Changes in characteristics of the GPs over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

Changes over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12 are described in detail in the accompanying report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 *to* 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> Briefly, the major changes in the characteristics of the participating GPs were:

- the proportion of GP participants who were female increased over time
- the proportion of GPs who were younger than 44 years decreased, whereas the proportion aged 55 years or more increased over the decade
- reflecting the increase in the age of GP participants, the proportion who had worked in general practice for more than 20 years also increased significantly over time
- the proportion of GPs working 21–40 hours per week on direct patient care significantly increased, and the proportion working 41–60 hours, or more than 60 hours, significantly decreased
- the proportion of GPs who graduated from their primary medical degree in Australia decreased over the decade
- the proportion of GPs who provide < 25% of their consultations in a language other than English increased
- the proportion of participants holding the Fellowship of the RACGP increased over the decade
- the proportion of GPs in solo practice decreased over time, and the proportion in practices with more than ten individual GPs almost doubled
- fewer practices are providing after-hours care on their own, or in cooperation with other practices, but more practices are using deputising services for after-hours care
- computers have become increasingly available at practices, as has their use for clinical activity.

# 5 The encounters

This chapter describes the content and types of encounters recorded in the 2011–12 BEACH year. Data about the encounters are reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the ten-year report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

## 5.1 Content of the encounters

In 2011–12, details of 99,030 encounters (weighted data) were available for 984 GPs. A summary of these encounters is provided as Table 5.1. Reasons for encounter (RFEs) and problems managed are expressed as rates per 100 encounters. Each management action is presented in terms of both a rate per 100 encounters and a rate per 100 problems managed, with 95% confidence limits.

- On average, patients gave 155 RFEs, and GPs managed about 154 problems per 100 encounters.
- Chronic problems accounted for 36.2% of all problems managed, and an average of 55.6 chronic problems were managed per 100 encounters.
- New problems accounted for 38.1% of all problems, and on average 58.6 new problems were managed per 100 encounters.
- Work-related problems were managed at a rate of 2.6 per 100 encounters.
- Medications were the most common treatment choice (107 per 100 encounters), most of these medications were prescribed (86.8 per 100), rather than supplied by the GP (9.7 per 100) or advised for over-the-counter purchase (10.5 per 100).
- For an 'average' 100 GP-patient encounters, GPs provided 107 medications and 37 clinical treatments (such as advice and counselling), undertook 17 procedures, made 9 referrals to medical specialists and 5 to allied health services, and placed 47 pathology test orders and 10 imaging test orders (Table 5.1).

		Rate per 100 encounters	95%	95%	Rate per 100	95%	95%
Variable	Number	(n = 99,030)	LCL	UCL	( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	LCL	UCL
General practitioners	984	—	_	_	_	_	_
Encounters	99,030	—	_	_	_	_	_
Reasons for encounter	153,218	154.7	152.8	156.7	_	_	_
Problems managed	152,286	153.8	151.4	156.1	_	_	_
New problems	58,014	58.6	57.1	60.0	38.1	37.1	39.1
Chronic problems	55,080	55.6	53.6	57.7	36.2	35.2	37.2
Work-related	2,559	2.6	2.4	2.8	1.7	1.5	1.8
Medications	106,007	107.0	104.1	110.0	69.6	68.0	71.2
Prescribed	85,980	86.8	84.0	89.7	56.5	54.9	58.1
GP-supplied	9,630	9.7	8.9	10.5	6.3	5.8	6.8
Advised OTC	10,397	10.5	9.7	11.3	6.8	6.3	7.4
Other treatments <sup>(a)</sup>	53,395	53.9	51.2	56.6	35.1	33.5	36.7
Clinical*	36,610	37.0	34.6	39.3	24.0	22.6	25.5
Procedural*	16,785	16.9	16.1	17.8	11.0	10.5	11.5
Referrals	14,382	14.5	13.9	15.1	9.4	9.1	9.8
Medical specialist*	8,488	8.6	8.2	8.9	5.6	5.3	5.8
Allied health services*	4,629	4.7	4.4	5.0	3.0	2.8	3.2
Hospital*	345	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Emergency department*	311	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.2
Other referrals*	609	0.6	0.5	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.5
Pathology	46,544	47.0	44.9	49.1	30.6	29.3	31.8
Imaging	9,978	10.1	9.6	10.5	6.6	6.3	6.8
Other investigations <sup>(b)</sup>	897	0.9	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.7

#### Table 5.1: Summary of morbidity and management at GP-patient encounters

(a) Other treatments includes treatment given by practice nurses in the context of the GP-patient encounter as well as treatment given by GPs.

(b) Other investigations reported here include only those ordered by the GP. Other investigations in Chapter 12 include those ordered by the GP and those done by the GP or practice staff.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; OTC - over-the-counter.

## 5.2 Encounter type

During the first seven years of the BEACH program, where one (or more) MBS/DVA item number was claimable for the encounter, GP participants were asked to record only one item number. Where multiple item numbers (e.g. an A1 item such as 'standard surgery consultation' and a procedural item number) were claimable for an encounter, GPs were instructed to record the lower of the item numbers (usually an A1 item number).

Changes to the BEACH form were made in the 2005–06 BEACH year to capture practice nurse activity associated with GP-patient consultations. One of these changes was to allow GPs to record up to three Medicare item numbers per encounter. For comparability with earlier years, in Tables 5.3, 5.4 and 5.5 only one item number per MBS/DVA-claimable encounter has been counted. Selection of one item number was undertaken on a priority

basis: consultation item numbers override incentive item numbers, which override procedural item numbers, which override other Medicare item numbers. Table 5.6 provides a breakdown of all item numbers recorded by the GPs.

Table 5.2 provides an overview of the MBS/DVA item numbers recorded in BEACH in 2011–12. At least one MBS/DVA item number was recorded at 87,323 encounters (88.2% of all BEACH encounters). A single item number was recorded at three-quarters (77.5%) of BEACH encounters said to be claimable from the MBS/DVA.

Variable	Number	Per cent of MBS/DVA encounters (n = 87,323)
Encounters at which one MBS item was recorded	67,704	77.5
Encounters at which two MBS items were recorded	18,501	21.2
Encounters at which three MBS items were recorded	1,118	1.3
Total encounters at which at least one item was recorded	87,323	100.0

### Table 5.2: Overview of MBS items recorded

Note: MBS – Medicare Benefits Schedule; DVA – Department of Veterans' Affairs.

In previous years we have reported the breakdown of MBS/DVA services into groups for GPs and practice nurses in Table 5.3. The MBS has continued to expand, with some services provided by Aboriginal health workers and other allied health services (e.g. physiotherapists and speech pathologists) claimable through the MBS/DVA. In addition, some items can be claimed by more than one of these health professionals, for example practice nurses or Aboriginal health workers. To account for these changes, we have modified Table 5.3 to group MBS/DVA items according to whether the service was provided by a GP or an 'other health professional'. The group for other health professionals includes practice nurses, Aboriginal health workers and allied health services.

Of the 87,323 MBS/DVA items of service recorded (counting only one item number per encounter), 94.9% related to GP items of service. Items with other health professionals not accompanied by a GP item of service were recorded at 0.1% of encounters. Direct encounters are defined as those where the patient was physically seen by the GP. At indirect encounters, the patient was not physically seen by the GP (Table 5.3). More detail about item numbers recorded for practice nurse items is given in Chapter 10.

# Table 5.3: Breakdown of MBS/DVA items of service according to provider (counting one item number per encounter)

Type of encounter	Number	Per cent of encounters <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 91,956)	95% LCL	95% UCL
MBS/DVA GP item of service	87,243	94.9	94.4	95.3
MBS/DVA item of service with other health $professional^{(b)}$ (no related GP item)	80	0.1	0.0	0.1
Direct encounters	27	0.0	0.0	0.0
Indirect encounters	48	0.1	0.0	0.1
Unspecified as direct or indirect	5	0.0	0.0	0.0
MBS/DVA item of service (all encounters) <sup>(c)</sup>	87,323	95.0	94.5	95.4

(a) Missing data removed from analysis (n = 7,074).

(b) 'Other health professional' includes practice nurses, allied health services and Aboriginal health workers.

(c) Includes direct encounters at which either a GP or a practice nurse item was recorded.

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; MBS – Medicare Benefits Schedule; DVA – Department of Veterans' Affairs.

Table 5.4 reports the breakdown of encounter type by payment source, counting a single Medicare item number per encounter (where applicable).

- Indirect encounters (where the patient was not seen by the GP) accounted for 1.7%, and direct encounters for 98.3% of encounters at which a payment source was recorded.
- The vast majority of all direct encounters (94.9%) were claimable either through Medicare or the DVA.
- Direct encounters where the GP indicated that no charge was made occurred rarely, accounting for 0.5% of encounters.
- Encounters claimable through workers compensation accounted for 2.0% of encounters.
- Encounters claimable through other sources (e.g. hospital-paid encounters) accounted for 0.9% of encounters.

# Table 5.4: Type of encounter at which a source of payment was recorded for the encounter (counting one item number per encounter)

Type of encounter	Number	Per cent of encounters <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 91,956)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Per cent of direct encounters (n = 90,429)
Indirect encounters <sup>(b)</sup>	1,522	1.7	1.4	1.9	
Direct encounters	90,429	98.3	98.1	98.6	100.0
MBS/DVA items of service (direct encounters $only)^{(c)}$	87,264	94.9	94.4	95.4	96.5
Workers compensation	1,853	2.0	1.8	2.2	2.0
Other paid (hospital, state, etc)	862	0.9	0.7	1.2	1.0
No charge	450	0.5	0.3	0.7	0.5
Other health professional only items (unspecified as direct or indirect)	5	0.0	0.0	0.0	_
Total	91,956	100.0	_	_	_

(a) Missing data removed from analysis (n = 7,074).

(b) Five encounters involving chronic disease management or case conference items were recorded as indirect encounters.

(c) Includes direct encounters at which either a GP or an item with an other health professional (or both) was recorded.

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; MBS - Medicare Benefits Schedule; DVA - Department of Veterans' Affairs.

Table 5.5 provides a summary of the MBS items recorded in BEACH, counting one item number per encounter. This provides comparable results about item numbers recorded to those reported in previous years.

- Standard surgery consultations accounted for 81.8% of MBS/DVA-claimable GP consultations, and for 77.6% of all encounters for which a payment source was recorded.
- 8.6% of MBS/DVA claimable encounters were long or prolonged surgery consultations.
- Home or institution visits, and visits at residential aged care facilities were all relatively rare, together accounting for 2.5% of MBS/DVA claimable encounters.
- About 1% of encounters were claimable as GP mental healthcare items, with another 1% claimable as chronic disease management items. Health assessments and case conference items were not recorded often.

## Table 5.5: Summary of GP only MBS/DVA items recorded (counting one item number per encounter)

MBS/DVA item	Number	Rate per 100 encounters <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 91,956)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Per cent of MBS/DVA recorded GP items (n = 87,243)
Short surgery consultations	1,619	1.8	1.4	2.1	1.9
Standard surgery consultations	71,386	77.6	76.5	78.8	81.8
Long surgery consultations	7,403	8.1	7.5	8.6	8.5
Prolonged surgery consultations	479	0.5	0.4	0.6	0.5
Residential aged care facility (RACF) visits	1,624	1.8	1.1	2.4	1.9
Home or institution visits (excluding RACF)	637	0.7	0.5	0.9	0.7
GP mental health care	1,221	1.3	1.2	1.5	1.4
Chronic disease management items	1,137	1.2	1.1	1.4	1.3
Health assessments	387	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.4
Case conferences	5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Attendances associated with Practice Incentives Program payments	153	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2
Other items	1,193	1.3	0.9	1.7	1.4
Therapeutic procedures	339	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.4
Surgical operations	266	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3
Acupuncture	220	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.3
Other items	368	0.4	0.1	0.7	0.4
Total MBS/DVA items of service (GPs only)	87,243	94.9	94.4	95.3	100.0

(a) Encounters with missing payment source were removed from analysis (*n* = 7,074). Denominator used for analysis *n* = 91,956.

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; MBS – Medicare Benefits Schedule; DVA – Department of Veterans' Affairs; GP – general practitioner; RACF – residential aged care facility.

Table 5.6 provides the distribution of all Medicare item numbers recorded across Medicare item number groups and the number of encounters at which at least one of each type of item number was recorded. Overall, there were 108,060 MBS item numbers recorded at 87,323 Medicare/DVA claimable encounters in 2011–12, an average of 1.2 items per encounter claimable through Medicare/DVA.

Surgery consultations (including short, standard, long and prolonged) were the most commonly recorded type of item number, accounting for 75% of all MBS items, one of these items being recorded at 92.6% of MBS claimable encounters.

The second most commonly recorded were items for bulk-billed incentive payments, which accounted for 14.7% of all items recorded. Items for hospital, residential aged care and home visits together accounted for 2% of all MBS items. Items for other practice nurse, Aboriginal health worker and allied health services accounted for 2% of all MBS items, and were recorded at least once at 2.3% of claimable encounters at which at least one MBS item was recorded. A more detailed breakdown of practice nurse item numbers and related data on practice nurse activity, is provided in Section 10.4.

	All MBS/DVA items <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 108,060)		Encounters with at least one recorded <sup>(b)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 87,323)			ne item	
Items/encounters	Number	Per cent	Number	Per cent	95% LCL	95% UCL	
Surgery consultations	80,887	74.9	80,887	92.6	91.7	93.5	
GP bulk-billed incentive payment	15,860	14.7	15,860	18.2	16.1	20.2	
Home, institution and residential aged care visits	2,261	2.1	2,261	2.6	1.9	3.3	
Chronic disease management items (including case conferences)	2,054	1.9	1,464	1.7	1.5	1.9	
Other practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker/allied health worker services	2,031	1.9	1,999	2.3	2.0	2.6	
GP mental health care items	1,442	1.3	1,441	1.7	1.5	1.8	
Surgical operations	1,023	0.9	992	1.1	1.0	1.3	
Diagnostic procedures and investigations	582	0.5	573	0.7	0.6	0.8	
Health assessments	458	0.4	457	0.5	0.4	0.6	
Therapeutic procedures	417	0.4	416	0.5	0.4	0.6	
Acupuncture	226	0.2	226	0.3	0.1	0.4	
Pathology services	219	0.2	219	0.3	0.2	0.3	
Attendances associated with Practice Incentives Program payments	182	0.2	182	0.2	0.2	0.3	
Diagnostic imaging services	7	0.0	7	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Other items	411	0.4	411	0.5	0.1	0.8	
Total items	108,060	100.0	_	_	—	_	

Table 5.6: Distribution of all MBS/DVA item numbers recorded, across item number groups and encounters

(a) Up to three MBS/DVA items could be recorded at each encounter.

(b) Identifies encounters where at least one item from the MBS group was recorded.

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; MBS – Medicare Benefits Schedule.

## 5.3 Consultation length

In a subsample of 33,096 BEACH MBS/DVA-claimable encounters at which start and finish times had been recorded by the GP, the mean length of consultation in 2011–12 was 15.2 minutes (95% CI: 15.0–15.5). The median length was 13.0 minutes (results not tabled).

For A1 MBS/DVA-claimable encounters, the mean length of consultation in 2011–12 was 14.9 minutes (95% CI: 14.6–15.1), and the median length was 13.0 minutes (results not tabled). Methods describing the substudy from which data on consultation length are collected are described in Section 2.6.

The determinants of consultation length were investigated by Britt et al. (2004) in *Determinants of GP billing in Australia: content and time*<sup>69</sup> and Britt et al. (2005) in *Determinants of consultation length in Australian general practice*.<sup>70</sup>

# 5.4 Changes in the encounters over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

The companion report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12,<sup>1</sup> provides an overview of changes in general practice encounters over the last decade. The major changes between 2002–03 and 2011–12 are summarised below.

- There was an increase in the average number of problems managed at encounter, from 145 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 154 in 2011–12. This change was reflected in an increase in the number of chronic problems managed per 100 encounters. However these changes did not result in an increase in the average length of GP-patient encounters which remained static over the decade.
- The number of work-related problems managed marginally decreased over the last eight years from 3.1 to 2.6 per 100 encounters.

Of the encounters claimable from Medicare/DVA:

- short surgery consultations as a proportion of all Medicare/DVA claimed consultations increased over the study period
- the proportion designated chronic disease management items or health assessments both increased significantly.

The changes in management actions described below are measured in terms of rates per 100 encounters. As there was a significant increase in the number of problems managed at encounters, it may be more informative to consider changes in management actions in terms of rates per 100 problems managed as described in Section 8.1.

- The number of procedures undertaken per 100 encounters rose significantly from 14.6 to 16.9 per 100 encounters.
- There was an increased rate of referrals, which was reflected in referrals to medical specialists, allied health services, emergency departments and 'other' services.
- Pathology test/battery order rates increased by nearly 50%. Orders for imaging tests also increased.

## 5.5 Discussion

The number of GP encounters with patients, measured by MBS attendance items for both GPs and other medical practitioners claiming primary care attendance items, increased from 96.9 million in 2002–03 to 122.5 million in 2011–12 (see Section 2.11), an increase of 26.4% over the last decade. This is a great deal more than the increase in the Australian population during this period and may be driven by an ageing population with an increased number of chronic diseases requiring more frequent encounters. This is also reflected in the increase in the number of problems managed at encounter, from 145 to 154 for 100 encounters, and the increase in chronic problems managed from 49.1 to 55.6 per 100 encounters between 2002–03 and 2011–12.

A significant decrease in long surgery consultations occurred in 2008–09 and the rate has remained relatively low since. This coincided with concern being expressed by the Medicare Professional Services Review regarding the number of longer GP consultations being claimed from Medicare. A significant rise in chronic disease management items occurred in 2008–09, and may be attributed to an increased use of chronic disease management items (including GP management plans and team care arrangements) and may be a partial substitute for long consultations for this group of patients.

The significant drop in clinical treatments given at GP encounters in 2005–06 coincided with the introduction of the MBS practice nurse items. This may represent a shift of some of this activity from GPs to practice nurses but undertaken by the nurse outside the encounter and therefore not recorded on the BEACH form. The rate of GP clinical treatments has steadily increased since and is now back to 2002–03 levels. The recent removal of practice nurse Medicare items may alter this pattern further in the future.

There was a decrease in home visits in the decade to 2010<sup>71</sup> and this has important implications for ageing patients wishing to be managed at home rather than in institutional care. The changes to the Medicare schedule in May 2010 mean that it is no longer possible to separate home visits from institutional visits using Medicare item numbers. The BEACH collection form has been altered from the 2012–13 BEACH data year onwards to ensure we can identify home visits in the future and provide information regarding this important aspect of GP care.

# 6 The patients

This chapter reports data collected between April 2011 and March 2012 about the characteristics of patients at GP encounters and their reasons for encounter, from the 14th year of the BEACH program. Data on patient characteristics and reasons for encounter are reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the ten-year report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

## 6.1 Age-sex distribution of patients at encounter

The age-sex distribution of patients at encounters is shown in Figure 6.1. Females accounted for the greater proportion (56.5%) of encounters (Table 6.1). This was reflected across all age groups except among children aged less than 15 years (Figure 6.1).

Patients aged less than 25 years accounted for 20.0% of encounters those aged 25–44 years for 22.6%, those aged 45–64 years accounted for 27.7% and those aged 65 years and over for 29.7% of encounters (Table 6.1).



The relationship between patient age, patient general practice attendance rates and the age distribution of the Australian population was reported in *General practice activity in Australia, health priorities and policies 1998 to 2008.*<sup>72</sup>

### 6.2 Other patient characteristics

Table 6.1 presents other characteristics of the patients at GP encounters. In summary:

- the patient was new to the practice at 7.9% of encounters
- nearly half of the encounters were with patients who held a Commonwealth concession card (44.7%) and/or a Repatriation health card (2.4%)
- at 11.3% of encounters the patient was from a non-English-speaking background
- at 1.6% of encounters the patient identified themselves as an Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander person.

Patient characteristics	Number	Per cent of encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL
Sex (missing) <sup>(a)</sup>	(842)	_		_
Males	42,737	43.5	42.7	44.3
Females	55,451	56.5	55.7	57.3
Age group (missing) <sup>(a)</sup>	(793)	_	_	_
< 1 year	1,764	1.8	1.7	1.9
1–4 years	4,342	4.4	4.2	4.7
5–14 years	5,251	5.3	5.1	5.6
15–24 years	8,332	8.5	8.1	8.9
25–44 years	22,179	22.6	21.7	23.4
45–64 years	27,195	27.7	27.1	28.3
65–74 years	13,138	13.4	12.8	13.9
75+ years	16,036	16.3	15.3	17.3
New patient to practice (missing) <sup>(a)</sup>	(1,713)	—	—	—
New patient to practice	7,715	7.9	7.0	8.8
Patient seen previously	89,602	92.1	91.2	93.0
Commonwealth concession card status (missing) <sup>(a)</sup>	(8,704)	—	—	—
Has a Commonwealth concession card	41,295	44.7	43.1	46.2
No Commonwealth concession card	51,133	55.3	53.8	56.9
Repatriation health card status (missing) <sup>(a)</sup>	(10,695)	_	—	—
Has a repatriation health card	2,223	2.4	2.2	2.7
No repatriation health card	88,854	97.6	97.3	97.8
Language status (missing) <sup>(a)</sup>	(10,783)	—	—	—
Non-English-speaking background <sup>(b)</sup>	9,978	11.3	9.4	13.2
English-speaking background	78,268	88.7	86.8	90.6
Indigenous status (missing) <sup>(a)</sup>	(10,707)	—	—	—
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander <sup>(C)</sup>	1,394	1.6	1.2	1.9
Non-Indigenous	86,928	98.4	98.1	98.8

### Table 6.1: Characteristics of the patients at encounters

(a) Missing data removed.

(b) Speaks a language other than English as their primary language at home.

(c) Self identified.

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit.

## 6.3 Patient reasons for encounter

Patient reasons for encounter (RFEs) reflect the patient's demand for care and can provide an indication of service use patterns, which may benefit from intervention on a population level.<sup>73</sup>

RFEs are those concerns and expectations that patients bring to the GP. Participating GPs were asked to record at least one and up to three patient RFEs in words as close as possible to those used by the patient, before the diagnostic or management process had begun. These reflect the patient's view of their reasons for consulting the GP. RFEs can be expressed in terms of one or more symptoms (for example, 'itchy eyes', 'chest pain'), in diagnostic terms (for example, 'about my diabetes', 'for my hypertension'), a request for a service ('I need more scripts', 'I want a referral'), an expressed fear of disease or a need for a check-up.

Patient RFEs can have a one-to-one, one-to-many, many-to-one or many-to-many relationship to problems managed. That is, the patient may describe a single RFE that relates to a single problem managed at the encounter, one RFE that relates to multiple problems, multiple RFEs that relate to a single problem managed, or multiple RFEs that relate to multiple problems managed at the encounter. GPs may also manage a problem that was unrelated to the patient's RFE (e.g. a patient presents about their diabetes but while they are there the GP also provides an immunisation/vaccination and performs a Pap smear).

### Number of reasons for encounter

There were 153,218 RFEs recorded at 99,030 encounters in 2011–12. At 57.9% of encounters only one RFE was recorded, at 29.6% two RFEs were recorded and at 12.6% of encounters three RFEs were recorded (Table 6.2). On average patients presented with 154.7 RFEs per 100 encounters, or about one and a half RFEs per encounter (Table 6.3).

Number of RFEs at encounter	Number of encounters (n = 99,030)	Per cent of encounters	95% LCL	95% UCL
One RFE	57,290	57.9	56.6	59.1
Two RFEs	29,293	29.6	28.9	30.3
Three RFEs	12,447	12.6	11.8	13.3
Total	99,030	100.0	_	_

Table 6.2: Number o	f patient reasons	for encounter
---------------------	-------------------	---------------

Note: RFEs - reasons for encounter; LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit.

### **Reasons for encounter by ICPC-2 component**

The distribution of patient RFEs by ICPC-2 component is presented in Table 6.3, expressed as a percentage of all RFEs and as a rate per 100 encounters with 95% confidence limits. In the 'diagnosis, diseases' group we provide data about infections, injuries, neoplasms, congenital anomalies and 'other' diagnoses.

More than four out of ten (43.0%) patient RFEs were expressed in terms of a symptom or complaint (for example, 'tired', 'fever'). RFEs described in diagnostic terms (for example, 'about my diabetes', 'for my depression') accounted for 18.9% of RFEs. The remaining 38.1% of RFEs were described in terms of processes of care, such as requests for a health check, requests for prescriptions, referrals, test results or medical certificates.

At an average 100 encounters, patients described 66.6 symptom and complaint RFEs, 29.3 diagnosis/disease RFEs, made 24.6 requests for a procedure and 15.0 requests for treatment.

		Per cent of	Rate per 100	95%	95%
ICPC-2 component	Number	( <i>n</i> = 153,218)	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	LCL	UCL
Symptoms and complaints	65,941	43.0	66.6	64.7	68.5
Diagnosis, diseases	29,028	18.9	29.3	27.8	30.8
Infections	7,220	4.7	7.3	6.8	7.8
Injuries	4,391	2.9	4.4	4.2	4.7
Neoplasms	964	0.6	1.0	0.9	1.1
Congenital anomalies	242	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3
Other diagnoses, diseases	16,211	10.6	16.4	15.2	17.5
Diagnostic and preventive procedures	24,370	15.9	24.6	23.7	25.6
Medications, treatments and therapeutics	14,870	9.7	15.0	14.2	15.8
Results	8,450	5.5	8.5	8.1	9.0
Referrals and other RFEs	7,658	5.0	7.7	7.3	8.2
Administrative	2,901	1.9	2.9	2.7	3.2
Total RFEs	153,218	100.0	154.7	152.8	156.7

#### Table 6.3: Patient reasons for encounter by ICPC-2 component

*Note:* RFEs – reasons for encounter; LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit.

### **Reasons for encounter by ICPC-2 chapter**

The distribution of patient RFEs by ICPC-2 chapter and the most common RFEs within each chapter are presented in Table 6.4. Each chapter and individual RFE is expressed as a percentage of all RFEs and as a rate per 100 encounters with 95% confidence limits.

RFEs of a general and unspecified nature were presented at a rate of 42.2 per 100 encounters, with requests for prescriptions and test results the most frequently recorded of these. RFEs related to the respiratory system arose at a rate of 21.3 per 100 encounters, while those related to the musculoskeletal system were recorded at a rate of 15.8 per 100, and those relating to skin at a rate of 15.1 per 100 encounters (Table 6.4).

Reasons for encounter	Number	Per cent of total RFEs <sup>(a)</sup> (n = 153.218)	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99.030)	95% LCL	95% UCL
General and unspecified	41.818	27.3	42.2	41.0	43.5
Prescription NOS	8,580	5.6	8.7	8.1	9.2
Results tests/procedures NOS	7,217	4.7	7.3	6.9	7.7
General check-up*	4,438	2.9	4.5	4.2	4.8
Administrative procedure NOS	2,653	1.7	2.7	2.5	2.9
Immunisation/vaccination NOS	2,104	1.4	2.1	2.0	2.3
Fever	1,892	1.2	1.9	1.7	2.1
Weakness/tiredness	1,418	0.9	1.4	1.3	1.5
Blood test NOS	1,198	0.8	1.2	1.0	1.4
Other referrals NEC	1,184	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3
Observation/health education/advice/diet NOS	981	0.6	1.0	0.9	1.1
Chest pain NOS	910	0.6	0.9	0.8	1.0
Other reason for encounter NEC	908	0.6	0.9	0.7	1.1
Follow-up encounter unspecified	871	0.6	0.9	0.7	1.0
Clarify or discuss patient's RFE	828	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.9
Trauma/injury NOS	770	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.9
Respiratory	21,083	13.8	21.3	20.3	22.2
Cough	6,602	4.3	6.7	6.2	7.1
Throat symptom/complaint	3,183	2.1	3.2	2.9	3.5
Upper respiratory tract infection	1,904	1.2	1.9	1.7	2.1
Immunisation/vaccination - respiratory	1,870	1.2	1.9	1.5	2.3
Sneezing/nasal congestion	1,462	1.0	1.5	1.3	1.7
Shortness of breath/dyspnoea	808	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.9
Musculoskeletal	15,648	10.2	15.8	15.3	16.3
Back complaint*	3,105	2.0	3.1	2.9	3.3
Knee symptom/complaint	1,390	0.9	1.4	1.3	1.5
Shoulder symptom/complaint	1,209	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3
Foot/toe symptom/complaint	1,105	0.7	1.1	1.0	1.2
Leg/thigh symptom/complaint	930	0.6	0.9	0.9	1.0
Neck symptom/complaint	807	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.9
Musculoskeletal injury NOS	774	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.9
Skin	14,911	9.7	15.1	14.5	15.6
Rash*	2,587	1.7	2.6	2.5	2.8
Skin symptom/complaint, other	1,560	1.0	1.6	1.4	1.7
Skin check-up*	1,156	0.8	1.2	0.9	1.4
Swelling (skin)*	1,058	0.7	1.1	1.0	1.2

Table 6.4: Patient reasons for encounter by ICPC-2 chapter and most frequent individual reasons for encounter within chapter

(continued)

-		Per cent of total RFEs <sup>(a)</sup>	Rate per 100 encounters	95%	95%
Reasons for encounter	Number	( <i>n</i> = 153,218)	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	LCL	UCL
Digestive	10,134	6.6	10.2	9.9	10.6
Abdominal pain*	1,814	1.2	1.8	1.7	2.0
Diarrhoea	1,350	0.9	1.4	1.2	1.5
Vomiting	890	0.6	0.9	0.8	1.0
Cardiovascular	10,054	6.6	10.2	9.6	10.7
Cardiovascular check-up*	4,472	2.9	4.5	4.2	4.9
Hypertension/high blood pressure*	1,745	1.1	1.8	1.5	2.0
Prescription – cardiovascular	918	0.6	0.9	0.7	1.1
Psychological	8,804	5.7	8.9	8.4	9.4
Depression*	2,157	1.4	2.2	2.0	2.3
Anxiety*	1,188	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3
Sleep disturbance	1,024	0.7	1.0	0.9	1.1
Acute stress reaction	704	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
Prescription – psychological	699	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
Endocrine and metabolic	6,218	4.1	6.3	5.9	6.6
Diabetes – (non-gestational)*	1,261	0.8	1.3	1.1	1.4
Prescription – endocrine/metabolic	996	0.7	1.0	0.9	1.1
Female genital system	4,715	3.1	4.8	4.4	5.1
Female genital check-up/Pap smear*	1,642	1.1	1.7	1.5	1.8
Menstrual problems*	704	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
Neurological	4,503	2.9	4.5	4.3	4.8
Headache	1,504	1.0	1.5	1.4	1.7
Vertigo/dizziness	1,092	0.7	1.1	1.0	1.2
Ear	3,401	2.2	3.4	3.3	3.6
Ear pain	1,306	0.9	1.3	1.2	1.4
Pregnancy and family planning	3,306	2.2	3.3	3.1	3.6
Oral contraception*	750	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.8
Urology	2,557	1.7	2.6	2.4	2.7
Eye	2,272	1.5	2.3	2.1	2.4
Blood and blood forming organs	1,650	1.1	1.7	1.5	1.8
Blood test – blood and blood forming organs	1,123	0.7	1.1	1.0	1.3
Male genital system	1,211	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3
Social	932	0.6	0.9	0.8	1.0
Total RFEs	153,218	100.0	154.7	152.8	156.7

Table 6.4 (continued): Patient reasons for encounter by ICPC-2 chapter and most frequent individual reasons for encounter within chapter

(a) Only individual RFEs accounting for  $\geq 0.5\%$  of total RFEs are included.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 < purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: RFEs – reasons for encounter; LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; NEC – not elsewhere classified; NOS – not otherwise specified.

### Most frequent patient reasons for encounter

The 30 most commonly recorded RFEs (Table 6.5), accounted for more than half of all RFEs. In this analysis the specific ICPC-2 chapter to which an across-chapter concept belongs is disregarded, so that, for example, 'check-up – all' includes all check-ups from all ICPC-chapters, irrespective of whether or not the body system was specified.

		Per cent of total RFEs	Rate per 100 encounters	95%	95%
Patient reason for encounter	Number	( <i>n</i> = 153,218)	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	LCL	UCL
Check-up – all*	13,518	8.8	13.7	13.0	14.3
Prescription – all*	12,481	8.1	12.6	11.9	13.3
Test results*	8,450	5.5	8.5	8.1	9.0
Cough	6,602	4.3	6.7	6.2	7.1
Immunisation/vaccination - all*	4,125	2.7	4.2	3.8	4.6
Throat symptom/complaint	3,183	2.1	3.2	2.9	3.5
Back complaint*	3,105	2.0	3.1	2.9	3.3
Administrative procedure – all*	2,901	1.9	2.9	2.7	3.2
Blood test – all*	2,784	1.8	2.8	2.6	3.1
Rash*	2,587	1.7	2.6	2.5	2.8
Depression*	2,157	1.4	2.2	2.0	2.3
Upper respiratory tract infection	1,904	1.2	1.9	1.7	2.1
Fever	1,892	1.2	1.9	1.7	2.1
Abdominal pain*	1,814	1.2	1.8	1.7	2.0
Hypertension/high blood pressure*	1,745	1.1	1.8	1.5	2.0
Observation/health education/advice/diet - all*	1,595	1.0	1.6	1.5	1.8
Skin symptom/complaint, other	1,560	1.0	1.6	1.4	1.7
Headache	1,504	1.0	1.5	1.4	1.7
Sneezing/nasal congestion	1,462	1.0	1.5	1.3	1.7
Weakness/tiredness	1,418	0.9	1.4	1.3	1.5
Knee symptom/complaint	1,390	0.9	1.4	1.3	1.5
Diarrhoea	1,350	0.9	1.4	1.2	1.5
Ear pain/earache	1,306	0.9	1.3	1.2	1.4
Diabetes – all*	1,268	0.8	1.3	1.1	1.4
Shoulder symptom/complaint	1,209	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3
Anxiety*	1,188	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3
Other referrals NEC	1,184	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3
Foot/toe symptom/complaint	1,105	0.7	1.1	1.0	1.2
Vertigo/dizziness	1,092	0.7	1.1	1.0	1.2
Swelling (skin)*	1,058	0.7	1.1	1.0	1.2
Subtotal	88,940	58.0	_	_	_
Total RFEs	153,218	100.0	154.7	152.8	156.7

### Table 6.5: Most frequent patient reasons for encounter

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: RFEs - reasons for encounter; LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; NEC - not elsewhere classified.

The top 30 most common RFEs accounted for 58% of all RFEs recorded. Of the top 30 RFEs, over half were symptom descriptions such as cough, throat complaint, back complaint and rash. However, four of the top five RFEs reflected requests for a process of care (that is, requests for check-up, prescription, test result and immunisation), and together accounted for a quarter of all RFEs (25.1%) (Table 6.5).

# 6.4 Changes in patients and their reasons for encounter over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

An overview of changes in the characteristics of patients at encounters and their reasons for encounter over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12 can be found in Chapter 6 of the companion report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> Major changes are summarised below.

With the ageing of the Australian population, the proportion of the Australian population that was aged 45 years and over increased from 36.1% in 2002 to 38.8% in 2011.<sup>2</sup> Over the same period the proportion of BEACH encounters with patients aged 45 years and over increased from 50.7% to 57.4%. When extrapolated, this change (in combination with the increased number of encounters nationally) means that in 2011–12 there were only about 4.4 million more encounters with younger patients, and about 21.2 million more with older patients nationally compared with a decade earlier.

The increase in the proportion of encounters with older patients was greater than the population increase in this age group, because older patients attend general practice more often than do younger patients.<sup>74</sup> This change in the age distribution of patients at GP encounters will effect all aspects of general practice as older patients are more likely to have more problems managed at encounters (see Section 7.1), more chronic conditions managed and are more likely to have multimorbidity.<sup>25</sup>

There was a significant decrease in the proportion of encounters with patients who were new to the practice (from 9.9% in 2002–03 to 7.9% in 2011–12). This may be due to the need for continuity of care for chronic conditions. The proportion of encounters with patients holding a Commonwealth concession card was relatively stable through the decade. The proportion of encounters with patients holding a Repatriation health card decreased by about a third, from 3.7% in 2002–03 to 2.4% in 2011–12. This is probably due to a decline in the number of veterans from World War 2 and their partners.

There was a significant increase in the number of reasons for encounter recorded per 100 encounters across the decade, from 150.9 in 2002–03 to 154.7 in 2011–12, fewer patients giving a single RFE and more giving two RFEs. This increase in RFEs is also probably related to the increasing proportion of encounters with older people, who are more likely to visit for multiple chronic disease management. There was a significant decrease in the rate of RFEs described as symptoms and complaints, and increases in rates of patient presentations for medications, tests and test results. This is also probably due to the increased proportion of encounters that are with older patients and the increase in chronic condition management which requires regular attendance and monitoring. The increase in patients' requests for tests and test results ties in with the increased use of pathology and imaging testing over the decade (see Chapter 12). One increase unrelated to the ageing of the population was a large increase in requests for administrative procedures such as doctor's or sickness certificates. This is probably due to increasing number of policies forcing workers to provide such documentation to claim sick days.

# 7 Problems managed

A 'problem managed' is a formal statement of the provider's understanding of a health problem presented by the patient, family or community, and can be described in terms of a disease, symptom or complaint, social problem or ill-defined condition managed at the encounter. As GPs were instructed to record each problem at the most specific level possible from the information available, the problem managed may at times be limited to the level of a presenting symptom.

At each patient encounter, up to four problems could be recorded by the GP. A minimum of one problem was compulsory. The status of each problem to the patient – new (first presentation to a medical practitioner) or old (follow-up of previous problem) – was also indicated. The concept of a principal diagnosis, which is often used in hospital statistics, is not adopted in studies of general practice where multiple problem management is the norm rather than the exception. Further, the range of problems managed at the encounter often crosses multiple body systems and may include undiagnosed symptoms, psychosocial problems or chronic disease, which makes the designation of a principal diagnosis difficult. Thus, the order in which the problems were recorded by the GP is not significant. All problems managed in general practice are included in this section, including those that involved management by a practice nurse at the recorded encounter. Problems that included management by a practice nurse are reported specifically in Chapter 10.

There are two ways to describe the relative frequency of problems managed: as a percentage of all problems managed in the study or as a rate at which problems are managed per 100 encounters. Where groups of problems are reported (for example, cardiovascular problems) it must be remembered that more than one of that type of problem (such as hypertension and heart failure) may have been managed at a single encounter. In considering these results, the reader must be mindful that although a rate per 100 encounters for a single ungrouped problem, for example, 'asthma, 2.0 per 100 encounters', can be regarded as equivalent to 'asthma is managed at 2.0% of encounters', such a statement cannot be made for grouped concepts (ICPC-2 chapters and those marked with asterisks in the tables).

Data on problems managed in Australian general practice from the BEACH study are reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the ten-year report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

## 7.1 Number of problems managed at encounter

There were 152,286 problems managed, at a rate of 153.8 per 100 encounters in 2011–12 (Table 5.1 and total row Table 7.2). Table 7.1 shows the number of problems managed at each encounter. Only one problem was managed at 62.1% of encounters, two problems were managed at 25.5% of encounters, and 9.1% involved the management of three problems. The management of four problems at an encounter was less common (3.4% of encounters).
Number of problems managed at encounter	Number of encounters	Per cent	95% LCL	95% UCL
One problem	61,470	62.1	60.8	63.4
Two problems	25,212	25.5	24.7	26.2
Three problems	9,000	9.1	8.6	9.6
Four problems	3,348	3.4	3.0	3.8
Total	99,030	100.0	_	_

Table 7.1: Number of problems managed at an encounter

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit.

Figure 7.1 shows the age-sex-specific rates of problems managed. The number of problems managed at encounter increased steadily with the age of the patient, from young adulthood onward.

Significantly more problems were managed overall at encounters with female patients (156.0 per 100 encounters, 95% CI: 153.6–158.5) than at those with male patients (151.0 per 100 encounters, 95% CI: 148.5–153.5) (results not tabled). Figure 7.1 demonstrates that this difference was particularly evident in the 15–24 year age group.



## 7.2 Problems managed by ICPC-2 component

Problems managed in general practice may also be examined using the components of the ICPC-2 classification to provide a broader view of the types of problems managed during general practice encounters. Table 7.2 lists the distribution of problems managed by ICPC-2 component.

Two-thirds (67.7%) of problems were expressed as diagnoses or diseases. The majority of other problems were described as symptoms or complaints (18.1%), or as diagnostic or preventive procedures (9.1%) such as check-ups. However, in some situations, rather than providing clinical details about the problem under management, other processes were recorded: that is, the problem was described in such terms as a prescription, test result, referral, or an administrative procedure.

At an 'average' 100 encounters GPs managed 104 diagnoses/diseases: 25 infections; 8 injuries; and 4 neoplasms. They also managed 28 symptoms and complaints, and conducted 14 diagnostic and preventive procedures.

		Per cent of total problems	Rate per 100 encounters	95%	95%
ICPC-2 component	Number	( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	LCL	UCL
Diagnosis, diseases	103,101	67.7	104.1	102.1	106.1
Infections	24,465	16.1	24.7	24.0	25.5
Injuries	7,514	4.9	7.6	7.3	7.9
Neoplasms	4,143	2.7	4.2	3.9	4.5
Congenital anomalies	681	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
Other diagnoses	66,298	43.5	66.9	64.9	69.0
Symptoms and complaints	27,636	18.1	27.9	27.0	28.8
Diagnostic and preventive procedures	13,832	9.1	14.0	13.3	14.7
Medications, treatments and therapeutics	3,356	2.2	3.4	3.1	3.7
Results	1,812	1.2	1.8	1.6	2.0
Referrals and other RFEs	1,275	0.8	1.3	1.1	1.5
Administrative	1,274	0.8	1.3	1.1	1.4
Total problems	152,286	100.0	153.8	151.4	156.1

### Table 7.2: Problems managed by ICPC-2 component

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; RFE – reason for encounter.

# 7.3 Problems managed by ICPC-2 chapter

The frequency and the distribution of problems managed, by ICPC-2 chapter, are presented in Table 7.3. Rates per 100 encounters and the proportion of total problems are provided at the ICPC-2 chapter level, and for frequent individual problems within each chapter. Only those individual problems accounting for at least 0.5% of all problems managed are listed in the table, in decreasing order of frequency.

The most common problems managed were:

- those classified to the respiratory system (20.0 per 100 encounters), in particular upper respiratory tract infection, acute bronchitis, respiratory immunisations and asthma
- problems of a general and unspecified nature (18.5 per 100 encounters), such as general check-ups, general immunisations and unspecified test results
- musculoskeletal problems (17.4 per 100 encounters), particularly arthritis and back complaints
- cardiovascular problems (17.2 per 100 encounters), led by hypertension and atrial fibrillation
- skin problems (16.7 per 100 encounters), contact dermatitis and malignant neoplasms being the most common (Table 7.3).

### Table 7.3: Problems managed by ICPC-2 chapter and frequent individual problems within chapter

		Per cent total problems	Rate per 100 encounters <sup>(a)</sup>	95%	95%
Problem managed	Number	( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	LCL	UCL
Respiratory	19,811	13.0	20.0	19.3	20.7
Upper respiratory tract infection	5,902	3.9	6.0	5.5	6.4
Acute bronchitis/bronchiolitis	2,494	1.6	2.5	2.3	2.7
Immunisation/vaccination – respiratory	2,304	1.5	2.3	1.9	2.7
Asthma	1,972	1.3	2.0	1.9	2.1
Sinusitis	1,211	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	919	0.6	0.9	0.8	1.0
Tonsillitis*	900	0.6	0.9	0.8	1.0
Allergic rhinitis	721	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
General and unspecified	18,345	12.1	18.5	17.8	19.2
General check-up*	2,757	1.8	2.8	2.6	3.0
Immunisation/vaccination NOS	2,068	1.4	2.1	1.9	2.2
Results tests/procedures NOS	1,359	0.9	1.4	1.2	1.5
Prescription NOS	1,326	0.9	1.3	1.2	1.5
Viral disease, other/NOS	1,196	0.8	1.2	1.0	1.4
Administrative procedure NOS	1,170	0.8	1.2	1.0	1.3
Abnormal result/investigation NOS	970	0.6	1.0	0.9	1.1
Musculoskeletal	17,245	11.3	17.4	16.9	17.9
Arthritis – all*	3,401	2.2	3.4	3.2	3.6
Osteoarthritis*	2,924	1.9	3.0	2.8	3.2
Back complaint*	2,756	1.8	2.8	2.6	3.0
Sprain/strain*	1,409	0.9	1.4	1.3	1.6
Bursitis/tendonitis/synovitis NOS	1,128	0.7	1.1	1.1	1.2
Fracture*	908	0.6	0.9	0.8	1.0
Injury musculoskeletal NOS	905	0.6	0.9	0.8	1.0
Osteoporosis	800	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.9

(continued)

Problem managed	Number	Per cent total problems (n = 152.286)	Rate per 100 encounters <sup>(a)</sup> (n = 99.030)	95% LCL	95% UCL
Cardiovascular	17,006	11.2	17.2	16.4	18.0
Hypertension*	8,971	5.9	9.1	8.5	9.6
Atrial fibrillation/flutter	1,375	0.9	1.4	1.2	1.5
Ischaemic heart disease*	1,042	0.7	1.1	0.9	1.2
Cardiovascular check-up*	1,019	0.7	1.0	0.9	1.2
Skin	16,503	10.8	16.7	16.1	17.2
Contact dermatitis	1,804	1.2	1.8	1.7	1.9
Malignant neoplasm skin	1,055	0.7	1.1	0.9	1.2
Solar keratosis/sunburn	1,046	0.7	1.1	0.9	1.2
Laceration/cut	958	0.6	1.0	0.9	1.1
Skin disease, other	779	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.9
Endocrine and metabolic	13,407	8.8	13.5	13.0	14.1
Diabetes – non-gestational*	4,097	2.7	4.1	3.9	4.4
Lipid disorder	3,463	2.3	3.5	3.3	3.7
Vitamin/nutritional deficiency	1,335	0.9	1.3	1.2	1.5
Hypothyroidism/myxoedema	788	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.9
Psychological	12,831	8.4	13.0	12.3	13.6
Depression*	4,361	2.9	4.4	4.1	4.7
Anxiety*	1,892	1.2	1.9	1.8	2.1
Sleep disturbance	1,504	1.0	1.5	1.4	1.6
Acute stress reaction	727	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
Tobacco abuse	721	0.5	0.7	0.7	0.8
Digestive	11,003	7.2	11.1	10.8	11.4
Oesophageal disease	2,629	1.7	2.7	2.5	2.8
Gastroenteritis*	1,500	1.0	1.5	1.4	1.6
Female genital system	5,406	3.6	5.5	5.1	5.8
Female genital check-up/Pap smear*	1,661	1.1	1.7	1.5	1.9
Menopausal complaint	715	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
Pregnancy and family planning	3,810	2.5	3.9	3.6	4.1
Pregnancy*	1,287	0.8	1.3	1.2	1.4
Oral contraception*	1,186	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3
Ear	3,627	2.4	3.7	3.5	3.8
Acute otitis media/myringitis	1,016	0.7	1.0	0.9	1.1
Excessive ear wax	750	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.8
Neurological	3,553	2.3	3.6	3.4	3.8
Urology	3,148	2.1	3.2	3.0	3.3
Urinary tract infection*	1,686	1.1	1.7	1.6	1.8

# Table 7.3 (continued): Problems managed by ICPC-2 chapter and frequent individual problems within chapter

(continued)

Problem managed	Number	Per cent total problems (n = 152,286)	Rate per 100 encounters <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL
Eye	2,421	1.6	2.5	2.3	2.6
Male genital system	1,810	1.2	1.8	1.7	2.0
Blood and blood forming organs	1,637	1.1	1.7	1.5	1.8
Social	724	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
Total problems	152,286	100.0	153.8	151.4	156.1

Table 7.3 (continued): Problems managed by ICPC-2 chapter and frequent individual problems within chapter

(a) Only those individual problems accounting for  $\ge 0.5\%$  of total problems are included in the table.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 cpu:library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; NOS - not otherwise specified.

## 7.4 Most frequently managed problems

Table 7.4 shows the most frequently managed individual problems in general practice, in decreasing order of frequency. These 30 problems accounted for 57.2% of all problems managed, and the top ten problems accounted for 30.9%.

In this analysis, the specific chapter to which 'across chapter concepts' (for example, check-ups, immunisation/vaccination and prescriptions) apply is ignored, and the concept is grouped with all similar concepts regardless of body system. For example, immunisation/vaccination includes vaccinations for influenza, childhood diseases, hepatitis and many others.

The most common problems managed were hypertension (9.1 per 100 encounters), check-ups (6.4 per 100), upper respiratory tract infection (URTI) (6.0 per 100), immunisation/vaccination (4.7 per 100), and depression (4.4 per 100) (Table 7.4).

The far right-hand column in Table 7.4 lists the percentage of each problem that was new to the patient. The problem is considered new if it is a new problem or a new episode of a recurrent problem, and the patient has not been treated for that problem or episode by any medical practitioner before. This can provide a measure of general practice incidence. For example, only 4.6% of all contacts with diabetes were new diagnoses. In contrast, 78% of URTI problems were new to the patient, suggesting that the majority of people attend the GP for URTI only once per episode.

Table 7.4: Most	frequently	managed	problems

		Per cent of total problems	Rate per 100 encounters	95%	95%	New as per cent of all
Problem managed	Number	( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	LCL	UCL	problems <sup>(a)</sup>
Hypertension*	8,971	5.9	9.1	8.5	9.6	5.3
Check-up – all*	6,351	4.2	6.4	6.0	6.8	44.9
Upper respiratory tract infection	5,902	3.9	6.0	5.5	6.4	77.6
Immunisation/vaccination - all*	4,623	3.0	4.7	4.2	5.1	55.8
Depression*	4,361	2.9	4.4	4.1	4.7	15.9
Diabetes – all*	4,123	2.7	4.2	3.9	4.4	4.6
Arthritis – all*	3,875	2.5	3.9	3.7	4.1	18.6
Lipid disorder	3,463	2.3	3.5	3.3	3.7	10.3
Back complaint*	2,756	1.8	2.8	2.6	3.0	23.9
Oesophageal disease	2,629	1.7	2.7	2.5	2.8	15.9
Acute bronchitis/bronchiolitis	2,494	1.6	2.5	2.3	2.7	71.5
Prescription – all*	2,357	1.5	2.4	2.1	2.7	6.8
Asthma	1,972	1.3	2.0	1.9	2.1	20.0
Anxiety*	1,892	1.2	1.9	1.8	2.1	19.8
Test results*	1,812	1.2	1.8	1.6	2.0	31.5
Contact dermatitis	1,804	1.2	1.8	1.7	1.9	45.1
Urinary tract infection*	1,686	1.1	1.7	1.6	1.8	64.1
Sleep disturbance	1,504	1.0	1.5	1.4	1.6	21.7
Gastroenteritis*	1,500	1.0	1.5	1.4	1.6	76.0
Sprain/strain*	1,409	0.9	1.4	1.3	1.6	62.1
Atrial fibrillation/flutter	1,375	0.9	1.4	1.2	1.5	6.4
Vitamin/nutritional deficiency	1,335	0.9	1.3	1.2	1.5	36.1
Pregnancy*	1,287	0.8	1.3	1.2	1.4	41.4
Administrative procedure – all*	1,274	0.8	1.3	1.1	1.4	44.0
Sinusitis acute/chronic	1,211	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3	65.6
Viral disease, other/NOS	1,196	0.8	1.2	1.0	1.4	73.9
Oral contraception*	1,186	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3	18.0
Abnormal test results*	1,171	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.3	46.7
Bursitis/tendonitis/synovitis NOS	1,128	0.7	1.1	1.1	1.2	59.2
Malignant neoplasm skin	1,055	0.7	1.1	0.9	1.2	52.5
Subtotal	87,033	57.2	_	_	_	_
Total problems	152,286	100.0	153.8	151.4	156.1	38.1

(a) The proportion of total contacts with this problem that were accounted for by new problems.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; NOS - not otherwise specified.

## 7.5 Most common new problems

For each problem managed, participating GPs are asked to indicate whether the problem under management was a new problem for the patient (see definition in Section 7.4). Table 7.5 lists the most common new problems managed in general practice, in decreasing order of frequency. Overall, 58,014 problems (38.1% of all problems) were specified as being new, being managed at a rate of 58.6 per 100 encounters.

The most common new problems managed were largely acute or preventive, and included upper respiratory tract infection (4.6 per 100 encounters), check-up (2.9 per 100), immunisation/vaccination (2.6 per 100), acute bronchitis (1.8 per 100) and gastroenteritis (1.2 per 100) (Table 7.5).

The far right-hand column of this table shows the new cases of this problem as a proportion of total contacts with this problem. This provides an idea of the incidence of each problem. For example, the 694 new cases of depression represented only 16% of all GP contacts with diagnosed depression, suggesting that by far the majority of contacts for depression were for ongoing management. In contrast, 70% of acute otitis media contacts were first consultations to a medical practitioner for this episode, the balance (30%) being follow-up consultations for this episode. This indicates that most patients only require one visit to a GP for the management of an episode of acute otitis media.

New problem managed	Number	Per cent of total new problems ( <i>n</i> = 58,014)	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	New as per cent of all problems <sup>(a)</sup>
Upper respiratory tract infection	4,578	7.9	4.6	4.3	5.0	77.6
Check-up – all*	2,853	4.9	2.9	2.6	3.1	44.9
Immunisation/vaccination - all*	2,582	4.5	2.6	2.3	2.9	55.8
Acute bronchitis/bronchiolitis	1,783	3.1	1.8	1.6	2.0	71.5
Gastroenteritis*	1,140	2.0	1.2	1.0	1.3	76.0
Urinary tract infection*	1,081	1.9	1.1	1.0	1.2	64.1
Viral disease, other/NOS	883	1.5	0.9	0.7	1.1	73.9
Sprain/strain*	876	1.5	0.9	0.8	1.0	62.1
Contact dermatitis	814	1.4	0.8	0.7	0.9	45.1
Sinusitis acute/chronic	794	1.4	0.8	0.7	0.9	65.6
Arthritis – all*	722	1.2	0.7	0.7	0.8	18.6
Acute otitis media/myringitis	711	1.2	0.7	0.6	0.8	69.9
Depression*	694	1.2	0.7	0.6	0.8	15.9
Bursitis/tendonitis/synovitis NOS	668	1.2	0.7	0.6	0.7	59.2
Back complaint*	659	1.1	0.7	0.6	0.7	23.9
Tonsillitis*	659	1.1	0.7	0.6	0.7	73.2
Test results*	572	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.7	31.5
Administrative procedure – all*	561	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.6	44.0
Malignant neoplasm skin	554	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.6	52.5

## Table 7.5: Most frequently managed new problems

(continued)

New problem managed	Number	Per cent of total new problems ( <i>n</i> = 58,014)	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	New as per cent of all problems <sup>(a)</sup>
Abnormal test results*	547	0.9	0.6	0.5	0.6	46.7
Pregnancy*	533	0.9	0.5	0.5	0.6	41.4
Solar keratosis/sunburn	511	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.6	48.8
Conjunctivitis, infectious	497	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.6	78.8
Vitamin/nutritional deficiency	482	0.8	0.5	0.4	0.6	36.1
Hypertension*	477	0.8	0.5	0.4	0.5	5.3
Excessive ear wax	464	0.8	0.5	0.4	0.5	61.9
Observation/health education/ advice/diet – all*	439	0.8	0.4	0.4	0.5	53.8
Skin disease, other	437	0.8	0.4	0.4	0.5	56.1
Injury musculoskeletal NOS	436	0.8	0.4	0.4	0.5	48.1
Laceration/cut	433	0.7	0.4	0.4	0.5	45.1
Subtotal	35,732	61.6	_	_	_	_
Total new problems	58,014	100.0	58.6	57.1	60.0	—

Table 7.5 (continued): Most frequently managed new problems

(a) The proportion of total contacts with this problem that were accounted for by new problems.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 cpurl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

*Note:* LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; NOS – not otherwise specified.

# 7.6 Most frequently managed chronic problems

To identify chronic conditions, a list classified according to ICPC-2, based on work undertaken by O'Halloran et al. in 2004<sup>43</sup> and regularly updated by O'Halloran (see 'Chronic conditions' grouper G84 <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/icpc-2-plus/ demonstrator/index.php>), was applied to the BEACH data set. More than one-third (36.2%) of the problems managed in general practice were chronic. At least one chronic problem was managed at 41.6% of encounters (95% CI: 40.5–42.7) (Table 5.1), and chronic problems were managed at an average rate of 55.6 per 100 encounters (Table 7.6).

In other parts of this chapter, both chronic and non-chronic conditions (for example, diabetes and gestational diabetes) may have been grouped together when reporting (for example, diabetes – all\*, Table 7.4). In this section, only problems regarded as chronic have been included in the analysis. For this reason, the condition labels and figures in this analysis may differ from those in Table 7.4. Where the group used for the chronic analysis differs from that used in other analyses in this report, they are marked with a double asterisk (for example, Diabetes [non-gestational]\*\*). Codes included can be found in Appendix 4, Table A4.2.

Table 7.6 shows the most frequently managed chronic problems in decreasing order of frequency. These 30 chronic problems together accounted for 79.9% of all chronic problems managed, and for 28.9% of all problems managed. Almost half (49.7%) of all chronic problems managed were accounted for by the top six chronic problems: non-gestational hypertension (16.3% of chronic conditions), depressive disorder (7.8%), non-gestational diabetes (7.4%), chronic arthritis (7.1%), lipid disorder (6.3%), and oesophageal disease (4.8%) (Table 7.6).

Extrapolation of these results suggests that, across Australia in 2011–12, there were 11.0 million encounters involving hypertension, 5.4 million involving depression and 5.0 million involving diabetes.

		Per cent of total chronic problems	Rate per 100 encounters	95%	95%
Chronic problem managed	Number	( <i>n</i> = 55,080)	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	LCL	UCL
Hypertension (non-gestational)**	8,955	16.3	9.0	8.5	9.6
Depressive disorder**	4,318	7.8	4.4	4.1	4.6
Diabetes (non-gestational)**	4,097	7.4	4.1	3.9	4.4
Chronic arthritis**	3,910	7.1	3.9	3.7	4.2
Lipid disorder	3,463	6.3	3.5	3.3	3.7
Oesophageal disease	2,629	4.8	2.7	2.5	2.8
Asthma	1,972	3.6	2.0	1.9	2.1
Atrial fibrillation/flutter	1,375	2.5	1.4	1.2	1.5
Malignant neoplasm of skin	1,055	1.9	1.1	0.9	1.2
Ischaemic heart disease**	1,042	1.9	1.1	0.9	1.2
Back syndrome with radiating pain**	922	1.7	0.9	0.8	1.0
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	919	1.7	0.9	0.8	1.0
Osteoporosis	800	1.5	0.8	0.7	0.9
Hypothyroidism/myxoedema	788	1.4	0.8	0.7	0.9
Chronic skin ulcer	655	1.2	0.7	0.6	0.7
Obesity (BMI > 30)	629	1.1	0.6	0.5	0.7
Migraine	628	1.1	0.6	0.6	0.7
Dementia (including senile, Alzheimer's)	611	1.1	0.6	0.5	0.8
Gout	607	1.1	0.6	0.5	0.7
Heart failure	569	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.6
Shoulder syndrome (excluding arthritis)**	525	1.0	0.5	0.5	0.6
Anxiety disorder**	515	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.6
Schizophrenia	486	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.6
Back syndrome without radiating pain	405	0.7	0.4	0.0	0.5
(excluding artnritis, sprains and strains)	405	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.5
	398	0.7	0.4	0.4	0.5
Chronic back pain**	365	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.4
Chronic kidney disease**	364	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.4
Chronic pain NOS	351	0.6	0.4	0.3	0.4
Vertiginous syndrome	345	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.4
Malignant neoplasm prostate	338	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.4
Subtotal	44,036	79.9	—	—	—
Total chronic problems	55,080	100.0	55.6	53.6	57.7

### Table 7.6: Most frequently managed chronic problems

\*\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes and indicates that this group differs from that used for analysis in other sections of this chapter, as only chronic conditions have been included in this analysis (see Appendix 4, Table A4.2 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; BMI - body mass index; NOS - not otherwise specified.

## 7.7 Work-related problems managed

The work-related status of a problem under management was determined by the GP, and is defined as any problem that is (in the GP's view) likely to have resulted from work-related activity or workplace exposure, or that has been significantly exacerbated by work activity or workplace exposure. Work-related problems accounted for 1.7% of problems and were managed at a rate of 2.6 per 100 encounters in 2011–12 (Table 7.7). This suggests that there were 3.2 million problems managed in general practice nationally that were likely to be work related.

Work-related problem managed	Number	Per cent of total WR problems (n = 2,559)	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	WR as per cent of all problems <sup>(a)</sup>
Musculoskeletal problems	1,520	59.4	1.5	1.4	1.7	8.8
Back complaint*	379	14.8	0.4	0.3	0.4	13.8
Sprain/strain*	268	10.5	0.3	0.2	0.3	19.0
Injury musculoskeletal NOS	230	9.0	0.2	0.2	0.3	25.4
Bursitis/tendonitis/synovitis NOS	83	3.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	7.4
Shoulder syndrome	67	2.6	0.1	0.0	0.1	12.8
Acute internal knee damage	60	2.4	0.1	0.0	0.1	19.2
Fracture*	59	2.3	0.1	0.0	0.1	6.5
Tennis elbow	54	2.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	25.1
Arthritis – all*	43	1.7	0.0	0.0	0.1	1.1
Psychological problems	281	11.0	0.3	0.2	0.3	2.2
Depression*	95	3.7	0.1	0.1	0.1	2.2
Acute stress reaction	85	3.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	11.7
Post traumatic stress disorder	41	1.6	0.0	0.0	0.1	29.7
Anxiety*	36	1.4	0.0	0.0	0.1	1.9
Other work-related problems	759	29.7	0.8	0.7	0.9	0.6
Administrative procedure – all*	75	2.9	0.1	0.0	0.1	5.9
General check-up*	73	2.8	0.1	0.0	0.1	1.1
Injury skin, other	71	2.8	0.1	0.0	0.1	12.9
Laceration/cut	57	2.2	0.1	0.0	0.1	5.9
Total work-related problems	2,559	100.0	2.6	2.4	2.8	_

(a) The proportion of total contacts with this problem that was accounted for by work-related problems.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: WR – work-related; LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; NOS – not otherwise specified. Only the most frequent individual work-related problems accounting for ≥ 1.4% of total work-related problems are reported.

The most common work-related problems were musculoskeletal problems, accounting for 59.4% of work-related problems and managed at a rate of 1.5 per 100 general practice encounters. Almost one in ten 10 (8.8%) of musculoskeletal problems managed in general practice were work related. The most common musculoskeletal work-related problems were back complaint (14.8% of work-related problems), sprain and strain (10.5%), unspecified musculoskeletal injury (9.0%) and unspecified bursitis/tendonitis/synovitis (3.3%).

Work-related psychological problems accounted for 11.0% of total work-related problems, and were managed at a rate of 0.3 per 100 encounters. The most common were depression (3.7% of work-related problems), acute stress reaction (3.3%), post-traumatic stress disorder (1.6%) and anxiety (1.4%). Psychological work-related problems accounted for only 2.2% of total psychological problems managed in general practice.

# 7.8 Management of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease in 2011–12

Each year in the annual report we select one morbidity with which to demonstrate how BEACH data pertaining to a selected problem can be analysed and viewed. This section uses the example of the management of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD).

Although GORD is not a National Health Priority Area, it causes a well-documented high disease burden on the Australian community, and large health expenditures for both health services and pharmaceuticals.

- Knox et al. (2008) estimated the prevalence of GP-diagnosed GORD in Australia to be 10.4% (95% CI: 9.3–11.5) of patients attending GPs and 9.2% (95% CI: 8.2–10.1) of the Australian population.<sup>24</sup> The prevalence of GORD in the Australian community is similar to that of osteoarthritis, asthma or depression.<sup>24</sup>
- In 1992, proton pump inhibitor (PPI) pharmaceuticals were introduced onto the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) for the treatment of oesophagitis due to GORD.
- In 2010–11, the cost to the PBS of prescribed drugs for acid related disorders was more than \$417 million, and the cost of the most frequently prescribed drug in this group (esomeprazole) was approximately \$169 million.<sup>75</sup>

Results are summarised in Figure 7.2.

## Results

GORD (defined as ICPC-2 PLUS codes D84004, D84008 and D84011) is commonly managed in general practice, with 2,557 recorded contacts with the problem, a management rate of 2.6 per 100 encounters with patients in 2011–12 (Figure 7.2). This represents about 3.2 million encounters at which a GORD was managed in general practice across Australia in that year.

## Patient age, sex and reasons for encounter

There was no difference in the rate of GORD management between the sexes: 2.6 per 100 male encounters compared with 2.5 per 100 female encounters. Patients aged 65–74 years were most likely to have GORD managed (4.0 per 100 encounters with patients in this age group), followed by those aged 75 years and over (3.7) and 45–64 years (3.6). The rate among infants aged less than one year (2.1, 95% CI: 1.3–2.9) was significantly higher than the rate for 1–4 year-olds (0.1, 95% CI: 0.0–0.2).

The most common reasons for encounter given by patients were: need for a prescription (45.7 per 100 GORD encounters), oesophageal disease (20.6), test result (7.4) or a cardiovascular check-up (6.2).

## Other problems managed

Hypertension was the co-morbidity most often managed with GORD (22.6 per 100 GORD encounters), followed by lipid disorder (9.9), depression (7.1), diabetes (6.1) and osteoarthritis (5.8). The high management rates of these co-morbidities with the management of GORD is not surprising considering about 45% of patients at these encounters were aged 65 or more years.

## Medications and other treatments

Medications were prescribed, supplied by the GP, or advised for over-the-counter purchase in the management of GORD (96.1 per 100 GORD problems, 95% CI: 94.3–97.9) significantly more often than the average for all problems (69.6 per 100 problems, 95% CI: 68.0–71.2) in the 2011–12 BEACH year (Table 5.1).

The medications most often prescribed, supplied or advised for GORD were esomeprazole (41.6 per 100 GORD problems), pantoprazole (20.0), rabeprazole (12.4), omeprazole (10.0), and ranitidine (3.9).

Other treatments were provided at a rate of 16.4 per 100 GORD problems. The vast majority (93%) of these were clinical treatments (15.2 per 100 GORD problems), the most common being counselling and advice about nutrition and weight (5.6), unspecified advice and education (2.3), and advice and education about medication (2.0). Procedural treatments were provided at a rate of 1.1 per 100 GORD problems.

## Referrals

Referrals were provided at a rate of 4.9 per 100 GORD problems. Referrals to medical specialists (4.5 per 100 GORD problems, 95% CI: 3.4–5.5) were significantly more frequent than referrals to allied health services (0.3, 95% CI: 0.0–0.6).

## **Tests and investigations**

Imaging was rarely ordered in the management of GORD (2.0 per 100 GORD problems). Pathology was ordered in the management of GORD (14.0 per 100 problems, 95% CI: 10.6–17.3) significantly less often than the average for all problems (30.6) in the 2011–12 BEACH year. The pathology tests ordered most often were full blood count (2.5 per 100 GORD problems), H pylori (2.2), electrolytes, urea and creatinine (1.5), and liver function tests (1.1) (Table 5.1).

## Changes in GORD management since 2006–08

Data about the management of GORD in general practice in 2006–08 are reported in Chapter 16 of *General practice activity in Australia, health priorities and policies 1998 to 2008.*<sup>72</sup>

There has been a significant increase in the management rate of GORD in general practice, from 2.2 per 100 encounters in 2006–08 (95% CI: 2.1–2.3)<sup>72</sup> to 2.6 per 100 encounters in 2011–12 (95% CI: 2.4–2.8). This represents an increase in the estimated national annual number of encounters at which GORD is managed in general practice from 2.3 million to 3.2 million between 2006–08 and 2011–12.

The age and sex distributions of patients were similar in 2011–12 to those of 2006–08, and further analysis demonstrated that the sex specific rate of GORD per 100 encounters in females was marginally higher in 2011–12 (2.5 per 100 encounters, 95% CI: 2.3–2.7) than in 2006–08, (2.2 per 100 encounters, 95% CI: 2.0–2.3); and the age specific rate of GORD per 100

encounters with 45–64 year-olds was marginally higher in 2011–12 (3.6 per 100 encounters, 95% CI: 3.2–3.9) than in 2006–08, (3.0 per 100 encounters, 95% CI: 2.8–3.2).

Patient reasons for encounter were recorded at a rate of 188.7 per 100 GORD encounters in 2011–12 and 187.4 in 2006–08, the two most common being request for prescription (45.7 and 38.2 per 100 GORD encounters) and oesophageal disease (20.6 and 19.5 respectively).

There were 145.9 other problems managed per 100 GORD encounters in 2011–12 and 141.3 in 2006–08, the two most common being hypertension (22.6 per 100 GORD encounters and 19.8 respectively) and lipid disorder (9.9 and 8.9 respectively).

Medications were prescribed, supplied or advised at a rate of 96.1 per 100 GORD problems in 2011–12 and 94.5 in 2006–08, the two most common being esomeprazole (41.6 per 100 GORD problems and 33.4 respectively) and pantoprazole (20.0 and 16.0 respectively).

There were 4.5 specialist referrals per 100 GORD problems in 2011–12 and 4.2 per 100 in 2006–08, the most common being to a gastroenterologist (2.8 per 100 GORD problems and 3.2 respectively).

There was no significant difference in the total pathology orders for GORD: 14.0 (95% CI: 10.6–17.3) per 100 GORD problems in 2011–12 and 10.6 (95% CI: 8.7–12.5) in 2006–08. The two most commonly ordered tests were full blood count (2.5 per 100 GORD problems in 2011–12 and 2.0 in 2006–08) and H pylori (2.2 per 100 GORD problems, 95% CI: 1.5–2.9 in 2011–12 and 1.8 per 100 GORD problems, 95% CI: 1.3–2.2 in 2006–08). The H pylori testing rate was significantly higher in the management of new cases of GORD (which accounted for 15.4% of all GORD problems managed in 2011–12) than for all GORD: 7.8 per 100 new GORD problems (95% CI: 4.4–11.3) in 2011–12 and 4.3 (95% CI: 2.8–5.8) in 2006–08.

Imaging occurred at a rate of 2.0 per 100 GORD problems in 2011–12 and 2.1 in 2006–08, the most commonly ordered test being abdominal ultrasound.

Clinical treatments were provided at a rate of 15.2 per 100 GORD problems in 2011–12 and 13.4 in 2006–08, the most common being 'counselling/advice – nutrition/weight' (5.6 per 100 GORD problems and 4.7 respectively).



(c) Expressed as a rate per 100 encounters at which GORD problems were managed.

(d) Expressed as a rate per 100 GORD problems managed.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>). Note: GORD – Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease; NEC – not elsewhere classified.

#### Figure 7.2: Management of GORD in general practice 2011-12

# 7.9 Changes in problems managed over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

Data about the problems managed in general practice from each of the past ten years of the BEACH study, 2002–03 to 2011–12 are reported in the companion report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 *to* 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> Major changes that have occurred over the decade are summarised below.

There was a significant increase in the average number of problems managed at encounter, from 144.9 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 153.8 in 2011–12 (Table 7.2). When this change is extrapolated to estimate the national it combines with the increase in GP attendances over the decade (see Methods) and suggests there were an additional 48.0 million problems managed at GP encounters in Australia in 2011–12 than in 2002–03. This was reflected in a significant increase in the management rate of chronic conditions (49.0 rising to 55.6 per 100 encounters) over the decade.

Changes in the most common individual problems managed in general practice are summarised below.

- The management rate of depression increased from 3.5 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 4.4 in 2011–12, an estimated national increase of 2.0 million occasions of depression management in 2011–12 since 2002–03.
- The management rate of diabetes increased significantly from 2.9 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 4.2 in 2011–12, suggesting about 2.3 million more occasions of diabetes management in 2011–12 than in 2002–03.
- The management rate of general check-up increased from 1.9 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 2.8 in 2011–12. This represents an estimated national increase of 1.6 million occasions where a general check-up was managed in 2011–12 since 2002–03. This increase possibly reflects the many MBS items for health assessments including the annual assessment of patients aged 75 years and over, the health assessment for 45–49 year olds at risk of developing chronic disease and the assessment of 40–49 year olds at risk of Type 2 diabetes.<sup>76</sup>
- The management rate of immunisation/vaccinations did not change between 2002–03 (4.6 per 100 encounters) and 2011–12 (4.7). However there was a significant spike in the management rate in 2009–10 (7.3 per 100) that coincided with the concern about H1N1 influenza.
- The management rate of lipid disorder increased significantly from 3.0 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 3.5 in 2011–12, an estimated national increase of 1.4 million occasions of lipid disorder management in 2011–12 since 2002–03.

# 8 Overview of management

The BEACH survey form allows GPs to record several aspects of patient management for each problem managed at each encounter. Pharmaceutical management is recorded in detail. Other modes of treatment, including clinical treatments (for example, counselling) and procedures, recorded briefly in the GP's own words, are also related to a single problem. The form allows for referrals, hospital admissions, pathology and imaging test orders to be related to a single problem or to multiple problems (see Appendix 1).

A summary of management at general practice encounters from 2002–03 to 2011–12 is reported for each year in the ten-year report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

At the 99,030 encounters, GPs undertook 231,203 management activities in total. The most common management form was medication, either prescribed, GP-supplied, or advised for over-the-counter purchase. 'Other treatments' were the second most common management activity, with clinical treatments more frequent than procedural treatments (Table 8.1).

For an 'average' 100 patient problems, GPs provided 57 prescriptions and 24 clinical treatments, undertook 11 procedures, made 6 referrals to medical specialists and 3 to allied health services, and placed 31 pathology test orders and 7 imaging test orders.

Management type	Number	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
Medications	106,007	107.0	104.1	110.0	69.6	68.0	71.2
Prescribed	85,980	86.8	84.0	89.7	56.5	54.9	58.1
GP-supplied	9,630	9.7	8.9	10.5	6.3	5.8	6.8
Advised OTC	10,397	10.5	9.7	11.3	6.8	6.3	7.4
Other treatments	53,395	53.9	51.2	56.6	35.1	33.5	36.7
Clinical*	36,610	37.0	34.6	39.3	24.0	22.6	25.5
Procedural*	16,785	16.9	16.1	17.8	11.0	10.5	11.5
Referrals and admissions	14,382	14.5	13.9	15.1	9.4	9.1	9.8
Medical specialist*	8,488	8.6	8.2	8.9	5.6	5.3	5.8
Allied health services*	4,629	4.7	4.4	5.0	3.0	2.8	3.2
Hospital*	345	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Emergency department*	311	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.2
Other referrals*	609	0.6	0.5	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.5
Pathology	46,544	47.0	44.9	49.1	30.6	29.3	31.8
Imaging	9,978	10.1	9.6	10.5	6.6	6.3	6.8
Other investigations <sup>(a)</sup>	897	0.9	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.7
Total management activities	231,203	233.5	_	_	151.8	_	_

### Table 8.1: Summary of management

(a) Other investigations reported here include only those ordered by the GP. Other investigations in Chapter 12 include those ordered by the GP and those done by the GP or practice staff.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; OTC - over-the-counter.

Analysing the number of encounters or problems for which at least one form of management was recorded by the GPs gives us another perspective (Table 8.2). At least one management action was recorded at 91.9% of encounters, for 86.8% of problems managed.

- At least one medication or other treatment was given for nearly three-quarters (73.4%) of the problems managed.
- At least one medication (most commonly prescribed) was prescribed, supplied or advised for more than half (54.8%) of the problems managed.
- At least one other treatment (most commonly clinical) was provided for nearly one-third (30.7%) of problems managed.
- At least one referral (most commonly to a medical specialist) was made for 9.3% of problems managed.
- At least one investigation (most commonly pathology) was requested for 18.6% of problems managed (Table 8.2).

Management type	Number of encounters	Per cent of all encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	Number of problems	Per cent of all problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)
At least one management type	90,983	91.9	132,169	86.8
At least one medication or other treatment	81,127	81.9	111,828	73.4
At least one medication	64,464	65.1	83,426	54.8
At least one prescription	53,996	54.5	69,096	45.4
At least one GP-supplied	7,348	7.4	7,672	5.0
At least one OTC advised	9,175	9.3	9,445	6.2
At least one other treatment	40,086	40.5	46,729	30.7
At least one clinical treatment	28,199	28.5	32,556	21.4
At least one procedural treatment	15,034	15.2	15,664	10.3
At least one referral or admission	13,219	13.3	14,228	9.3
At least one referral to a medical specialist	8,126	8.2	8,584	5.6
At least one referral to allied health services	4,291	4.3	4,587	3.0
At least one referral to hospital	345	0.3	354	0.2
At least one referral to emergency department	311	0.3	316	0.2
At least one other referral	609	0.6	636	0.4
At least one investigation	24,467	24.7	28,378	18.6
At least one pathology order	17,894	18.1	20,702	13.6
At least one imaging order	8,562	8.6	8,888	5.8
At least one other investigation <sup>(a)</sup>	861	0.9	888	0.6

#### Table 8.2: Encounters and problems for which management was recorded

(a) Other investigations reported here only include those ordered by the GP. Other investigations in Chapter 12 include those ordered by the GP and those done by the GP or practice staff.

Note: OTC - over-the-counter.

The combinations of management types related to each problem were investigated. The majority of treatments occurred either as a single component or in combination with one other component. Management was provided:

- as a single component for almost two-thirds (61.8%) of the problems managed
- as a double component for 19.6% of problems managed
- rarely with more than two components (results not tabled).

Table 8.3 lists the most common management combinations. Medication alone was the most common management, followed by a clinical treatment alone, and the combination of a medication and a clinical treatment. When a problem was referred it was most likely that no other treatments were given for the problem at the encounter.

1+ medication	1+ clinical treatment	1+ procedural treatment	1+ referral	1+ imaging order	1+ pathology order	Per cent of total problems (n = 152,286)	Per cent of total encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)
		No recorded m	anagement			13.2	8.1
		1+ managemer	nt recorded			86.8	91.9
✓						36.4	30.1
	✓					9.5	6.6
✓	~					6.7	10.7
					~	5.0	3.1
			~			4.6	3.5
		~				4.1	3.5
$\checkmark$					~	3.1	4.7
$\checkmark$		✓				2.7	4.3
				~		2.2	1.7
✓			✓			1.4	2.9
	~				✓	1.2	1.3
		$\checkmark$			✓	1.2	1.1
~				~		1.1	1.9
	~		~			1.0	1.2
~	~				~	0.6	1.8
				~	~	0.5	0.6
~	~		~			0.4	1.3
	~	~				0.4	0.7
~	~	~				0.4	1.2
~		~			~	0.3	1.0
			~		~	0.3	0.4

Table 8.3: Most common management combinations

Note: 1+ - at least one specified management type.

# 8.1 Changes in management over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

Changes over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12 are described in detail in the accompanying report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> In that publication, changes over time are largely reported in terms of changes in management actions as a rate per 100 problems. This reflects change in how GPs are managing problems after accounting for the significant increase in the number of problems managed per encounter over the decade.

The major changes over the ten years to 2011–12 are summarised below.

- There was a marginal increase in the rate at which procedural treatments were undertaken, from 10.1 per 100 problems managed in 2002–03 to 11.0 per 100 problems in 2011–12.
- There was significant decrease in the rate of clinical treatments given by GPs from a peak in 2004–05 to a low point of 19.9 per 100 problems managed in 2006–07. This is likely to be related to the introduction of MBS item numbers for practice nurse activity in 2005–06. However since then, the rate of GP-provided clinical treatments gradually increased again such that there was no significant difference between the start and end of the decade. The original impact of practice nurses on this area of GP workload was no longer observed, suggesting that by 2011–12 GPs were again performing clinical treatments at a similar rate to that prior to the introduction of practice nurse item numbers.
- The rate of referrals to other health providers significantly increased, from 7.7 to 9.4 per 100 problems between 2002–03 and 2011–12, influenced by referrals to allied health services, which almost doubled over the period (1.7 to 3.0 per 100 problems managed). It was further influenced by a significant increase in referrals to emergency departments (0.1 to 0.2), and in 'other referrals' (0.2 to 0.4 per 100 problems managed). Conversely, the rate of referrals to hospital halved between 2002–03 and 2011–12.
- The rate at which pathology tests/batteries of tests were ordered significantly increased by 35%, from 22.7 tests/batteries of tests per 100 problems managed in 2002–03 to 30.6 in 2011–12.
- The rate at which imaging was ordered increased significantly, from 5.9 imaging orders per 100 problems managed in 2002–03 to 6.6 per 100 in 2011–12.

Between 2002–03 and 2011–12, there was no significant change in total (including prescribed, GP-supplied, and advised for over-the-counter purchase) medication rates per 100 problems managed or per 100 encounters. However the increasing number of GP encounters over the decade, led to an extrapolated national effect of 24.6 million more prescriptions given nationally by GPs in 2011–12 than a decade earlier.

There were some significant increases in GP prescribing rate per 100 problems managed for a specific drug groups including: agents acting on the renin-angiotensin system, psychoanaleptic, and lipid modifying agents.

There were also some significant decreases in the prescribing rate per 100 problems managed of some medications including: drugs for obstructive airway disease, anti-inflammatory and antirheumatic products, sex hormones and modulators of the genital system, and diuretics.

# 9 Medications

GPs could record up to four medications for each of four problems – a maximum of 16 medications per encounter. Each medication could be recorded as prescribed (the default), supplied by the GP, or recommended for over-the-counter (OTC) purchase.

- GPs were asked to:
  - record the generic or brand name, the strength, regimen and number of repeats ordered for each medication
  - designate this as a new or continued medication for this patient for this problem.
- Generic or brand names were entered in the database in the manner recorded by the GP.
- Medications were coded using the Coding Atlas of Pharmaceutical Substances (CAPS) system (developed by the FMRC) which is able to capture details of products at the brand and generic level. Every medication in the CAPS coding system is mapped to the international Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification.<sup>77</sup>
- The reporting of results at drug group, subgroup and generic level uses ATC levels 1, 3 and 5. The most frequently prescribed, supplied or advised individual medications are reported at the CAPS generic level (the equivalent of ATC level 5) because ATC does not include many over-the-counter medications that arise in BEACH. Further, some ATC level 5 labels are not sufficiently specific for clarity.

Data on medications are reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the 10-year summary report, *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

Readers interested in adverse drug events will find more detailed information from the BEACH program in Miller et al. (2006) *Adverse drug events in general practice patients in Australia.*<sup>78</sup>

# 9.1 Source of medications

As reported in Chapter 8, a total of 106,007 medications were recorded, at rates of 107 per 100 encounters and 70 per 100 problems managed. We can derive from Table 8.1 that:

- four out of five medications (81.1%) were prescribed
- less than one in ten (9.1%) medications was supplied to the patient by the GP
- 9.8% of medications recommended by the GP for over-the-counter purchase.

When medication rates per 100 encounter are extrapolated to the 122.5 million general practice Medicare-claimed encounters in Australia April 2011 – March 2012, we estimated that GPs in Australia:

- wrote a prescription (with/without repeats) for more than 106.3 million medications
- supplied 11.9 million medications directly to the patient
- recommended medications for OTC purchase 12.9 million times.

# 9.2 Prescribed medications

There were 85,980 prescriptions recorded, at rates of 87 per 100 encounters and 57 per 100 problems managed (Table 8.1). GPs recorded 83.0% of prescribed medications by brand (proprietary) name and 17.0% by their generic (non-proprietary) name. Some of the medications most likely to be recorded as a generic were warfarin, prednisolone and thyroxine (results not tabled).

On a per problem basis:

- no prescription was given for 54.6% of all problems managed
- one prescription was given for 37.0% of problems managed
- two prescriptions were given for 6.3% of problems managed
- three or four prescriptions were given for 2.1% of problems managed (Figure 9.1).



## Number of repeats

For 66,626 prescriptions (77.5% of all prescriptions) the GPs recorded 'number of repeats'. The distribution of the specified number of repeats (from nil to more than five) is provided in Figure 9.2. For 34.7% of these prescriptions, the GP specified that no repeats had been prescribed, and for 35.5% five repeats were ordered. The latter proportion reflects the PBS provision of one month's supply and five repeats for many medications used for chronic conditions such as hypertension. The ordering of one repeat was also quite common (16.2%).



## Age-sex-specific rates of prescribed medications

Age-sex-specific analysis found similar prescription rates for male (88 per 100 encounters) and female patients (86 per 100). It also showed the well-described tendency for the number of prescriptions written at each encounter to rise with the advancing age of the patient, with the rate of 57 per 100 encounters with patients aged less than 25 years almost doubling to 111 per 100 encounters for patients aged 65 years and over (results not tabled).



However, Figure 9.3 demonstrates that this age-based increase lessens if the prescription rate is considered in terms of the number of problems being managed in each age group. This suggests that a substantial part of the higher prescription rate for older patients is due to the increased number of health problems they have managed at an encounter. The remaining increase in prescription rate associated with patient age is probably a reflection of the problems under management, which are more likely to be chronic at encounters with older patients.

## Types of medications prescribed

Table 9.1 shows the distribution of prescribed medications using the WHO ATC classification.<sup>77</sup> This allows comparison with other data sources such as those produced by Medicare Australia for PBS data. The table lists medications in frequency order within ATC levels 1, 3 and 5. Prescriptions are presented as a percentage of total prescriptions, as a rate per 100 encounters, and as a rate per 100 problems managed, with 95% confidence intervals.

The high number of opioids shown in this table (compared with BEACH data published before 2010) is due to our re-classification of some medications in 2010. We decided to recode codeine combinations which contained 30 mg of codeine as opioids in the ATC Index, whereas pre-2010 they were coded as 'other analgesics and antipyretics'. In the ATC classification, either grouping is correct. We took the decision to place high-dose codeine products in the opioid group in accordance with MIMS grouping<sup>79</sup> and following the Poisons Regulations of the Therapeutic Goods Administration,<sup>80</sup> which stipulates that high-dose codeine combinations are Schedule 4 (prescription only) medications. However, a few combination analgesics containing less than 30 mg of codeine but classified as Schedule 4 may be missed because there are other criteria which form part of the scheduling of prescription-only codeine. One of these is pack-size, which is not recorded in BEACH.

Similarly, before 2010 all aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid) was classified in the analgesic group of neurological medications. In 2010 we split aspirin into two different codes depending on dosage. We reclassified low-dose (100 mg) plain aspirin as an antithrombotic medication in the blood medications group, while higher doses and combinations with other analgesic/antipyretics remain in the neurological group.

If readers are making comparisons with previous BEACH publications, they should note that this change has caused the opioid and antithrombotic groups to increase, and 'other analgesics and antipyretics' to decrease. In the companion report to this publication, *A decade of Australian general practice activity 2002–03 to 2011–12*,<sup>1</sup> medications have been re-analysed across all ten years to incorporate the adjustment.

<u>АТ</u> 1	C Clas	sification level	 Number	Per cent of prescribed medications ( <i>n</i> = 85.980)	Rate per 100 encounters (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 99.030)	Rate per 100 problems (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)
Ne	ervous	system	19,617	22.8	19.8 (18.9–20.7)	12.9 (12.3–13.4)
	Opic	bids	5,813	6.8	5.9 (5.5–6.2)	3.8 (3.6–4.0)
		Codeine, combinations excluding psycholeptics	1,918	2.2	1.9 (1.8–2.1)	1.3 (1.1–1.4)
		Oxycodone	1,488	1.7	1.5 (1.4–1.6)	1.0 (0.9–1.1)
		Tramadol	913	1.1	0.9 (0.8–1.0)	0.6 (0.5–0.7)
		Buprenorphine	559	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.3–0.4)
	Antio	depressants	4,050	4.7	4.1 (3.8–4.3)	2.7 (2.5–2.8)
		Escitalopram	551	0.6	0.6 (0.5–0.6)	0.4 (0.3–0.4)
		Sertraline	522	0.6	0.5 (0.5–0.6)	0.3 (0.3–0.4)
	Othe	er analgesics and antipyretics	3,061	3.6	3.1 (2.8–3.4)	2.0 (1.8–2.2)
		Paracetamol [plain]	2,917	3.4	2.9 (2.7–3.2)	1.9 (1.7–2.1)
	Anxi	olytics	1,894	2.2	1.9 (1.7–2.1)	1.2 (1.1–1.4)
		Diazepam	1,094	1.3	1.1 (1.0–1.2)	0.7 (0.6–0.8)
	Нур	notics and sedatives	1,473	1.7	1.5 (1.4–1.6)	1.0 (0.9–1.0)
		Temazepam	969	1.1	1.0 (0.9–1.1)	0.6 (0.6–0.7)
	Antij	psychotics	1,191	1.4	1.2 (1.1–1.3)	0.8 (0.7–0.9)
	Drug	gs used in addictive disorders	773	0.9	0.8 (0.6–0.9)	0.5 (0.4–0.6)
	Antie	epileptics	681	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
Ca	ardiova	scular system	16,556	19.3	16.7 (15.7–17.7)	10.9 10.3–11.5)
	Lipic	d modifying agents, plain	3,669	4.3	3.7 (3.4–4.0)	2.4 (2.3–2.6)
		Atorvastatin	1,568	1.8	1.6 (1.5–1.7)	1.0 (1.0–1.1)
		Rosuvastatin	1,086	1.3	1.1 (1.0–1.2)	0.7 (0.6–0.8)
		Simvastatin	576	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.3–0.4)
	Angi	iotensin II antagonists, plain	2,371	2.8	2.4 (2.2–2.6)	1.6 (1.4–1.7)
		Irbesartan	941	1.1	1.0 (0.9–1.0)	0.6 (0.6–0.7)
		Candesartan	618	0.7	0.6 (0.6–0.7)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
		Telmisartan	583	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.3–0.4)
	ACE	inhibitors, plain	2,151	2.5	2.2 (2.0–2.3)	1.4 (1.3–1.5)
		Perindopril	1,174	1.4	1.2 (1.1–1.3)	0.8 (0.7–0.8)
		Ramipril	614	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
	Beta	a blocking agents	1,711	2.0	1.7 (1.6–1.9)	1.1 (1.0–1.2)
		Atenolol	727	0.8	0.7 (0.7–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
		Metoprolol	528	0.6	0.5 (0.5–0.6)	0.3 (0.3–0.4)
	Angi	iotensin II antagonists, combinations	1,579	1.8	1.6 (1.5–1.7)	1.0 (0.9–1.1)
		Irbesartan and diuretics	666	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)

## Table 9.1: Prescribed medications by ATC levels 1, 3 and 5

(continued)

ATO	C Classification level		Per cent of prescribed medications	Rate per 100 encounters (95% CI)	Rate per 100 problems (95% Cl)
	3 3	Number	(11 = 05,900)	(11 = 99,030)	(1 = 152,286)
	Selective calcium channel blockers with mainly vascular effects	1,345	1.6	1.4 (1.2–1.5)	0.9 (0.8–1.0)
	Amlodipine	637	0.7	0.6 (0.6–0.7)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
	ACE inhibitors, combinations	709	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
	High-ceiling diuretics	623	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
	Frusemide	621	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
An	ti-infective for systemic use	15,829	18.4	16.0 (15.4–16.6)	10.4 (9.9–10.8)
	Beta-lactam antibacterials, penicillins	6,051	7.0	6.1 (5.8–6.4)	4.0 (3.7–4.2)
	Amoxycillin	3,205	3.7	3.2 (3.0–3.5)	2.1(1.9–2.3)
	Amoxycillin and enzyme inhibitor	1,840	2.1	1.9 (1.7–2.0)	1.2 (1.1–1.3)
	Other beta-lactam antibacterials	3,321	3.9	3.4 (3.1–3.6)	2.2 (2.0–2.3)
	Cephalexin	2,755	3.2	2.8 (2.6–3.0)	1.8 (1.7–1.9)
	Macrolides, lincosamides and streptogramins	2,606	3.0	2.6 (2.4–2.9)	1.7 (1.6–1.9)
	Roxithromycin	1,115	1.3	1.1 (1.0–1.3)	0.7 (0.6–0.8)
	Clarithromycin	667	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
	Erythromycin	603	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.3–0.5)
	Sulfonamides and trimethoprim	698	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
	Viral vaccines	692	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
	Tetracyclines	690	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
	Doxycycline	616	0.7	0.6 (0.6–0.7)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
Ali	imentary tract and metabolism	8,860	10.3	8.9 (8.5–9.4)	5.8 (5.5–6.1)
	Drugs for peptic ulcer and gastro-oesophageal reflux	3,314	3.9	3.3 (3.1–3.6)	2.2 (2.1–2.3)
	Esomeprazole	1,472	1.7	1.5 (1.4–1.6)	1.0 (0.9–1.0)
	Pantoprazole	742	0.9	0.7 (0.7–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
	Blood glucose lowering drugs, excluding insulins	2,307	2.7	2.3 (2.1–2.5)	1.5 (1.4–1.7)
	Metformin	1,293	1.5	1.3 (1.2–1.4)	0.8 (0.8–0.9)
	Gliclazide	538	0.6	0.5 (0.5–0.6)	0.4 (0.3–0.4)
	Propulsives	616	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
	Metoclopramide	519	0.6	0.5 (0.5–0.6)	0.3 (0.3–0.4)
	Insulins and analogues	566	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.3–0.4(
Res	spiratory system	5,335	6.2	5.4 (5.0–5.8)	3.5 (3.3–3.7)
	Adrenergics, inhalants	2,740	3.2	2.8 (2.6–3.0)	1.8 (1.7–1.9)
	Salbutamol	1,288	1.5	1.3 (1.2–1.4)	0.8 (0.8–0.9)
	Salmeterol and other drugs for obstructive airways disease	842	1.0	0.9 (0.8–1.0)	0.6 (0.5–0.6)
	Decongestants and other nasal preparations for topical use	901	1.0	0.9 (0.8–1.0)	0.6 (0.5–0.7)

## Table 9.1 (continued): Prescribed medications by ATC levels 1, 3 and 5

(continued)

AT	C CI	assification level	-	Per cent of prescribed medications	Rate per 100 encounters (95% CI)	Rate per 100 problems (95% Cl)
1	3	5	Number	( <i>n</i> = 85,980)	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	( <i>n</i> = 152,286)
	Ot inł	her drugs for obstructive airway diseases, nalants	794	0.9	0.8 (0.7–0.9)	0.5 (0.5–0.6)
Mu	iscu	iloskeletal system	4,248	4.9	4.3 (4.0–4.5)	2.8 (2.6–3.0)
	A no	nti-inflammatory and antirheumatic products, on-steroid	3,002	3.5	3.0 (2.8–3.2)	2.0 (1.8–2.1)
		Meloxicam	826	1.0	0.8 (0.7–0.9)	0.5 (0.5–0.6)
		Diclofenac	588	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.3–0.4)
		Celecoxib	526	0.6	0.5 (0.4–0.6)	0.3 (0.3–0.4)
	A	ntigout preparations	522	0.6	0.5(0.5–0.6)	0.3 (0.3–0.4)
	D	rugs affecting bone structure and mineralization	516	0.6	0.5 (0.4–0.6)	0.3 (0.3–0.4)
De	erma	tologicals	3,790	4.4	3.8 (3.6–4.0)	2.5 (2.4–2.6)
	С	orticosteroids, plain	2,268	2.6	2.3 (2.1–2.4)	1.5 (1.4–1.6)
		Betamethasone	844	1.0	0.9 (0.8–0.9)	0.6 (0.5–0.6)
		Mometasone	584	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.3–0.4)
Ge	enito	ourinary system and sex hormones	3,202	3.7	3.2 (3.0–3.4)	2.1 (2.0–2.2)
	Н	ormonal contraceptives for systemic use	1,380	1.6	1.4 (1.3–1.5)	0.9 (0.8–1.0)
Bl	ood	and blood forming organs	3,032	3.5	3.1 (2.8–3.3)	2.0 (1.8–2.1)
	A	ntithrombotic agents	2,443	2.8	2.5 (2.2–2.7)	1.6 (1.5–1.7)
		Warfarin	1.398	1.6	1.4 (1.3–1.6)	0.9 (0.8–1.0)
Sy ho	ster	nic hormonal preparations, excluding sex nes	2,382	2.8	2.4 (2.2–2.6)	1.6 (1.5–1.7)
	С	orticosteroids for systemic use, plain	1,439	1.7	1.5 (1.3–1.6)	0.9 (0.9–1.0)
		Prednisolone	877	1.0	0.9 (0.8–1.0)	0.6 (0.5–0.6)
	TI	hyroid preparations	722	0.8	0.7 (0.7–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
		Levothyroxine sodium	713	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
Se	nso	ry organs	2,247	2.6	2.3 (2.1–2.4)	1.5 (1.4–1.6)
	A	nti-infectives ophthalmological	849	1.0	0.9 (0.8–0.9)	0.6 (0.5–0.6)
		Chloramphenicol ophthalmological	782	0.9	0.8 (0.7–0.9)	0.5 (0.5–0.6)
	C ot	orticosteroids and anti-infective in combination ological	594	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.3–0.4)
An	tine	oplastic and immunomodulating agents	423	0.5	0.4 (0.4–0.5)	0.3 (0.2–0.3)
Va	riou	S	256	0.3	0.3 (0.2–0.3)	0.2 (0.1–0.2)
An	tipa	rasitic products, insecticides and repellent	203	0.2	0.2 (0.2–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.2)
Tot	al p	rescribed medications	85,980	100.0	86.8 (84.0–89.7)	56.5 (54.9–58.1)

## Table 9.1 (continued): Prescribed medications by ATC levels 1, 3 and 5

Note: ATC – Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification; CI – confidence interval; ACE – angiotensin-converting enzyme.

## Most frequently prescribed medications

The most frequently prescribed individual medications are reported at the CAPS generic level (ATC level 5 equivalent) in Table 9.2. Together these 30 medications made up 43.4% of all prescribed medications.

Comparis modification	Number	Per cent of prescribed medications	Rate per 100 encounters (95% CI)	Rate per 100 problems (95% CI)
	Number	(11 = 05,900)	(1 = 99,030)	(1 = 152,288)
	3,205	3.7	3.2 (3.0-3.5)	2.1 (1.9–2.3)
	2,917	3.4	2.9 (2.7–3.2)	1.9 (1.7-2.1)
	2,755	3.2	2.8 (2.0-3.0)	1.8 (1.7-1.9)
	1,912	2.2	1.9 (1.8–2.1)	1.3 (1.1–1.4)
Amoxycillin/potassium clavulanate	1,840	2.1	1.9 (1.7–2.0)	1.2 (1.1–1.3)
Atorvastatin	1,568	1.8	1.6 (1.5–1.7)	1.0 (1.0–1.1)
Oxycodone	1,488	1.7	1.5 (1.4–1.6)	1.0 (0.9–1.1)
Esomeprazole	1,472	1.7	1.5 (1.4–1.6)	1.0 (0.9–1.0)
Warfarin sodium	1,398	1.6	1.4 (1.3–1.6)	0.9 (0.8–1.0)
Salbutamol	1,319	1.5	1.3 (1.2–1.5)	0.9 (0.8–0.9)
Metformin	1,293	1.5	1.3 (1.2–1.4)	0.8 (0.8–0.9)
Perindopril	1,174	1.4	1.2 1.1–1.3)	0.8 (0.7–0.8)
Roxithromycin	1,115	1.3	1.1 (1.0–1.3)	0.7 (0.6–0.8)
Diazepam	1,094	1.3	1.1 (1.0–1.2)	0.7 (0.6–0.8)
Rosuvastatin	1,086	1.3	1.1 (1.0–1.2)	0.7 (0.6–0.8)
Temazepam	969	1.1	1.0 (0.9–1.1)	0.6 (0.6–0.7)
Irbesartan	941	1.1	1.0 (0.9–1.0)	0.6 (0.6–0.7)
Tramadol	913	1.1	0.9 (0.8–1.0)	0.6 (0.5–0.7)
Betamethasone topical	844	1.0	0.9 (0.8–0.9)	0.6 (0.5–0.6)
Fluticasone/Salmeterol	842	1.0	0.9 (0.8–1.0)	0.6 (0.5–0.6)
Meloxicam	826	1.0	0.8 (0.7–0.9)	0.5 (0.5–0.6)
Levonorgestrel/Ethinyloestradiol	823	1.0	0.8 (0.8–0.9)	0.5 (0.5–0.6)
Chloramphenicol eye	782	0.9	0.8 (0.7–0.9)	0.5 (0.5–0.6)
Pantoprazole	742	0.9	0.7 (0.7–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
Atenolol	727	0.8	0.7 (0.7–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
Thyroxine	713	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
Clarithromycin	667	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
Irbesartan/Hydrochlorothiazide	666	0.8	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
Amlodipine	637	0.7	0.6 (0.6–0.7)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
Frusemide	621	0.7	0.6 (0.5–0.7)	0.4 (0.4–0.5)
Subtotal	37,349	43.4		
Total prescribed medications	85,980	100.0	86.8 (84.0–89.7)	56.5 (54.9–58.1)

## Table 9.2: Most frequently prescribed medications

Note: CI - confidence interval.

# 9.3 Medications supplied by GPs

GPs supplied patients with 9,630 medications in 2011–12, at a rate of 9.7 medications per 100 encounters. At least one medication was supplied at 7.4% of encounters for 5.0% of problems. Table 9.3 shows the medications supplied most often at CAPS generic level (ATC level 5 equivalent), with vaccines accounting for over half the supplied medications.

Ganaria madication	Numbor	Per cent of GP supplied medications	Rate per 100 encounters (95% CI)	Rate per 100 problems (95% Cl)
	1 021	(1 = 9,030)	10(16,22)	(n = 152,200)
	1,931	20.1	1.9(1.0-2.3)	1.3(1.0-1.5)
	410	0.0	0.0 (0.0-0.7)	0.4(0.4-0.3)
Vitamin B12 (Cobalamin)	276	4.4	0.4 (0.3 0.4)	0.3(0.2-0.3)
	251	3.9	0.4 (0.3-0.4)	0.2(0.2-0.3)
	200	3.0	0.4 (0.3–0.4)	0.2 (0.2-0.3)
Retevitive vession	322	3.3	0.3 (0.3–0.4)	0.2 (0.2-0.2)
Rotavirus vaccine	200	2.8	0.3 (0.2–0.3)	0.2 (0.1-0.2)
	178	1.8	0.2 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
	164	1.7	0.2 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Haemophilus B vaccine	156	1.6	0.2 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Chickenpox (Varicella zoster) vaccine	147	1.5	0.1 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Typhoid vaccine (Salmonella typhi)	121	1.3	0.1 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Hepatitis A vaccine	116	1.2	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Hepatitis B vaccine	112	1.2	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Diphtheria/pertussis/tetanus/polio vaccine	112	1.2	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Allergen treatment	101	1.0	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Esomeprazole	90	0.9	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Salbutamol	88	0.9	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Medroxyprogesterone	88	0.9	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Immunisation	86	0.9	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Hepatitis A/Typhoid vaccine (Salmonella typhi)	83	0.9	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Methylprednisolone	82	0.9	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Celecoxib	72	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Amoxycillin	70	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Hepatitis A and B vaccine	69	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Local anaesthetic injection	69	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Metoclopramide	68	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Meloxicam	65	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Paracetamol	61	0.6	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Dabigatran etexilate	58	0.6	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Subtotal	6,555	68.1	_	_
Total supplied medications	9,630	100.0	9.7	6.3

### Table 9.3: Medications most frequently supplied by GPs

Note: CI – confidence interval; NEC – not elsewhere classified.

# 9.4 Medications advised for over-the-counter purchase

The GPs recorded 10,397 medications as recommended for OTC purchase, at rates of 10.5 per 100 encounters and 6.8 per 100 problems managed. At least one OTC medication was advised at 9.3% of encounters and for 6.2% of problems. Table 9.4 shows the top 30 advised medications at the CAPS generic level (ATC level 5 equivalent). A wide range of medications was recorded in this group, the most common being paracetamol, which accounted for 27.2% of these medications. The re-classification of aspirin described in Section 9.2 also affected rates of advised OTC medications so higher-dose analgesic aspirin and low-dose aspirin for antithrombotic purposes are presented separately here.

Conorio mediaction	Number	Per cent of OTC medications	Rate per 100 encounters (95% CI) (n - 00 020)	Rate per 100 problems (95% Cl)
		(11 = 10,397)	(11 = 99,030)	(1 = 152,286)
	2,820	21.2	2.9 (2.5–3.2)	1.9 (1.6–2.1)
Ibuproten	693	6.7	0.7 (0.6–0.8)	0.5 (0.4–0.5)
Saline bath/solution/gargle	251	2.4	0.3 (0.2–0.3)	0.2 (0.1–0.2)
Sodium/potassium/citric/glucose	245	2.4	0.2 (0.2–0.3)	0.2 (0.1–0.2)
Simple analgesics NEC	235	2.3	0.2 (0.1–0.3)	0.2 (0.1–0.2)
Sodium chloride topical nasal	223	2.1	0.2 (0.2–0.3)	0.1 (0.1–0.2)
Ergocalciferol (Vitamin D analogue)	186	1.8	0.2 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.2)
Diclofenac topical	162	1.6	0.2 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Loratadine	157	1.5	0.2 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Cetirizine	155	1.5	0.2 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Cream/ointment/lotion NEC	148	1.4	0.1 (0.1–0.2)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Paracetamol/codeine (all)	116	1.1	0.1 (0.0–0.2)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Hydrocortisone/clotrimazole	114	1.1	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Clotrimazole topical	107	1.0	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.1–0.1)
Fexofenadine	99	1.0	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Fish oil	90	0.9	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Clotrimazole vaginal	90	0.9	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Bromhexine	85	0.8	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Vitamin D	85	0.8	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Hyoscine butylbromide	84	0.8	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Aspirin cardiovascular	79	0.8	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.1 (0.0–0.1)
Cold and Flu medication NEC	76	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Cholecalciferol	73	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Loperamide	72	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Docusate otic	70	0.7	0.1 (0.1–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Folic acid	68	0.7	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Hydrocortisone topical	65	0.6	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)

Table 9.4: Most frequently advised over-the-counter medications

(continued)

Generic medication	Number	Per cent of OTC medications (n = 10,397)	Rate per 100 encounters (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	Rate per 100 problems (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)
Aspirin (analgesic)	66	0.6	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Sorbolene/glycerol/cetomacrogol	63	0.6	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Multivitamins with minerals	63	0.6	0.1 (0.0–0.1)	0.0 (0.0–0.1)
Subtotal	6,848	65.9	_	_
Total advised medications	10,397	100.0	10.5	6.8

#### Table 9.4 (continued): Most frequently advised over-the-counter medications

*Note:* OTC – over-the-counter medication; CI – confidence interval; NEC – not elsewhere classified.

# 9.5 Proton pump inhibitors prescribed or supplied in 2011–12

In our examination of the management of gastro-oesophageal reflux (GORD) in general practice (Section 7.8) we demonstrated that medications most often prescribed for GORD were proton pump inhibitors (PPIs).

This section examines PPIs as classified in ATC group A02BC. The relationships between patients, their reasons for encounter and the problems managed with PPIs are presented in Figure 9.4.

PPIs were prescribed or supplied by GPs at a rate of 3.2 per 100 total encounters, and 2.1 per 100 problems managed, and they accounted for 3.0% of all medications recorded. For every 100 problems managed with a PPI, 94 PPIs were prescribed and 6 were supplied by the GP.

An extrapolation of the above results to estimate the number of these medications prescribed or supplied nationally suggested that almost 4 million PPIs were prescribed or supplied by GPs to patients in 2011–12. The ten-year summary report, *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12,<sup>1</sup> details significant increases over the decade in prescribing rates of drugs for acid related disorders and the most common PPI, esomeprazole. The extrapolated national effect was 1.7 million more prescriptions for drugs for acid related disorders (which included 1.5 million more prescriptions for esomeprazole) given by GPs in 2011–12 than in 2002–03.

## Patient age and sex, and reasons for encounter

At encounters with infants aged less than one year, 0.3 PPI were prescribed per 100 encounters, while among 1–4 year olds the rate was 0.1 and for 5–14 year old children it was 0.2 per 100 encounters. Patients aged less than 45 years were significantly less likely to receive a PPI than those aged 45 years and over, with the rate more than doubling for the older age groups. Patients aged 65–74 years were the most likely to be prescribed or supplied a PPI (5.2 per 100 encounters). There was no difference between male and female patients in the rate of prescription/supply of PPIs.

The reason for encounter most often given by patients at encounters where a PPI was prescribed or supplied was a prescription request (47.2 per 100 PPI encounters). Other common reasons were for oesophageal disease (14.6 per 100) and test results (8.3 per 100).

## Problems managed with a PPI

Oesophageal disease accounted for almost 7 out of 10 problems managed with a PPI, while the GP labelled the problem under management as prescription request for 9.0%. Stomach function disorder (almost exclusively gastritis) accounted for 4.8% of problems managed with a PPI, abdominal/epigastric pain 2.2%, and dyspepsia/indigestion 2.1%.

## Individual PPIs prescribed or supplied

There are five generic types of PPIs available in Australia. Esomeprazole accounted for 48.7% of prescribed or supplied PPIs. The most common esomeprazole product was the 40 mg tablet. Pantoprazole accounted for one-quarter of PPIs, rabeprazole made up 13.8%, and lansoprazole made up 2.1% of these medications.



(a) Expressed as a per cent of problems managed with a PPI.

(b) Combination of three ICPC-2 rubrics: abdominal pain/cramps, general (D01); abdominal pain, epigastric (D02); abdominal pain, localised, other (D06).

(c) Expressed as a rate per 100 encounters at which a PPI was prescribed or supplied.

(d) Age and sex-specific rate per 100 encounters in each age and sex group.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

### Figure 9.4: Proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) prescribed or supplied in general practice, 2011-12

# 9.6 Changes in medications over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

Data on medications are reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in Chapter 9 of the companion report entitled *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> In that report, changes over time are measured as change in the management of problems (that is, as a rate per 100 problems). This reflects change in how GPs are managing problems, and takes into account the significant increase in the number of problems managed per encounter over the decade to 2011–12 (see Section 7.9).

The rate at which medications were prescribed did not change significantly from 2002–03 (58.2 per 100 problems) to 2011–12 (56.5 per 100). Among the prescribed drug groups that increased significantly were agents acting on the renin-angiotensin system, psychoanaleptics, lipid modifying agents, antithrombotic agents and thyroid therapy. At the same time, prescribing rates of several drug groups decreased, including drugs for obstructive airways disease, systemic anti-inflammatory medications and sex hormones.

At the individual generic level, significant increases were found in the prescribing rates of a number of medications. Among them were cephalexin, atorvastatin, oxycodone, esomeprazole, warfarin, metformin and perindopril. On the other hand, salbutamol, levonorgoestrel/ethinyloestradiol, and simvastatin were among the medications for which significant decreases in prescribing rates occurred over time.

Other changes that occurred over the ten-year period were a steady rise in the proportion of prescriptions for which five repeats were recorded, and a corresponding decrease in those for which two, three or four repeats were recorded. There was a significant increase in the rate of vaccines supplied to the patient by GPs, and an increase in the rate of unspecified unspecified simple analgesics and in vitamin D advised for over-the-counter purchase.

# **10** Other treatments

The BEACH survey form allows GPs to record up to two other (non-pharmacological) treatments for each problem managed at the encounter. Other treatments include all clinical and procedural treatments provided. These groups are defined in Appendix 4, Tables A4.4 and A4.5. Routine clinical measurements or observations, such as measurements of blood pressure and physical examinations, were not included if they were undertaken by the GP. However GPs were instructed to record and indicate clinical measurements or observations if these were undertaken by the practice nurse (PN) or Aboriginal health worker (AHW) in conjunction with the GP at the encounter.

In 2004, four Medicare item numbers were introduced into the MBS that allowed GPs to claim for specified tasks done by a PN under the direction of the GP.<sup>81</sup> In 2005–06 the BEACH recording form was amended to capture this information.

- GPs were allowed to record multiple (up to three) Medicare item numbers where appropriate, rather than be limited to one item number as had been the case in the past.
- In the 'other treatments' section for each problem managed, GPs were asked to tick the 'practice nurse' box if the treatment recorded was provided by the PN rather than by the GP. If the box was not ticked it was assumed the GP gave the treatment.

In Sections 10.1–10.3 inclusive 'other treatments' are counted irrespective of whether they were done by the GP or by the PN/AHW. That is, the non-pharmacological management provided in general practice patient encounters is described, rather than management provided specifically by the GP. However in the analysis of procedural treatments, injections given in provision of vaccines were removed, as this action has already been counted and reported in medications.

In Section 10.4 treatments provided by the PN/AHW (including the injections given for vaccination) are reported separately, to provide a picture of the work they undertake in association with GP-patient encounters.

Routine clinical measurements or observations, such as measurements of blood pressure and physical examinations, were not included between 2002–03 and 2004–05. With the inclusion of PN activities in BEACH since 2005–06, clinical observations have been recorded, but only when done by the PN.

Data on other treatments are reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the ten-year report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

## **10.1 Number of other treatments**

In 2011–12, a total of 53,395 other treatments were recorded, at a rate of 53.9 per 100 encounters (Table 5.1). More than two-thirds (68.6%) of these were clinical treatments. At least one other treatment was provided at 40.5% of all encounters, for 30.7% of all problems managed. For every 100 problems managed, GPs provided 24.0 clinical treatments and 11.0 procedures (Table 10.1).

#### Table 10.1: Summary of other treatments

Variable	Number	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
At least one other treatment	40,086	40.5	38.9	42.1	30.7	29.4	31.9
Other treatments	53,395	53.9	51.2	56.6	35.1	33.5	36.7
Clinical treatments	36,610	37.0	34.6	39.3	24.0	22.6	25.5
Procedural treatments	16,785	16.9	16.1	17.8	11.0	10.5	11.5

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit.

Table 10.2 shows the relationship between other treatments and pharmacological treatments given for problems managed.

- In 60.8% of the problems that were managed with an 'other treatment', no concurrent pharmacological treatment was provided.
- At least one clinical treatment was provided in the management of 21.4% of problems. For 60.0% of these problems, no medication was prescribed/supplied or advised for that problem at that encounter.
- At least one procedural treatment was undertaken in the management of 10.3% of problems, with no pharmacological management given for 61.8% of these problems.

### Table 10.2: Relationship between other treatments and pharmacological treatments

Co-management of problems with other treatments	Number of problems	Per cent within class	Per cent of problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
At least one other treatment	46,729	100.0	30.7	29.4	31.9
Without pharmacological treatment	28,401	60.8	18.7	17.9	19.4
At least one clinical treatment	32,556	100.0	21.4	20.2	22.6
Without pharmacological treatment	19,520	60.0	12.8	12.1	13.5
At least one procedural treatment	15,664	100.0	10.3	9.8	10.7
Without pharmacological treatment	9,680	61.8	6.4	6.1	6.7

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit.

# **10.2 Clinical treatments**

Clinical treatments include general and specific advice, counselling or education, and administrative processes. During 2011–12, there were 36,610 clinical treatments recorded, at a rate of 37.0 per 100 encounters, or 24.0 per 100 problems managed (Table 10.1).

## Most frequent clinical treatments

Table 10.3 lists the most common clinical treatments provided. Each clinical treatment is expressed as a percentage of all clinical treatments, as a rate per 100 encounters with 95% confidence limits and as a rate per 100 problems with 95% confidence limits.

General advice and education was the most frequently recorded clinical treatment in 2011–12 (5.9 per 100 encounters), accounting for 16.0% of all clinical treatments. This was followed by counselling about the problem under management (4.6 per 100 encounters),

counselling and advice about nutrition and weight (4.0 per 100), and advice and education about treatment (3.9 per 100). Psychological counselling was provided at a rate of 3.3 per 100 encounters, and advice and education about medication at a rate of 3.2 per 100 encounters (Table 10.3).

Several recorded clinical treatments related to preventive activities. The most common was counselling and advice about nutrition and weight, followed by counselling/advice for: exercise, smoking, life style, prevention, and alcohol. Together, these preventive treatments accounted for 20.8% of clinical treatments, provided at a rate of 7.7 per 100 encounters (Table 10.3).

		Per cent of clinical	Rate per 100			Rate per 100		
Clinical treatment	Number	treatments ( <i>n</i> = 36,610)	encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
Advice/education NEC*	5,855	16.0	5.9	5.2	6.6	3.8	3.4	4.3
Counselling – problem*	4,565	12.5	4.6	3.8	5.4	3.0	2.5	3.5
Counselling/advice - nutrition/weight*	3,951	10.8	4.0	3.6	4.4	2.6	2.3	2.9
Advice/education - treatment*	3,849	10.5	3.9	3.5	4.3	2.5	2.3	2.8
Counselling – psychological*	3,287	9.0	3.3	3.0	3.6	2.2	2.0	2.3
Advice/education – medication*	3,189	8.7	3.2	2.9	3.5	2.1	1.9	2.3
Other administrative procedure/ document (excl. sickness certificate)*	2,148	5.9	2.2	2.0	2.4	1.4	1.3	1.5
Sickness certificate*	1,741	4.8	1.8	1.5	2.0	1.1	1.0	1.3
Reassurance, support*	1,525	4.2	1.5	1.3	1.8	1.0	0.9	1.1
Counselling/advice – exercise*	1,248	3.4	1.3	1.1	1.5	0.8	0.7	0.9
Counselling/advice – smoking*	758	2.1	0.8	0.7	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.6
Counselling/advice – lifestyle*	755	2.1	0.8	0.6	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.6
Counselling/advice - prevention*	547	1.5	0.6	0.4	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.4
Counselling/advice – health/body*	430	1.2	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3
Observe/wait*	387	1.1	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3
Counselling/advice – alcohol*	359	1.0	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Family planning*	328	0.9	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Subtotal	34,922	95.4	—	_	—	—	—	
Total clinical treatments	36,610	100.0	37.0	34.6	39.3	24.0	22.6	25.5

### Table 10.3: Most frequent clinical treatments

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.4 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; NEC – not elsewhere classified.

## Problems managed with a clinical treatment

Table 10.4 lists the top ten problems managed with a clinical treatment. It also shows the extent to which clinical treatments were used for each problem, and the relationship between the use of a clinical treatment and the provision of medication for individual problems at that encounter.

- A total of 32,556 problems (21.4% of all problems) involved one or more clinical treatments in their management (Table 8.2).
- There was a very broad range of problems managed with clinical treatments, the top ten problems accounting for 29.4% of all problems for which clinical treatments were provided.
- Depression represented the largest proportion of problems managed with a clinical treatment (5.5%), followed by upper respiratory tract infection (representing 5.2%), hypertension (3.4%) and diabetes (3.4%).
- A clinical treatment was provided at 40.8% of depression contacts. Almost half (49.0%) of these did not involve medication for that problem at that encounter.
- However, of the top ten problems acute stress reaction was the one most likely to be managed with a clinical treatment (at 73.7% of contacts). Of the contacts with acute stress reaction where a clinical treatment was provided, 88.3% did not result in concurrent medication prescribed/supplied or advised for that problem.
- Two-thirds (66.5%) of lipid disorder contacts managed with a clinical treatment had no concurrent pharmacological treatment provided for that problem.

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems with clinical treatment	Rate per 100 encounters <sup>(a)</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Per cent of this problem <sup>(b)</sup>	Per cent of treated problems no medications <sup>(c)</sup>
Depression*	1,779	5.5	1.8	1.6	2.0	40.8	49.0
Upper respiratory tract infection	1,696	5.2	1.7	1.5	1.9	28.7	54.4
Hypertension*	1,123	3.4	1.1	1.0	1.3	12.5	41.6
Diabetes – all*	1,114	3.4	1.1	1.0	1.2	27.0	61.7
Lipid disorder	828	2.5	0.8	0.7	0.9	23.9	66.5
Anxiety*	811	2.5	0.8	0.7	0.9	42.9	65.4
Gastroenteritis*	651	2.0	0.7	0.6	0.7	43.4	52.9
Acute stress reaction	536	1.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	73.7	88.3
Test results*	534	1.6	0.5	0.4	0.6	29.5	89.9
Back complaint*	516	1.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	18.7	43.5
Subtotal	9,587	29.4	_	—	—	_	_
Total problems with clinical treatments	32,556	100.0	32.9	30.9	34.9	_	_

### Table 10.4: The ten most common problems managed with a clinical treatment

(a) Rate of provision of clinical treatment for selected problem per 100 total encounters

(b) Percentage of contacts with this problem that generated at least one clinical treatment.

(c) The numerator is the number of contacts with this problem that generated at least one clinical treatment but generated no medications. The denominator is the total number of contacts for this problem that generated at least one clinical treatment (with or without medications).

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1, purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit.
## **10.3 Procedural treatments**

Procedural treatments include therapeutic actions and diagnostic procedures undertaken at the encounter. Injections for immunisations (n = 3,359) are not counted here as these have been counted as medications (see Chapter 9). There were 16,785 other procedures recorded, 16.9 per 100 encounters, 11.0 per 100 problems managed (Table 10.1).

## Most frequent procedures

Table 10.5 lists the most common procedural treatments recorded. Each procedural treatment is expressed as a percentage of all procedural treatments, as a rate per 100 encounters and as a rate per 100 problems, both with 95% confidence limits. Some of the procedures (for example INR test, electrical tracings, physical function test) are investigations undertaken at the encounter. These results do not include investigations that were ordered by the GP to be performed by an external provider. A summary of all investigations (both undertaken and ordered) is provided in Table 12.6.

The most frequently recorded group of procedures was excision/removal tissue/biopsy/ destruction/debridement/cauterisation (2.8 per 100 encounters), accounting for 16.5% of recorded procedures, followed by dressing/pressure/compression/tamponade (2.5 per 100), local injection/infiltration (excluding local injection/infiltrations performed for immunisations) (2.2) and physical medicine/rehabilitation (1.4 per 100) (Table 10.5).

		Per cent of procedural	Rate per 100	05%	05%	Rate per 100	05%	05%
Procedural treatment	Number	( <i>n</i> = 16,785)	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	LCL	UCL	( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	LCL	UCL
Excision/removal tissue/biopsy/destruction/ debridement/cauterisation	2,774	16.5	2.8	2.6	3.0	1.8	1.7	2.0
Dressing/pressure/compression/tamponade*	2,523	15.0	2.5	2.3	2.7	1.7	1.5	1.8
Local injection/infiltration* <sup>(a)</sup>	2,163	12.9	2.2	2.0	2.4	1.4	1.3	1.5
Physical medicine/rehabilitation – all*	1,374	8.2	1.4	1.2	1.6	0.9	0.8	1.0
Incision/drainage/flushing/aspiration/ removal body fluid*	1,140	6.8	1.2	1.0	1.3	0.7	0.7	0.8
Repair/fixation – suture/cast/prosthetic device (apply/remove)*	881	5.2	0.9	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.6
Pap smear*	860	5.1	0.9	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.6
Other the rapeutic procedures/minor surgery $\!\!\!\!^\star$	791	4.7	0.8	0.6	1.0	0.5	0.4	0.6
INR test*	683	4.1	0.7	0.6	0.8	0.4	0.4	0.5
Electrical tracings*	648	3.9	0.7	0.6	0.7	0.4	0.4	0.5
Check-up – PN/AHW*	585	3.5	0.6	0.4	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.5
Physical function test*	557	3.3	0.6	0.4	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.4
Other preventive procedures/high-risk medicat	ion* 516	3.1	0.5	0.4	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.4
Subtotal	15,495	92.3	—	—	—	—	—	—
Total procedural treatments	16,785	100.0	16.9	16.1	17.8	11.0	10.5	11.5

#### Table 10.5: Most frequent procedural treatments

(a) Excludes all local injection/infiltrations performed for immunisations/vaccinations.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Tables A4.5 and A4.6, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).
Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; NEC – not elsewhere classified; INR – international normalised ratio; PN/AHW – practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker.

### Problems managed with a procedural treatment

Table 10.6 lists the top ten problems managed with a procedural treatment. It also shows the proportion of contacts with each problem that was managed with a procedure, and the proportion of problems managed with a procedure without medication given concurrently.

- One or more procedural treatments were provided in the management of 15,664 problems (10.3% of all problems) (Table 8.2).
- The top ten problems accounted for more than a third (34.4%) of all problems for which a procedure was used.
- Laceration/cut accounted for 4.9% of all problems managed with procedures, followed by female genital check-up/pap smear (4.8%), solar keratosis/sunburn (4.4%), and excessive ear wax (3.5%).
- Of the top ten problems, laceration/cut was the problem most likely to be managed with a procedural treatment with a procedure being undertaken at four-out-of-five (79.9%) contacts. Of these contacts with a laceration/cut where a procedural treatment was provided, 80.4% were not prescribed/supplied or advised a medication for that problem at that encounter.

Drahlam mananad	Number	Per cent of problems with	Rate per 100 encounters <sup>(a)</sup>	95%	95%	Per cent of this	Per cent of treated problems
Problem managed	Number	procedure	(n = 99,030)	LCL	UCL	problem	no medications."
Laceration/cut	765	4.9	0.8	0.7	0.9	79.9	80.4
Female genital check-up/ Pap smear*	747	4.8	0.8	0.7	0.9	45.0	98.3
Solar keratosis/sunburn	697	4.4	0.7	0.6	0.8	66.6	97.8
Excessive ear wax	546	3.5	0.6	0.5	0.6	72.8	92.0
Chronic ulcer skin (including varicose ulcer)	496	3.2	0.5	0.4	0.6	75.7	74.7
Warts	487	3.1	0.5	0.4	0.6	77.2	95.0
Malignant neoplasm of skin	482	3.1	0.5	0.4	0.6	45.7	94.3
General check-up*	474	3.0	0.5	0.4	0.6	17.2	77.3
Atrial fibrillation/flutter	382	2.4	0.4	0.3	0.5	27.8	55.4
Back complaint*	317	2.0	0.3	0.3	0.4	11.5	33.1
Subtotal	5,393	34.4	_	_	_	_	_
Total problems with procedural treatments	15,664	100.0	15.8	15.1	16.5	_	_

#### Table 10.6: The ten most common problems managed with a procedural treatment

(a) Rate of provision of procedural treatment for selected problem per 100 total encounters.

(b) Percentage of contacts with this problem that generated at least one procedural treatment.

(c) The numerator is the number of cases of this problem that generated at least one procedural treatment but generated no medications. The denominator is the total number of contacts (for this problem) that generated at least one procedural treatment (with or without medications).

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1, cpurl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit.

## **10.4 Practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker activity**

This section describes the activities of PNs recorded in association with the GP-patient encounters recorded by the GP BEACH participants.

In February 2004, two Medicare item numbers were introduced into the MBS that allowed GPs to claim for specified tasks undertaken by a PN under the direction of the GP. The BEACH recording form (see Appendix 1) was amended to allow the capture of this information from April 2005 onwards.

- GPs were allowed to record multiple (up to three) Medicare item numbers where appropriate, rather than be limited to one item number.
- In the 'other treatments' section, for each problem managed GPs were asked to tick the 'practice nurse' box if the treatment recorded was provided by the PN rather than by the GP. If the box was not ticked it was assumed that the GP provided the 'other treatment'.

The survey form allows GPs to record up to two other treatments for each problem managed at the encounter (i.e. up to eight per encounter). Other treatments include all clinical and procedural treatments provided at the encounters. These groups are defined in Appendix 4, Tables A4.4 and A4.5.

Over the years new PN item numbers were added to the MBS and some items were broadened to include work done by AHWs. In past years we have reported the results referring to PNs alone. However in 2011–12 a few GPs indicated (of their own accord) that the recorded action was done by an AHW rather than a PN. We have included this information in this section, which now refers to work undertaken at encounters by PNs and AHWs in conjunction with the GPs, though the vast majority will have been done by PNs.

There is a limitation to this approach. Few GPs specifically indicated that the work was done by an AHW. Others may have thought that because the question referred specifically to PNs, and recording of work done by AHWs was not specifically requested. These results therefore have the potential to be an underestimate of the work undertaken at GP-patient encounters by PNs and AHWs.

In January 2012 the Australian Government significantly altered the payment structure for practice nurse and AHW activities in general practice such that the range of claimable MBS item numbers was diminished and the Practice Nurse Incentive Program (PNIP) introduced. The PNIP "provides incentive payments to practices…by consolidating funding arrangements under the Practice Incentive Program (PIP) Practice Nurse Incentive". Six of the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) practice nurse items covering MBS immunisation, cervical smears and treatments of a person's wound were removed and the funds redirected into a single payment to eligible general practices.<sup>82</sup>

This means that Medicare claims for PN/AHW items recorded in BEACH from January 2012 onwards were limited to a far smaller range of claimable items.<sup>83</sup> This means that the 2011–12 data presented here includes a period of nine months (April – December 2011) of the old payment system and three months of the new. Likewise the distribution of PN/AHW claims in BEACH and in the MBS claims data reflect this mix.

This change in payment systems as of 1 January 2012 must be remembered in the following section, which investigates:

- the proportion of encounters involving the practice nurse
- the proportion of these recorded as claimable under a Medicare item number
- the distribution of the practice nurse items recorded; treatments provided by practice nurses in association with the GP-recorded encounters
- the problems for which practice nurses provided treatments (in direct association with the GP-recorded encounters).

When viewing these results, it must be remembered that these practice nurse data will not include activities undertaken by practice nurses during the GP's BEACH recording period that were outside (not associated with) the recorded encounter. Such activities could include Medicare-claimable activities (for example, immunisations/vaccinations) provided under instruction from the GP but not provided at the time of the encounter recorded in BEACH, or provision of other services not currently claimable from Medicare (for example, dietary advice on a one-to-one basis, or in a group situation).

### Practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker Medicare claims

There were 7,293 (GP-patient encounters 7.4% of all encounters) for which at least one practice nurse item and/or nurse activity was recorded. However, for 82 of these their activity was not described. At the remaining 7,210 encounters a practice nurse was involved in the management of 7,554 problems (5.0% of all problems managed at all encounters). Simple extrapolation of these results suggests that during 2011–12 practice nurses were involved in about 9 million GP-patient consultations across Australia.

A PN/AHW Medicare item was recorded at only 1,997 encounters: 2.3% of the 87,323 with one or more MBS item number(s) (Table 5.2) and 27.4% of the 7,293 encounters involving a PN/AHW (Table 10.7), and 2,028 PN/AHW item numbers were recorded (Table 10.8).

Variable	Number
Total encounters	99,030
Encounters involving PN/AHW	7,293
Encounters at which PN/AHW activity described	7,210
Encounters with MBS PN/AHW item number(s) recorded but activity not described	82
Encounters at which one or more MBS PN/AHW item numbers were recorded as claimable	1,997
Total problems managed	152,286
Problems managed with PN/AHW involvement	7,554
	Per cent (95% CI)
Encounters involving PN/AHW as a proportion of total encounters	7.4 (7.6–8.0)
Problems involving PN/AHW as a proportion of total problems	5.0 (4.5–5.4)
PN/AHW claimable encounters as a proportion of total encounters with at least one MBS item recorded	2.0 (1.7–2.3)
Proportion of encounters involving PNs/AHWs for which one or more MBS practice nurse item numbers were recorded as claimable	27.4 (24.3–30.4)

Note: PN/AHW - practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker; MBS - Medicare Benefits Schedule; CI - confidence interval.

#### Distribution of practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker items claimed

A total of 2,028 PN/AHW item numbers were recorded at 1,997 encounters. More than half (55.1%) of these were for immunisations and a further 33.3% were for wound treatments. Items recorded for practice nurse services to a person with chronic disease accounted for 10.0%. There were few PN/AHW items claimed for cervical smears (with or without preventive checks) and for health assessments of a four year old, each accounting for 0.6% of all PN/AHW items claimed (Table 10.8).

Comparison of the distribution of recorded practice nurse item numbers and the distribution of the approximately 4.7 million claims made for such items from Medicare in the same data period demonstrated a relatively good fit (Table 10.8). These results suggest that PNs/AHWs conduct of cervical smears were more likely to occur separately from the GP encounter, while their immunisations, wound treatments and services provided to people with a chronic disease were likely to be done in association with a GP encounter.

Medicare item	Short descriptor	Number <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent	Per cent of Medicare PN/AHW item claims <sup>(b)</sup> (n = 4.7 million)
10002		1 1 17	55 1	( <i>II</i> = 4.7 minion)
10993		1,117	(50.2–59.9)	55.7
10996	Wound treatment (other than normal aftercare) by PN	676	33.3	30.0
			(29.1–37.5)	
10997	Service provided to a person with a chronic disease by a PN or	211	10.4%	10.0
	registered AHW		(6.6–14.2)	
10994	Cervical smear and preventive checks by PN	7	0.3	1.6
			(0.0–0.7)	
10995	Cervical smear and preventive checks – women aged 20–69 years, no smear in previous 4 years	0	0	0.1
10998	Cervical smear by PN	2	0.1	0.2
			(0.0–0.3)	
10999	Cervical smear – women 20–69 years, no smear in past four	4	0.2	0.02
	years		(0.0–0.5)	
10986	Health assessment of four year old who has had /is having 4 year	7	0.3	0.6
	old immunisation, by PN or AHW		(0.0–0.7)	
82210	Professional attendance by a participating nurse practitioner $^{(c)}$	2	0.1 (0.0–0.3)	(c)
16400	Antenatal service provided by a midwife, PN or AHW	1	0.0 (0.0–0.3) Ŧ	1.1
Total <sup>(b)</sup>	All Medicare practice nurse item numbers	2,028	100.0	100.0

#### Table 10.8: Distribution of PM/AHW worker item numbers recorded

(a) Three of the 2,031 PN/AHW/allied health worker item numbers (Table 5.6) were allied health worker item numbers and are excluded here as we have no data on their activity at the encounters.

(b) Total Medicare PN claims (Source: Medicare health statistics, March 2011 – April 2012 <www.medicareaustralia.gov.au>).

(c) Only two nurse practitioner item numbers were recorded in BEACH and we assume that by far the majority of these item numbers are being claimed by nurse practitioners working outside a general practitioner's practice, so we have not included these items in the Medicare claims summary denominator.

Note: There were no recordings of items: 10950, 10983, 10984, 10987, 10988, 10989 and 81300, which together accounted for less than 0.5% of claims for PN/AHW MBS item numbers between 1 April 2011 and 31 March 2012 (Source: Medicare health statistics, March 2011 – April 2012 <www.medicareaustralia.gov.au>).

# Treatments provided by practice nurses or Aboriginal health worker at GP-patient encounters

As shown in Section 10.1 GPs reported 53,395 other treatments at encounters. A further 1,823 local injections in administration of immunisations were given by a PN/AHW and 1,636 by the recording GP (these were not reported in Section 10.2). So, in total 56,854 other treatments were recorded, PNs/AHWs accounting for 8,040 of these (representing 14.1% of all other treatments recorded at BEACH encounters) at a rate of 8.2 per 100 recorded encounters. The majority (89.0%) of the PN/AHW activity was procedural, and these procedures represented 35.4% of all procedures recorded. In contrast, clinical treatments accounted for 11.0% of PN/AHW activity at encounters, but PNs/AHWs provided only 2.4% of all recorded clinical treatments. PNs/AHWs did just over half of the immunisation injections (52.7%) at GPs encounters (Table 10.9).

	Performed PN	l/assisted by /AHW	Performe			
Treatment	Number	Row per cent of total	Number	Row per cent of total	Total number recorded <sup>(a)</sup>	
Procedures <sup>(a)</sup>	7,158	35.4	13,086	64.6	20,244	
(Immunisation injections)	(1,823)	(52.7)	(1,636)	(47.3)	(3,459)	
Clinical treatments	882	2.4	35,728	97.6	36,610	
All other treatments	8,040	14.1	48,814	85.9	56,854	

#### Table 10.9: Summary of treatments given by GPs, and by PN or AHW at GP-patient encounters

(a) Procedural treatments here include all injections given by a PN/AHW or the GP for immunisations/vaccinations (n = 3,459). These are not included in the summary of the content of encounter in Table 5.1, summary of management in Table 8.1 or in the analyses of other treatments in Chapter 10, because the immunisation/vaccination is already counted as a prescription or GP-supplied medication.

Note: PN/AHW - practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker.

Of the 7,158 procedures performed by a PN/AHW, 35.8% were injections (71.2% of which were for immunisations), and a further 20.1% were dressing/pressure/compression/ tamponade. Together these accounted for 55.9% of all procedures undertaken by PNs/AHWs in association with the recorded GP-patient encounters. Check-ups made up 8.0% of procedures undertaken by a PN/AHW followed by INR tests (6.7%), and incision/drainage/aspirations (5.5%). PNs/AHWs also undertook a wide range of other procedural activities in association with the GP-patient encounters. The most common are listed in Table 10.10.

Other administrative procedure (which includes administrative/documentation work but excludes provision of sickness certificates) was the most frequently recorded clinical activity, accounting for 29.3% of the 882 clinical treatments provided by PNs/AHWs, followed by counselling the patient about their health problem (14.5%), general advice/education (9.2%), and counselling about a psychological problem (6.0%) (Table 10.10).

	Table 10.10: Most frec	uent activities d	lone by a PN or A	AHW at GP	encounters
--	------------------------	-------------------	-------------------	-----------	------------

		Per cent of	Rate per 100 encounters where PN/AHW activity described <sup>(a)</sup>	95%	95%
Activity	Number	group <sup>(a)</sup>	( <i>n</i> = 7,210)	LCL	UCL
Procedural treatments	7,158	100.0	99.3	96.5	102.0
Local injection/infiltration*	2,561	35.8	35.5	32.4	38.6
Dressing/pressure/compression/tamponade*	1,441	20.1	20.0	18.2	21.8
Check-up – PN/AHW*	575	8.0	8.0	6.1	9.8
INR test*	477	6.7	6.6	5.4	7.8
Incision/drainage/flushing/aspiration/removal body fluid*	395	5.5	5.5	4.2	6.7
Electrical tracings*	377	5.3	5.2	4.5	6.0
Repair/fixation-suture/cast/prosthetic device (apply/remove)*	286	4.0	4.0	3.3	4.6
Excision/removal tissue/biopsy/destruction/ debridement/cauterisation*	263	3.7	3.7	2.8	4.5
Physical function test*	203	2.8	2.8	2.1	3.5
Urine test*	155	2.2	2.1	1.5	2.8
Glucose test*	88	1.2	1.2	0.8	1.7
Other diagnostic procedures*	59	0.8	0.8	0.4	1.2
Pregnancy test*	47	0.7	0.7	0.4	0.9
Pap smear*	45	0.6	0.6	0.3	0.9
Clinical treatments	882	100.0	12.2	9.6	14.8
Other administrative procedure/document (excluding sickness certificate)*	258	29.3	3.6	2.8	4.4
Counselling – problem*	128	14.5	1.8	0.1	3.4
Advice/education NEC*	81	9.2	1.1	0.7	1.5
Counselling – psychological	53	6.0	0.7	0.2	1.3
Advice/education - medication*	52	5.9	0.7	0.4	1.1
Consultation with primary care provider*	42	5.4	0.7	0.1	1.2
Counselling/advice - nutrition/weight*	32	3.6	0.4	0.1	0.7

(a) Only the most common individual treatments provided by practice nurses/Aboriginal health workers are included in this table.

Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Tables A4.4–A4.6 purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; INR – international normalised ratio; PN/AHW – practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker; NEC – not elsewhere classified.

# Problems managed with practice nurse or Aboriginal health workers involvement at encounter

PNs and AHWs were involved in management of a wide range of problems in association with the GP encounters. The problems managed most often were immunisation/vaccination (24.3% of all problems managed with the involvement of a PN or AHW), laceration/cut and check-ups (5.6% in both cases), chronic skin ulcer (4.6%) and diabetes (3.8%). Other common problems for which PNs or AHWs were involved at the GP-patient consultations are listed in Table 10.11.

		Per cent of problems involving PN/AHW <sup>(a)</sup>	Rate per 100 encounters with recorded PN/AHW activity <sup>(b)</sup>	95%	95%
Problem managed	Number	( <i>n</i> = 7,554)	( <i>n</i> = 7,210)	LCL	UCL
Immunisation/vaccination – all*	1,839	24.3	25.5	22.7	28.3
Laceration/cut	427	5.6	5.9	5.1	6.7
Check-up – all*	422	5.6	5.8	4.9	6.8
Chronic ulcer skin (including varicose ulcer)	351	4.6	4.9	4.1	5.6
Diabetes – all*	284	3.8	3.9	3.2	4.7
Atrial fibrillation/flutter	259	3.4	3.6	2.5	4.6
Hypertension*	165	2.2	2.3	1.4	3.1
Excessive ear wax	164	2.2	2.3	1.8	2.7
Malignant neoplasm skin	161	2.1	2.2	1.7	2.8
Blood test – all*	135	1.8	1.9	1.3	2.4
Skin infection – post traumatic	125	1.6	1.7	1.3	2.1
Vitamin/nutritional deficiency	117	1.5	1.6	1.2	2.0
Administrative procedure – all*	92	1.2	1.3	0.7	1.8
Asthma	82	1.1	1.1	0.8	1.5
Other preventive procedures/high risk medication*	69	0.9	1.0	0.6	1.3
Contraception, other	68	0.9	0.9	0.7	1.2
Repair/fixation-suture/cast/prosthetic device (apply/remove)*	68	0.9	0.9	0.7	1.2
Urinary tract infection*	64	0.8	0.9	0.5	1.3
Skin symptom/complaint – NOS/NEC	60	0.8	0.8	0.6	1.1
Boil/carbuncle	60	0.8	0.8	0.5	1.1
Burns/scalds	58	0.8	0.8	0.5	1.1
Pregnancy*	56	0.7	0.8	0.4	1.1
Observation/health education/advice/diet - all*	55	0.7	0.8	0.4	1.1
Prescription – all*	52	0.7	0.7	0.5	1.0
Abrasion/scratch/blister	52	0.7	0.7	0.5	1.0
Dressing/pressure/compression/tamponade*	46	0.6	0.6	0.3	0.9
Arthritis – all*	45	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.8
Anaemia*	45	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.8
Complication of medical treatment	44	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.9
Chest pain NOS	44	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.8

# Table 10.11: The most common problems managed with involvement of PNs or AHWs at GP-patient encounters

(a) Only those problems accounting for >0.5% of all problems managed at GP-patient encounters with involvement of a PN or AHW are included in this table.

(b) Rate of nurse provision of treatment at encounter for selected problem per 100 total encounters in which a practice nurse or Aboriginal health worker was involved.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.3, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; NEC – not elsewhere classified; NOS – not otherwise stated; PN/AHW – practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker.

# 10.5 Changes in other treatments over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

An overview of changes in other treatments provided in general practice over the decade can be found in Chapter 10 of the companion report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> A summary of the results is provided below.

## **Clinical treatments**

The rate of clinical treatments provided in the management of patient problems did not differ in 2002–03 and 2011–12 but there were major changes within the decade.

The rate of provision of clinical treatments remained steady from 2002–03 to 2004–05. Following the introduction of PN and AHW Medicare item numbers in 2004, there was a sudden and significant decrease in the rate in 2005–06. From 2006–07 onwards, the rate slowly increased to reach 24.0 clinical treatments per 100 problems in 2011–12, returning to the level provided ten years earlier.

The rate at which counselling/advice about nutrition/weight and counselling/advice about exercise was provided significantly decreased in 2005–06 then remained steady at a significantly lower rate in 2011–12 than ten years earlier. We estimate 140,000 fewer occasions of counselling/advice about nutrition and weight, and 86,000 fewer occasions of counselling/advice about exercise in 2011–12 than in 2002–03. These changes are discussed in Section 10.4 of the accompanying report.

Overall, there was no significant change in the proportion of problems managed with clinical treatments over the decade. However, the rate of clinical treatments provided for diabetes increased significantly, from 0.8 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 1.1 in 2011–12.

## **Procedural treatments**

The rate at which procedures were recorded per 100 encounters increased significantly from 14.6 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 16.9 per 100 in 2011–12. The extrapolated effect of this change is that nationally in 2011–12 there were an estimated 6.6 million more procedures undertaken than a decade earlier.

There was an overall increase in the proportion of problems managed with procedural treatment(s) from 13.6% in 2002–03 to 15.8% in 2011–12 but there was no change in the rate at which procedures were performed per 100 problems managed. There were significant changes in rates of some specific types of procedures within this period.

- The provision of local injections/infiltration (excluding immunisations) significantly increased over the decade. When extrapolated, the increase suggests provision of 1.2 million more local injections/infiltrations nationally in 2011–12 than in 2002–03.
- In contrast, there was a significant decrease in the rate of physical medicine/rehabilitation, Pap smear and other therapeutic procedures/surgery NEC.
- There was a significant increase in the procedural rate in management of atrial fibrillation from 2002–03 to 2011–12. The coincided with a significant increase in the prescribing rate of warfarin sodium over the decade (see Chapter 9). INR testing is used to monitor patients on warfarin therapy and the provision of INR testing at the encounter significantly increased from one INR test per 1,000 encounters in 2006–07 to seven per 1,000 encounters in 2011–12.

## Practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker activity

A comparison of PN/AHW activity from 2005–06 to 2011–12 is provided in Chapter 10 of the ten-year report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> Changes are summarised below.

As a proportion of all encounters, those involving a PN/AHW almost doubled from 4.2% in 2005–06 to peak at 9.0% in 2009–10 then significantly decreased to 7.4% in 2011–12. The proportion of problems managed with a PN/AHW involvement also increased from 2.8% in 2005–06 to peak to 6.1% in 2009–10 with no significant change by 2011–12 (5.0%).

In 2005–06 GPs recorded at least one PN/AHW Medicare item number at 39% of encounters with recorded PN/AHW activity. This increased to 46% by 2009–10, and then decreased to 40% in 2010–11. In 2011–12, which includes three months of data recorded after the change in practice nurse funding structure, the proportion decreased to 27%.

There were two significant changes in between 2005–06 and 2011–12 in the distribution of practice nurse item numbers claimed for work associated with the BEACH encounters: in 2011–12 PN/AHW services to a person with a chronic disease (first introduced in 2007–08), made up a significantly greater proportion of recorded items (3.6%) than in 2007–08; the proportion of claims accounted for by immunisations was significantly lower in 2011–12 (55.1%) than in 2005–06 (69.5%).

The rate at which procedures (including tests) were undertaken by PNs/AHWs at GP-patient encounters more than doubled from 4.0 per 100 encounters in 2005–06 to 9.2 per 100 in 2009–10, but decreased in 2011–12 to 7.2 per 100 encounters. PNs/AHWs also took over an increasing proportion of the procedural work, increasing from 23% in 2005–06 to 38% in 2010–11, with no statistical change in 2011–12.

While their provision of clinical treatments (such as advice and health education) remained infrequent at GP-patient encounters, there was a significant increase over the study period, from 0.2 clinical treatments per 100 encounters in 2005–06 to 0.9 per 100 in 2011–12. Overall in 2011–12 PNs/AHWs provided 14.1% of all 'other treatments' recorded at the encounters, a significantly greater proportion than in 2005–06 (9.0%).

Last year local injections/infiltrations had reverted to the 2005–06 level of about 41 per 100 practice nurse involved encounters. In 2011–12 the rate decreased further to 36 per 100. This may be linked to the removal of the Medicare item number for immunisations in January 2012. Check-ups by PNs/AHWs at GP-patient encounters doubled over the study period. International normalised ratio (INR) blood testing frequency more than tripled.

In clinical treatments, PNs/AHWs carried out administrative procedures (excluding sickness certificates) at an ever increasing rate, rising from 0.7 per 100 PN/AHW-involved encounters in 2005–06, to 3.6 per 100 in 2011–12. Their provision of advice/education about medication also increased.

There were significant increases in the rate at which PNs/AHWs were involved in management of check-ups, diabetes, atrial fibrillation/flutter and urinary tract infections. Some of these increases may well have been stimulated by the introduction of MBS item 10997 for services provided to a person with a chronic disease, in 2007–08.

# 11 Referrals and admissions

A referral is defined as the process by which the responsibility for part or all of the care of a patient is temporarily transferred to another health care provider. GPs were instructed only to record new referrals at the encounter (that is, not to record continuations). For each encounter, GPs could record up to two referrals, and each referral was linked by the GP to the problem(s) for which the patient was referred. Referrals included those to medical specialists, allied health services, hospitals for admission, emergency departments, and those to other services (including those to outpatient clinics and to other GPs).

Data on referrals and admissions are reported for each of the most recent BEACH years from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the ten-year report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

## 11.1 Number of referrals and admissions

Table 11.1 provides a summary of referrals and admissions, and the rates per 100 encounters and per 100 problems managed. The patient was given at least one referral at 13.3% of all encounters, and for 9.3% of all problems managed.

There were 14,382 referrals made at a rate of 14.5 per 100 encounters, most often to medical specialists (8.6 per 100 encounters, 5.6 per 100 problems managed), followed by referrals to allied health services (4.7 per 100 encounters, 3.0 per 100 problems). Few patients were referred/admitted to hospital, or the emergency department.

Variable	Number	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
At least one referral <sup>(a)</sup>	13,219	13.3	12.8	13.8	9.3	9.0	9.7
Referrals	14,382	14.5	13.9	15.1	9.4	9.1	9.8
Medical specialist*	8,488	8.6	8.2	8.9	5.6	5.3	5.8
Allied health services*	4,629	4.7	4.4	5.0	3.0	2.8	3.2
Hospital*	345	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Emergency department*	311	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.2
Other referrals*	609	0.6	0.5	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.5
Total referrals	14,382	14.5	13.9	15.1	9.4	9.1	9.8

#### Table 11.1: Summary of referrals and admissions

(a) At least one referral was given in the management of 14,228 problems at the 13,219 encounters.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.7, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit.

## 11.2 Most frequent referrals

Table 11.2 shows the medical specialists and allied health service groups to whom GPs most often referred patients. Referrals to medical specialists were most often to surgeons (9.8% of specialist referrals), orthopaedic surgeons (8.9%), and cardiologists (8.0%). The top ten specialists accounted for 65.3% of specialist referrals and for 42.3% of all referrals.

Referrals to allied health services were most often to physiotherapists (28.2%), psychologists (19.2%), podiatrists/chiropodists (9.8%), dietitians/nutritionists (7.8%) and dentists (7.8%). The top ten allied health services accounted for 82.1% of allied health referrals and for 29.0% of all referrals.

Professional/organisation	Number	Per cent of all referrals	Per cent of referral group	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
Medical specialist*	8,488	64.7	100.0	8.6	8.2	8.9	5.6	5.3	5.8
Surgeon	832	6.3	9.8	0.8	0.8	0.9	0.5	0.5	0.6
Orthopaedic surgeon	756	5.8	8.9	0.8	0.7	0.8	0.5	0.4	0.5
Cardiologist	675	5.1	8.0	0.7	0.6	0.8	0.4	0.4	0.5
Dermatologist	665	5.1	7.8	0.7	0.6	0.7	0.4	0.4	0.5
Ophthalmologist	622	4.7	7.3	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.4	0.4	0.5
Gastroenterologist	522	4.0	6.2	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.4
Ear, nose and throat	462	3.5	5.4	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3
Gynaecologist	453	3.5	5.3	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3
Urologist	315	2.4	3.7	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.2
Neurologist	242	1.8	2.9	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
Subtotal: top ten medical specialist referrals	5,545	42.3	65.3	_	_	_	_	_	_
Allied health services*	4,629	35.3	100.0	4.7	4.4	5.0	3.0	2.8	3.2
Physiotherapy	1,304	9.9	28.2	1.3	1.2	1.4	0.9	0.8	0.9
Psychologist	889	6.8	19.2	0.9	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.6
Podiatrist/chiropodist	454	3.5	9.8	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3
Dietitian/nutritionist	360	2.7	7.8	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Dentist	360	2.7	7.8	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Optometrist	113	0.9	2.4	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Exercise physiologist	90	0.7	2.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
Audiologist	84	0.6	1.8	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
Diabetes education	74	0.6	1.6	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1
Counsellor	74	0.6	1.6	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1
Subtotal: top ten allied health referrals	3,801	29.0	82.1	_	_	_	_	_	_
Subtotal: all referrals listed	9,347	71.3	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Total allied health and medical specialist referrals	13,117	100.0	_	13.2	12.7	13.8	8.6	8.3	8.9

#### Table 11.2: Most frequent referrals, by type

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.7, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>). Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit.

# 11.3 Problems most frequently referred to a specialist

The GP could link a single referral to multiple problems being managed at the encounter. Therefore, there are more problem-referral links than referrals. Table 11.3 shows the most common problems referred to a medical specialist, in decreasing frequency order of problem-referral links.

The 8,488 referrals to a medical specialist were provided in management of 8,686 problems. The ten problems most often referred to a specialist accounted for only 20.0% of all problem-referral links, reflecting the breadth of problems referred to specialists. Diabetes accounted for 2.9% of problem-referral links, malignant skin neoplasm (2.6%), pregnancy (2.5%), and osteoarthritis (2.2%) (Table 11.3). The far right hand column of Table 11.3 shows the likelihood of referral to a medical specialist when each problem is managed. Malignant skin neoplasm resulted in a specialist referral at one in five (21.2%) GP contacts with this problem. This was followed by pregnancy (17.1%) and ischaemic heart disease (13.0%).

		Per cent of problem–referral	Rate per 100 encounters	95%	95%	Rate per 100 contacts
Problem managed	Number	links	( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	LCL	UCL	with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Diabetes – all*	251	2.9	0.3	0.2	0.3	6.1
Malignant neoplasm skin	223	2.6	0.2	0.2	0.3	21.2
Pregnancy*	221	2.5	0.2	0.2	0.3	17.1
Osteoarthritis*	194	2.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	6.6
Back complaint*	167	1.9	0.2	0.1	0.2	6.1
Sleep disturbance	158	1.8	0.2	0.1	0.2	10.5
Oesophageal disease	137	1.6	0.1	0.1	0.2	5.2
Ischaemic heart disease*	136	1.6	0.1	0.1	0.2	13.0
Abnormal test results*	131	1.5	0.1	0.1	0.2	11.2
Depression*	117	1.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	2.7
Subtotal: top ten problems referred to a medical specialist	1,735	20.0	_	_	_	_
Total problems referred to medical specialist	8,686	100.0	8.8	8.4	9.1	_

Table 11.3: The ten	problems most	frequently referre	ed to a medical	specialist
---------------------	---------------	--------------------	-----------------	------------

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to a medical specialist.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

 $\textit{Note:} \ \mathsf{LCL}-\mathsf{lower} \ \mathsf{confidence} \ \mathsf{limit;} \ \mathsf{UCL}-\mathsf{upper} \ \mathsf{confidence} \ \mathsf{limit.}$ 

At a meeting of senior academic researchers at the 2011 North American Primary Care Research Group meeting in Canada, we identified an international paucity of information about what problems are referred by GPs to particular types of specialists. The following analyses goes some way to regressing this deficiency.

When analysed by individual medical specialty, the top ten problems accounted for 39.9% of all referrals to surgeons (indicative of the broad range of conditions referred to them), and for 74.9% of all referrals to dermatologists, consistent with a more defined range (Tables 11.3.1 to 11.3.10).

The two most common problems referred to a surgeon were inguinal hernia and haemorrhoids. Of the ten problems most commonly referred to a surgeon, the most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: inguinal hernia, cholecystitis and other abdominal hernia (Table 11.3.1).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Inguinal hernia	56	6.7	38.5
Haemorrhoids	56	6.6	20.0
Malignant neoplasm skin	43	5.1	4.1
Cholecystitis/cholelithiasis	41	4.9	24.4
Abdominal hernia, other	33	3.9	22.8
Rectal bleeding	30	3.6	18.5
Malignant neoplasm breast (female)	27	3.2	11.7
Carpal tunnel syndrome	17	2.1	8.8
Oesophageal disease	17	2.0	0.6
Obesity (BMI > 30)	16	1.9	2.5
Subtotal: top ten problems referred to a surgeon	337	39.9	_
Total problems referred to a surgeon	844	100.0	-

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to a surgeon.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 cpurl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).
Note: BMI - body mass index.

The two most common problems referred to an orthopaedic surgeon were osteoarthritis and acute internal damage of the knee. Of the 10 problems most commonly referred to an orthopaedic surgeon, the most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: acute internal damage of the knee and knee symptom/complaint (Table 11.3.2).

Table 11.3.2: The ten	problems most free	quently referred to an	orthopaedic surgeon
-----------------------	--------------------	------------------------	---------------------

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Osteoarthritis*	165	21.6	5.6
Acute internal damage knee	86	11.3	27.6
Injury musculoskeletal NOS	63	8.2	6.9
Fracture*	48	6.3	5.3
Sprain/strain*	39	5.2	2.8
Bursitis/tendonitis/synovitis NOS	39	5.1	3.5
Knee symptom/complaint	36	4.7	12.6
Back complaint*	35	4.6	1.3
Shoulder syndrome	31	4.1	5.9
Musculoskeletal disease, other	17	2.2	3.7
Subtotal: top ten problems referred to an orthopaedic surgeon	559	73.3	—
Total problems referred to an orthopaedic surgeon	763	100.0	_

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to an orthopaedic surgeon.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).
Note: NOS – not otherwise specified.

The two most common problems referred to a cardiologist were ischaemic heart disease and atrial fibrillation/flutter. Of the 10 problems most commonly referred, the most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: palpitations and heart disease (not otherwise specified), (apart from GP contact specifically for referral) (Table 11.3.3).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Ischaemic heart disease*	133	18.8	12.8
Atrial fibrillation/flutter	72	10.1	5.2
Hypertension*	57	8.1	0.6
Chest pain NOS	42	5.9	16.5
Heart failure	41	5.8	7.3
Palpitations/awareness of heart	40	5.6	19.3
Heart disease, other	38	5.4	18.4
Refer physician/specialist/clinic/hospital cardiovascular	26	3.6	63.4
Cardiac arrhythmia NOS	19	2.7	17.7
Heart valve disease NOS	17	2.3	16.8
Subtotal: top ten problems referred to a cardiologist	485	68.4	_
Total problems referred to a cardiologist	709	100.0	—

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to a cardiologist.

Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).
 Note: NOS – not otherwise specified.

Note: NOS – not otherwise specified

The two most common problems referred to a dermatologist were malignant neoplasm of skin and contact/allergic dermatitis. Of the 10 problems most commonly referred to a dermatologist, the most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: skin check-up, rash and malignant neoplasm of skin (Table 11.3.4).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Malignant neoplasm skin	102	15.1	9.7
Dermatitis, contact/allergic	71	10.5	3.9
Solar keratosis/sunburn	68	10.2	6.5
Skin symptom/complaint, other	57	8.4	9.0
Skin check-up*	46	6.9	9.9
Skin disease, other	37	5.5	4.8
Acne	36	5.4	8.7
Naevus/mole	35	5.1	8.8
Rash*	26	3.9	9.8
Psoriasis	26	3.9	9.6
Subtotal: top ten problems referred to a dermatologist	504	74.9	—
Total problems referred to a dermatologist	673	100.0	_

 $(a) \qquad \mbox{The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to a dermatologist.}$ 

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 cpurl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

The two most common problems referred to an ophthalmologist were diabetes and cataract. Of the ten problems most commonly referred to an ophthalmologist, the most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: visual disturbance (not otherwise specified), cataract, refractive error and macular degeneration (apart from GP contact specifically for referral) (Table 11.3.5).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Diabetes – all*	98	15.5	2.4
Cataract	81	12.8	54.0
Glaucoma	53	8.3	28.3
Visual disturbance, other	48	7.6	54.2
Eye/adnexa disease, other	31	4.9	15.6
Macular degeneration	28	4.4	49.9
Blepharitis/stye/chalazion	26	4.1	10.6
Refractive error	21	3.4	52.3
Refer physician/specialist/clinic/hospital, eye	18	2.8	70.8
Conjunctivitis, infectious	17	2.7	2.7
Subtotal: top 10 problems referred to an ophthalmologist	420	66.3	—
Total problems referred to an ophthalmologist	633	100.0	

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to an ophthalmologist.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

The two most common problems referred to a gastroenterologist were oesophageal disease and rectal bleeding. Of the ten problems most commonly referred to a gastroenterologist, the most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: rectal bleeding and digestive neoplasm (benign or uncertain) (Table 11.3.6).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Oesophageal disease	88	16.4	3.3
Rectal bleeding	40	7.6	24.8
Irritable bowel syndrome	26	4.8	9.1
Benign/uncertain neoplasm digestive	26	4.8	23.5
Abdominal pain*	23	4.2	3.7
Viral hepatitis	21	4.0	13.6
Risk factor NOS	20	3.8	5.1
Chronic enteritis/ulcerative colitis	19	3.6	12.9
Diarrhoea	18	3.4	6.3
Disease digestive system, other	17	3.2	6.5
Subtotal: top ten problems referred to a gastroenterologist	298	55.8	_
Total problems referred to a gastroenterologist	535	100.0	_

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to a gastroenterologist.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>). Note: NOS – not otherwise specified. The two most common problems referred to an ear, nose, and throat (ENT) specialist were sinusitis and tonsillitis. Of the ten problems most commonly referred to an ENT specialist, the most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: tinnitus and nose bleed (Table 11.3.7).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Sinusitis	33	7.1	2.8
Tonsillitis*	33	7.1	3.7
Nose bleed/epistaxis	27	5.8	24.5
Otitis externa	21	4.5	3.7
Upper respiratory infection	20	4.4	0.3
Throat symptom/complaint	20	4.2	14.1
Tinnitus, ringing/buzzing ear	20	4.2	25.7
Acute otitis media/myringitis	19	4.1	1.9
Respiratory disease, other	15	3.2	7.7
Hearing complaint NEC	14	3.0	15.4
Subtotal: top 10 problems referred to an ENT specialist	223	47.7	—
Total problems referred to an ENT specialist	467	100.0	—

Table 11.3.7: The ten problems most frequently referred to an ear, nose, and throat (ENT) specialist

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to an ENT specialist.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: NEC - not elsewhere classified; ENT - ear, nose and throat.

The two most common problems referred to a gynaecologist were menstrual problems and female genital disease (not otherwise specified). Of the 10 problems most commonly referred to a gynaecologist, the most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: postmenopausal bleeding and uterovaginal prolapse (Table 11.3.8).

Table 11.3.8:	The problems	most frequently r	referred to a gy	naecologist
---------------	--------------	-------------------	------------------	-------------

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Menstrual problems*	64	13.8	9.6
Female genital disease, other	50	10.8	25.0
Abnormal test results*	35	7.6	3.0
Uterovaginal prolapse	27	5.8	38.9
Female genital check-up*	18	3.8	1.1
Female genital symptom/complaint, other	18	3.8	20.6
Menopausal symptom/complaint	16	3.5	2.3
Female infertility/subfertility	16	3.4	18.6
Postmenopausal bleeding	15	3.2	39.1
Endocrine/metabolic/nutritional disease, other	13	2.8	2.3
Subtotal: top ten problems referred to a gynaecologist	272	58.4	_
Total problems referred to a gynaecologist	465	100.0	_

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to a gynaecologist.

Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

The two problems most commonly referred to a urologist were benign prostatic hypertrophy and haematuria. Of the ten problems most often referred, those most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: malignant neoplasm of the bladder, haematuria, urinary calculus and benign prostatic hypertrophy (Table 11.3.9).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Benign prostatic hypertrophy	47	14.5	18.7
Haematuria	31	9.7	21.7
Abnormal test results*	30	9.3	2.6
Malignant neoplasm prostate	28	8.6	8.2
Urinary calculus	16	4.9	19.9
Malignant neoplasm bladder	14	4.3	40.5
Urinary frequency/urgency	12	3.7	9.7
Urinary tract infection*	10	3.0	0.6
Prostate symptom/complaint	9	2.9	11.2
Urinary disease, other	9	2.7	11.7
Subtotal: top 10 problems referred to a urologist	205	63.5	_
Total problems referred to a urologist	323	100.0	_

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to a urologist.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

The two problems most commonly referred to a neurologist were epilepsy and carpal tunnel syndrome. Of the 10 problems most commonly referred to a neurologist, the most likely to be referred at each GP contact with that problem were: convulsions/seizures and tingling of fingers/toes (Table 11.3.10).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Epilepsy	25	10.1	8.6
Carpal tunnel syndrome	21	8.5	10.5
Migraine	16	6.5	2.5
Vertigo/dizziness	16	6.4	4.4
Parkinsonism	12	4.8	7.3
Neurological disease, other	10	4.2	4.0
Peripheral neuritis/neuropathy	10	3.9	3.1
Convulsions/seizures	9	3.8	20.3
Tingling fingers/feet/toes	8	3.2	16.1
Headache	8	3.2	2.7
Subtotal: top 10 problems referred to a neurologist	134	54.6	_
Total problems referred to a neurologist	245	100.0	_

Table 11.3.10:	The ten problem	s most frequentl	y referred to a	neurologist
	1	1	5	

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to a neurologist.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 cput.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

# 11.4 Problems most frequently referred to allied health services and hospitals

The 4,629 referrals to an allied health service were provided in the management of 4,853 problems. The ten most common referred problems accounted for 46.0% of all problem-referral links. Depression was the problem accounting for the largest proportion of allied health referrals (10.6%), followed by diabetes (7.1%), back complaints (6.4%) and anxiety (4.2%). However, of the ten most common problems, the most likely to be referred to an allied health service was teeth/gum disease, referred at 27.8% all GP contacts with this problem (Table 11.4).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problem– referral links	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Depression*	515	10.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	11.8
Diabetes – all*	342	7.1	0.3	0.3	0.4	8.3
Back complaint*	310	6.4	0.3	0.3	0.4	11.3
Anxiety*	205	4.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	10.8
Sprain/strain*	199	4.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	14.1
Osteoarthritis*	171	3.5	0.2	0.1	0.2	5.8
Administrative procedure NOS	153	3.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	13.1
Teeth/gum disease	138	2.8	0.1	0.1	0.2	27.8
Bursitis/tendonitis/synovitis NOS	117	2.4	0.1	0.1	0.1	10.4
Acute stress reaction	82	1.7	0.1	0.1	0.1	11.2
Subtotal: top ten problems referred to AHS	2,234	46.0	_	_	_	_
Total problems referred to AHS	4,853	100.0	4.9	4.6	5.2	_

#### Table 11.4: The ten problems most frequently referred to allied health services

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to allied health services.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; NOS - not otherwise specified; AHS - allied health service.

The 345 referrals to a hospital were provided in the management of 354 problems. The ten problems most frequently referred to hospital are shown in Table 11.5. Pregnancy accounted for the highest proportion (6.5%) of these referrals, but appendicitis was the problem most likely to be referred (20.8%).

The 311 referrals to an emergency department were provided in the management of 316 problems. The ten problems most frequently referred to an emergency department are shown in Table 11.6. Fracture accounted for the highest proportion (8.4%) of these referrals, but appendicitis was the problem most likely to be referred (23.6%).

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 encounters (n = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Pregnancy*	23	6.5	0.02	0.01	0.04	1.8
Fracture*	15	4.3	0.02	0.01	0.03	1.7
Appendicitis	10	3.0	0.01	0.00	0.02	20.8
Atrial fibrillation/flutter	8	2.3	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.6
Depression*	8	2.3	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.2
Ischaemic heart disease*	8	2.2	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.7
Anaemia*	8	2.1	0.01	0.00	0.01	1.4
Skin infection, other	7	2.0	0.01	0.00	0.01	2.2
Chest pain NOS	6	1.8	0.01	0.00	0.01	2.5
Gastroenteritis*	6	1.7	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.4
Subtotal: top ten problems referred for admission	100	28.1	_	_	_	_
Total problems referred to hospital	354	100.0	0.36	0.29	0.42	_

#### Table 11.5: The ten problems most frequently referred to hospital

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to hospital.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; NOS - not otherwise specified.

#### Table 11.6: The ten problems most frequently referred to an emergency department

Problem managed	Number	Per cent of problems referred	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 contacts with this problem <sup>(a)</sup>
Fracture*	26	8.4	0.03	0.01	0.04	2.9
Chest pain NOS	12	3.9	0.01	0.00	0.02	4.9
Appendicitis	12	3.8	0.01	0.00	0.02	23.6
Pneumonia	12	3.8	0.01	0.01	0.02	4.3
Ischaemic heart disease*	10	3.0	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.9
Acute bronchitis/bronchiolitis	9	3.0	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.4
Boil/carbuncle	8	2.6	0.01	0.00	0.02	1.5
Abdominal pain*	8	2.4	0.01	0.00	0.01	1.2
Dehydration	6	2.0	0.01	0.00	0.01	14.8
Foreign body in skin	5	1.7	0.01	0.00	0.01	6.4
Subtotal: top ten problems referred to emergency department	109	34.5	_	_	_	_
Total problems referred to emergency department	316	100.0	0.32	0.27	0.37	_

(a) The proportion of GP contacts with this problem that was referred to an emergency department.

Includes multiple ICPC-2 or ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit; NOS - not otherwise specified.

# 11.5 Changes in referrals over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

An overview of changes in referrals over the decade can be found in Chapter 11 of the companion report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> In that report, changes over time are discussed in terms of change in the management of problems (that is, as a rate per 100 problems managed). This reflects change in how GPs are managing problems, and accounts for the significant increase in the number of problems managed per encounter over the decade (see Section 7.9).

In summary, over the ten years there was a significant increase in the proportion of problems that were referred to other health providers: in 2002–03 at least one referral was made in the management of 7.7% of problems and this increased to 9.3% of problems managed in 2011–12.

Referrals to medical specialists remained almost stable at 5.3 and 5.6 per 100 problems managed, with a small but significant increase in referrals to cardiologists, and a significant decrease in referrals to gynaecologists. However, referrals to allied health services almost doubled, from 1.7 to 3.0 per 100 problems managed. This was reflected in significant increases in referral rates per 100 problems, to psychologists, podiatrists or chiropodists, dietitians or nutritionists, and dentists.

# 12 Investigations

The GPs participants were asked to record (in free text) any pathology, imaging or other tests ordered or undertaken at the encounter, and to nominate the patient problem(s) associated with each test order placed. This allows the linkage of test orders to a single problem or multiple problems. Up to five orders for pathology, and two for imaging and other tests could be recorded at each encounter. A single test may have been ordered for the management of multiple problems, and multiple tests may have been used in the management of a single problem.

A pathology test order may be for a single test (for example, Pap smear, HbA1c) or for a battery of tests (for example, lipids, full blood count). Where a battery of tests was ordered, the battery name was recorded rather than each individual test. GPs also recorded the body site for any imaging ordered (for example, x-ray chest, CT head).

Data on investigations are reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the ten-year report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

## 12.1 Number of investigations

Table 12.1 shows the number of encounters and problems at which a pathology or imaging test was ordered. There were no tests recorded at three-quarters (75.7%) of encounters.

At least one pathology test order was recorded at 18.1% of encounters (for 13.6% of problems managed), and at least one imaging test was ordered at 8.6% of encounters (for 5.8% of problems managed).

Pathology/imaging test ordered	Number of encounters	Per cent of encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Number of problems	Per cent of problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
Pathology and imaging ordered	2,430	2.5	2.3	2.6	1,772	1.2	1.1	1.3
Pathology only ordered	15,464	15.6	15.1	16.2	18,930	12.4	12.0	12.9
Imaging only ordered	6,132	6.2	5.9	6.4	7,116	4.7	4.5	4.9
No pathology or imaging tests ordered	75,004	75.7	75.0	76.5	124,467	81.7	81.2	82.3
At least one pathology ordered	17,894	18.1	17.4	18.7	20,702	13.6	13.1	14.1
At least one imaging ordered	8,562	8.6	8.3	9.0	8,888	5.8	5.6	6.1
At least one other investigation ordered	861	0.9	0.8	1.0	888	0.6	0.5	0.6
At least one other investigation performed in the practice	1,455	1.5	1.3	1.6	1,465	1.0	0.9	1.1
At least one other investigation ordered or performed	2,263	2.3	2.1	2.5	2,302	1.5	1.4	1.6

Table 12.1: Number of encounters and problems for which pathology or imaging was ordered

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit.

# 12.2 Pathology ordering

A report on changes in pathology ordering by GPs from 1998 to 2001 was produced in 2003.<sup>19</sup> A review of GP pathology orders in the National Health Priority Areas and other selected problems between 2000 and 2008 is reported in *General practice in Australia, health priorities and policies 1998 to 2008.*<sup>16</sup> A report *Evidence-practice gap in pathology test ordering: a comparison of BEACH pathology data and recommended testing* was produced by the FMRC for the Australian Government Quality Use of Pathology Program in June 2009.<sup>18</sup> Readers may wish to consider those reports in conjunction with the information presented below.

## Nature of pathology orders at encounter

The GPs recorded 46,544 orders for pathology tests/batteries of tests, at a rate of 47.0 per 100 encounters or 30.6 per 100 problems managed. The pathology tests recorded were grouped according to the categories set out in Appendix 4, Table A4.8. The main pathology groups reflect those used in the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS).<sup>84</sup>

The distribution of pathology tests by MBS group, and the most common tests within each group are presented in Table 12.2. Each group and individual test is expressed as a proportion of all pathology tests, as a proportion of the group, as a rate per 100 encounters and as a rate per 100 problems managed with 95% confidence limits.

Test orders classed as chemistry accounted for more than half the pathology test orders, the most common being: lipid tests, for which there were 4.4 orders per 100 encounters and 2.9 per 100 problems; electrolytes, urea and creatinine (3.2; 2.1); multibiochemical analysis (2.9; 1.9); and thyroid function tests (2.7; 1.7). Haematology tests accounted for 18.0% of all pathology including the most frequently ordered individual pathology test, full blood count, at 14.1% of all pathology and 6.6 orders per 100 encounters and 4.3 per 100 problems managed. Microbiology accounted for 13.2% of pathology orders, with urine microscopy, culture and sensitivity being the most frequent in the group at 1.9 tests per 100 encounters and 1.3 per 100 problems managed.

Pathology test ordered	Number	Per cent of all pathology	Per cent of group	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286	95% LCL	95% UCL
Chemistry*	27,348	58.8	100.0	27.6	26.1	29.1	18.0	17.1	18.8
Lipids*	4,341	9.3	15.9	4.4	4.0	4.7	2.9	2.6	3.1
Electrolytes, urea and creatinine*	3,170	6.8	11.6	3.2	2.9	3.5	2.1	1.9	2.3
Multi-biochemical analysis*	2,861	6.1	10.5	2.9	2.6	3.2	1.9	1.7	2.1
Thyroid function*	2,632	5.7	9.6	2.7	2.5	2.8	1.7	1.6	1.8
Liver function*	2,615	5.6	9.6	2.6	2.4	2.9	1.7	1.6	1.9
Glucose/glucose tolerance*	2,578	5.5	9.4	2.6	2.4	2.8	1.7	1.6	1.8
Chemistry; other*	1,547	3.3	5.7	1.6	1.4	1.7	1.0	0.9	1.1
HbA1c*	1,368	2.9	5.0	1.4	1.2	1.5	0.9	0.8	1.0
Ferritin*	1,278	2.7	4.7	1.3	1.2	1.4	0.8	0.8	0.9
Prostate specific antigen*	946	2.0	3.5	1.0	0.9	1.1	0.6	0.6	0.7

Table 12.2: Pathology orders by MBS pathology groups and most frequent individual test orders within group

(continued)

Pathology test ordered	Number	Per cent of all pathology	Per cent of group	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
C reactive protein	911	2.0	3.3	0.9	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.7
Calcium/phosphate/magnesium*	880	1.9	3.2	0.9	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.5	0.6
Haematology*	8,385	18.0	100.0	8.5	8.0	8.9	5.5	5.2	5.8
Full blood count*	6,578	14.1	78.4	6.6	6.3	7.0	4.3	4.1	4.6
Coagulation*	797	1.7	9.5	0.8	0.7	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.6
ESR	794	1.7	9.5	0.8	0.7	0.9	0.5	0.5	0.6
Microbiology*	6,148	13.2	100.0	6.2	5.9	6.6	4.0	3.8	4.3
Urine M,C&S*	1,913	4.1	31.1	1.9	1.8	2.1	1.3	1.2	1.3
Microbiology; other*	938	2.0	15.3	0.9	0.9	1.0	0.6	0.6	0.7
Hepatitis serology*	440	0.9	7.2	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3
Faeces M,C&S*	407	0.9	6.6	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3
Chlamydia*	340	0.7	5.5	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Vaginal swab M,C&S*	336	0.7	5.5	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
Venereal disease*	275	0.6	4.5	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
H Pylori*	232	0.5	3.8	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
Cytopathology*	1,699	3.7	100.0	1.7	1.5	1.9	1.1	1.0	1.2
Pap smear*	1,662	3.6	97.8	1.7	1.5	1.9	1.1	1.0	1.2
Other NEC*	909	2.0	100.0	0.9	0.7	1.1	0.6	0.5	0.7
Blood test	444	1.0	48.8	0.4	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.2	0.4
Other test NEC	256	0.6	28.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
Tissue pathology*	781	1.7	100.0	0.8	0.7	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.6
Histology; skin	699	1.5	89.5	0.7	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.4	0.5
Immunology*	790	1.7	100.0	0.8	0.7	0.9	0.5	0.5	0.6
Immunology, other*	433	0.9	54.8	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3
Anti-nuclear antibodies	139	0.3	17.6	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
Rheumatoid factor	112	0.2	14.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Simple tests*	252	0.5	100.0	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
Infertility/pregnancy*	234	0.5	100.0	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
Total pathology tests	46,544	100.0	_	47.0	44.9	49.1	30.6	29.3	31.8

# Table 12.2 (continued): Pathology orders by MBS pathology groups and most frequent individual test orders within group

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.8, <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; ESR – Erythrocyte sedimentation rate; M,C&S – microscopy, culture and sensitivity; H Pylori – test for Helicobacter pylori infection; NEC – not elsewhere classified.

## Problems for which pathology tests were ordered

Table 12.3 describes the problems for which pathology was commonly ordered, in decreasing frequency order of problem–pathology combinations. Diabetes, accounting for 8.3% of all problem–pathology combinations, followed by hypertension, general check-ups and lipid disorder were the most common problems for which pathology tests were ordered. The two right-hand columns show the proportion of each problem that resulted in a pathology order, and the rate of pathology tests/batteries of tests per 100 specified problems when at least one test is ordered. For example, 32.7% of contacts with diabetes resulted in pathology orders, and when pathology was ordered for diabetes, 300 tests/batteries of tests were ordered per 100 diabetes contacts that resulted in a pathology test order. In contrast, only 12.0% of contacts with hypertension problems resulted in a pathology test, but the resulting test orders accounted for almost as many tests (6.5%) as did diabetes (8.3%).

Problem managed	Number of problems	Number of problem– pathology combinations <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent of problem– pathology combinations <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent of problems with test <sup>(b)</sup>	Rate of pathology orders per 100 problems with pathology <sup>(c)</sup>
Diabetes – all*	4,123	4,038	8.3	32.7	299.7
Hypertension*	8,971	3,173	6.5	12.0	295.4
General check-up*	2,757	2,684	5.5	27.9	349.4
Lipid disorder	3,463	2,234	4.6	26.7	241.7
Female genital check-up/ Pap smear*	1,661	1,630	3.3	79.8	122.9
Weakness/tiredness	599	1,532	3.1	64.2	398.2
Urinary tract infection*	1,686	1,079	2.2	54.3	117.8
Abnormal test results*	1,171	1,044	2.1	51.6	172.9
Pregnancy*	1,287	1,029	2.1	36.8	217.2
Blood test NOS	314	877	1.8	80.7	345.9
Subtotal	26,032	19,320	39.6	—	—
Total problems	152,286	48,795	100.0	13.6	235.7

#### Table 12.3: The ten problems for which pathology was most frequently ordered

(a) A test was counted more than once if it was ordered for the management of more than one problem at an encounter. There were 46,544 pathology test orders and 48,795 problem–pathology combinations.

(b) The percentage of total contacts with the problem that generated at least one order for pathology.

(c) The rate of pathology orders placed per 100 problem contacts with at least one order for pathology.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1, cpurl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: NOS – not otherwise specified.

## 12.3 Imaging ordering

Readers wanting a more detailed study of imaging orders should consult the comprehensive report on imaging orders by GPs in Australia in 1999–00, by the FMRC using BEACH data, and published by the AIHW and the University of Sydney in 2001.<sup>85</sup>

### Nature of imaging orders at encounter

There were 9,978 imaging test orders recorded, at a rate of 10.1 per 100 encounters and 6.6 per 100 problems managed.

The distribution of imaging tests by MBS group, and the most common tests within each group are presented in Table 12.4. Each group and individual test is expressed as a percentage of all imaging tests, as a percentage of the group, as a rate per 100 encounters, and as a rate per 100 problems with 95% confidence limits. Diagnostic radiology accounted for almost half (45.6%) of all imaging test orders, and ultrasound accounted for 39.4%.

# Table 12.4: Imaging orders by MBS imaging groups and the most frequent imaging tests ordered within group

Imaging test ordered	Number	Per cent of all imaging	Per cent of group	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
Diagnostic radiology*	4,547	45.6	100.0	4.6	4.3	4.9	3.0	2.8	3.2
X-ray; chest	959	9.6	21.1	1.0	0.9	1.1	0.6	0.6	0.7
X-ray; knee	489	4.9	10.8	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.4
Mammography; female	284	2.9	6.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2
X-ray; hip	272	2.7	6.0	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2
Test; densitometry	266	2.7	5.9	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
X-ray; shoulder	252	2.5	5.5	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
X-ray; foot/feet	246	2.5	5.4	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
X-ray; ankle	169	1.7	3.7	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
X-ray; wrist	163	1.6	3.6	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
X-ray; spine; lumbar	144	1.4	3.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
X-ray; hand	124	1.2	2.7	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
X-ray; finger(s)/thumb	108	1.1	2.4	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
X-ray; abdomen	104	1.0	2.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
X-ray; spine; cervical	85	0.9	1.9	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
X-ray; spine; lumbosacral	84	0.8	1.8	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
X-ray; ribs	69	0.7	1.5	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1
Ultrasound*	3,936	39.4	100.0	4.0	3.8	4.2	2.6	2.5	2.7
Ultrasound; pelvis	646	6.5	16.4	0.7	0.6	0.7	0.4	0.4	0.5
Ultrasound; shoulder	462	4.6	11.7	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3
Ultrasound; abdomen	388	3.9	9.9	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.3
Ultrasound; breast; female	265	2.7	6.7	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
Ultrasound; obstetric	258	2.6	6.6	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2

(continued)

Imaging test ordered	Number	Per cent of all imaging	Per cent of group	Rate per 100 encounters ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Rate per 100 problems ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	95% LCL	95% UCL
Echocardiography	153	1.5	3.9	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
Ultrasound; leg	134	1.3	3.4	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
Test; Doppler	133	1.3	3.4	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
Ultrasound; kidney	127	1.3	3.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
Ultrasound; hip	94	0.9	2.4	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
Ultrasound; scrotum	90	0.9	2.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
Ultrasound; thyroid	89	0.9	2.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
Ultrasound; abdomen; upper	85	0.9	2.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
Ultrasound; foot/toe(s)	82	0.8	2.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
Computerised tomography*	1,163	11.7	100.0	1.2	1.1	1.3	0.8	0.7	0.8
CT scan; brain	180	1.8	15.5	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
CT scan; abdomen	168	1.7	14.4	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
CT scan; spine; lumbar	135	1.4	11.6	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
CT scan; head	94	0.9	8.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
CT scan; chest	89	0.9	7.7	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
CT scan; spine; lumbosacral	78	0.8	6.7	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
CT scan; sinus	59	0.6	5.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1
Magnetic resonance imaging*	228	2.3	100.0	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.2
Nuclear medicine*	105	1.0	100.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Total imaging tests	9,978	100.0	_	10.1	9.6	10.5	6.6	6.3	6.8

Table 12.4 (continued): Imaging orders by MBS imaging groups and the most frequent imaging tests ordered within group

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.9 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: LCL – lower confidence limit; UCL – upper confidence limit; CT – computerised tomography.

### Problems for which imaging tests were ordered

Table 12.5 lists the problems for which imaging was commonly ordered, in decreasing frequency order of problem-imaging combinations. Osteoarthritis accounted for 5.3% of all orders, this was followed by back complaint (4.8%), and musculoskeletal injury (3.6%). The two right-hand columns show the proportion of each problem that resulted in an imaging test, and the rate of imaging tests per 100 specified problems when at least one test was ordered. For example, 35.6% of contacts with fractures resulted in an imaging test, and 106.6 tests were ordered per 100 fracture contacts when at least one test had been ordered.

Problem managed	Number of problems	Number of problem–imaging combinations <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent of problem–imaging combinations	Per cent of problems with test <sup>(b)</sup>	Rate of imaging orders per 100 problems with imaging <sup>(c)</sup>
Osteoarthritis*	2,924	531	5.3	15.4	118.0
Back complaint*	2,756	480	4.8	15.3	113.9
Injury musculoskeletal NOS	905	364	3.6	34.5	116.8
Sprain/strain*	1,409	363	3.6	20.9	123.6
Bursitis/tendonitis/synovitis NOS	1,128	351	3.5	26.6	116.6
Fracture*	908	345	3.4	35.6	106.6
Pregnancy*	1,287	329	3.3	24.9	102.5
Abdominal pain*	614	307	3.0	42.4	118.0
Shoulder syndrome	525	255	2.5	37.9	128.2
Breast lump/mass (female)	150	170	1.7	75.4	149.6
Subtotal	12,606	3,495	34.7	_	_
Total problems	152,286	10,076	100.0	5.8	113.4

Table 12.5: The ten problems for which an imaging test was most frequently ordered

(a) A test was counted more than once if it was ordered for the management of more than one problem at an encounter. There were 9,978 imaging test orders and 10,076 problem–imaging combinations.

(b) The percentage of total contacts with the problem that generated at least one order for imaging.

(c) The rate of imaging orders placed per 100 tested problem contacts with at least one order for imaging.

\* Includes multiple ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS codes (see Appendix 4, Table A4.1 <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>).

Note: NOS - not otherwise specified.

## 12.4 Other investigations

Other investigations include diagnostic procedures ordered by the GP at the encounter or undertaken by the GP or practice staff. GPs ordered 897 other investigations during the study year, and GPs or practice staff undertook 1,548 other investigations. There were, in total, 2,445 other investigations either ordered or undertaken in the practice (Table 12.6).

The first part of Table 12.6 lists the other investigations ordered by GPs. The second part lists the other investigations undertaken in the practice by GPs or practice staff. The third part lists the total of other investigations either ordered, or undertaken in the practice. Each investigation is expressed as a percentage of total other investigations ordered or undertaken, as a rate per 100 encounters, and as a rate per 100 problems, each with 95% confidence limits. Electrical tracings were the most common group of other investigations ordered or undertaken making up 44.1% of other investigations, followed by physical function test (29.9%).

	-	Ivestigatio	ns ordered by t	he GP	Investiç	gations ur	ndertaken in th	ne practice	All in	restigation	(ordered or u	idertaken)
Investigation ordered	Number	Per cent	Rate per 100 encounters (95% CI) ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	Rate per 100 problems (95% CI) ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	Number F	Per cent	Rate per 100 encounters (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	Rate per 100 problems (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)	Number	Per cent	Rate per 100 encounters (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 99,030)	Rate per 100 problems (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 152,286)
Electrical tracings*	431	48.0	0.43 (0.37–0.50)	0.28 (0.24–0.33)	648	41.8	0.65 (0.57–0.74)	0.43 (0.37–0.48)	1,079	44.1	1.09 (0.98–1.20)	0.71 (0.64–0.78)
Diagnostic endoscopy*	262	29.2	0.26 (0.22–0.31)	0.17 (0.14–0.20)	30	2.5	0.04 (0.01–0.07)	0.03 (0.01–0.04)	300	12.3	0.30 (0.25–0.36)	0.20 (0.16–0.23)
Physical function test*	173	19.3	0.17 (0.14–0.21)	0.11 (0.09–0.14)	557	36.0	0.56 (0.44–0.69)	0.37 (0.28–0.45)	730	29.9	0.74 (0.61–0.87)	0.48 (0.39–0.57)
Other diagnostic procedures*	31	3.5	0.03 (0.01–0.05)	0.02 (0.01–0.03)	304	19.7	0.31 (0.23–0.39)	0.20 (0.15–0.25)	336	13.7	0.34 (0.26–0.42)	0.22 (0.17–0.27)
Total other investigations ordered	897	100.0	0.91 (0.80–1.01)	0.59 (0.52–0.65)	1,548	100.0	1.56 (1.37–1.76)	1.02 (0.89–1.14)	2,445	100.0	2.47 (2.24–2.70)	1.61 (1.46–1.75)
<ul> <li>Includes multiple ICPC-2 or IC</li> </ul>	CPC-2 PLU	S codes (see	Appendix 4, Table	: A4.6 <purl.library.u< td=""><td>syd.edu.au/sup</td><td>0/97817433</td><td>20181&gt;).</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></purl.library.u<>	syd.edu.au/sup	0/97817433	20181>).					

Table 12.6: Other investigations ordered by GPs or performed in the practice

se) : \*

Note: CI – confidence interval.

# 12.5 Changes in investigations over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

Data on investigations are reported for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in Chapter 12 of the companion report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup> In that report, changes over time are measured as change in the management of problems (that is, as a rate per 100 problems). This reflects change in how GPs are managing problems, and accounts for the significant increase in the number of problems managed per encounter over the decade (see Section 7.9). The major changes are highlighted below.

- At least one pathology test was ordered for 11.4% of problems managed in 2002–03 rising to 13.6% of problems in 2011–12. The largest increase was in orders for chemical pathology, which increased from 12.2 per 100 problems in 2002–03 to 18.0 per 100 problems in 2011–12. Haematology increased at a slower rate, from 4.3 per 100 problems in 2002–03 to 5.5 in 2011–12. Microbiology test orders increased from 3.5 per 100 problems in 2002–03 to 4.0 in 2011–12.
- Between 2002–03 and 2011–12 the number of problems managed per 100 encounters rose from 144.9 to 153.8 (Table 5.1). Both the rise in the number of tested problems and the rise in the number of problems managed at encounter contributed to an overall increase in the proportion of encounters involving a pathology test. These rose from 14.7% of encounters in 2002–03 to 18.1% in 2011–12, which suggests that in 2011–12 pathology was ordered at about 8 million more encounters nationally than in 2002–03.
- The number of pathology tests ordered increased from 22.7 tests (or battery of tests) per 100 problems managed in 2002–03 to 30.6 per 100 problems in 2011–12. The rate of pathology orders per 100 encounters increased from 32.9 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 47.0 in 2011–12, which extrapolates to approximately 25.7 million more tests (or batteries of tests) ordered in 2011–12.
- At least one imaging test was ordered for 5.3% of all problems managed in 2002–03, rising to 5.8% of all problems in 2011–12. The proportion of encounters generating imaging orders increased from 7.5% in 2002–03 to 8.6% in 2011–12, resulting in an estimated 3.3 million more encounters nationally at which imaging was ordered in 2011–12.
- The number of imaging tests ordered increased from 5.9 tests per 100 problems managed in 2002–03 to 6.6 per 100 problems in 2011–12. Total imaging orders per 100 encounters also increased significantly from 8.6 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 10.1 in 2011–12, suggesting there were 4 million more imaging orders in 2011–12 than in 2002–03.

# 12.6 Discussion

Pathology testing underpins both the diagnostic and chronic disease monitoring processes of Australian general practice. It is thus a tool integral to the function of general practice and the management of patients.

The volume of pathology ordering by general practitioners in Australia (which constitutes about 70% of all pathology orders claimed from Medicare<sup>16</sup>) has increased in every year since the inception of the BEACH program in 1998. This rising volume has resulted from an increase in the number of services delivered by GPs and an increase in the number of patient problems managed at encounters as well as an increase in the number of pathology tests or batteries of tests ordered on each occasion in the management of some problems.<sup>16</sup>

There continue to be some problematic areas of pathology ordering which were reported in previous FMRC publications and continue in the present BEACH reporting year.<sup>16,19</sup> Examples include the ordering of full blood counts and ESR which have little support in guidelines for most of the indications for which they are ordered. FBC orders increased from 4.3 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 6.6 per 100 encounters in 2011–12, an increase of almost 4 million encounters in 2011–12 at which FBCs were ordered.<sup>86</sup>

The largest rise in pathology orders has been in chemical pathology tests, led by tests for lipid levels which have increased from 3.3 per 100 encounters in 2002–03 to 4.4 per 100 encounters in 2011–12.<sup>86</sup> This extrapolates to an increase over the decade of approximately 2.2 million more encounters where lipid tests were ordered, accounting for about 13% of the total increase in chemical pathology orders. This appears to have been driven by the changes in guidelines resulting from increasing evidence regarding the role of blood lipids in the genesis and prevention of cardiovascular disease.

Prostate specific antigen (PSA) testing has become a very contentious issue with conflicting views as to its benefit in terms of patient outcomes. Conflicting guidelines for PSA tests make it difficult for GPs to decide when it is appropriate and limit the ability to measure the quality of GP ordering of PSA testing. Research conducted by the FMRC for the Quality Use of Pathology Program of the Department of Health and Ageing raised significant concerns regarding the quality of guidelines for pathology ordering.<sup>18</sup>

While there was a significant increase in imaging orders overall, there was no increase in diagnostic radiology per 100 encounters and a significant decrease per 100 problems managed. The major change was in ultrasound orders which increased by the equivalent of 2.4 million encounters at which ultrasound was ordered in 2011–12 compared with 2002–03.<sup>1</sup> Of greater concern was CT scan orders which increased by the equivalent of 690,000 CT scan encounters over the decade.<sup>1</sup> There is a growing concern regarding the safety of CT scans,<sup>87,88</sup> particularly in children, which has led to changes in Medicare Schedules rules to allow rebates for MRI scans ordered by general practitioners in the future.<sup>89</sup> BEACH will monitor the effect of this policy change on the ordering of imaging tests in the future.

# **13 Patient risk factors**

General practice is a useful intervention point for health promotion because the majority of the population visit a GP at least once per year. In 2011–12, 83% of Australians visited a GP at least once (personal communication, DoHA, April 2012). GPs, through ongoing professional education, have substantial knowledge of population health, screening programs and other interventions. They are therefore in an ideal position to advise patients about the benefits of health screening, and to counsel patients individually about their lifestyle choices.

Since the beginning of the BEACH program (1998), a section on the bottom of each encounter form has been used to investigate aspects of patient health or healthcare delivery not covered by general practice consultation-based information. These additional substudies are referred to as SAND (Supplementary Analysis of Nominated Data). The SAND methods are described in Section 2.6.

The patient risk factors collected in BEACH include body mass index (BMI) (calculated using self-reported height and weight), self-reported alcohol consumption and self-reported smoking status. These patient risk factors are investigated for a subsample of 40 of the 100 patient encounters recorded by each GP. An example of the encounter form with the patient risk factor SAND questions is included as Appendix 1. The methods used in the risk factor substudies reported in this chapter are described in each section below.

Data on patient risk factors measured in SAND are reported for each of the ten most recent years in the companion report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

Abstracts of results and the research tools used in other SAND substudies from April 1998 to March 2012 have been published. Those conducted:

- from April 1998 to March 1999 were published in *Measures of health and health care delivery in general practice in Australia*<sup>26</sup>
- from April 1999 to July 2006 were published in *Patient-based substudies from BEACH: abstracts and research tools* 1999–2006<sup>27</sup>
- since August 2006 have been published in each general practice annual reports<sup>28-32</sup>
- in the 2011–12 BEACH year are provided in Chapter 14 of this publication.

## 13.1 Body mass index

From the most recent publicly available data, high body mass was the third highest contributor to the total burden of disease in Australia in 2003, accounting for 7.5% of the total burden,<sup>90</sup> an increase from 4.3% of total burden and sixth rank in 1996.<sup>91</sup> In 2010, the AIHW reported that based on OECD data, Australia's obesity rates in 1987 and 2006 were among the highest in the world (10.8% and 25.6% of adults respectively).<sup>92</sup> These figures rank Australia firmly in the worst third of OECD countries.<sup>92</sup>

From the 2007–08 National Health Survey (NHS) it was estimated that, based on trained interviewer measured data 37% of Australians aged 18 years and over were overweight (BMI 25–<30) and 25% were obese (BMI 30 or more). Men were more likely to be overweight (42%) than women (31%), but obesity rates were similar (26% in men, 24% in women).<sup>20</sup>

The 2007–08 NHS also reported that 25% of children aged 5–17 years were classified as overweight or obese, with boys and girls having similar rates of overweight/obesity (26% and 24% respectively).<sup>20</sup>

## Method

Patient BMI was investigated for a subsample of 40 of each GP's 100 patient encounters. Each GP was instructed to ask the patient (or their carer in the case of children):

- What is your height in centimetres (without shoes)?
- What is your weight in kilograms (unclothed)?

Metric conversion tables (from feet and inches; from stones and pounds) were provided to the GP.

The BMI for an individual was calculated by dividing weight (kilograms) by height (metres) squared. The WHO recommendations<sup>93</sup> for BMI groups were used, which specify that an adult (18 years and over) with a BMI:

- less than 18.5 is underweight
- greater than or equal to 18.5 and less than 25 is normal weight
- greater than or equal to 25 and less than 30 is overweight
- of 30 or more is obese.

The reported height for adult patients was checked against sex-appropriate upper and lower height limits from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS).<sup>94</sup> Adults whose self-reported height was outside the sex-appropriate limits were excluded from the analysis.

The standard BMI cut-offs described above are not appropriate in the case of children. Cole et al. (2000 & 2007) developed a method that calculates the age-sex-specific BMI cut-off levels for underweight, overweight and obesity specific to children aged 2–17 years.<sup>95,96</sup> There are four categories defined for childhood BMI: underweight, normal weight, overweight and obese. This method, based on international data from developed Western cultures, is applicable in the Australian setting.

The reported height of children was checked against age-sex-appropriate upper and lower height limits from the ABS and Centres for Disease Control (CDC).<sup>94,97</sup> Children whose self-reported height was outside the age-sex-appropriate limits were excluded from the analysis.

The BEACH data on BMI are presented separately for adults (aged 18 years and over) and children (aged 2–17 years).

## Results

### Body mass index of adults

The sample size was 32,372 patients aged 18 years and over at encounters with 984 GPs.

- Over half (61.6%) of the patients were overweight (35.0%) or obese (26.6%) (Table 13.1).
- Just over one-third (36.2%) of adult patients had a BMI in the normal range, 2.3% of adults were underweight (Table 13.1). Underweight was more prevalent among females than males.
- Males were more likely to be overweight or obese (68.9%, 95% CI: 67.8–70.0) than females (56.9%, 95% CI: 56.9–57.9) (results not tabled).

- Overweight/obesity was most prevalent among male patients aged 65–74 years (76.8%) and 45–64 years (76.0%) (Figure 13.1).
- Among female patients, overweight/obesity was most prevalent in those aged 65–74 years (67.7%) and 45–64 years (64.5%) (Figure 13.1).
- Underweight was most prevalent among patients aged 18–24 years (5.2%, 95% CI: 4.2–6.2) (results not tabled).
- Of young adults (18–24 years), 6.2% of females and 2.8% of males were underweight, and among those aged 75 years and over, 3.8% of females and 1.8% of males were underweight (Figure 13.2).

Our overall and sex-specific prevalence estimates of overweight/obesity among patients at general practice encounters (62% of adults, 69% of males and 57% of females) are consistent with the ABS 2007–08 figures from the National Health Survey (based on measured BMI data), which reported that 62% of adults aged 18 and over (68% of men and 55% of females) were overweight or obese.<sup>20</sup>

Readers interested in prevalence of the three WHO-defined levels of obesity will find more information and discussion in Chapter 7 of *General practice in Australia, health priorities and policies* 1998 to 2008.<sup>98</sup>

### Estimation of body mass index for the adult general practice patient population

The BEACH study reports data about patient BMI from a sample of the patients attending general practice. As older people attend a GP more often than young adults, and females attend more often than males, they have a greater chance of being selected in the subsample. This leads to a greater proportion of older and female patients in the sample than in the total population who attend a GP at least once in a year. The 2011–12 BEACH sample was weighted to estimate the BMI of the GP-patient attending population (that is, the 14.8 million adult patients who attended a GP at least once in 2011–12 (personal communication, DoHA, April 2012), using the method described by Knox et al. (2008).<sup>24</sup> This statistical adjustment had little effect on the result.

The estimates for the adult GP-patient attending population (after adjusting for age-sex attendance patterns) suggest that 26.1% of the adult patient population were obese, 34.9% were overweight, 36.9% were normal weight and 2.2% were underweight (Table 13.1).

	Male	(a)	Fema	le <sup>(a)</sup>	Total resp	ondents
BMI class	Per cent in	Per cent	Per cent in	Per cent	Per cent in	Per cent
	BEACH sample	in patient	BEACH sample	in patient	BEACH sample	in patient
	(95% CI)	population	(95% Cl)	population	(95% Cl)	population
	( <i>n</i> = 12,531)	(95% CI) <sup>(b)</sup>	( <i>n</i> = 19,605	(95% CI) <sup>(b)</sup>	( <i>n</i> = 32,372)	(95% CI) <sup>(b)</sup>
Obese	26.4	25.7	26.7	26.4	26.6	26.1
	(25.4–27.4)	(24.6–26.8)	(25.8–27.5)	(25.5–27.3)	(25.8–27.3)	(25.3–26.9)
Overweight	42.5	41.5	30.2	29.3	35.0	34.9
	(41.5–43.5)	(40.4–42.5)	(29.5–30.9)	(28.5–30.0)	(34.4–35.6)	(34.2–35.5)
Normal	29.9	31.5	40.2	41.5	36.2	36.9
	(28.8–30.9)	(30.4–32.7)	(39.3–41.2)	(40.4–42.5)	(35.3–37.0)	(36.0–37.8)
Underweight	1.3	1.3	2.9	2.9	2.3	2.2
	(1.1–1.5)	(1.1–1.5)	(2.6–3.1)	(2.6–3.2)	(2.1–2.4)	(2.0–2.3)



(a) Patient sex was not recorded for 236 respondents.

(b) Estimation of BMI among the total adult general practice patient population (that is, patients aged 18 years and over who attended a GP at least once in 2011–12) (*n* = 14.8 million, source: unpublished Medicare data, personal communication, DoHA, April 2012).

Note: BMI - body mass index; CI - confidence interval.





### Body mass index of children

BMI was calculated for 3,093 patients aged 2–17 years at encounters with 818 GPs.

- Just over one-quarter of children (28.7%, 95% CI: 26.8–30.6) were classed as overweight or obese 11.1% (95% CI: 9.8–12.5) obese and 17.6% (95% CI: 16.2–19.0) overweight (results not tabled).
- There was no difference in the prevalence of overweight/obesity among male (29.6%, 95% CI: 26.9–32.3) and female children (27.9%, 95% CI: 25.5–30.3) (results not tabled).
- The age-specific rates of obesity followed similar patterns for both sexes (Figures 13.3 and 13.4).

Readers interested in further detail and discussion about overweight and obesity in children attending general practice will find more information in Cretikos et al. (2008) *General practice management of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents in Australia.*<sup>99</sup>


Figure 13.3: Age-specific rates of obesity, overweight, normal weight and underweight in sampled male children



Figure 13.4: Age-specific rates of obesity, overweight, normal weight and underweight in sampled female children

### 13.2 Smoking (patients aged 18 years and over)

Tobacco smoking is the leading cause of ill health, drug-related death and hospital separations in Australia.<sup>100</sup> It is a major risk factor for coronary heart disease, stroke, peripheral vascular disease, several cancers, respiratory disorders ad other diseases.<sup>101</sup> It has been identified as the risk factor associated with the greatest disease burden, accounting for 7.8% of the total burden of disease in Australia in 2003,<sup>90</sup> a decrease from 9.7% of total burden in 1996.<sup>91</sup> In 2010, the AIHW cited OECD data that showed Australia's tobacco smoking rates steadily decreased between 1987 and 2006 (from 30.6% to 16.6% of daily smokers aged 15 years and over), with the ranking improving from middle third to best third when compared with other OECD nations.<sup>92</sup> According to the 2010 National Drug Strategy Household Survey (NDSHS), 15.1% of Australians aged 14 years and over smoked daily: 16.4% of males and 13.9% of females.<sup>102</sup>

### Method

GPs were instructed to ask adult patients (18 years and over):

• What best describes your smoking status?

Smoke daily Smoke occasionally Previous smoker Never smoked

### Results

The smoking status of 33,086 adult patients was established at encounters with 984 GPs. Table 13.2 shows that:

- 14.7% of sampled adult patients were daily smokers
- significantly more male (18.0%) than female patients (12.6%) were daily smokers
- only 2.5% of sampled adult patients were occasional smokers
- more than a quarter of sampled adults (27.9%) were previous smokers.

#### Table 13.2: Patient smoking status (aged 18 years and over)

	Male	(a)	Femal	e <sup>(a)</sup>	Total respo	ondents
Smoking status	Per cent in	Per cent in	Per cent in	Per cent in	Per cent in	Per cent in
	BEACH sample	patient	BEACH sample	patient	BEACH sample	patient
	(95% Cl)	population	(95% CI)	population	(95% Cl)	population
	(n = 12,777)	(95% CI) <sup>(b)</sup>	( <i>n</i> = 20,060)	(95% CI) <sup>(b)</sup>	( <i>n</i> = 33,086)	(95% CI) <sup>(b)</sup>
Daily	18.0	21.4	12.6	14.1	14.7	17.4
	(17.1–19.0)	(20.3–22.5)	(11.8–13.3)	(13.3–14.9)	(14.0–15.3)	(16.6–18.2)
Occasional	2.9	3.8	2.2	2.6	2.5	3.2
	(2.6–3.3)	(3.3–4.2)	(2.0–2.4)	(2.3–2.9)	(2.3–2.7)	(2.9–3.5)
Previous	36.3	30.4	22.6	21.7	27.9	25.7
	(35.1–37.4)	(29.3–31.5)	(21.8–23.5)	(20.8–22.5)	(27.2–28.7)	(24.9–26.4)
Never	42.8	44.4	62.6	61.7	54.9	53.8
	(41.6–44.1)	(43.2–45.7)	(61.6–63.7)	(60.6–62.8)	(53.9–55.8)	(52.8–54.8)

(a) Patient sex was not recorded for 249 respondents.

(b) Estimation of smoking status among the total adult general practice patient population (that is, patients aged 18 years and over who attended a GP at least once in 2011–12) (*n* = 14.8 million, source: unpublished Medicare data, personal communication, DoHA, April 2012).

Note: CI - confidence interval.

Daily smoking was least prevalent in older adults aged 65–74 and 75 or more (8.9% and 4.1% respectively) and most prevalent among adult patients aged 25–44 years (21.2%) (results not tabled). Over half (54%) of the male and 25% of the female patients aged 75 years and over were previous smokers, but only 5.7% of males and 3.1% of females in this age group were daily smokers (Figures 13.5 and 13.6).





### Estimation of smoking in the adult general practice patient population

The BEACH study reports data about patient smoking habits from a sample of patients attending general practice. As older people attend a GP more often than young adults, and females attend more often than males, they have a greater chance of being selected in the subsample. This leads to a greater proportion of older and female patients in the subsample than in the total population who attend a GP at least once in a year. We weighted the 2011–12 BEACH smoking substudy to estimate smoking status of the GP-patient attending population (that is, the 14.8 million adult patients who attended a GP at least once in 2011–12 [personal communication, DoHA, April 2012]), using the method described by Knox et al. (2008).<sup>24</sup>

After adjusting for age-sex attendance patterns we estimated that 17.4% of the patient population were daily smokers, 3.2% were occasional smokers, 25.7% were previous smokers and 53.8% had never smoked. Male patients in the total general practice population were significantly more likely to be daily (21.4%), occasional (3.8%) and previous smokers (30.4%) than females patients (13.1%, 2.6% and 21.7%, respectively) (Table 13.2).

# 13.3 Alcohol consumption (patients aged 18 years and over)

In people aged 65 years and over, low to moderate consumption of alcohol has been found to have a preventive effect against selected causes of morbidity<sup>103</sup> (in particular ischaemic heart disease).<sup>104</sup> In a review of the evidence, the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) concluded that in young women there was no evidence of any cardiovascular mortality benefit from alcohol consumption, and in young men any benefit was outweighed by other alcohol-related causes of death.<sup>104</sup> In 2003, alcohol consumption accounted for 3.3% of the total burden of disease in Australia; however, after taking into account the benefit derived from low to moderate alcohol consumption, this fell to 2.3%.<sup>90</sup>

The 2007–08 NHS classified alcohol use of those aged 15 years or more based on the estimated average daily consumption of alcohol during the previous week. They found that 12.6% drank at levels considered to be risky (14.4% of males and 10.8% of females).<sup>20</sup>

The 2010 National Drug Strategy Household Survey (NDSHS) found that 20.1% of people aged 14 years and over (29.0% of males and 11.3% of females) drank at levels considered to put them at risk of harm from alcohol-related disease or injury over their lifetime. The NDSHS also found that 28.4% of people aged 14 years or older (38.2% of males and 18.9% of females) drank, at least once in the previous month, in a pattern that placed them at risk of an alcohol-related injury from a single drinking occasion.<sup>102</sup> These alcohol consumption risk levels were based on the NHMRC 2009 guidelines.<sup>105</sup>

For consistency over time, this report uses the definitions of alcohol-related risk developed by WHO (see 'Method' below).<sup>106</sup> This differs from the definition in the NHMRC guidelines.

### Method

To measure alcohol consumption, BEACH uses AUDIT-C<sup>107</sup> which is the first three items from the WHO Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT),<sup>106</sup> with scoring for an Australian setting.<sup>108</sup> The AUDIT-C has demonstrated validity and internal consistency and performs as well as the full AUDIT tool.<sup>109</sup> The three AUDIT-C tool is practical and valid in a primary care setting to assess 'at-risk' alcohol consumption (heavy drinking and/or active alcohol dependence).<sup>107</sup> The scores for each question range from zero to four. A total (sum of all three questions) score of five or more for males or four or more for females suggests that the person's drinking level is placing him or her at risk.<sup>108</sup>

GPs were instructed to ask adult patients (18 years and over):

• How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? N

Never Monthly or less Once a week/fortnight 2–3 times a week 4 times a week or more

- How many standard drinks do you have on a typical day when you are drinking?
- How often do you have six or more standard drinks on one occasion?

Never Less than monthly Monthly Weekly Daily or almost daily

A standard drinks chart was provided to each GP to help the patient identify the number of standard drinks consumed.

### Results

Patient self-reported alcohol consumption was recorded at 32,257 adult patient (18 years and over) encounters with 984 GPs.

- About one-quarter of sampled adults reported drinking alcohol at at-risk levels (24.5%) (Table 13.3).
- At-risk drinking was more prevalent among male (29.3%) than female patients (21.5%) (Table 13.3).
- At-risk drinking was most prevalent in those aged 18–24 years, particularly among men. In this age group almost half the males and one in three females reported at-risk alcohol consumption (Figure 13.7).
- The proportion of patients who were at-risk drinkers decreased with age for both males and females (Figure 13.7).

These estimates are not comparable with the 2007–08 NHS<sup>20</sup> or the 2010 NDSHS<sup>102</sup> as they all use different concepts for defining alcohol consumption and risk, and different adult populations (patients aged 18 years or more for BEACH, persons aged 15 years or more for the NHS, and persons aged 14 years or more for the NDSHS).

Readers interested in the relationship between morbidity managed and alcohol consumption will find more information in Proude et al. (2006) *The relationship between self-reported alcohol intake and the morbidities managed by GPs in Australia*.<sup>110</sup>

	Mal	e	Fema	ale	Total resp	ondents
Alcohol consumption	Per cent in BEACH sample (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 12,572)	Per cent in patient population (95% CI) <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent in BEACH sample (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 19,685)	Per cent in patient population (95% CI) <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent in BEACH sample (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 32,257)	Per cent in patient population (95% CI) <sup>(a)</sup>
At-risk drinker	29.3	33.3	21.5	23.2	24.5	27.9
	(28.1–30.5)	(32.0–34.7)	(20.6–22.5)	(22.2–24.2)	(23.7–25.4)	(26.9–28.9)
Responsible drinker	46.7	44.3	41.8	42.6	43.7	43.4
	(45.5–48.0)	(43.1–45.6)	(40.8–42.8)	(41.5–43.6)	(42.9–44.6)	(42.5–44.3)
Non-drinker	24.0	22.3	36.7	34.2	31.7	28.7
	(22.8–25.2)	(21.1–23.6)	(35.3–38.0)	(32.9–35.6)	(30.6–32.8)	(27.6–29.9)

Table 13.3: Patient alcohol consumption (aged 18 years and over)

(a) Estimation of alcohol consumption among the total adult general practice patient population (that is, patients aged 18 years and over who attended a GP at least once in 2011–12) (n = 14.8 million, Source: personal communication, DoHA, April 2012).

Note: CI - confidence interval.



### Estimation of alcohol consumption levels in the adult general practice patient population

The BEACH study reports data about patient alcohol consumption from a sample of the patients attending general practice. As older people attend a GP more often than young adults, and females attend more often than males, they have a greater chance of being selected in the subsample. This leads to a greater proportion of older and female patients in the sample than in the total population who attend a GP at least once in a year.

We weighted the 2011–12 BEACH sample to estimate alcohol consumption levels among the GP-patient attending population (that is, the 14.8 million adult patients who attended a GP at least once in 2011–12 [personal communication, DoHA, April 2012]), using the method described by Knox et al. (2008).<sup>24</sup> After adjusting for age-sex attendance patterns we estimated that 27.9% of the patient population were at-risk drinkers, 43.4% were responsible drinkers and 28.7% were non-drinkers. Males in the general practice population were significantly more likely to be at-risk drinkers (33.3%) than females (23.2%) (Table 13.3).

### 13.4 Risk factor profile of adult patients

All patient risk factor questions (BMI, smoking and alcohol consumption) were asked of the same subsample of patients. This allows us to build a risk profile of this sample. For the purposes of this analysis, being overweight or obese, a daily smoker or an at-risk drinker were considered risk factors. A risk factor profile was prepared for the 31,401 adult patients for whom data were available in all three elements, with 981 GPs. (Table 13.4).

- About half (52.1%) the sampled adult respondents had one risk factor. The most common was overweight (23.4% of adults) followed by obesity (18.3%).
- Almost one in five patients (18.9%) had two risk factors, the most common combinations being:
  - overweight and at-risk alcohol consumption 6.8% of patients
  - obesity and at-risk alcohol consumption 4.5% of patients
  - daily smoking and at-risk alcohol consumption 2.7% of patients.
- A small group of patients (3.6%) had all three risk factors.

Table 13.5 shows the number of risk factors by patient sex.

- Females were significantly more likely to have no risk factors (29.5%) than males (18.9%).
- Females were significantly less likely to have two or three risk factors (15.5% and 2.5% respectively) than males (24.3% and 5.4%).

### Estimation of the risk profile of the adult general practice patient population

The 2011–12 BEACH sample was weighted to estimate the risk profile of the GP-patient attending population (that is, the 14.8 million adult patients who attended a GP at least once in 2011–12 (personal communication, DoHA, April 2012), using the method described by Knox et al. (2008).<sup>24</sup>

After adjusting for age-sex attendance patterns we estimated that:

- one-quarter of patients had no risk factors (24.1%)
- half of the adult patients had one risk factor (50.2%), the most common being overweight (21.7% of adults) followed by obesity (16.9%)
- one in five patients had two risk factors (21.2%), the most common combinations being overweight and at-risk alcohol consumption (7.5%), followed by obesity and at-risk alcohol consumption (4.8%)
- 4.5% of patients who attend general practice had three risk factors (Table 13.4)
- significantly more female than male patients had no risk factors (29.3% and 17.9% respectively). Male patients were also more likely to have one, two and three risk factors (48.8%, 26.7% and 6.5%) than females (51.4%, 16.4% and 2.8%) (Table 13.5).

Number of risk factors	Number	Per cent in BEACH sample (n = 31,401)	95% LCL	95% UCL	Per cent in patient population <sup>(a)</sup>	95% LCL	95% UCL
No risk factors	7,967	25.4	24.6	26.2	24.1	23.3	24.9
One risk factor	16,365	52.1	51.4	52.8	50.2	49.5	50.9
Overweight only	7,360	23.4	22.8	24.1	21.7	21.0	22.3
Obese only	5,733	18.3	17.7	18.9	16.9	16.2	17.5
At-risk alcohol level only	2,225	7.1	6.6	7.5	7.8	7.3	8.3
Current daily smoker only	1,047	3.3	3.1	3.6	3.9	3.6	4.2
Two risk factors	5,936	18.9	18.3	19.5	21.2	20.5	21.9
Overweight and at-risk alcohol level	2,136	6.8	6.4	7.2	7.5	7.1	7.9
Obese and at-risk alcohol level	1,405	4.5	4.2	4.8	4.8	4.5	5.1
Daily smoker and at-risk alcohol level	839	2.7	2.5	2.9	3.3	3.1	3.6
Overweight and current daily smoker	811	2.6	2.4	2.8	2.9	2.7	3.2
Obese and current daily smoker	745	2.4	2.2	2.6	2.6	2.4	2.9
Three risk factors	1,133	3.6	3.3	3.9	4.5	4.2	4.9
Overweight and current daily smoker and at-risk alcohol level	697	2.2	2.0	2.4	2.9	2.6	3.1
Obese and current daily smoker and at-risk alcohol level	436	1.4	1.2	1.5	1.7	1.5	1.9

(a) Estimation of risk factor profile among the total adult general practice patient population (that is, patients aged 18 years and over who attended a GP at least once in 2011–12) (*n* = 14.8 million).

Note: LCL - lower confidence limit; UCL - upper confidence limit.

#### Table 13.5: Number of risk factors, by patient sex

	Male	e	Fema	le
- Number of risk factors	Per cent in BEACH sample (95% Cl) ( <i>n</i> = 12,252)	Per cent in patient population (95% Cl) <sup>(a)</sup>	Per cent in BEACH sample (95% CI) ( <i>n</i> = 19,149)	Per cent in patient population (95% Cl) <sup>(a)</sup>
No risk factors	18.9	17.9	29.5	29.3
	(18.0–19.8)	(17.0–18.9)	(28.6–30.5)	(28.3–30.3)
One risk factor	51.5	48.8	52.5	51.4
	(50.4–52.5)	(47.7–49.9)	(51.7–53.4)	(50.5–52.3)
Two risk factors	24.3	26.7	15.5	16.4
	(23.3–25.2)	(25.7–27.8)	(14.8–16.1)	(15.7–17.1)
Three risk factors	5.4	6.5	2.5	2.8
	(4.9–5.8)	(5.9–7.1)	(2.2–2.8)	(2.5–3.1)

(a) Estimation of risk factor profile among the total adult general practice patient population (that is, patients aged 18 years and over who attended a GP at least once in 2011–12) (*n* = 14.8 million, source: personal communication, DoHA, April 2012).

Note: CI - confidence interval.

## 13.5 Changes in patient risk factors over the decade 2002–03 to 2011–12

To investigate changes over time in these patient risk factors, results are reported from the BEACH sample data for each year from 2002–03 to 2011–12 in the companion report *A decade of Australian general practice activity* 2002–03 to 2011–12.<sup>1</sup>

The major changes between 2002–03 and 2011–12 are summarised below.

- The prevalence of obesity in adults attending general practice increased significantly, from 20.9% to 26.6%, an increase apparent in both male and female patients. In parallel the prevalence of normal weight and underweight in adults attending general practice decreased significantly, from 42.4% and 2.9% to 36.2% and 2.3%.
- The prevalence of overweight and obesity in children aged 2–17 years remained stable, with about 11–12% of children being obese and about 18% overweight.
- Prevalence of daily and occasional smoking decreased significantly in adults aged 18 years and over, from 17.2% and 4.1%, respectively, to 14.7% and 2.5%.
- The prevalence of at-risk alcohol consumption among adults aged 18 years and over attending general practice remained stable at about 25–26%.
- The number of adults aged 18 years and over with one risk factor (overweight/obesity, at-risk drinking, daily smoker) increased significantly from 48.1% to 52.1% and the number with zero risk factors decreased significantly from 28.6% to 25.4% between 2002–03 and 2011–12.

### 14 SAND abstracts and research tools

Since BEACH began in April 1998, a section on the bottom of each encounter form has been used to investigate aspects of patient health or healthcare delivery not covered by general practice consultation-based information. These additional substudies are referred to as SAND (Supplementary Analysis of Nominated Data). The SAND methods are described in Section 2.6. All substudies were approved by the Human Ethics Committee of the University of Sydney).

The Family Medicine Research Centre (FMRC) and most of the organisations supporting the BEACH program select topics for investigation in the SAND studies. In each BEACH year, up to 20 substudies can be conducted in addition to the study of patient risk behaviours (see Chapter 13). Topics can be repeated to increase the size of the sample and its statistical power.

This chapter includes the abstracts and research tools for SAND substudies conducted from April 2011 to March 2012. The subjects covered in the abstracts in this chapter are listed in Table 14.1, with the sample size for each topic.

Abstract number	Subject	Number of respondents	Number of GPs
180	Polypharmacy and adverse drug events in general practice patients aged 50 years and over	4,468	293
181	Influenza and pneumococcal infection risk and vaccination status among adult general practice patients	2,437	99
182	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in general practice patients (2)	2,869	100
183	Cardiovascular disease, risk factors, antiplatelet use and gastrointestinal side effects among general practice patients	2,743	92
184	CKD and dyslipidaemia among general practice patients	5,674	192
185	Diabetes management and self-monitoring in general practice patients	5,730	194
186	Hepatitis B and travel vaccinations	2,826	95
187	General practice patient behaviour in seeking help for depression	2,971	101
188	Acute coronary syndrome among general practice patients	2,957	100
189	Menopause symptoms among female general practice patients aged 40-69 years	673	100
190	Benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) and symptoms among male general practice patients aged 40 years or older	708	93
191	NSAID use, gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risk in general practice patients with arthritis	5,429	186
192	Influenza risk, vaccination and diagnosis among general practice patients	2,737	93
193	Diabetes, macular oedema and dyslipidaemia among general practice patients	2,825	97
194	Adult general practice patients' cardiovascular risk and lipid medication use	2,531	100

### SAND abstract number 180: Polypharmacy and adverse drug events in general practice patients aged 50 years and over

#### Organisation conducting this study: Family Medicine Research Centre

**I ssues:** Proportion of general practice patients aged 50 years or older on regular medication and the type and number of medications. Proportion of patients with an adverse drug event (ADE) in the preceding six months, type of medication causing the adverse event and the severity of the event.

**Sample:** 4,468 patients aged 50 yrs or more from 293 GPs; data collection period: 22/02/2011 – 28/03/2011 and 29/11/2011 – 20/02/2012.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>. Drugs were classified using the WHO Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification.

#### Summary of results

The sex distribution or patients in this sample did not differ from that of patients aged 50 years or older at all BEACH encounters 2010–11.

The number of regular medications recorded for each patient aged 50 years and over varied from none in 12.9%, one in 12.6%, five in 9.7% to ten or more in 8.9%, for an average number of medications of 4.4. There was no difference in the average number of medications per patient between male and female patients. The average number of medications per patient increased from 2.3 among those aged 50–54 years to 6.0 in patients aged 75 years and older.

Of 17,878 medications for which details were recorded 32.2% were cardiovascular drugs and alimentary tract and metabolism medications made up 17.9% at ATC level 1. At ATC Level 4, statins were the most common (7.7%), followed by proton pump inhibitors (6.3%).

Of 3,994 respondents to the ADE question, 449 (11.2%, 95% CI: 9.8–12.7) reported an ADE in the preceding six months. In the patients who recorded an ADE there was no difference in sex, location or Health Care Card status. Patients 75 years and older were more likely to have had ADEs (13.9%, 95% CI: 11.5–16.3) than those of 55–64 years (8.7%, 95% CI: 6.9–10.4). Likelihood of adverse events increased in a linear fashion with total number of medications taken, from 6.2% of those taking 1–2, to 23.8% of those taking 10 or more medications.

For 449 ADE patients, GPs implicated a medication in 435; one medication was listed for 384 (88.3%), and 44 (10.1%) listed two, a total of 493 implicated medications. Cardiovascular and nervous system drugs each accounted for about one-third of ADEs. There were significant differences between prescribing rates and rates of ADEs for some drug groups. At ATC level 1, nervous system drugs accounted for 17.3% of all medications but 29.0% of medications implicated in the most recent ADE. At ATC level 2, analgesics accounted for 7.5% of all medications and 13.2% of implicated medications; lipid modifying agents accounted for 9.2% of medications but only 6.5% of implicated medications. At the more specific ATC level 3, opioids accounted for 2.6% of all medications listed and 11.8% of implicated medications.

Of the 449 ADE respondents, 443 reported on severity of the event. Of these, 47.4% had a mild event, 41.5% had a moderate event and 11.1% a severe adverse drug event.

PLEASE READ CAREFUL The shaded section of the following the PHARMACOLOGICAL EVENTS You may tear out this page as a g	LY forms investigates THE ASSO IN OLDER GENERAL PRAC puide to completing the follow	OCIATION BETWEEN PC CTICE PATIENTS. ving section of forms.	JLYPHARM⊿	CY AND ADVERSE	
INSTRUCTIONS				Severity of the event	
For the <b>next 30 PATIENTS</b> , ask all who are <u>a</u> following questions. If the patient is aged less the questions blank.	<b>Iged 50 years and over</b> the than 50 years please leave the	ASK THE PATIENT Adverse medication ever		Please indicate the <b>severity</b> terms of harm to the patient	<b>of the event</b> in (in your clinical
Please DO NOT select patients to suit the to	opic being investigated.	Please ask the patient if they experienced an adverse ev	have ent from the	Mild - a reaction of limited d	uration not
		use of any medication in the months.	e past six	requiring turtner treatment; r on daily activities.	minimum impact
		An adverse event is an uninte which could have harmed or the patient. 'Harm' includes p	ended event did harm hysical,	Moderate - a reaction of Ion which requires further treatm activities.	ger duration or nent; limits daily
Routine medication use		psychological or emotional su	ffering.	Severe - a reaction of any d	uration which
This question refers to any prescribed or doctor-advised medications		If no adverse events were exendent the questions here.	perienced,	results in hospitilisation and/ limitation of daily activities.	or long term
routinely taken by patients aged 50 vears and older.					
For example, if the patient is currently	Medications routinely taker		20	ledication involved in the vent	
injections, uses a bronchodilator when required, or a daily statin, you should answer 'ves'.	doctor-advised medications r taken by the patient (other than prescribed or advised today)	routinely those	<b>0                                    </b>	lease list the drug (or drugs in e case of interactions) that you uspect were the cause of the	
You <b>do not</b> need to <b>duplicate</b> the medications you have <b>recorded at today's consultation</b> .	List up to 8 medications. If there than 8, please indicate how mar writing a number in the space pr	e are more ny more by vrovided.		iost recent adverse event. he drug(s) may be listed using e generic or brand name.	
	$\rightarrow$		] 	<b>&gt;</b>	→ 1
For patients aged 50+ years: If 'yes', please	e name these medications: 5.	In the has th	oast six months s patient	Please list the drug(s) you suspect caused the most	Was the event -
any routine medications	6.	experi	erced an adverse n response to use	recent event:	
prescribed or advised today?	7.	of mec	ication:		□ Moderate
□ Yes 3		D Yes			□ Severe
□ No BL130C 4		how many more?	>End questions		□ Don't know

### SAND abstract number 181: Influenza and pneumococcal infection risk and vaccination status among adult general practice patients

### Organisation collaborating for this study: CSL Biotherapies Pty Ltd

**Issues:** The proportion of adult general practice patients who had: risk factors for influenza or pneumococcal infection; discussed influenza or pneumococcal vaccination with a health professional, and who initiated the discussion(s). Influenza and pneumococcal vaccination status, source of vaccine supply, and reason(s) for not vaccinating unvaccinated patients.

**Sample:** 2,437 adult patients (aged 18 years and over) from 99 GPs; data collection period: 29/03/2011 – 02/05/2011.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>. Drugs were classified using the WHO Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification.

**M ethods for this study:** Risk factors for influenza and pneumococcal infection were adapted from those in the Australian Immunisation Handbook (9th Edition, 2008, National Health and Medical Research Council) and were supplied to participating GPs on a card.

### Summary of results

The age and sex distributions of patients in this SAND sample did not differ significantly from all patients at 2010–11 BEACH encounters.

Prevalence of at least one risk factor for influenza and/or pneumococcal infection was 53.0% (95% CI: 48.3–57.7) adult patients. Most risk factors were common to both influenza and pneumococcal, and the most common were: age 65 years and over (33.2%), chronic heart disease (8.9%), diabetes (8.5%), chronic lung disease (8.3%) and other chronic diseases (6.8%).

**Influenza vaccination:** Of 2,340 adult respondents, 1,269 (54.2%) had discussed influenza vaccination with a health care professional in the previous 12 months. Of the 1,266 respondents with at least one risk factor for influenza, 79.7% had discussed vaccination in the past year, and most were GP-initiated (79.2% of 1,260 respondents). Of 2,363 patients for whom vaccination status was given, 1,082 (45.8%) were vaccinated, 1,124 (47.6%) were not, and status was not known for 157 patients. Of 1,061 vaccinated respondents, 80.5% were supplied the vaccine free of charge (i.e. government supplied), for 3.4% the vaccine was PBS subsidised, and for 16.1% it was fully privately funded. There were 1,093 reasons for not being vaccinated given by 1,087 unvaccinated patients: 55.5% of patients were considered 'not at risk', and 14.5% gave 'patient objection' as the reason.

**Pneumococcal vaccination:** Of 2,265 adult respondents, 798 (35.2%) had discussed pneumococcal vaccination with a health care professional in the previous 5 years. Of the 1,149 respondents with at least one risk factor for pneumococcal infection, 64.8% had discussed vaccination in the previous 5 years. GPs initiated the discussion in most cases (85.5% of 764 respondents). Of 2,193 patients with recorded vaccination status, 687 (31.3%) were vaccinated, 1,303 (59.4%) were not, and status was not known for 203 patients. Of 650 vaccinated respondents, 94.5% were supplied the vaccine free of charge (i.e. government supplied), for 3.2% the vaccine was PBS subsidised, and for 2.3% it was fully privately funded. There were 1,202 reasons for not being vaccinated given by 1,198 unvaccinated patients: 66.5% of patients were considered 'not at risk', and 122 (10.2%) gave 'patient objection' as the reason.

### Risk factors for influenza and pneumococcal infection

This card lists the risk factors and indications for influenza and/or pneumococcal vaccination.

Please <u>circle the numbers</u> on the recording form to indicate whether this patient has any of the listed risk factors or indications.

- 1. ≥65 years of age
- 2. ≥50 years of age and Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander
- 3. Childhood immunisation schedule
- 4. Chronic heart disease
- 5. Chronic lung disease (including emphysema, severe asthma)
- 6. Diabetes
- 7. Other chronic disease(s) e.g. chronic renal failure
- 8. Immune deficiency (e.g. HIV, malignancy)
- 9. Tobacco smoker
- 10. Pregnancy
- 11. Residents of nursing home or other long-term facilities
- 12. People in contact with high risk patients (e.g. staff of nursing homes)
- 13. Cerebrospinal fluid leak
- 14. Asplenia (functional or anatomical)
- 15. Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 15-49 years with conditions placing them at increased risk of pneumococcal infection

Source: adapted from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Australian Immunisation Handbook 9th Edition 2008

<b>PLEASE READ CAREFULLY</b>								
The shaded section of the following forms ask	is questions a	bout INFLUENZA A	ND PNE	JMOCOC	CAL VACCI	NATION.		
You may tear out this page as a guide to c	completing i	he tollowing section	of torms.					
INSTRUCTIONS								
Please answer the following questions for <b>ALL</b> of the <b>nex</b>	rt 30	Influenza and pneum	ococcal					
PATIENTS in the order in which the patients are s	een.	vaccination						
Please DO NOT select patients to suit the topic being i	investigated.	Please indicate whether,	prior to tod	ay`s				
		visit, vaccination has be	en <b>discus</b> :	sed				
Risk factors for influenza and pneumococcal infe	ction	with the patient for:	12 months		tuoited	te who M/E	DE vaccinatod	
Please circle the numbers to indicate whether this patien	t has	and/or						
any of the listed risk factors or indications for influenza and	d/or	2. pneumococcal in the	past 5 yea	ľS.	For path	ents who <b>re</b> c za and/or nr	eived an eimococcal	
		This question refers to d	iscussion w	ith	vaccina	tion please	indicate for each	
1.≥65 years of age 9. Tobacco smoker		a health professional ir	respective (	of	vaccine	whether it w	as/were supplied	
2.≥50 years of age and ATSI 10. Pregnancy		whether the vaccination	was given.		free of (	charge to th	e patient (i.e.	
(Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 11. Residents of nursir	ng home or			]	under th	e Governme	ent's Immunise	
Islander) other long-term fac	silities				Australi	a Program),	subsidised by	
3. Childhood immunisation 12. People in contact v	vith high		[		PBS or	fully private	ly paid (e.g by	
scnedule risk patients (e.g. s	taff of	Initiation of discus	sion		the pati	ient, employ	er).	
4.Chronic heart disease nursing homes)								
5. Chronic lung disease (e.g. 13. Cerebrospinal fluid	leak	Varrination influenza						
emphysema, severe asthma) 14. Asplenia (functiona	al or						Patients who	vere
6. Diabetes anatomical)		(Pneum), please inid	cate	accination	status		NOT vaccinate	þ
7. Other chronic disease(s) e.g. 15. ATSI 15-49 years v	with	who initiated the		lease use th	e tick boxes to		For patients who	did not
chronic renal failure conditions placing	them	discussion.	.=	idicate wheth	ner the patient		receive the influ	enza
8. Immune deficiency (e.g. HIV, at increased risk of			<u></u>	s currently v	accinated		and/or pneumo	coccal
malignancy) pneumococcal infe	ction		<u> </u>	or influenza	(i.e. within		vaccination plea	ase
The risk factors/indications listed above are also on a ca	ard in vour			he past 12 m	onths) and/or		indicate the reas	ions that
research pack.			<b>-</b> -	neumococc ne past 5 yea	al (I.e. wimin irs),		not given.	Vasiwere
				_				
→	$\rightarrow$	<b>→</b>		$\rightarrow$		$\rightarrow$	<b>→</b>	
Please <u>circle number(s)</u> to indicate whether Prior to toda the patient has indications or risk factors veccination t	y's visit, has oeen	If 'yes' who initiated the	Is the patie	nt currently	If patient IS VAC how was the vac	CINATED, scine(s)	If patient IS <u>NOT</u> VAC	CINATED, Influ Pneum
for influenza or pneumococcal infection: discussed w	ith the	uiscussion(s/: Influ Pneum			supplied?	Influ Dooum	Patient not at risk	
See key list 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, patient for:		GP []		un r	Free to patient		Patient objection	
on card, inimia as 6 7 8 9 10 1. Influenza ir	nthe DYes	Patient 🗆 🗆	I C	ם ב ה ר	fi.e. Govt supplied	<u></u> ر ۱	Cost to patient	
many as the second seco	ns? □N₀	Other health	0N	]	PBS subsidised		Patient does not agree	
apply 11. 12. 13. 14. 15. 2. Pneumocou	ccal in 🗆 Y <sub>es</sub>	professional [	Don't		Fully privately		with risk assessment	]
BL131B Done of the above ure past o yea			NIUW		funded		Other reason	

## SAND abstract number 182: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in general practice patients (2)

### Organisation collaborating for this study: Novartis Pharmaceuticals Australia Pty Ltd

**Issues:** Prevalence of diagnosed chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) with or without asthma among patients attending general practice; severity of COPD; factors (listed with tick boxes) contributing to diagnosis of COPD; proportion with asthma diagnosed before COPD; medications taken for management of COPD/COPD with asthma; proportion who had medication changes at the current encounter, and the reasons for these changes.

Sample: 2,869 patients from 100 GPs; data collection period: 29/03/2011 – 2/05/2011.

Method: Detailed in the paper titled SAND Method 2011-12 available at:

<sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>. Drugs were classified using the WHO Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification.

**Methods for this study:** GOLD COPD guidelines were used to categorise severity of COPD <www.goldcopd.com/>.

### Summary of results

The age and sex distributions of the sampled patients did not significantly differ from those of patients at all BEACH encounters in 2009–10.

Of the 2,869 respondents, 244 patients (8.5%, 95% CI: 6.9–10.1) currently had diagnosed asthma without COPD, 89 (3.1%, 95% CI: 2.3–4.0) had COPD without asthma, 63 (2.2%, 95% CI: 1.5–2.9) had both COPD and asthma, and 2,473 (86.2%, 95% CI: 84.4–88.0) had neither. The highest prevalence of COPD (with or without asthma) was among patients aged 75+ years. There was no significant difference in the prevalence of COPD between males and females.

Of the 152 patients with COPD, severity was reported for 146: 43.2% had mild COPD; 34.9% had moderate COPD; 16.4% had severe COPD; and 5.5% had very severe COPD.

Factors contributing to the diagnosis were reported for 150 patients with COPD (98.7%). Some were health states/risk factors, and some were diagnostic factors. Each section of this question had a different number of respondents: among 126 patients, 'clinical history/symptoms' was selected as a contributing factor for 125 (99.2%); among 71 patients, 'non-response to bronchodilator' was selected for 30 (42.3%); among 123 patients, 'smoking history' was nominated for 115 (93.5%); among 52 patients, 'environmental irritants' was selected for 13 (25.0%); among 105 patients, spirometry testing was nominated for 93 (88.6%); and among 99 patients, chest x-ray was selected for 82 (82.8%).

Of the 63 patients with both COPD and asthma, 41 of 57 respondents (71.9%) had been diagnosed with asthma before being diagnosed with COPD.

Medication use questions were answered by 142 of the 152 patients with COPD, and 114 of these (80.3%) were taking at least one. These 114 patients reported a total of 221 medications, the most common being tiotropium (31.2% of 221 medications) and salbutamol (28.5%). For seven patients (6.2% of 113 respondents) medication was changed at the current encounter. For three patients, lack of efficacy was the reason for the change, and one patient had medication changed due to progression of disease.

### Severity of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) reference card

Severity	Measure	Symptoms
Mild	FEV₁/FVC < 0.7	Characterised by mild airflow limitation.
	FEV₁≥80% predicted	Symptoms of chronic cough and sputum production may be present.
Moderate	FEV₁/FVC < 0.7	Characterised by worsening airflow limitation.
	FEV₁≥50 and <80% predicted	Shortness of breath typically developing on exertion, chronic cough and sputum production may also be present.
Severe	FEV₁/FVC < 0.7	Characterised by further worsening of airflow limitation.
	FEV₁≥30 and <50% predicted	Greater shortness of breath, reduced exercise capacity, fatigue, and repeated exacerbations that almost always have an impact on patients' quality of life.
Very severe	FEV₁/FVC < 0.7	Characterised by severe airflow limitation.
	FEV <sub>1</sub> <30% predicted <i>or</i> FEV <sub>1</sub> <50% predicted plus chronic respiratory failure <sup>(a)</sup>	Quality of life is very appreciably impaired and exacerbations may be life threatening.

(a) Respiratory failure is defined as arterial pressure of oxygen (Pa<sub>02</sub>) <8.0 kPa (60 mm Hg) with or without arterial partial pressure of CO<sub>2</sub> (Pa<sub>CO2</sub>)>6.7 kPa (50 mm Hg) while breathing at sea level.

Note: FEV<sub>1</sub> – post bronchodilator forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC – forced vital capacity (maximal inspiration); FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC – ratio of forced expiratory volume to forced vital capacity.

Source: Rabe KF, Hurd S, Anzueto A, Barnes PJ, Buist SA, Calverley P et al. 2007. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: GOLD executive summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176(6):532–555

# SAND abstract number 183: Cardiovascular disease, risk factors, antiplatelet use and gastrointestinal side effects among general practice patients

Organisation collaborating for this study: AstraZeneca Pty Limited

**Issues:** Among patients attending general practice: prevalence of listed cardiovascular disease (CVD) or CVD risk factors (as listed in results); proportion taking antiplatelet medication (APM); type, dose and duration of APM; and prevalence and management of gastrointestinal side effects (GI SEs) (present or at risk) due to APM.

Sample: 2,743 patients from 92 GPs; data collection period: 03/05/2011 - 06/06/2011.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>. Drugs were classified using the WHO Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification.

### Summary of results

Responses to either or both the CVD and APM questions were given for 2,743 patients; (2,693 answered both, 30 the CVD question alone and 20 the APM question alone). When these respondents were compared with patients at all BEACH encounters in 2010–11, the sex distribution did not differ, but minor differences in age distribution were noted, with more 1–4 and 25–44 year-olds and fewer 75 years and over.

Among 2,723 respondents, prevalence of at least one CVD/risk factor was 59.8% (95% CI: 55.9–63.6): 9.5% had diabetes; 26.4% hypertension; 18.7% high total cholesterol; 4.4% familial dyslipidaemia; 8.3% were current smokers; 2.4% had moderate or severe CKD; 9.0% existing CVD; 15.1% had a family history of CVD; 38.2% were aged 45–74 years; and 1.4% were Aboriginal or Torres Strait Island persons aged 35 years or more.

Of 2,713 respondents, 12.1% were currently taking APM, 81.7% of these for more than one year. The proportion taking APM rose significantly with age: 12.4% of 45–64 year olds, 30.2% of 65–74 year-olds, and 47.2% of those 75 years or more.

Of 2,712 respondents to the APM questions, 10.0% were taking aspirin, 1.8% clopidogrel, nine (0.3%) aspirin/dipyridamole, eight (0.3%) aspirin/clopidogrel, and one other; (total 339 medications). This equates to 10.6% taking aspirin (including combinations) and 2.1% clopidogrel (including combinations), with 21 patients in both groups.

Of 1,607 respondents with at least one CV condition/risk factor, 20.2% were taking APM, 81.8% of these for more than one year; 17.7% were taking aspirin (including combinations) and 3.6% taking clopidogrel (including combinations), including 21 patients taking both.

Of 318 respondents on APM, 65 (20.4%) had had GI SEs, and a further 113 (37.5%) of 301 of these responding were at risk of GI SEs. All of the 65 with GI SEs were being managed for these: 90.8% with medication, 38.5% being monitored and 15.4% having investigations/tests. Of 58 detailed medication responses, 98.3% were using a proton pump inhibitor: 34.5% esomeprazole and 27.6% pantoprazole.

You may tear out this page as a c	norms asks questions a juide to completing	about ANIIPLAIELEI MEUN the following section of forms	ICATIONS AND GAST	COINTESTINAL SIDE EFFECTS.
INSTRUCTIONS Ask ALL of the <u>next 30 PATIENTS</u> the foll in which the patients are seen.	owing questions in the ord			Gastrointestinal risk and side effects
Please <u>DO NOT</u> select patients to suit the	topic being investigated.	Antiplatelet medication	-	Please use the tick boxes to indicate how gastrointestinal (GI) risks and side effects associated with
Cardiovascular risk factors and disease		In the space provided please and <b>form</b> of the <b>antiplatelet</b> and the regimen (i.e. <b>streng</b> <b>frequency</b> ) of the medicatio	e write the <b>name</b> t <b>medication,</b> <b>yth, dose and</b> on(s) the patient is	antiplatelet medication use are managed in this patient. Please tick all that apply
Please use the tick boxes to indicate whether this patient has any of the listed <b>risk factors</b> for cardiovascular disease and/or <b>established cardiovascular</b>		currently taking. Please include any aspirin o medications if taken for antip	combination platelet purposes.	If the patient uses a <b>medication</b> to manage these risks/side effects please specify the medication <b>name</b> in the space provided.
disease. Note: CKD=Chronic kidney disease, Hx=history.				
Antiplatelet	medication use			
Please ask th antiplatelet n	e patient whether they cur nedication (e.g. aspirin,	rently take G	iastrointestinal (GI) side ffects	
If 'yes' please used antiplate Note: these q	indicate the <b>duration</b> that elet medications. uestions relate to antiplate	It the patient has	lease use the tick boxes to dvise whether this patient has	
use. They do medications ( If ' <b>No</b> ', please	not refer to other anticoag e.g. warfarin). end questions here for th	ulant du at at at ar	xperienced any of side enect ue to antiplatelet use, OR is t risk of GI side effects due to ntiplatelet use.	
<b>&gt;</b>				
Does this patient have any of the following conditions/risk factors: Diabetes Diabetes CK Hypertension CFR: <45mL/min/1.73	Does this patient currently take antiplatelet m <sup>2</sup> ) medication?	Current antiplatelet medication(s): Name & Form Strength Dose Frequency	Due to antiplatelet use has this patient a) had gastrointestinal (GI) side effect(s)?	How do you manage GI risks OR side effects associated with antiplatelet use for this patient? (Tick all that apply)
□ High total cholesterol □ Existing cardiovascular disease □ Familial □ Family Hx of cardiovas	. □ Yes (duration <1yr) sc □ Yes (duration >1yr)		□ □ Yes □ □ No b) at risk of GI side effect(s)?	(please specify)
dyslipidaemia disease	□ No → End 132B Questions	(Please include aspirin combinations if taken as an antiplatelet)	- DNo	

**PLEASE READ CAREFULLY** 

### SAND abstract number 184: CKD and dyslipidaemia among general practice patients

#### Organisation collaborating for this study: Merck Sharp and Dohme (Australia) Pty Ltd

**Issues:** The proportion of general practice patients who: had their kidney function assessed in the previous 12 months; had conditions or risk factors associated with chronic kidney disease (CKD); had diagnosed CKD and the stage of disease; were currently on dialysis. Recent lipid level results and current use of lipid-lowering medication.

**Sample:** 5,674 patients from 192 GPs; data collection period: 3/05/2011 – 11/07/2011.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>. Drugs were classified using the WHO Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification

### Summary of results

Patient age was provided at 5,643 encounters. A significantly greater proportion of patients in the sample were aged 25–44 years and a smaller proportion were 45–74 years than the patients at all BEACH encounters 2010–11. The sex of the patient was provided at 5,640 encounters and distribution did not differ from that at all BEACH encounters.

Among 5,659 respondents to the question on kidney function testing, 53.5% had had at least one kidney function test in the previous 12 months: 42.5% had had a serum creatinine test, 1.0% had had a proteinuria/microalbuminuria test, and 9.9% had had both tests.

Of 5,534 respondents to the question about CKD, 387 (7.0%, 95% CI: 5.7–8.3) had diagnosed CKD. Four out of five of these patients were diagnosed by a GP. Prevalence rose with age from 4.5% of patients aged 45–64 years to 29.0% of those aged 75 years or older. There was no difference between male and female patients in the prevalence of CKD.

The stage of CKD was known for 385 patients: 17.7% were at stage 1, 24.7% were at stage 2, 42.6% were at stage 3, 7.3% were at stage 4 and 1.8% were at stage 5. Among 308 patients for whom dialysis status was known, 1.0% were currently receiving dialysis.

Test status was available for 386 CKD patients: 96.6% had had at least one kidney function test in the previous 12 months: 92.7% of patients with stage 1 CKD, 99.0% of those in stage 2, 96.9% of those at stage 3, and all patients at stage 4 and 5.

Of 5,588 patients who gave information on associated conditions or risk factors, 26.2% had hypertension, 18.7% had dyslipidaemia, 9.1% were current smokers and 8.9% had diabetes. Among 382 CKD patients, 79.8% had hypertension, 50.5% had dyslipidaemia, 35.1% had diabetes, and 5.0% were current smokers.

Total cholesterol level was known for 338 CKD patients, and the average level was 4.6. The average LDL cholesterol level was 2.5 for 297 CKD respondents, and average HDL was 1.3 for 302 CKD patients. Average triglyceride level for 327 patients was 1.7.

Among 370 patients with CKD, 46.0% were not taking any lipid medication. Just over half (51.6%) were currently taking one lipid medication, and nine patients (2.4%)were taking two. A total of 200 CKD patients were taking 209 lipid-lowering medications. Atorvastatin accounted for 40.2% and simvastatin made up 22.0% of these medications.

<b>PLEASE READ CA</b>	<u>REFULLY</u>					
The shaded section of the f	ollowing forms a	sks questions about	CHRONIC KIDNEY	DISEASE AND DY	SLIPIDAEMI	A.
You may tear out this pa	ge as a guide tc	o completing the fo	llowing section of fo	rms.		
INSTRUCTIONS			Stage of disease*			Lipid lowering medication
Ask ALL of the next 30 PATIEN in which the patients are seen	ITS the following quee n.	stions in the order	If the patient has been di stage of the disease cu	agnosed with CKD, please rrently applies to this patien	advise what it.	Please write the <b>name</b> and <b>form</b> of the <b>current lipid</b>
Please DO NOT select patients	to suit the topic being	g investigated.	If you <b>do not know</b> (e.g tick the box labelled 'don	if test results are not availal 't know'.	ble) please	lowering medication/s taken by the patient, including
			Dialvsis: please indicate v	whether this patient is current	tlv on dialvsis.	the regimen (i.e. strength,
Assessment of renal			Starras Daso	GFR (m1/min/17	(3m)	dose and frequency) of the medication.
			Diago Dov			If <b>no</b> lipid medication is
Please use the tick boxes to advise whether this patient has			1 Kidney with no	y damage >= 90 ormal or↑GFR		currently taken, please tick the
had their <b>kidney function</b> teste in the past 12 months, and with	ġ		2 Kidney with m	v damage 60 - 89 ild   GFR		pox labelled no current lipid medication'.
what test/s.			3 Moder	ate   GFR 30 - 59		
Please tick as many as apply.			4 Severe	↓ GFR 15 - 29		
	1		5 Kidney	y failure <15 (or d	ialysis)	
	ſ		*Stages classified as per Nation and Stages of Chronic Kidney I	nal Kidney Foundation Guidelines. Part Disease'.	4 - 'Definition	
Risk factors and			, L			
comorbidities	CK	(D diagnosis		Test levels		
Please advise whe	ther the Ple	ase advise whether the	patient has	Please advise the patient's	s <b>levels</b> at the	
pattent nas any or t risk factors or con	iditions. Dis	en diagnosed with Chrose	onic Kidney	most recent testing of: To HDL cholesterol. LDL cho	otal cholesterol olesterol. and	
Tick as many as ap	sply. tod	ay's consultation. Also a	dvise whether	Triglycerides.		
If the patient has n listed risk factors o	one of the the and the	diagnosis was made by other GP, or by a speci	r you or alist	If you <b>do not know</b> one of	these levels, or	
please tick the box none of the abov	e'. with	ne patient has never beer N CKD please end the q	ו diagnosed uestions here.	If the patient has never ha of these levels measured box labelled 'don't know /	a one or more please tick the never tested'.	
		$\rightarrow$		$\rightarrow$		→ ┐
In the past 12 mths has kidney Doutinn the past 12 mths has kidney Doutinn / damage (tick all that D	es the patient have: Diabetes (tick all tha	Has the patient the been diagnosed	If 'yes' what is their Stage* of disease? (see definitions of	What are the patient's most recent levels of	Don't know/ Th	e patient's current lipid med'n is: ne & Form Strength Dose Fred
been assessed? apply	Hypertension apply	with Chronic Kidney	Stage 1 □ Stage 4	Totol abol		
$\Box$ Yes - serum creatinine level	Proteinuria/microalb/uri	a Disease (Civu):	□ Stage 2 □ Stage 5	Iotal Choi		
□ Yes - urine test for proteinuria/	Hyperparathyroidism	another GP	□ Stage 3 □ Don't know	/ LDL-Cmm		
	Anaemia	□ Yes - by a specialist	Is the patient on dialysis?	HDL-Cmm		
Don't know BL133B	Current stricker None of the above	$\Box$ No $\rightarrow$ End Qs		Triglycerides mm		No current lipid medication

### SAND abstract number 185: Diabetes management and selfmonitoring in general practice patients

Organisation collaborating for this study: Sanofi-Aventis Australia Pty Ltd.

**I ssues:** Proportion of sampled patients with diagnosed type 1 or type 2 diabetes; HbA1c measures; patient BMI; self-measurement of blood glucose (BG) (fasting and post-prandial); medication management; changes in medication at encounter and reasons for change.

**Sample:** 5,730 patients from 194 GPs; data collection period: 07/06/2011 – 15/08/2012.

**M ethod:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>. Drugs were classified using the WHO Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification

### Summary of results

The age and sex distributions of respondents differed slightly from all patients at 2010–11 BEACH encounters, with a greater proportion of males (42.9% c.f. 39.5), and a smaller proportion aged 65–74 years (11.2% c.f. 13.3%). Of the 5,730 respondents, 507 (8.8%, 95% CI: 7.8–9.9) had either type 1 (0.8%; n = 43) or type 2 (8.1%; n = 464) diabetes.

Prevalence of any diabetes was significantly higher among males (11.1%, 95% CI: 9.4–12.8) than females (7.3%, 95% CI: 6.2–8.4), and increased with patient age, peaking at 21.7% in those aged 65–74 years and 19.1% in those aged 75 years or older.

The most recent HbA1c level was known for 469 patients, and of these, 49.7% had HbA1c of <7%. The mean result was 7.3%. Of 486 respondents with diabetes, 38.5% (n = 187) reported measuring fasting BG daily, while 27.2% (n = 132) measured fasting BG weekly. Fasting BG was tested daily by 63.4% of patients with type 1 diabetes, and by 36.2% of those with type 2 diabetes. Of 451 respondents with diabetes, 29.3% (n = 132) measured post-prandial BG daily, and 25.7% (n = 116) measured weekly. Post-prandial BG was tested daily by 62.5% of patients with type 1 diabetes, and by 26.0% of patients with type 2 diabetes.

Of 474 patients for whom height and weight were reported (using WHO categories of BMI status in adults), 0.8% were underweight; 19.4% were in the normal weight range; 33.3% were overweight and 46.4% were obese.

Responses about medication management were recorded for 501 patients with diabetes: 75.4% were currently taking medication for BG management and 24.6% were not; 55.3% were currently taking oral medication only, 9.6% were taking only insulin, and 10.6% were taking insulin and an oral medication. Of the 378 patients currently taking BG medication, 70.6% were taking metformin; 40.5% were taking a sulfonamide, and 26.7% were on insulin. More than half (53.4%) of the 378 patients taking BG medication were on mono therapy and 39.2% on dual therapy. Metformin taken as mono therapy was the most common, taken by 30.7%, followed by dual therapy of metformin plus a sulfonamide (21.7%).

Of 504 respondents with diabetes, 8.5% had medication changed at the recorded encounter. Four patients with type 1 (9.3% of those with type 1 diabetes) and 39 patients with type 2 (8.5% of those with type 2 diabetes) had medication changed, and the most common reason for change was poor HbA1c (69.8%, n = 43) followed by poor fasting control (30.2%, n = 43).

<b>PLEASE REA</b>	<u>D CAREFULLY</u>				
The shaded section You may tear out	of the following forms asks this page as a guide to co	s questions about <b>DIA</b> ompleting the follow	BETES MANAG	EMENT. ns.	
INSTRUCTIONS				Changes to glucose-lowering medic	tion
Please answer the follo in the order in whicl	wing questions for <u>ALL</u> of the <u>next</u> h the patients are seen.	t 30 PATIENTS		Please advise whether the patient's glucos change as a result of today's visit.	medication will
Please DO NOT selec	<b>t patients</b> to suit the topic being ir	nvestigated.		No change: If the medication(s) and reg unchanged you should END the questi	men will <b>remain</b> <b>ons here</b> .
HbA1c level, pa	tient height and weight			Cease medication: If a medication is to circle a number to indicate which medic	be <b>stopped</b> , please ation(s) (from those
Please advise the not know the mos	patient's HbA1c level at the most t recent result, please tick the box	: recent testing. If you do labelled 'don't know'.		<ul> <li>Instead in Q.4) will cease.</li> <li>Change to medication or regimen incl</li> </ul>	des: adding
Ask the patient: (unclothed)?* Conv	What is their <b>height</b> (without shoe version tables from stone/pounds t	es)* and their <b>weight</b> to kilograms and feet/		another medication to those currently be changing a medication for a different c dosage of a current medication, either b	ing taken; ne; changing the ' an <b>increase</b> or
* You are NOT REQUIF either do so or take info	es are provided. EED to weigh or measure the patient, but if th mation from the medical records.	he patient is unsure, you may		decrease. If medication(s) or regimen is changing p new medication(s) or regimen in the si	lease write the ace provided. Only
Diabetes		Glucose-lowering n	nedication	include the additions/changes made to	day.
Please advise whether this patient has been	Boot mondial and	Please write the <b>name</b> ,	form and regimen		
diagnosed with either Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes	Fost prantular and fasting glucose Please indicate how	(i.e. strength, dose an medication(s) current <u>today's visit</u> ) for manag	id trequency) of the y (i.e. taken <u>prior to</u> <b>jement of blood</b>	Reaso	ns for change(s) to e-lowering medication
If the patient <b>does not</b> have diabetes please	often the patient currently tests their post prandial	If the patient is <b>not cu</b>	ed medications.	Please to advi medic	use the tick boxes e why this patient's tion was changed at
end the questions here for this patient.	glucose levels.	medication for blood g please tick the box lab	glucose management elled 'NONE'.	that ap	encounter. Please tick all
	$ \rightarrow $			→	$\rightarrow$
Does this What was	the most How often does the pat Mc result: measure glucose:	ient Current blood glucos taken prior to this vis	se medication (i.e.	From today's visit, the patient's glucose-lowering mec changed as follows: □ NO CHANGE → Find Os	n Why was the medication changed?
diabetes?	6 □ Don't   Easting: Post pran know   □ Daily   □ Daily:	Idial: Name & Form Stren	igth <u>Dose Freq</u>	□ Cease medication - Please <u>circle</u> to indicate which me (No.s correspond to previous QI:	Hypoglycaemia
Yes - Type 1       Yes - Type 2	current:	tay 1		☐ Add/change med`n or regimen - Please specify: Name & Form Strength Dose Free	□ Poor post prandial control
$\Box$ No $\rightarrow$ End height:	$-$ cm $\square < 1$ per wk $\square < 1$ mer	10. per veek 333			Weight gain
BL133C weight:	kg D Never	wr 44			- Other:

### SAND abstract number 186: Hepatitis B and travel vaccinations

### Organisation collaborating for this study: GlaxoSmithKline Australia Pty Ltd

**Issues:** Proportion of surveyed patients who had been vaccinated for hepatitis B; reason(s) for vaccination; proportion who had travelled overseas in the previous 12 months; countries and regions visited; proportion who sought travel advice prior to travel; vaccines and prophylaxis medication(s) given; proportion who stayed in areas for which hepatitis B vaccination and/or malaria prophylaxis was recommended.

**Sample:** 2,826 patients from 95 GPs; data collection period: 12/07/2011 – 15/08/2011.

**M ethod:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>. **M ethods for this substudy:** Destinations were coded using the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Standard Australian Classification of Countries. Information on hepatitis B and malaria risk was drawn from the Centres for Disease Control and Prevention website: <www.cdc.gov/travel>

### Summary of results

The age and sex distributions of the 2,826 patients in this sample did not significantly differ from those of all patients at 2010–11 BEACH encounters.

Of 2,823 respondents, 976 (34.6%, 95% CI: 31.0–38.2) had received hepatitis B vaccination and were immune, 96 (3.4%, 95% CI: 2.3–4.5) had started a course of hepatitis vaccination; making a total of 1,072 patients (38.0%) either fully or partial vaccinated. There were 1,266 patients (44.8%) not vaccinated, and 485 (17.2%) did not know if they had been vaccinated.

The 1,072 patients who were fully or partially vaccinated gave 1,061 reasons for hepatitis B vaccination. The most common reasons were because it was part of the Immunisation Schedule (53.5% of reasons), for overseas travel (20.9%), and for employment (20.1%).

Among 2,750 respondents, 387 (14.1%) had travelled overseas in the previous year. Of 515 destinations recorded by 382 travellers, the most frequently visited individual countries were the United States of America (10.5%) and New Zealand (8.5%). The most frequently visited regions were South-East Asia (25.5% of 462 regions) and Oceania/Antarctica (15.8%). Overnight rural stays were most common in New Zealand and South Africa.

Among 380 respondents who had travelled overseas, 145 (38.2%) had sought travel advice: 132 sought advice from a GP, nine from a travel clinic, and four from another health professional. Of 141 respondents who sought travel advice, the majority (60.3%) had sought advice one to six months before their trip.

Travel vaccination status was provided for 234 respondents who travelled overseas: 77 (32.9%) had been given a vaccine and/or prophylaxis medication prior to travel and 157 (67.1%) had not. The 77 patients received 157 prophylaxis medications, the most common being typhoid vaccine (23.6%), hepatitis A vaccine (16.6%) and influenza vaccine (13.4%).

Of 233 respondents who specified they visited a country for which hepatitis B vaccination was recommended, 139 (59.7%) were fully or partially immunised against hepatitis B. Of 43 respondents who specified that they had travelled to a country where malaria prophylaxis was recommended, four (9.3%) were given prophylaxis medication prior to their trip.

PLEASE	<b>READ C</b>	AREFULI	Y						
The shaded	section of the	following fc	orms asks questions	about <b>HEPAT</b>	<b>ITIS B VACCIN</b>	ATION AND	TRAVEL VI	ACCINATIONS.	
You may t	ear out this p	age as a gı	uide to completing	the following	section of forms				
INSTRUCT	IONS			The rem	laining questions	on this form	relate to the p	atient's most rece	nt overseas
Ask <u>ALL</u> of the order in whi	he <u>next 30 PATIF</u> ich the patients	ENTS the follow are seen.	ving questions in the	<b>trip</b> . Pati questions	ents who have made s pertaining to the mo	e multiple overs ost recent trip.	eas trips in the p	ast 12 months should	answer the
Please DO NO	<u>OT</u> select patien	its to suit the to	pic being investigated.			- Hilonin Loo			
					specify the country	rnu ruranuy rountries visit	ed during	Vaccinations/pro	phylaxis
Hepatitis B		Verseas trav	vel	the patie	ents most recent over	seas trip. If mo	e than four	medication	
immunisatic	uc L	lease advise v	vhether this	countrie	s were visited in the l	most recent trip	please	Please specify whic	l vaccines medications
Please indicat whether this p	te p vatient ir	atient has <b>trav</b> τ the past 12 m	relled overseas	(instead	l of specifying the cou estern Furone	intries) e.g. Sou	th-East	were given to the p	atient for the
has received the <b>Hepatitis</b>	<u>ء</u> ــــ	f ' <b>no</b> ' you can e	and questions	For eac	h country/region ple	ease use the ticl	k box to	If no vaccines or pro-	phylaxis
vaccination.	-			rural ar	whether the patient sea.	stayed overnig	ht in a	tick 'none'.	ven piease
		Numk	ber of trips						
	secon for	T Please	specify how many		Travel advice				
	munisation	times	this patient has travell	ed	Prior to the mo	st recent trip pl	ease indicate	Vaccinat	on/nronhulavie
Fo	r patients who	Visitir	eas in the past 12 mon		whether the pa a <b>health care</b> I	tient sought tr professional.	avel advice fron	not give	
are	e partially or fully	Please	a indicate whether the		If ' <b>ves</b> ' please i	ndicate how lo	ng before	When a v	iccination(s) and/
He He	patitis B please	patien in their	t visited friends or relat	ives	the trip advice	was <b>first soug</b> to determine wh	Int. Note: this nether the patien	t or prophyl was indic	axis medication(s) ated for a travel
the the	indicate why patient was	relativ	e's country of birth (e.g	of	allowed sufficie administered b	efore travel. So	cination to be me vaccinations	destination the patier	but <b>not given to</b> t please use the
Ē	munised	these	overseas trips.		require multiple weeks or mont	e injections ove hs).	r time (e.g.	tick poxes it/they wer	to indicate wny e not given.
$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	$\longrightarrow$		→ •		$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	$ \end{bmatrix} \longrightarrow $	$\rightarrow$
Is the patient vaccinated for Henatitis B?	If 'yes' why was vaccine given?	Has the patient travelled	If 'yes', how many trips:	The remaining Qs r recent overseas trip	elate to the most 5 <u>Staved</u> 6 vicited: overnight in	Prior to trip was a health prof. seen for	lf 'yes' how long before trip was advice first	Travel vaccines/ prophylaxis given:	If a vaccine or med'n advised for the destination wasn't
□ Yes - immune	Schedule	overseas in the past	Did the patient visit friends or relatives in		o marca?	travel advice?	sought? □ <1 week		given, why not?
L Yes -started vaccination	Cverseas travel     Employment	12 months?	their or their parents/			Tes - Or Ves - travel	$\Box$ 1 to <4 wks		prior to travel
ло П No	□ Other:	□ Yes □ No→ End	birth? □ Yes			clinic □ Yes - other	□ 1 mth to <6 mths		□ Already immune
L Don't Know BL134C	(please specify)	questions	O No			0N0	$\Box \ge 6$ mths	□ None	

## SAND abstract number 187: General practice patient behaviour in seeking help for depression

### Organisation collaborating for this study: Pfizer Australia Pty Ltd

**Issues:** The proportion of general practice patients who have ever been diagnosed with depression. The proportion with a current depression diagnosis; duration of the current episode and percentage of patients for whom it was a first episode; treatments tried for depression symptoms before diagnosis (tick boxes, see form for list of treatments); length of time symptoms were present before consulting a healthcare professional; reasons for seeking treatment; reasons for delay in seeking treatment.

**Sample:** 2,971 patients from 101 GPs; data collection period: 16/08/2011 – 19/09/2011.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>.

### Summary of results

The age and sex distributions of the 2,971 patients who responded to the question on diagnosed depression did not differ from those of all patients at 2010–11 BEACH encounters. Of the 2,971 patients, 422 (14.2%, 95% CI: 11.8–16.6) were currently diagnosed with depression and 337 (11.3%, 95% CI: 9.6–13.1) had previously been diagnosed, giving a total of 759 patients (25.6%, 95% CI: 22.6–28.5) who at some stage had been diagnosed with depression. The proportion of patients ever diagnosed with depression rose significantly from those aged 15–24 years (16.2%, 95% CI: 10.0–22.3) to patients aged 25–44 years (34.3%, 95% CI: 29.1–39.4) then remained steady until it decreased significantly for those aged 65–74 years (24.1%, 95% CI: 19.7–28.6) and remained steady for those aged 75 years and over. A marginally greater proportion of female patients (28.4%, 95% CI: 24.8–31.9) than male patients (21.5%, 95% CI: 18.2–24.8) had been diagnosed with depression at some stage.

Almost three-quarters (72.3%) of 418 respondents with current depression had been diagnosed more than 12 months earlier. For 140 patients (36.9% of 379 respondents) this was their first episode of depression.

Among 404 respondents with current depression, over half (56.4%) had used none of the listed treatments prior to diagnosis, 29.2% had used relaxation techniques and 22.6% diet and exercise.

Of 406 respondents with current depression, 39.9% sought help from a health professional less than three months after the first symptom was experienced, 26.4% waited 3–5 months, and 33.7% waited six months or longer. Reasons for seeking professional help were provided by 412 patients with current depression. 'Not coping' was the most common issue (given by 14.8%). Low mood/feeling depressed, insomnia, problems with work or school were other common reasons for seeking professional care for depression.

Of the 137 patients who delayed seeking treatment by six months or more, 127 responded to the question on reason for delay. "Didn't realise they had depression" was the most common reason for delay, described for 26.8% of respondents. "Hoping they would get through it by themselves" was also a common reason (22.8%).

<b>PLEASE READ CAREFULLY</b> The shaded section of the following forr You may tear out this page as a guid	I asks questions at the to completing the to completing the to complete the	bout <b>PATIENT</b> he following se	BEHAVIOUR IN SE ction of forms.	EKING HELP FOR DEP	RESSION.
INSTRUCTIONS Please answer the following questions for <u>ALL</u> o in the order in which the patients are seer Please <u>DO NOT</u> select patients to suit the top	f the next 30 PATIENTS h. ic being investigated.	[ w			
Depression Please use the tick boxes to indicate whether this patient has ever been diagnosed with depression. If the patient does not have a current diagnosis of depression please end questions here for this patient.	Treatments tried I diagnosis Please use the tick to indicate the treatmen patient tried for treat depression sympto to diagnosis of dep	prior to boxes to ints the trent of oression.	<b>~ ;</b> <del>.</del>	eason for seeking eatment lease ask the patient to ominate the main reason ey sought treatment for their epression symptoms from a ealth care professional.	
Current depression diagnos Please use the tick boxes to advise how long ago the curren episode of depression was diagnosed. Please also indicate if this is the patient's first episode of diagnosed depression.		Seekin health Please estimat sympto waited I care pr	ig treatment from a care professional ask the patient to e how long after the first oms of depression they before seeing a health ofessional for treatment.	,	Delay in seeking treatment If the patient waited 6 months or more after onset of depression symptoms to see a health care professional please ask the patient to nominate the main reason they delayed seeking treatment.
Has this patient ever been       How long ago was the current depression diagnosed?         ever been       depression diagnosed?         diagnosed with depression?       □ <3 months	Prior to diagnosis of de patient try any of the fol the symptoms of depres Diet and exercise Relaxation technique(s) St John's Wort	ppression, did the Illowing to treat ission: I Other OTC medication I Acupuncture I Hypnotherapy I None of the above	How long after first symptoms of depression did the patient take to see a health care professional? □ <3 months □ 3 to <6 months □ 1 to <2 years □ 22 years	What was the main reason that the patient sought treatment for their depression symptoms:	If the patient did not see a health care professional for ≥6 months following onset of depression symptoms what was the main reason for delay:

### SAND abstract number 188: Acute coronary syndrome among general practice patients

#### Organisation collaborating for this study: AstraZeneca Pty Ltd

**I ssues:** The proportion of general practice patients who had an acute coronary syndrome (ACS) event in the previous three years; types of ACS events experienced; length of time since an ACS event; treatments used for ACS; details of clopidogrel use in patients who experienced an ACS event, including duration of present use and reasons for cessation.

**Sample:** 2,957 patients from 100 GPs; data collection period: 16/08/2011 – 19/09/2011.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>.

### Summary of results

The age and sex distributions of the 2,957 patients who responded to the initial question about ACS did not differ from those of patients at all BEACH encounters in 2010–11.

Of the 2,957 respondents, 106 (3.6%, 95% CI: 2.7–4.5) had experienced at least one ACS event in the previous three years. Two of these patients were aged less than 45 years (0.3% of patients aged 25–44 years). An ACS event was reported by 3.7% of patients aged 45–64 years, 8.0% of those aged 65–74 years and 7.3% of those aged 75 years and over.

There were 112 ACS events reported by the 106 patients who reported at least one event. The ACS event reported most often was unstable angina (46.2% of patients with ACS), followed by an unspecified ACS event (22.6%), non-ST-elevated myocardial infarction (21.7%) and ST-elevated myocardial infarction (15.1%).

One-third of 102 ACS patients reported that their most recent ACS event was 2–3 years ago (32.4%), and 26.5% of patients had their most recent ACS event more than one, but less than two years ago. For 15 patients (14.7%), their most recent event was less than three months ago.

There were 103 respondents to the question on treatments for ACS. Of these, 54.4% stated they had been treated with at least one of the specified ACS treatments: 35.9% with percutaneous coronary intervention (i.e. a stent); 17.5% with coronary artery bypass and 4.9% with fibrinolytic reperfusion.

Reporting clopidogrel use (n = 104), 43.3% of patients had not used clopidogrel after their most recent ACS event. Nearly two-fifths of patients (38.5%) were currently using clopidogrel, and 14.4% had ceased using clopidogrel. Four patients did not know whether they had used clopidogrel.

Of the 35 patients who were currently taking clopidogrel and reported on duration of use, nearly three-quarters (74.3%) had been taking clopidogrel for more than one year.

Of those who had ceased taking clopidogrel since their most recent ACS event (n = 14), 50.0% had used it for more than one year. The decision to cease use of clopidogrel was made by a cardiologist for 10 of the 14 patients (71.4%). The reason(s) for ceasing clopidogrel were reported for 13 patients. Guideline recommendation was the most common reason (61.5%), followed by side-effects (30.8%).

## SAND abstract number 189: Menopause symptoms among female general practice patients aged 40–69 years

### Organisation collaborating for this study: Pfizer Australia Pty Ltd

**Issues:** The proportion of female general practice patients aged 40–69 years who are: premenopausal; peri-menopausal; post-menopausal; oophorectomy-induced menopausal. Their frequency of hot flushes/sweating episodes; vaginal dryness; irregular bleeding/spotting; depressive mood. For each symptom: time since onset; current treatment; patient satisfaction with their symptom management.

Sample: 673 female patients aged 40-69 years from 100 GPs.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>. **Methods for this substudy:** A card listing treatment options for menopausal symptoms was supplied to participating GPs for reference.

### Summary of results

There were 673 female patients aged 40–69 years who responded to the initial question. The age distribution of this sample differed significantly from that of patients at all 2010–11 BEACH encounters with female patients aged 40–69 years including a smaller proportion of 61–64 year olds (14.4%, 95% CI: 11.6–17.2) compared with (18.1%, 95% CI: 17.5–18.7).

Of the 673 respondents, 181 (26.9%) were considered by the GP to be pre-menopausal, 101 (15.0%) were peri-menopausal, 378 (56.2%) were post-menopausal, and 13 being oophorectomy-induced menopausal. At least one menopausal symptom was experienced by 407 women (62.3% of 653 respondents).

Of 643 patients, 246 (38.3%) said they had hot flushes/sweating episodes some or all of the time. Of 235 respondents, almost half (49.4%) had experienced hot flushes for more than two years. Of 228 respondents with hot flushes, 140 (61.4%) were not currently receiving treatment and 31 (13.6%) were taking hormone replacement therapy (HRT). Of 31 respondents on HRT, 21 were satisfied or very satisfied with their symptom management.

Among 636 respondents, 230 (36.2%) had vaginal dryness some or all of the time. Of 216 respondents, more than half (55.1%) had experienced vaginal dryness for more than two years. Of 214 respondents, more than half (51.9%) were not having treatment, 43 (20.1%) were taking HRT, 25 (11.7%) were using OTC products, and 23 (10.7%) were using other prescription medication for vaginal dryness. Of 60 respondents using any prescribed medication for vaginal dryness, 41 (68.3%) were satisfied or very satisfied with the treatment.

Of 636 respondents, 81 (12.7%) had experienced irregular bleeding/spotting some or all of the time, and 555 (87.3%) did not. Among 633 respondents, 223 (35.2%) had depressive mood some or all of the time. Of 216 respondents, 63.4% had experienced depressive mood for more than two years. Of 214 respondents, 73 (34.1%) were using no treatment, 18 (8.4%) were taking HRT, and 83 (38.8%) were using other prescribed medications. Of 98 respondents using any prescribed medication for depressive mood, 58 (59.2%) were satisfied or very satisfied with the treatment.



PLEASE REA The shaded section You may tear out	<b>D CAREFULL</b> of the following fo <i>this page as a gu</i>	T rms asks ( ide to co	questions abound	out MENOP.	AUSAL SYI	<b>MPTOMS.</b> <i>ms</i> .			
INSTRUCTIONS Although the bottom	section of the followin	ig forms rel	late to female p	atients aged 40	- 69 years only,	please	Part 4: Satisf	action with trea	tment
continue to complete seen, and complete Please <u>DO NOT</u> sele	the bottom section for ct patients to suit the	females white topic being	o are in the nor investigated. I	the order in wr minated age grou f the patient is N	nich the patien up. VOT a female ag	s are ged 40	For each sympt patient how sat symptom man	tom, please ask th tisfied they are w lagement.	the the
-09 years, please lea	ve the questions in the	bottom sect	CION BLANK.				where 1 = very where 2 = very	y dissatisfied' an	<b>5 =</b>
	Menopausal sympt	toms		art 2: Duratio	n of sympton wered 2-5, pleas	is se circle an option	(If more than or for a symptom,	ne management is give an overall ra	used ting).
	I nere are <b>4 parts</b> to the <b>sy</b> each relating to the <b>sy</b> listed below:	mis question mptoms		b best describe I xperiencing eac	now long the pa h of the sympto:	atient has been ms.			
-			7			art 3: Symptom m	anagement		
		Part 1: I	Frequency of	f symptoms		or each symptom, ple	ease circle the letters that		
Menopausal status	or female	Please a currently sympton	sk the patient <b>I</b> experience an <b>ns</b> .	<b>now often</b> they y of the <b>listed</b>	<u>5 a Q U</u>	= no treatment = vitamins / nutrition = other over-the-coun	al supplements includes below.		
patients aged 40 - 69 only. Discostino the tick he	years	Rate thei 5, where	ir answers on a 1 = 'never' an	a scale of 1 to d <b>5 = 'all the</b>		<pre>= hormone replacem = other prescribed m</pre>	ent therapy (HRT) edications		
riease use the lick p to advise which of the categories best descr patient, based on vour	isted bes the clinical	time'. If ' <i>1</i> ' (i.e. symptom	' <i>never</i> ') is circl is please <b>end t</b>	led for all <b>he questions</b>	E io E	<i>any otner therapies</i> <i>such as yoga, cous</i> , g. if 'irregular bleedii at symptom line. If th	<i>or treatments (ror ming and/or t</i> <i>elling, exercise, acupuncture etc</i> ng' is managed with HRT, circle ne HRT is also for another svm	e.d' on brom.	
opinion		here tor t	this patient.			rcle ' <b>d</b> ' on that symplicies is also printe	tom line also. d on the card in your research	hit.	
$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$		$\rightarrow$		ight ceil		$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	
(For females 40-69 yrs): In your clinical opinion, is this patient:	Ask the patient 1. How often do you experience these sym	BL136B (P. an ff <sup>+</sup> ptoms? qu	Please <u>circle</u> , rating , nd 5 = 'all the time' fc '1' for all symptoms <i>f</i> <b>restions here</b> .	as 1 = 'never' r each symptom) olease <b>end the</b>	If '2'- '5' for any pa 2. How long har experiencing ex symptom?	t of previous Question ve you been ach (please <u>circle</u> )	<ol> <li>Current treatment for each symptom is: (<u>circle</u> all that apply) (letters correspond with treatment options on green sheet or card)</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>4. How satisfied with current treat with current treat (where 1 = 'very distance) and 5 = 'very satisfies</li> </ul>	are you tments? satisfied" ed")
□ Peri-menopausal	Hot flushes/sweating (	pisodes		4 5	<pre></pre>	-2 yrs / >2 yrs	abcdef	1234	5
□ Post-menopausal	Vaginal dryness		1 2 3	4 5	<pre></pre>	-2 yrs / >2 yrs	abcdef	1234	55
<ul> <li>Oophorectomy - induced menopausal</li> </ul>	Irregular bleeding/sp Depressive mood	otting	123	4 5	<pre><li><li><li><li><li><li><li><li><li><li< td=""><td>-2 yrs / &gt;2 yrs</td><td></td><td>1234</td><td>5</td></li<></li></li></li></li></li></li></li></li></li></pre>	-2 yrs / >2 yrs		1234	5

# SAND abstract number 190: Benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) and symptoms among male general practice patients aged 40 years or older

#### Organisation collaborating for this study: CSL Biotherapies Pty Ltd

**Issues:** Among male general practice patients aged 40+ years: prevalence of BPH; urinary symptoms experienced (dribbling post-urination, urinary retention, incontinence, nocturia, hesitancy, urgency, pain/bleeding with urination, frequency, weak stream, straining to urinate or none); duration of symptoms prior to seeking treatment for BPH or symptoms; prompt for the initial consultation; managements used for symptoms; duration of use, initiator and side-effects (if any) for each medication used.

**Sample:** 708 male patients aged 40 years or older from 93 GPs; data collection period: 20/09/2011 – 24/10/2011.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>.

### Summary of results

The age distribution of these 708 patients did not significantly differ from that of the same age-sex cohort at all encounters during the April 2010 – March 2011 BEACH year.

Of 707 respondents, 150 (21.2%, 95% CI: 17.3–25.1) had been diagnosed with BPH. There was a significant stepwise increase in prevalence with age from 0% in the 40–49 year age group, to 6.5% (95% CI: 2.3–10.7) among 50–59 year olds, 17.5% (95% CI: 10.8–24.3) among 60–69 year olds, and 35.3% (95% CI: 27.6–43.0) among 70–79 year olds. Prevalence remained high among 80–89 year olds, (49.5%, 95% CI: 40.1–58.9) and those of 90 years or more, (53.3%, 95% CI: 29.6–77.0).

At least one of the listed symptoms of BPH was reported by 247 (40.9%, 95% CI: 35.1–46.7) of 604 respondents to this question. The most common symptoms were: nocturia, 25.7%; posturination dribbling, 19.0%; weak stream, 16.9%; and frequency, 14.6%. At least one symptom was present in 14.1% of 40–49 year age group, 40.5% of 60–69 and 66.7% of those 80 years and older. Of 232 symptomatic patients, 46.1% had waited more than two years before seeking treatment. Discussion about symptoms had been initiated by the GP for 53.4% and by the patient for 39.1% of 238 symptomatic respondents.

Of 243 symptomatic respondents, 109 (44.9%) were currently being treated for BPH or symptoms, of whom 45 (41.3%) were taking 45 medications, the most common being tamsulosin (40.0%) and prazosin (28.9%). For 40 respondents, the average duration on medication was 13 months. Medication had been initiated by the GP for 53.5% and by the specialist for 44.2% of 43 respondents. Only one side-effect was reported (postural hypotension from tamsulosin) from 27 respondents.

Non-pharmacological management had been used for BPH or symptoms by 21 (8.6%) of 243 respondents, the most common (n = 12) being transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP). Of 243 symptomatic patients, 72 (29.6%) had been referred to an urologist.

PLEAS The shade You may	<b>E READ C</b> d section of the <i>tear out this p</i>	AREFULLY following forms a	asks questions abo	ut BENIGN PROST	ATIC HYPERPL	ASIA (BPH)	
Althou please ( patient	RUCTIONS gh the bottom sect continue to comple is are seen, and c DO NOT select pa	tion of the following ete the forms for <u>ALL</u> omplete the bottom s <b>atients</b> to suit the ton	forms relate to male p of the <b>next 30 PATII</b> ection for patients wh	atients aged 40 years or ol <b>ENTS</b> in the order in which to are in the nominated age If the natient is NOT male	lder, c <b>h the</b> e and		
aged 4(	0+ years, please le	ave the questions in t	he bottom section BL	ANK.		5	litiation of treatment
							or patients who are on medication for PH/symptoms, please advise for each
	BPH (	symptoms e use the tick boxes to symptoms the patient	o advise	Initial consultation		••	the approximate duration of use who initiated the medication
	experi	ienced.	0	prompted the initial conversation about these symptoms		•	what side effects are experienced, if any.
				-	_		]
					Aanagement of BP	1 / symptoms	
	ſ	٥	iration of sympton	]s tr	reatments are current	edications or o tly being used	by the
Benign pr hyperplas	ostatic ia (BPH)	Plé	ase use the tick boxe advise (approximately	ss (;	atient for BPH or symposities and the name of the name	ptom managem of up to two me	ent. dications
Please use	the tick	ho	w long the patient d experienced these		ised. Other treatment	s may include n	nedical
whether this has been <b>di</b>	s patient agnosed	sei sei	mptoms prior to sking treatment.		nay include other spec rofessionals etc.	ialists, allied he	alth
with BPH		]		]			]
$\rightarrow$		$\rightarrow$	<b>→</b>	$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$		$\rightarrow$
(For males 40+yrs):	What symptoms i experiencing?	is/was the patient	How long were symptoms	GP/patient discussion of symptoms resulted from?	Current managemen	nt is:	Medication 1: - taken for?yrsmths
Has this patient been	□ dribbling post urination	pain/bleeding with urination	experienced perore the patient sought treatment?	□ Patient initiation □ GP asked about symptom:	s Dedication - (Ple	ase specify)	ninitated by a LUCE in specialist in DOI 1 KIDW please specify DNe any side effects DNe
diagnosed with BPH?	□ urinary retention	□ □ trequency □ weak stream	□ <6 months	Prompt from patient's spouse/partner	2		Medication 2: - taken for? yrs mths
	□ nocturia □ hesitancy	$\Box$ straining to urinate $\Box$ NONE $\rightarrow$ End	$\Box$ 6 to <12 mths $\Box$ 1 to <2 yrs	□ Pharmacist's advice	L Other	st (Please specify)	<ul> <li>initiated by? □ GP □ Specialist □ Don't know</li> <li>blease specify</li> </ul>
2	□ urgency	questions	t □ >2 yrs BL136C	(Please specify)	-   Referral - other		any side effects 🗆 None

## SAND abstract number 191: NSAID use, gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risk in general practice patients with arthritis

### Organisation collaborating for this study: AstraZeneca Pty Ltd (Australia)

**I ssues**: Prevalence of arthritis in general practice patients and use of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs); gastrointestinal (GI) and cardiovascular (CV) risk profile of patients with arthritis; use of NSAIDs by patients with different risk profiles.

**Sample:** 5,429 patients from 186 GPs; data collection period: 25/10/2011 – 16/01/2012.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>.

**Methods for this substudy:** GI risk was defined using the Gastroenterology Society of Australia (GESA) guideline "NSAIDs and the gastrointestinal tract", 2008. CV risk was calculated using "Guidelines for the assessment of absolute cardiovascular disease risk", National Vascular Disease Prevention Alliance, 2009.

### Summary of results

The age and sex distributions of patients in this SAND sample did not differ significantly from that of patients at all 2010–11 BEACH encounters.

Almost one-third (32.3%, 95% CI: 29.8–34.9) of the surveyed patients had arthritis. Prevalence increased significantly with age from 3.3% (95% CI: 1.6–5.1) of patients aged 15–24 years to 74.6% (95% CI: 70.5–78.6) in patients aged 75 years and over. Osteoarthritis was the most common type of arthritis (29.8%, 95% CI: 27.3–32.3), followed by rheumatoid arthritis (1.3%, 95% CI: 0.9–1.7), gout (0.8%, 95% CI: 0.5–1.0) and other types of arthritis (1.5%, 95% CI: 1.0–1.9) (multiple types of arthritis could be recorded).

Of the 1,755 patients with arthritis, 1,682 provided details of NSAID and aspirin use and 43.3% (95% CI: 40.2–46.3) of these were currently taking aspirin and/or NSAID. NSAIDs were taken by 21.2% (95% CI: 18.2–24.3) of patients with arthritis, and 12.8% of patients with arthritis had taken a NSAID continuously for more than three months. Aspirin was taken by 24.6% (95% CI: 21.9–27.3) of patients with arthritis. Most of these patients used aspirin as an antiplatelet medication, the mean and median daily dose being 110.2mg and 100.0mg respectively, and 97.3% of patients using aspirin had taken it continuously for more than three months.

GI risk was calculated for 1,596 arthritis patients: 40.1% had high risk, 49.1% moderate and 10.8% low GI risk. There were 1,579 patients for whom details of NSAID use and GI risk were provided. Of the 336 arthritis patients taking a NSAID: 58.0% had high risk, 36.6% moderate, and 5.4% were at low GI risk. Use of GI protection medication (e.g. proton pump inhibitors) was recorded for 1,556 patients: 19.1% of patients with low GI risk took GI protection medication (most of these patients had GORD); 38.2% of patients with moderate GI risk, and 50.5% of patients with high GI risk took GI protection medication.

CV risk was calculated for 1,299 arthritis patients: 65.4% had high CV risk, 9.0% moderate and 25.6% low CV risk. There were 1,250 patients who provided details of NSAID use and CV risk. Of the 244 arthritis patients taking a NSAID: 54.9% were at high risk, 10.2% moderate, and 34.8% were at low CV risk.
PLEASE READ CAREFULLY The shaded section of the following forms asks questions ab You may tear out this page as a guide to completing th	out <b>ARTHRITIS</b> e following secti	, CARDIOVASCULAR F on of forms.	RISK AND GASTF	ROINTESTINAL RISK.
<b>INSTRUCTIONS</b> Please answer the following questions for <b>ALL</b> of the <b>next 30 PATIENTS</b> <b>in the order in which the patients are seen.</b> Please <u>DO NOT</u> select patients to suit the topic being investigated.	Current aspir If the patient is and/or non-ste medication (NS	in and/or NSAID use currently taking either aspirin troidal anti-inflammatory SAID) please write the name	Clinics Please recent r choles	al measurements write in the patient's most results of blood pressure, total terol, and HDL cholesterol, if
<ul> <li>Arthritis</li> <li>Please use the tick boxes to advise whether this patient has been diagnosed with:</li> <li>osteoarthritis</li> <li>rheumatoid arthritis (RA)—please tick the box if the RA is severly disabling</li> <li>other types of arthritis (e.g. lupus (SLE) or</li> </ul>	and regimen of provided. NSAII COX-II inhibitor Beside each me or not the patie continuously f If neither medic box labelled 'No	f the medication/s in the space Ds includes traditonal NSAIDs, s, and oxicams. edication, please advise whethe <b>nt has taken the product</b> <b>or more than 3 months.</b> cation is taken, please tick the cation is taken, please tick the	rested If any le was no please know/rr Please is a cur	In the past 12 months. evel is unknown, or the patient at tested in the past 12 months, tick the box labelled 'Don't not tested' for that measure. advise whether or not the patient rrent smoker.
psoriatic arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, gout). Please <b>tick as many as apply</b> . If the patient does <b>not</b> have arthritis please <b>end the</b> <b>questions here for this patient</b> .			Height/wei Ask the pati	ght ent: height (without
Other current or previous conditions or risks Please use the tick boxes to advise whether the patient has, or has a history of, any of the listed conditions o factors. Notes: GORD = gastro-oesophgeal reflux disease. Moderate/severe renal impairment: defined as persistent prote or estimated glomerular filtration rate < 45 mL/mi/1.73 m2 Family history of premature heart disease: a mother or sister younger than 55 years, or a father or brother younger than 65 ye when diagnosed with heart disease.	<b>also</b> r risk inuria ars	Other medications Please use the tick boxes to advise whether the patient is also taking any of the listed medications. (Note: SSRI = Selective serotonin reuptake inhit If the patient is not taking ar of the listed medications plea tick the box labelled 'None o' above'.	<ul> <li>snoes) ?</li> <li>What is their (unclothed)?</li> <li>What is their (unclothed)?</li> <li>Conversion tal pounds to kilo; inches to centi inches to ce</li></ul>	weight bles from stone/ grams and feet/ imetres are provided. REQUIRED to weigh e patient, but if the ure, you may either information from the ds.
$\rightarrow$ $\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$
Does the patient have:       Does the patient have/ have history of:       Current as         □ Osteoarthritis       □ Diabetes       □ GORD/dyspepsia       (including C         □ Rheumatoid arthritis       □ Hypertension       □ Hepatic impairment       medicatior         □ Rheumatoid arthritis       □ Mod/severe renal impairment       medicatior       medicatior         □ Other arthritis:       □ Mod/severe renal impairment       Name & Form       Name & Form         □ Other arthritis:       □ Peptic ulcer/ulcer bleed	pirin and/or NSAID OX-II inhibitors, oxicams) (s) are: Strength Dose Frequer Strength or NSAID	Continuous     Is the patient cu regularly taking: Proton pump in Dother acid supp Anti-platelet (ex Anti-oagulant       Image: No.     Image: No.       Image: No.     Image: No.	rently Patient ibitor vveight: ressant <i>Aspirin</i> Height: doid Height: res	If measured in the past 12 months, please specify (most recent) levels of: Blood pressure:/mmHg Total chol:mmo/I HDL-C:mmo/I Current smoker?YesNo

# SAND abstract number 192: Influenza risk, vaccination and diagnosis among general practice patients

### Organisation collaborating for this study: GlaxoSmithKline Australia Pty Ltd

**Issues:** The proportion of general practice patients who were 'at risk' of influenza (had one or more risk factors – see attached card for risk factors); proportion of at risk patients aware they were eligible for a free influenza vaccine; proportion of at risk patients vaccinated; reasons why at risk patients were not vaccinated; proportion of patients diagnosed with influenza in previous year and any complications or hospitalisations due to influenza.

**Sample:** 2,737 patients from 93 GPs; data collection period: 25/10/2011 – 28/11/2011.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>.

### Summary of results

There was no significant difference between the sex distribution of patients in this SAND and patients at all 2010–11 BEACH encounters. There was a significantly greater proportion of patients in the 75+ age group in this SAND (21.2%, 95% CI: 17.6–24.8) than at all 2010–11 BEACH encounters (16.3%, 95% CI: 15.5–17.1).

Among the 2,737 respondents, 1,317 (48.1%) had one or more influenza risk factor: one-third (33.0%) were aged 65+ years; 10.9% had cardiac disease; 9.6% had diabetes; 8.0% had chronic respiratory disease; 1.8% had impaired immunity; 1.7% were Indigenous aged 15 years and older; and 0.7% had a neurological condition impacting respiratory function. There was no difference between male and female patients in the proportion that were at risk.

Of 1,298 at risk respondents, 980 (75.5%) had been vaccinated in 2011, while 291 (22.4%) had not. Of 1,255 at risk respondents, 1,150 (91.6%) were aware that influenza vaccination was available free to them through the Immunise Australia Program. Four out of five patients (79.8%) who were aware that influenza vaccination was available free had been vaccinated compared with only 26.2% of those who were not aware of this.

Of the 291 at risk patients who were not vaccinated in 2011, 284 gave 296 reasons for not being vaccinated. The most common of the listed reason was patient objection (27.8% of the 284 patients), followed by patients considering themselves not at risk (25.4%), patient belief they could get the flu from the vaccination (9.5%), cost (1.4%) and 40.1% gave other reasons.

Among 1,278 respondents, 50 (3.9%) had been diagnosed with influenza in the previous year. Of 950 at risk patients who had been vaccinated in 2011, 36 (3.8%) had been diagnosed with influenza in the previous year, while among 290 patients not vaccinated, 13 (4.5%) had been diagnosed with influenza in the previous year. Of 49 respondents diagnosed with influenza, 28 (57.1%) had at least one complication, the most common being bronchitis (n = 23, 46.9%) followed by pneumonia (n = 6, 12.2%). Of the 36 patients vaccinated in 2011 who had influenza in the previous year, 20 (55.6%) had had complications from it, while among 12 patients who were not vaccinated, 7 (58.3%) had had complications. Of 44 respondents with influenza, 8 (18.2%) had been hospitalised for influenza or its complications in the previous year. Among 31 vaccinated respondents, 6 (19.4%) had been hospitalised, while among 12 respondents who were not vaccinated, 1 (8.3%) had been hospitalised.

The following pages contain the recording form and instructions with which the data in this substudy were collected.

### Risk factors for influenza infection

This card lists the risk factors for influenza infection.

Please <u>circle the numbers</u> on the recording form to indicate whether this patient has any of the listed risk factors or indications.

- 1. ≥65 years of age
- 2. Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander aged ≥15 years
- 3. Cardiac disease
- 4. Diabetes
- 5. Chronic respiratory disease (e.g. emphysema, severe asthma)
- 6. Other chronic disease requiring regular follow-up or hospitalisation in the previous year (e.g. chronic renal failure)
- 7. Neurological conditions that impact respiratory function
- 8. Impaired immunity (e.g. HIV, malignancy)
- 9. Children (aged 6 months to 10 years) on long term aspirin therapy

Source: adapted from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Australian Immunisation Handbook 9th Edition 2008

	1					
		SIC BO	alisation ents who were ed with influenza st 12 months, indicate whether a or its ations required al admission.	$\rightarrow$	Was the patient admitted to hospital due to influenza illness or its complications?	°N I D
	omplications	ne uck boxes to ther the patient any <b>complicatio</b> of influenza did <b>not</b> experien titions please tick led 'NONE'.	Hospita For patie diagnose in the pa please in influenzi complici a hospit	$\rightarrow$	ny influenza omplications? ] Bronchittis ] Pneumonia ] Other:	(please specify)
VACCINATION.	Influenza c	Indicate use use use use use use use use use us	inza diagnosis e indicate whether tient was diagnosed laboratory med or clinical sist) with influenza past 12 months.	$\rightarrow$	Was the patient A diagnosed* with co influenza in the past [ 12 months? ["either laboratory confirmed or clinical diagnosis] ["Yes	Don't know
RISK FACTORS AND ' 1 of forms.		Patients who were NOT vaccinated For patients who <u>did not</u> rece the influenza vaccination for the 2011 season, please indicate the reasons that the vaccine was not given.	Influe Please the pai confirm diagno in the j	→	<u>not</u> vaccinated in 2011, the asson(s) was: I Cost to patient I Patient objection I Patient considers themselves low risk I patient believes they may	get flu from vaccine
questions about INFLUENZA	t <b>30 PATIENTS</b> ivestigated.	nise Australia Program ients who have at least one isted risk factors please ether (prior to today's visit) ere aware that free influenza e is available through the ise Australia Program.	Influenza vaccination status Please use the tick boxes to indicate whether this patient received the influenza vaccine for (or during) the 2009, 2010 and 2011 flu seasons. Please exclude separate vaccinations given for monovalent pandemic influenza A, subtype H1N1 (commonly referred to as 'swine flu') in 2009 and 2010.		Did the patient receive influenza       If         vaccination**       Don't         vaccination**       Loont         for / during the:       Yes         2009** flu scason       D         2010** flu scason       D         2011 flu scason       D         2011 flu scason       D         2011 flu scason       D	influenza A (H1N1) vaccination when given as a separate vaccine
EFULLY owing forms asks as a guide to co	uns for <u>ALL</u> of the <u>next</u> nts are seen. to suit the topic being in	ion Immun ate For pati isted of the li These ask whe in the they we vaccine	on stear	$\rightarrow$	'tyes', was the patient ware (prior to today's isit) that influenza accination is freely vallable through the mmunise Australia	No No
PLEASE READ CAR The shaded section of the foll You may tear out this page	INSTRUCTIONS Please answer the following questic in the order in which the patie Please <u>DO NOT</u> select patients	Risk factors for influenza infect Please <u>circle the numbers</u> to indic whether this patient has any of the I risk factors for influenza infection. risk factors are also listed on a card research pack. 1. ≥65 years of age 2. Aboriainal and/or Torres Strait Islander	aged ≥15 year 3. Cardiac disease 4. Diabetes 5. Chronic respiratory disease 6. Other chronic disease requiring reguls follow-up or hospitalisation in the previ- follow-up or hospitalisation in the previ- follow-up or hospitalisation in the previ- 7. Neurological conditions that impact respiratory function 8. Impaired immunity (e.g. HIV, malignar 9. Children (aged 6 months to 10 years) long term aspirin therapy 1f the patient has <b>none</b> of the risk fac please <b>end questions here</b> .	→	Please <u>circle number(s)</u> to indicate in whether the patient has current influenza infection risk factor(s): v v See key list 1, 2, 3, a on card, circle as 4, 5, 6, if many as 7, 8, 9, 7	BL137C $\square$ None $\rightarrow$ End questions $\square$

# SAND abstract number 193: Diabetes, macular oedema and dyslipidaemia among general practice patients

### Organisation collaborating for this study: Novartis Pharmaceuticals Australia Pty Ltd

**Issues:** The proportion of general practice patients who have diagnosed type 1 and 2 diabetes; the length of time since diabetes was diagnosed; most recent HbA1c result; current medications used to manage diabetes; proportion of patients with diabetes that also have diagnosed macular oedema and its current management; proportion of patients with diabetes and macular oedema that also have dyslipidaemia and its current management.

**Sample:** 2,825 patients from 97 GPs; data collection period: 17/01/2012 – 20/02/2012.

**Method:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>.

### Summary of results

The age distribution of patients in this sample did not differ from that of patients at all 2010–11 BEACH encounters, however, in this sample there was a significantly higher proportion of females (61.5%, 95% CI: 58.2–64.7% c.f. 57.1%, 95% CI: 56.3–58.0).

Of the 2,825 respondents, 308 had diabetes (10.9%, 95% CI: 9.3–12.6): 29 (1.0%) had type 1 diabetes only; 276 (9.8%) had type 2 diabetes only; and 3 patients had both type 1 and type 2 diabetes. The age-specific prevalence of diabetes were highest among patients aged 65–74 years (23.9%) followed by patients aged 75 years and older (16.4%) and those aged 45–64 years (11.9%). Sex-specific prevalence of diabetes was significantly higher among males (14.7%, 95% CI: 12.1–17.3) than females (8.5%, 95% CI: 6.8–10.3). Time since diagnosis was known for 297 patients: two-thirds (66.0%) had been diagnosed more than 5 years earlier, and 26.6% between one and five years earlier.

Most recent HbA1c test results were reported for 265 diabetes patients. The mean HbA1c level was 7.4% and the median was 6.9%. Among 289 respondents with diabetes, 233 (80.6%) were using 386 medication to manage their diabetes. Metformin accounted for 42.5% of these. The various types of insulin together made up over one-quarter of medications.

Among 303 respondents with diabetes, 25 (8.3%) had macular oedema, 218 (71.9%) had been tested and did not have macular oedema, while 60 patients (19.8%) did not know or had never been tested. Of the 23 patients with macular oedema who responded, the majority (65.2%) reported no visual impairment and the macular oedema was not actively managed, 3 patients had impairment but no management, 3 had received laser treatment, and 2 were on medication.

Over two-thirds of patients with diabetes (72.8%) were known to have dyslipidaemia. Information about dyslipidaemia status was given for 24 of the 25 diabetes patients with macular oedema. Twenty (83.3%) of these patients had dyslipidaemia, and 4 had been tested and did not have dyslipidaemia. Of the 20 patients with all three conditions, dyslipidaemia was managed with: medication only for 14 patients; a combination of diet, exercise and medication for 3; diet and exercise for 2 patients and no management recorded for 1 patient.

The following pages contain the recording form and instructions with which the data in this substudy were collected.

the patient If yes, how long Most recent HbA1c was: $\begin{tabular}{c} \label{eq:constraint} \end{tabular} \end{tabular}$ Does the patient have diagnosed $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ Current management is: Does the patient have diagnosed $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ Current management is: $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ Myper/dyslipidaemia? $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ (ick all that a list of a management is) was diagnosed? Current diabetes medication is: $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ Aignosed $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ Current diabetes medication is: $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ Aignosed $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ Current diabetes medication is: $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ Aignosed $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$	Time since diabetes diagnosisPlease write the name of any medication/s currently being taken by the patient for diabetes taken by the patient for diabetes management.Time since diapetes diagnosis, or if afterward, approximately how long.If 'yes' please use the medication/s currently being taken by the patient for diabetes management.Please write the name of any medication/s currently being taken by the patient for diabetes management.If out the diapetes diagnosis, or if afterward, approximately how long.If 'yes' please use the medication's diabetes was diagnosed.If 'yes' please use the management.If any) is currently being used for the hyper/ dyslipidaemia.	TRUCTIONS         se answer the following questions for <u>ALL</u> of the <u>next 30 PATIENTS</u> se order in which the patients are seen.         se <u>DO NOT</u> select patients to suit the topic being investigated.	In the second secon	DEDEMA and HYPER/DYS         on of forms.         ular Oedema         win diagnosed         win diagnosed         diar oedema.         advise whether the macular         ma was diagnosed prior to the         tes diagnosis, or if afterward,         oximately how long.         ent management please         ne tick boxes to advise what         advise what         advise undrise what         advise what         agement (if any) is currently         used for the macular oedema.         ent management si         hypainment         - not actively managed	ing the following section Indiate Please wheth macu <i>Mac</i> Please wheth <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>Mac</i> <i>M</i>	REFULLY Ilowing forms asks questic e as a guide to complet ints are seen. to suit the topic being investigated to suit the topic being investigated most recent HbA1c Please write the result of the patient's most recent HbA1c test in the space provided. (% will be converted to muol/mol at analysis). Diabetes medic Please write the n management. If no medication/s cur taken by the patie management. If no medication to manage diabet box labelled 'No r lost recent HbA1c was: with the state of the patient's most analysis).	EASE READ LAT         Imay fear out this page         SIRUCTIONS         SIRUCTIONS         ase answer the following question         the order in which the patients is ase use the tick boxes to ase use the tick boxes to ase use the tick boxes to ase of a better that an an an another that an an another that an another that an another that an another that are patient has are use the tick boxes to advise the approximate length of time since the patient's diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes are the tick boxes to advise the approximate length of time since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes are the tick boxes to advise the approximate length of time since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes are the tick boxes to advise the approximate length of time since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes are the tick boxes to advise the approximate length of time since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes are the tick boxes to advise the approximate length of time since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes are the tick boxes to advise the approximate length of time since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes are the tick boxes to advise the approximate length of time since diabetes was diagnosed since diabetes are the tick boxes of a time since diabetes are the tick boxes of a time since diabetes are the tick boxes of a time since the patient's time the time since the patient's time time since the patient's time time time time time time time time
Itype 1 $\square <3$ months1 $\square <1$	r patient If yes, how long Most recent HbA1c was: % Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current management is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed ↓ <i>Current diabetes medication is:</i> Does the patient have diagnosed <i>Current diabetes medication is:</i> Does → <i>diagnosed</i>	Generation       Macular Ocdema         rese text boxes to advise whether the patient has diagnosed with diabetes whether the patient has diagnosed with diabetes please text the patient has diagnosed with diabetes please whether the macular preserve the result preserve text the patient has diagnosed with diabetes please use the text boxes to advise whether the macular preserve text the patient has diagnosed minit of the patient has diagnosed minit of the patient has diagnosed minit preserve text the pa	$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{ested-No} & \square \mbox{prior to diabetes} \\ \mbox{Don't} & \square < 1 \mbox{ yr after diabetes} \\ \mbox{mow} & \square & 1 - 2 \mbox{ yrs after diabetes} \\ \mbox{now} & \square & 1 - 2 \mbox{ yrs after diabetes} \\ \mbox{vever} & \square > 2 - 5 \mbox{vever} \\ \mbox{vever} & \square > 2 - 5 \mbox{vever} \\ \mbox{vever} & \square > 2 - 5 \mbox $	tes	□ Tested - No □ prior to diaber □ Don't □ <1 yr after dis know / □ 1 - 2 yrs after Never □ >2 - 5 yrs after		Type 1 $\Box < 3$ months11 $\Box < 3$ months $2$ 1 $\Box < 1 - 5$ years $3$ 1 $\Box > 1 - 5$ years $3$ serions $\Box > 5$ years $3$
Time since diabetesPlease write the name of any medication/s currently being taken by the patient for diabetes taken by the patient for diabetes time since the patient's diabetes was diagnosed.Please write the name of any taken by the patient for diabetes taken by the patient for diabetes taken by the patient for diabetes time since the patient's diabetes was diagnosed.Please write the name of any taken by the patient for diabetes taken by the patient's dyslipidaemia.Imagement time since the patient's diabetes was diagnosed.Imagement time since the patient's dyslipidaemia.Imagement time since the hyper/ dyslipidaemia.		macular Oedema         gnosed diabetes         se use the tick boxes to advise whether the patient has diagnosed with diabetes         Most recent HbA1c         Nease write the result         Imagnosed with diabetes	Hyper/dyslipidaemia Please use the tick boxes to advise whether the patient has diagnosed hyper/dyslipidaemia. (When) diagnosedIf 'yes' please also advise whether the hyper/ dyslipidaemia was diagnosed prior	ma was diagnosed <b>prior to</b> the tes diagnosis, or if <b>afterward</b> , ximately how long. <b>ent management</b> please he tick boxes to advise what <b>agement</b> (if any) is currently I used for the macular oedema.	oede diabe appro appro use ti use ti being	or the patient's most recent HbA1c test in the space provided. (% will be converted to mmol/mol at analysis).	ler Type 1 or Type 2). e patient does not have inosed diabetes please end questions here.
Internation	Inter Type 1 or Type 2).       of the patient's most rest in the patient's most rest in the patient's most rest in the patient does not have in the space provided.       Hyper/dyslipidaemia         Interpret and the patient does not have in the space provided.       Please use the tick boxes to advise whether the patient has diagnosed prior to the macular oedema was diagnosed prior to the macular oedema       Hyper/dyslipidaemia         Interpret and the patient does not have in the space provided.       Please use the tick boxes to advise whether the patient has diagnosed most in the macular oedema.         Interpret management (if any) is currently being used for the macular oedema.       Please use the tick boxes to advise whether the hyper/dyslipidaemia.         Interpret management (if any) is currently being used for the macular oedema.       Please whether the hyper/dyslipidaemia.         Interpret management (if any) is currently being used for the macular oedema.       Please whether the hyper/dyslipidaemia.         Interpret management (if any) is currently being used for the macular oedema.       Please whether the hyper/dyslipidaemia.			ular Oedema se use the tick boxes to advise her the patient has diagnosed ular oedemaIf 'yes' please advise whether the macular	Mac Pleas wheth mac	Most recent HbA1c Please write the result	gnosed diabetes ase use the tick boxes to ise whether this patient has n diagnosed with diabetes
FUCTIONS       a swerthe following questions for ALL of the next 30 PATIENTS         a swerthe following questions for ALL of the next 30 PATIENTS       a swerthe following questions for ALL of the next 30 PATIENTS         a swerthe following questions for ALL of the next 30 PATIENTS       a swerthe following questions for ALL of the next 30 PATIENTS         a color in the patient has a reason.       a color in the patient has diagnosed in the total ("type 10") diagnosed in the patient has diagnosed in the patin has diagnosed in the	RUCTIONS       Enserve the following questions for AL of the next 30 PATIENTs         answer the following questions for AL.       or the next 30 PATIENTs         answer the following questions for AL.       or the next 30 PATIENTs         c DO NOT select patients to suit the topic being investigated.       De Not select patients to suit the topic being investigated.         c DO NOT select patients to suit the topic being investigated.       De Not select patients to suit the topic being investigated.         c DO NOT select patients to suit the topic being investigated.       De Not select patients to suit the topic being investigated.         c DO NOT select patients to suit the topic being investigated.       De Not select patient topic being investigatosed.         no rype 2).       De Select patient topic being investigatosed.       De Select patient topic being investigatosed.         no rype 2).       De severted to meduar oscient topic being investigatosed prior to the meduar oscient topic being used for the meduar oscient topic being used information on component.       Percent Hor the patient topic being used for the meduar oscient topic being used information on component (if any) is currently being used information on component (if any is currently being used information on component (if any is currently being used information on component (if any is currently being used information on component (if any is currently being used information on component (if any is currently being used infore tor the meduar oscie		SLIPIDAEMIA in DIABETES.	<b>DEDEMA and HYPER/DYS</b> on of forms.	ons about MACULAR of the following section	KEFULLY llowing forms asks questic e as a guide to completi	ADE REAU UAR shaded section of the fo may tear out this page

# SAND abstract number 194: Adult general practice patients' cardiovascular risk and lipid medication use

### Organisation collaborating for this study: AstraZeneca Pty Ltd (Australia)

**I ssues:** The proportion of adults attending general practice who: have at least one listed cardiovascular disease/risk factor; are classed as low, medium, and high cardiovascular risk; are using lipid lowering agents.

**Sample:** 2,531 adult (18+ years) patient from 100 GPs; data collection period: 21/02/2012 – 26/03/2012.

**M ethod:** Detailed in the paper titled *SAND Method* 2011–12 available at: <sydney.edu.au/medicine/fmrc/publications/sand-abstracts>. **M ethods for this substudy:** Cardiovascular risk was defined as per the 'Guidelines for the assessment of absolute cardiovascular disease risk' (National Vascular Disease Prevention Alliance, 2009).

*Step 1:* The patient is assessed as automatic high risk if they have any of: cardiovascular disease (CVD) including ischaemic heart disease, angina, previous MI, previous stroke, other CVD/event; diabetes and are 60 years of older; diabetes and microalbuminuria; moderate/severe chronic kidney disease (CKD); total cholesterol >7.5 mmol/L. *Step 2:* For those not high risk in step 1, CV risk calculated with Framingham equation. *Step 3:* For those still not assessed as high risk, 5% added (New Zealand cardiovascular guidelines handbook, 2009) to calculated risk score if one or more factors for consideration present, including: family history of premature heart disease; obesity (calculated using BMI from reported height and weight); age 35+ for Indigenous patients.

### Summary of results

The age and sex distribution of sampled adults did not differ from that of adults at all BEACH encounters in 2010–11.

Of 2,525 patients the prevalence of one or more CVD and/or risk factors for CVD was 67.2% (95% CI: 63.9–70.6), and 34.4% (n = 868) were automatically classed as high CVD risk (Step 1).

At Step 2 Framingham could only be calculated for 1,464 patients (58.0%) of the sample because the equation requires complete data in all variables surveyed. Calculation was made for 653 (75.2%) of the 868 patients already identified as at high risk and 811 (48.9%) of the 1,658 not classed as high risk in Step 1. Of the 811 patients not classed as at high risk in Step 1: 84.2% were classed as at low risk, 11.3% at moderate risk, and 4.4% at high risk.

When 5% was added to the Framingham result for each individual with one or more of the listed additional factors (Step 3), 25 moved from moderate to high risk, and 90 moved from low to moderate risk class. So at the end of Step 3, of the 1677 patients whose risk level could be measured: 929 (55.4%) were at high risk; 9.4% at moderate risk, and 35.2% at low risk.

Lipid-lowering medication(s) were used by 33.8% of 2,382 respondents to this question, by 24.3% of low CVD risk patients; 44.7% of moderate risk, and 62.3% of high risk patients. There were 841 patients not taking lipid medications for whom CVD risk could be calculated. Of these, 50.3% were at low risk, 10.0% at moderate, and 39.7% were at high risk.

The following pages contain the recording form and instructions with which the data in this substudy were collected.

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY The shaded section of the following forms a You may tear out this page as a guide to	asks questions about L o completing the folk	<b>IPID MEDICATION US</b> <i>owing section of forms.</i>	E in PATIENTS AT	CARDIOVASCULAR RIS	ж.
INSTRUCTIONS The following 30 forms relate to the <u>next 30 PATIEN</u> For any patients aged less than 18 years, pleas blank.	<u>ITS</u> in the order in which the second of th	the patients are seen. the bottom section	Test levels Please advise the pati testing, of blood pres cholesterol. I D1 cho	ent's levels at the most recent isure, Total cholesterol, HDL lesterol, and Triolvcerides.	
<i>For patients 18+ years</i> Cardiovascular disease (CVD) and risk fact	tors for CVD		If you do not know or patient has never had measured, please tick not tested'.	the box labelled ' <b>don't know</b> /	
For all <b>adult patients</b> (aged 18+ years), please use to advise whether the patient has any of the listed <b>d</b> <b>diseases, risk factors</b> , behaviours or history. Plea apply. If the patient has <b>none</b> of these diseases or risk fac the box labelled ' <b>none of the above</b> '	te the tick boxes cardiovascular ase tick all that ictors, please tick			Height/weight Ask the patient:	1
Notes: Moderate/severe chronic kidney disease: defined as proteinuria or estimated glomerular filtration rate < 45 ml MI = myocardial infarction. Family history of premature heart disease: a mother of than 55 years, or a father or brother younger than 65 year diagnosed with heart disease.	persistent L/min/1.73 m2 or sister younger ars when	Lipid lowering medication Please write the name and fo lipid lowering medication/s patient, including the regimen	n rm of the current taken by the (i.e. strength,	What is their <b>height</b> (/ shoes)? What is their <b>weight</b> ( Conversion tables froi pounds to kilograms a inches to centimetres You are NOT REQUIF	without unclothed)? m stone/ and feet/ are provided. RED to weigh
		dose and requency) of the file of the lipid medication is currer please tick the box labelled 'n medication'.	redication. tty taken, <b>ot taking lipid</b>	or measure the patien patient is unsure, you do so or take informat medical records.	it, but if the may either tion from the
→	<b>→</b>	→	-	<b>→</b>	→
If aged 18+ years, does the patient have: (lick all that       D         Diabetes       Angina       apply         Hypertension       Previous MI       E         Dyslipidaemia       Previous stroke       E         Ischaemic heart disease       Other cardiovascular       E         Microalbuminuria       disease (CVD)/event       E         Moderate/severe chronic       None of the above       E	Does the patient have any of he following CVD risk factors D Current smoker D Familjal hypercholesterolae D Family Hx of premature hee disease D Other CVD risk D None of the above BL1	Current lipid medication(s Name & Form Strength Do mia art art 	ter the ter ter ter ter ter ter ter ter ter te	le patient's most Don't know/ Pa ls of not tested Hei ure:/mmHg mmo/L	ttient reported ight: (in cm) eight: (in kg)

### References

- 1. Britt H, Miller GC, Charles J, Henderson J, Valenti L, Harrison C et al. A decade of Australian general practice activity 2002–03 to 2011–12. General practice series no. 32. Sydney: Sydney University Press, 2012.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian demographic statistics, June 2011. Cat. no. 3101.0. Canberra: ABS, 2011. Viewed 31 July 2012, www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/3101.0Jun%202011?OpenDocu ment.
- 3. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Health expenditure Australia 2009–10. Health and welfare expenditure series no. 46. AIHW Cat. no. HWE 55. Canberra: AIHW, 2011.
- 4. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. Medicare Statistics June quarter 2012, Group BA tables. Canberra: DoHA, 2012. Viewed 30 August 2012, www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/medstat-jun12-tables-ba.
- 5. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medical labour force 2009. AIHW Cat. no. AUS 138. Canberra: AIHW, 2011.
- 6. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medical workforce 2010. National health workforce series no.1. AIHW Cat. no. HWL 47. Canberra: AIHW, 2012.
- Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. Medicare Statistics March quarter 2012, Group BC tables. Canberra: DoHA, 2012. Viewed 30 August 2012, www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/medstat-mar12tables-bc.
- 8. Meza RA, Angelis M, Britt H, Miles DA, Seneta E, Bridges-Webb C. Development of sample size models for national general practice surveys. Aust J Public Health 1995;19(1):34–40.
- Classification Committee of the World Organization of Family Doctors. ICPC-2: International Classification of Primary Care. 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1998.
- 10. Robertson J, Fryer JL, O'Connell DL, Smith AJ, Henry DA. Limitations of Health Insurance Commission (HIC) data for deriving prescribing indicators. Med J Aust 2002;176(9):149–424.
- 11. Henderson J, Harrison C, Britt H. Indications for antidepressant medication use in Australian general practice patients. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2010;44(9):865.
- 12. Britt H, Harrison C, Miller G. The real story, GP prescribing of antibiotics for respiratory tract infections from BEACH. Sydney: FMRC, University of Sydney, 2012. Viewed 22 March 2012, http://tinyurl.com/74jdxwy.
- 13. Britt H, Harrison C, Miller G. A misleading measure of GP prescribing of antibiotics for URTI. Sydney: FMRC, University of Sydney, 2012. Viewed 9 February 2012, www.tinyurl.com/74jdxwy.
- 14. Wilkinson D, McElroy H, Beilby J, Mott K, Price K, Morey S et al. Characteristics of general practitioners that provided health assessments, care plans or case conferences, as part of the enhanced primary care program. Aust Health Rev 2002;25(6):121.

15. Australian Association of Pathology Practices Inc & Britt H. An analysis of pathology test use in Australia. Drivers of demand. Canberra: AAPP, 2008. Viewed 21 September 2012,

www.aapp.asn.au/images/document/DOD%20paper%20+%20append.pdf.

- 16. Bayram C & Valenti L. GP pathology ordering. In: Britt H & Miller GC (eds). General practice in Australia, health priorities and policies 1998 to 2008. General practice series no. 24. Cat. no. GEP 24. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2009;57–86.
- 17. Studdert DM, Britt HC, Pan Y, Fahridin S, Bayram CF, Gurrin LC. Are rates of pathology test ordering higher in general practices co-located with pathology collection centres? Med J Aust 2010;193(2):114–9.
- 18. Bayram C, Britt H, Miller G, Valenti L. Evidence-practice gap in GP pathology test ordering: a comparison of BEACH pathology data and recommended testing. Sydney: The University of Sydney, 2009. Viewed 12 July 2012, www6.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/9B6B7B4EAAC0383D CA256F180048CCBD/\$File/BEACH\_QUPP%20report\_FINAL\_050609.pdf.
- 19. Britt H, Knox S, Miller GC. Changes in pathology ordering by general practitioners in Australia 1998–2001. General practice series no. 13. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 13. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2003.
- 20. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey: summary of results, 2007–08. AIHW Cat. no. 4364.0. Canberra: ABS, 2009.
- 21. Kerry SM & Bland JM. Sample size in cluster randomisation. BMJ 1998;316(7130):549.
- 22. Slymen DJ & Hovell MF. Cluster versus individual randomization in adolescent tobacco and alcohol studies: illustrations for design decisions. Int J Epidemiol 1997;26(4):765–71.
- 23. Cosby RH, Howard M, Kaczorowski J, Willan AR, Sellors JW. Randomizing patients by family practice: sample size estimation, intracluster correlation and data analysis. Fam Pract 2003;20(1):77–82.
- 24. Knox SA, Harrison CM, Britt HC, Henderson JV. Estimating prevalence of common chronic morbidities in Australia. Med J Aust 2008;189(2):66–70.
- 25. Britt HC, Harrison CM, Miller GC, Knox SA. Prevalence and patterns of multimorbidity in Australia. Med J Aust 2008;189(2):72–7.
- 26. Sayer GP, Britt H, Horn F, Bhasale A, McGeechan K, Charles J et al. Measures of health and health care delivery in general practice in Australia. General practice series no. 3. AIHW Cat. no. GEP3. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2000.
- 27. Britt H, Miller GC, Henderson J, Bayram C. Patient-based substudies from BEACH: abstracts and research tools 1999–2006. General practice series no. 20. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 20. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2007.
- 28. Britt H, Miller GC, Charles J, Bayram C, Pan Y, Henderson J et al. General practice activity in Australia 2006–07. General practice series no. 21. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 21. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2008.
- 29. Britt H, Miller GC, Charles J, Henderson J, Bayram C, Harrison C et al. General practice activity in Australia 2007–08. General practice series no. 22. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 22. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2008.

- 30. Britt H, Miller G, Charles J, Henderson J, Bayram C, Pan Y et al. General practice activity in Australia 2008–09. General practice series no. 25. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 25. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2009.
- 31. Britt H, Miller G, Charles J, Henderson J, Bayram C, Pan Y et al. General practice activity in Australia 2009–10. General practice series no. 27. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 27. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2010.
- 32. Britt H, Miller G, Charles J, Henderson J, Bayram C, Valenti L et al. General practice activity in Australia 2010–11. General practice series no. 29. Sydney: Sydney University Press, 2011.
- 33. SAS proprietary software release 9.2. Cary: SAS Institute Inc, 2008.
- 34. Wolfe R & Hanley J. If we're so different, why do we keep overlapping? When 1 plus 1 doesn't make 2. CMAJ 2002;166(1):65–6.
- 35. Cumming G & Finch S. Inference by eye: confidence intervals and how to read pictures of data. Am Psychol 2005;60(2):170–80.
- 36. Austin PC & Hux JE. A brief note on overlapping confidence intervals. J Vasc Surg 2002;36(1):194–5.
- World Health Organization. Family of international classifications. Geneva: WHO, 2004. Viewed 21 September 2012, www.who.int/classifications/en/WHOFICFamily.pdf.
- 38. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian family of health and related classifications matrix. Canberra: AIHW, 2005. Viewed 21 September 2012, www.aihw.gov.au/australian-family-of-health-and-related-classifications-matrix/.
- 39. Wonca International Classification Committee. ICPC-2 English 2-pager. Singapore: World Organization of Family Doctors, 1998. Viewed 21 September 2012, www.kith.no/upload/2705/ICPC-2-English.pdf.
- 40. Britt H. A new coding tool for computerised clinical systems in primary care ICPC plus. Aust Fam Physician 1997;26(Suppl 2):S79–S82.
- 41. Bridges-Webb C, Britt H, Miles DA, Neary S, Charles J, Traynor V. Morbidity and treatment in general practice in Australia 1990–1991. Med J Aust 1992;157(19 Oct Spec Sup):S1–S56.
- 42. Britt H, Miles DA, Bridges-Webb C, Neary S, Charles J, Traynor V. A comparison of country and metropolitan general practice. Aust Fam Physician 1994;23(6):1116–25.
- 43. O'Halloran J, Miller GC, Britt H. Defining chronic conditions for primary care with ICPC-2. Fam Pract 2004;21(4):381–6.
- 44. World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification index with Defined Daily Doses (DDDs). January 1998 ed. Oslo: WHO, 1997.
- 45. Britt H, Miller G, Bayram C. The quality of data on general practice a discussion of BEACH reliability and validity. Aust Fam Physician 2007;36(1–2):36–40.
- 46. Driver B, Britt H, O'Toole B, Harris M, Bridges-Webb C, Neary S. How representative are patients in general practice morbidity surveys? Fam Pract 1991;8(3):261–8.
- 47. Britt H, Harris M, Driver B, Bridges-Webb C, O'Toole B, Neary S. Reasons for encounter and diagnosed health problems: convergence between doctors and patients. Fam Pract 1992;9(2):191–4.

- 48. Britt H. Reliability of central coding of patient reasons for encounter in general practice, using the International Classification of Primary Care. Journ Informatics in Prim Care 1998;May:3–7.
- 49. Britt H. A measure of the validity of the ICPC in the classification of reasons for encounter. Journ Informatics in Prim Care 1997;Nov:8–12.
- 50. Bentsen BG. The accuracy of recording patient problems in family practice. J Med Educ 1976;51(4):311–6.
- 51. Barsky AJ, III. Hidden reasons some patients visit doctors. Ann Intern Med 1981;94(4 pt 1):492–8.
- 52. Morrell DC, Gage HG, Robinson NA. Symptoms in general practice. J R Coll Gen Pract 1971;21(102):32–43.
- 53. Anderson JE. Reliability of morbidity data in family practice. J Fam Pract 1980;10(4):677–83.
- 54. Marsland DW, Wood M, Mayo F. Content of family practice. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1980.
- 55. Bensing J. The use of the RFE classification system in observation studies some preliminary results. Presented at the Tenth WONCA Conference on Family Medicine; 1983; Singapore: WONCA; 1983;95–100.
- 56. Howie JG. Diagnosis the Achilles heel? J R Coll Gen Pract 1972;22(118):310–5.
- 57. Alderson M. Mortality, morbidity and health statistics. First ed. Southampton: Stockton Press, 1988.
- 58. Crombie DL. The problem of variability in general practitioner activities. In: Yearbook of research and development. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1990;21–24.
- 59. Britt H, Bhasale A, Miles DA, Meza A, Sayer GP, Angelis M. The sex of the general practitioner: a comparison of characteristics, patients, and medical conditions managed. Med Care 1996;34(5):403–15.
- 60. Knottnerus JA. Medical decision making by general practitioners and specialists. Fam Pract 1991;8(4):305–7.
- 61. Britt H, Meza RA, Del Mar C. Methodology of morbidity and treatment data collection in general practice in Australia: a comparison of two methods. Fam Pract 1996;13(5):462–7.
- 62. Gehlbach SH. Comparing methods of data collection in an academic ambulatory practice. J Med Educ 1979;54(9):730–2.
- 63. Britt H, Angelis M, Harris E. The reliability and validity of doctor-recorded morbidity data in active data collection systems. Scand J Prim Health Care 1998;16(1):50–5.
- 64. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Standard Geographical Classification. AIHW Cat. no. 1216.0. Canberra: ABS, 2008.
- 65. Bayram C, Knox S, Miller G, Ng A, Britt H. Clinical activity of overseas-trained doctors practising in general practice in Australia. Aust Health Rev 2007;31(3):440–8.
- 66. Charles J, Britt H, Valenti L. The independent effect of age of general practitioner on clinical practice. Med J Aust 2006;185(2):105–9.
- 67. Harrison CM, Britt HC, Charles J. Sex of the GP 20 years on. Med J Aust 2011;195(4):192–6.

- 68. Henderson J, Miller G, Britt H, Pan Y. Effect of computerisation on Australian general practice: does it improve the quality of care? Qual Prim Care 2010;18(1):33–47.
- 69. Britt H, Valenti L, Miller GC, Farmer J. Determinants of GP billing in Australia: content and time. Med J Aust 2004;181(2):100–4.
- 70. Britt HC, Valenti L, Miller GC. Determinants of consultation length in Australian general practice. Med J Aust 2005;183(2):68–71.
- Britt H, Miller GC, Charles J, Henderson J, Bayram C, Valenti L et al. General practice activity in Australia 2000–01 to 2009–10: 10 year data tables. General practice series no. 28. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 28. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2010.
- 72. Britt H & Miller GC (eds) General practice in Australia, health priorities and policies 1998 to 2008. General practice series no. 24. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 24. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2009.
- 73. McWhinney IR. Are we on the brink of a major transformation of clinical method? CMAJ 1986;135(8):873–8.
- 74. Harrison C & Britt H. General practice workforce gaps now and in 2020. Aust Fam Physician 2011;40(1–2):12–5.
- 75. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. Expenditure and prescriptions twelve months to 30 June 2011. Canberra: DoHA, 2011. Viewed 4 October 2012, www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/pbs-stats-pbexp-jun11.
- 76. Department of Health and Ageing. MBS primary care items: History of key MBS primary care initiatives 1999–2010. 2011. Viewed 21 September 2012, www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/mbsprimarycare-History.
- 77. World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification index with Defined Daily Doses (DDDs). January 2009 ed. Oslo: WHO, 2009.
- 78. Miller GC, Britt HC, Valenti L. Adverse drug events in general practice patients in Australia. Med J Aust 2006;184(7):321-4.
- 79. UBM Medica Australia Pty Ltd. MIMS Australia. Sydney: UBM Medica Australia Pty Ltd, 2010.
- 80. Therapeutic Goods Administration. Scheduling of medicines and poisons. Canberra: TGA, 2010. Viewed 21 September 2012, www.tga.gov.au/industry/scheduling.htm.
- 81. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. Medicare Benefits Schedule Book. Canberra: DoHA, 2004.
- 82. Medicare Australia. Practice Nurse Incentive Program (PNIP). Canberra: Medicare Australia, 2012. Viewed 14 August 2012, www.medicareaustralia.gov.au/provider/incentives/pnip.jsp.
- 83. Medicare Australia. Practice Nurse Incentive Program Guidelines, June 2011. Canberra: DoHA, 2011. Viewed 3 September 2012, www.medicareaustralia.gov.au/provider/incentives/files/pnip\_guidelines\_1106.pdf.
- 84. Medicare Australia. Annual Report 2009–10 statistical tables. Canberra: Department of Human Services, 2010. Viewed 9 July 2012, www.humanservices.gov.au/corporate/publications-and-resources/facts-and-figures/medicare/0910-medicare-statistical-tables.

- 85. Britt H, Miller GC, Knox S. Imaging orders by general practitioners in Australia 1999– 00. General practice series No 7. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 7. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2001.
- 86. Britt H, Miller GC, Knox S, Charles J, Valenti L, Henderson J et al. General practice activity in Australia 2002–03. General practice series no. 14. AIHW Cat. no. GEP 14. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2003.
- 87. Richards PJ & George J. Diagnostic CT radiation and cancer induction. Skeletal Radiol 2010;39(5):421–4.
- 88. Smith-Bindman R. Is computed tomography safe? N Engl J Med 2010;363(1):1-4.
- 89. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. Children to get Better Access to MRI Machines. Canberra: DoHA, 2012. Viewed 16 July 2012, www.health.gov.au/internet/ministers/publishing.nsf/Content/mr-yr11-nrnr096.htm.
- 90. Begg S, Vos T, Barker B, Stevenson C, Stanley L, Lopez AD. The burden of disease and injury in Australia 2003. AIHW Cat. no. PHE 82. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2007.
- 91. Mathers C, Vos T, Stevenson C. The burden of disease and injury in Australia. AIHW Cat. no. PHE 17. Canberra: AIHW, 1999.
- 92. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's Health 2010: the twelfth biennial health report of the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. AIHW Cat. no. AUS 122. Canberra: AIHW, 2010.
- 93. World Health Organization. Body mass index (BMI). Geneva: WHO, 2009. Viewed 21 September 2012, apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro\_3.html.
- 94. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Nutrition Survey: nutrient intakes and physical measurements, Australia 1995. AIHW Cat. no. 4805.0. Canberra: ABS, 1998.
- 95. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ 2000;320(7244):1240–3.
- 96. Cole TJ, Flegal KM, Nicholls D, Jackson AA. Body mass index cut offs to define thinness in children and adolescents: international survey. BMJ 2007;335(7612):194.
- 97. Ogden CL, Kuczmarski RJ, Flegal KM, Mei Z, Guo S, Wei R et al. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2000 growth charts for the United States: improvements to the 1977 National Center for Health Statistics version 54. Pediatrics 2002;109(1):45–60.
- 98. Valenti L. Overweight and obesity. In: Britt H & Miller GC (eds). General practice in Australia, health priorities and policies 1998 to 2008. General practice series no. 24. Cat. no. GEP 24. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2009;105–120.
- 99. Cretikos MA, Valenti L, Britt HC, Baur LA. General practice management of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents in Australia. Med Care 2008;46(11):1163–9.
- 100. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2008. Biennial health report no. 11. AIHW Cat. no. AUS 99. Canberra: AIHW, 2008.
- 101. AIHW. Australia's Health 2012. Australia's health no. 13. AIHW Cat. no. AUS 156. Canberra: AIHW, 2012.

- 102. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2010 National Drug Strategy Household Survey report. Drug Statistics Series no. 25. AIHW Cat. no. PHE 145. Canberra: AIHW, 2011.
- 103. Ridolfo B & Stevenson C. The quantification of drug-caused mortality and morbidity in Australia, 1998. Drug Statistics Series. AIHW Cat. no. PHE 29. Canberra: AIHW, 2001.
- 104. Single E, Ashley MJ, Bondy S, Rankin J, Rehm J. Evidence regarding the level of alcohol consumption considered to be low-risk for men and women. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council, 2000. Viewed 21 September 2012, www.nhmrc.gov.au/publications/pdf/alc-comp.pdf.
- 105. National Health and Medical Research Council. Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, 2009.
- 106. Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, de la Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol Consumption II. Addiction 1993;88(6):791–804.
- 107. Bush K, Kivlahan DR, McDonell MB, Fihn SD, Bradley KA. The AUDIT alcohol consumption questions (AUDIT-C): an effective brief screening test for problem drinking. Ambulatory Care Quality Improvement Project (ACQUIP). Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. Arch Intern Med 1998;158(16):1789–95.
- 108. Centre for Drug and Alcohol Studies. The alcohol use disorders identification test. 1993. Sydney: The University of Sydney.
- 109. Meneses-Gaya C, Zuardi AW, Loureiro SR, Hallak JE, Trzesniak C, de Azevedo Marques JM et al. Is the full version of the AUDIT really necessary? Study of the validity and internal construct of its abbreviated versions. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2010;34(8):1417–24.
- 110. Proude EM, Britt H, Valenti L, Conigrave KM. The relationship between self-reported alcohol intake and the morbidities managed by GPs in Australia. BMC Fam Pract 2006;7:17.

### Abbreviations

ABS	Australian Bureau of Statistics
ACE	angiotensin-converting enzyme
ACRRM	Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine
ACS	acute coronary syndrome
ADE	adverse drug event
AHS	allied health service
AHW	Aboriginal health worker
AIHW	Australian Institute of Health and Welfare
APM	antiplatelet medication
ASGC	Australian Standard Geographical Classification
ATC	Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (classification)
BEACH	Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health
BMI	body mass index
BG	blood glucose
BPH	Benign prostatic hyperplasia
CAPS	Coding Atlas for Pharmaceutical Substances
CI	confidence interval (in this report 95% CI is used)
CKD	chronic kidney disease
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
СТ	computerised tomography
CV	cardiovascular
CVD	cardiovascular disease
DoHA	Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing
DVA	Australian Government Department of Veterans' Affairs
ENT	Ear, nose and throat
FMRC	Family Medicine Research Centre
FTE	full-time equivalent
GI	gastrointestinal
GI SE	gastrointestinal side effect
GP	general practitioner
HbA1c	haemoglobin, type A1c
HRT	hormone replacement therapy
ICPC	International Classification of Primary Care

ICPC-2	International Classification of Primary Care - Version 2
ICPC-2 PLUS	a terminology classified according to ICPC-2
INR	international normalised ratio
LCL	lower confidence limit
MBS	Medicare Benefits Schedule
M,C&S	microscopy, culture and sensitivity
NDSHS	National Drug Strategy Household Survey
NESB	non-English-speaking background
NHMRC	National Health and Medical Research Council
NHS	National Health Survey
NSAIDs	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OTC	over-the-counter (medications advised for over-the-counter purchase)
PBS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme
PN	Practice nurse
RACGP	Royal Australian College of General Practitioners
RFE	reason for encounter
RRMA	Rural, Remote and Metropolitan Area classification
SAND	Supplementary Analysis of Nominated Data
SAS	Statistical Analysis System
UCL	upper confidence limit
URTI	upper respiratory tract infection
WHO	World Health Organization
Wonca	World Organization of Family Doctors

### **Symbols**

_	not applicable
<	less than
>	more than
NEC	not elsewhere classified
п	number
NOS	not otherwise specified

### Glossary

#### A1 Medicare items: see MBS/DVA items: A1 Medicare items.

*Aboriginal:* The patient identifies himself or herself as an Aboriginal person.

*Activity level:* The number of general practice A1 Medicare items claimed during the previous 3 months by a participating GP.

*Allied health services:* Clinical and other specialised health services provided in the management of patients by allied and other health professionals including physiotherapists, occupational therapists, dietitians, dentists and pharmacists.

*Chapters (ICPC-2):* The main divisions within ICPC-2. There are 17 chapters primarily representing the body systems.

Chronic problem: see Diagnosis/problem: Chronic problem.

*Commonwealth concession card:* An entitlement card provided by the Australian Government, which entitles the holder to reduced-cost medicines under the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme and some other concessions from state and local government authorities.

Complaint: A symptom or disorder expressed by the patient when seeking care.

*Component (ICPC-2):* In ICPC-2 there are seven components that act as a second axis across all chapters.

#### Consultation: See Encounter.

*Diagnosis/problem:* A statement of the provider's understanding of a health problem presented by a patient, family or community. GPs are instructed to record at the most specific level possible from the information available at the time. It may be limited to the level of symptoms.

- *New problem:* The first presentation of a problem, including the first presentation of a recurrence of a previously resolved problem, but excluding the presentation of a problem first assessed by another provider.
- *Old problem:* A previously assessed problem that requires ongoing care, including follow-up for a problem or an initial presentation of a problem previously assessed by another provider.
- *Chronic problem:* A medical condition characterised by a combination of the following characteristics: duration that has lasted or is expected to last 6 months or more, a pattern of recurrence or deterioration, a poor prognosis, and consequences or sequelae that impact on an individual's quality of life. (*Source:* O'Halloran J, Miller GC, Britt H 2004. Defining chronic conditions for primary care with ICPC-2. Fam Pract 21(4):381–6).
- *Work-related problem:* Irrespective of the source of payment for the encounter, it is likely in the GP's view that the problem has resulted from work-related activity or workplace exposure, or that a pre-existing condition has been significantly exacerbated by work activity or workplace exposure.

*Encounter (enc):* Any professional interchange between a patient and a GP.

- *Indirect:* Encounter where there is no face-to-face meeting between the patient and the GP but a service is provided (for example, prescription, referral).
- *Direct:* Encounter where there is a face-to-face meeting of the patient and the GP.

Direct encounters can be further divided into:

- MBS/DVA-claimable: Encounters for which GPs have recorded at least one MBS item number as claimable, where the conditions of use of the item require that the patient be present at the encounter.
- *Workers compensation:* Encounters paid by workers compensation insurance.
- Other paid: Encounters paid from another source (for example, state).

*General practitioner (GP):* A medical practitioner who provides primary comprehensive and continuing care to patients and their families within the community (Royal Australian College of General Practitioners).

*GP consultation service items:* Includes GP services provided under the MBS professional services category including MBS items classed as A1, A2, A5, A6, A7, A14, A17, A18, A19, A20, A22 and selected items provided by GPs classified in A11, A15 and A27.

*GP* consultation service items: see *MBS/DVA* items: *GP* consultation service items.

*MBS/DVA items:* MBS item numbers recorded as claimable for activities undertaken by GPs and staff under the supervision of GPs. In BEACH a MBS item number may be funded by Medicare or by the Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA).

- *A1 Medicare items:* Medicare item numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 13, 19, 20, 23, 24, 25, 33, 35, 36, 37, 38, 40, 43, 44, 47, 48, 50, 51, 601, 602.
- *GP consultation service items:* Includes GP services provided under the MBS professional services category including MBS items classed as A1, A2, A5, A6, A7, A14, A17, A18, A19, A20, A22 and selected items provided by GPs classified in A11, A15 and A27.
- *MBS/DVA item categories:* (Note: item numbers recorded in BEACH in earlier years which are no longer valid are mapped to the current MBS groups)
  - *Surgery consultations:* identified by any of the following item numbers: short 3, 52, 5000, 52003; standard 23, 53, 5020, 5203; long 36, 54, 5040; prolonged 44, 57, 5060, 5208.
  - *Residential aged care facility:* identified by any of the following item numbers: 20, 35, 43, 51, 92, 93, 95, 96, 5010, 5028, 5049, 5067, 5260, 5263, 5265, 5267.
  - Home or institution visits (excluding residential aged care facilities): identified by any of the following item numbers:: 4, 19, 24, 33, 37, 40, 47, 50, 58, 59, 60, 65, 87, 89, 90, 91, 503, 507, 5003, 5023, 5043, 5063, 5220, 5223, 5227, 5228.
  - *GP mental health care:* identified by any of the following item numbers: 2700, 2701, 2702, 2704, 2705, 2710, 2712, 2713, 2715, 2717, 2721, 2723, 2725.
  - *Chronic disease management items:* identified by any of the following item numbers: 720, 721, 722, 723, 724, 725, 726, 727, 729, 730, 731, 732.
  - *Health assessments:* identified by any of the following item numbers: 700, 702, 703, 704, 705, 706, 707, 708, 709, 710, 712, 713, 714, 715, 717, 718, 719.
  - *Case conferences:* identified by any of the following item numbers: 734, 735, 736, 738, 739, 740, 742, 743, 744, 750, 762, 765, 773, 775, 778.

- Attendances associated with Practice Incentives Program payments: identified by any of the following item numbers: 2497, 2501, 2503, 2504, 2506, 2507, 2509, 2517, 2518, 2521, 2522, 2525, 2526, 2546, 2547, 2552, 2553, 2558, 2559, 2574, 2575, 2577, 2598, 2600, 2603, 2606, 2610, 2613, 2616, 2620, 2622, 2624, 2631, 2633, 2635, 2664, 2666, 2667, 2668, 2673, 2675, 2677, 2704, 2705.
- *GP bulk-billed incentive payment:* identified by any of the following item numbers: 10990,10991,10992,74990,74991.
- Practice nurse/Aboriginal health worker/allied health worker services: identified by any of the following item numbers: 711, 10950, 10951, 10960, 10966, 10970, 10986, 10987, 10989, 10993, 10994, 10995, 10996, 10997, 10998, 10999, 16400, 82210.
- *Acupuncture:* identified by any of the following item numbers: 173, 193, 195, 197, 199.
- Diagnostic procedures and investigations: identified by item numbers: 11000–12533.
- Therapeutic procedures: identified by item numbers: 13015–25205 (excluding 16400).
- Surgical operations: identified by item numbers: 30001–53706.
- *Diagnostic imaging services:* identified by item numbers: 55028–64991.
- *Pathology services:* identified by item numbers: 65060–74999.

*Medication:* Medication that is prescribed, provided by the GP at the encounter or advised for over-the-counter purchase.

*Medication rates:* The rate of use of all medications, including medications that were prescribed, supplied by the GP and advised for over-the-counter purchase.

Medication status:

- *New:* The medication prescribed/provided at the encounter/advised is being used for the management of the problem for the first time.
- *Continued:* The medication prescribed/provided at the encounter/advised is a continuation or repeat of previous therapy for this problem.
- Old: See Continued.

*Morbidity:* Any departure, subjective or objective, from a state of physiological wellbeing. In this sense, sickness, illness and morbid conditions are synonymous.

*Patient status:* The status of the patient to the practice.

- *New patient*: The patient has not been seen before in the practice.
- *Patient seen previously:* The patient has attended the practice before.

*Prescribed rates:* The rate of use of prescribed medications (that is, does not include medications that were GP-supplied or advised for over-the-counter purchase).

#### Problem managed: See Diagnosis/problem.

*Provider:* A person to whom a patient has access when contacting the healthcare system.

*Reasons for encounter (RFEs):* The subjective reasons given by the patient for seeing or contacting the general practitioner. These can be expressed in terms of symptoms, diagnoses or the need for a service.

*Recognised GP:* A medical practitioner who is:

- vocationally recognised under Section 3F of the *Health Insurance Act, or*
- a holder of the Fellowship of the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners who participates in, and meets the requirements for, quality assurance and continuing medical education as defined in the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) Quality Assurance and Continuing Medical Education Program, *or*
- undertaking an approved placement in general practice as part of a training program for general practice leading to the award of the Fellowship of the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, or undertaking an approved placement in general practice as part of some other training program recognised by the RACGP as being of equivalent standard. (*Source:* Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care 2001. Medicare benefits schedule book. Canberra: DHAC).

*Referral:* The process by which the responsibility for part or all of the care of a patient is temporarily transferred to another health care provider. Only new referrals to specialists and allied health services, and for hospital and residential aged care facility admissions arising at a recorded encounter are included. Continuation referrals are not included. Multiple referrals can be recorded at any one encounter.

*Repatriation health card:* An entitlement card provided by the Department of Veterans' Affairs that entitles the holder to access a range of Repatriation health care benefits, including access to prescription and other medications under the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme.

*Rubric:* The title of an individual code in ICPC-2.

*Significant:* This term is used to refer to a statistically significant result. Statistical significance is measured at the 95% confidence level in this report.

*Torres Strait Islander:* The patient identifies himself or herself as a Torres Strait Islander person.

Work-related problem: See Diagnosis/problem.

### Appendices

Appendix 1: Example of a 2011–12 recording form

BEACH (Bettering t) Encounter Number Da	he <u>Evaluation</u> te of encounter / /	And Car	e of <u>He</u> of Birth	alth) - M	orbidity Sex	/and Ti	Patier	<b>it Survey</b> It Postcod	<ul> <li>National © BEACH The University of le</li> <li>New Patient</li> </ul>	Sydney 1996 Yes / No	PATIE PATIE	NT SEEN E	D 3Y GP EEN BY	GP		
		 		'     	 ∑ _	 LL			Health Care/Benefits Card		Medic	are		5	ן ב	
START Time	iient <u>1.</u>								Veterans Affairs Card		lif appli	<b>os:</b> cable)	Workers	comp paic		
AM / PM Enc	asons for 2.								Aboriginal.		  -   -		State Go	ovt/Other p	aid[	
(please circle)	ю́.								Torres Strait Islander		3.		No charç	ge		
Diagnosis/ Problem ① :				Prol New	olem Sti □	atus d □ v	Vork elated [	Diagr	nosis/ lem ②:			Proble New ⊡	m Stati ] Old [	us Vor rela	ted ted	,
Drug Name AND Form for	this problem .	Strength of product	Dose F	requency	to. of OT Rpts		Drug sta	tus Drug N	lame AND Form for this problem	Strength of product	Dose	equency No.	of OTC	GP Supply N	rug status ew Cont.	
								- ~								
3.								i ci								
4.								4.								,
Procedures, other tre	atments, coun:	selling this	s consu	It for this p	problem			Proce	edures, other treatments, cour	selling thi	s consu	It for this pro	blem			
-	Pra Nur	se? 🗆 💈	~ 1				Prac Nurse?	1	Pra	se? 🗆 2				Pra Nur	cse?□	
Diagnosis/ Problem ③:				Prol New	∐ ∐	atus ⊡ ⊓	Vork elated [	Diagr Drobl	nosis/ lem 4) :			Proble	m Statu ] Old [	<b>Js</b> Wor □ relat	ed bei	
Drug Name AND Form for	this problem .	Strength of product	Dose	requency	fo. of Rpts	C GP	/ Drug sta	itus Drug No ont.	ame AND Form for this problem	Strength of product	Dose Fr	equency No. o	of OTC	GP Supply Ne	ug status ew Cont.	
2.								5.								
3.								с. Г								
4								4.								
Procedures, other tre	atments, coun	selling thi	s consu	It for this p	problem			Proce	edures, other treatments, cour	iselling thi	s consul	t for this pro	blem	ı		
1.	Pra	se? 🗆 2					Prac Nurse?	1.	Pra	se? 🗆 2				Pra	se? □	
NEW REFERRALS, AI			MAGIN	3/Other te	sts Body	<u>  v site</u>	Problem	(S) PATH		<u>blem(s)</u>	PATHOL	OGY (cont)		Prol	blem(s)	
	2					-	2 3	<b>4</b> 		0 0 4	4			7	9 4	
	1	4 4					2 3	<b>4</b> 2.	-	2 3 4	<u>ئ</u>			7	34	
2.	7						2 3	<b>4</b> 3.	-	234						
Patient reported Height:	To the patien Which best de status?	nt if 18+: scribes your	<sup>-</sup> smoking	To th∉ How α contair	e patient fiten do y	if 18+: ou have a hol?	a drink	How n have o drinkii	nany 'standard' drinks do you on a typical day when you are ng?	How often standard (	do you drínks or	have 6 or mo 1 one occasi	ore Fl ion?	NISH Tim	a	
cu	Smoke daily			Neve						Never						
Weight:	Smoke occas	ionally			nly or les a week/i	s fortnight			_	Monthly	funio III		וםנ	AM / F	W.	
Å	Previous smo Never smoked	ker J	ם כ	2-3 ti 4+ tin	THES A WE	že č				Weekly Daily or al	most dail	~		(please o	SIFCIE) BA14	
										•						

# Appendix 2: GP characteristics questionnaire, 2011–12

SYDN	IEY GP	profile	Research Centre
BEACH The University of Sydney 1996	- A-	Doctor Identification Number	r
Please fill in boxes or cir	cle answers	14. Over the past four	weeks have you provided any
1 Sev	Male / Female (Plance circle)	patient care	
1. 067	(Please circle)	(a) in a residential ag	ged care facility? Yes / No
2. Age		(b) as a salaried/sess officer?	Ional hospital medical Yes / No
3. How many years have	you spent in		
general practice?		15. Postcode of major	practice address
4. Country of graduation (	primary medical degree):	16. For your major pra	ctice, please specify the number
	Other: (specify)	of individuals (ie. h	eadcount) and number of full TE*) for each type of professiona
E Haw many direct potion	at para baura da ugu	*Each FTE is defined	as working 35-45 hours per week
work per week?	it care nours do you	e.g. 2 GPs each work	king 20 hours/wk is recorded as 2
(Include hours of direct pati	ient care, instructions,	individual GPs and 1	FTE: 1 enrolled nurse working
counselling etc and other se	ervices such as	20 Hours/WK IS record	No individuals No FTEs
rejerrais, prescriptions, pro			
6. Do you conduct any of	your consultations in a	(a) GPs (including you	
	Vec 25-50%	(b) Enrolled nurses	
□ Ves <25%	$\Box$ Yes $>50\%$	(c) Registered nurses.	
7. Are you a GP registrar	(i.e. in training)? Yes / No	(d) Nurse practitioners	i
8. Do you hold FRACGP?	Yes / No	(e) Midwives	
9 Do you hold FACREM?	Ves / No	(f) Aboriginal health we	orkers
10 Do you bulk bill potion	te? All/Some/None	17. Is your major pract	tice accredited? Yes / No
10. Do you buik bin patien	As financial And Source (None	18. Are any of the follow	ving health services located or
11. Is a computer availabl	le at your major	available at your ma	ajor practice?
practice?	Yes / No	(includes services in the	e same building or within 50 metres.
If 'yes', which clinical	software	available on a daily or	regular basis) (Circle all that apply)
is used? (specity)		Physiotherapist	
12. Do YOU use the comp	puter at your major	Pathology lab/collect	tion centre 3
practice?		Imaging	
If 'yes', please tick to ind	icate which functions of the	Specialist	
computer diritodi soltitul	Patholomy	Other (specify)	6
Prescribing	Electronic ordening (online)	None	
□ Internet	Print/produce ordering (onnine)	19. What are the norm	al after-hours arrangements
Email	Receive results electronically	for your major prac	stice? (Circle all that apply):
Active medical records:	a receive results electronically	Practice does its own	1
□ Completely paperless	Imaging:	Co-operative with ot	ner practices
Combination of	Electronic ordering (online)	Other	
computer and paper	Print/produce orders	None	5
Paper only	□ Receive results electronically	20 is your major pract	tice a teaching practice?
13. Did any of your BEAC	H consultations take place in	(Circle all that apply)	:
an Abonginai Commun	ity controlled nealth Service?	For undergraduates	
N0		For junior doctors	
Yes - all	2	For GP registrars	
res - some (which dates	5/5	NO	

Please return this form with the completed BEACH pad.

FMRC, PO Box 533, Westmead Hospital, Wentworthville, 2145.

GP(4(V)) Ph: 02 9845 8151 fax: 02 9845 8155 email: jan.charles@sydney.edu.au

Web: www.fmrc.org.au

### Appendix 3: Patient information card, 2011–12



**Family Medicine Research Centre** 



#### INFORMATION FOR PATIENTS

The BEACH ® Project

Today your doctor is taking part in a National Survey of general practice called BEACH<sup>®</sup> (Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health). This study is being done by the Family Medicine Research Centre, University of Sydney.

Your Doctor will be recording information about each patient he/she sees (age, gender etc), the problems that you see the Doctor about and the treatments given to you. There are no names on the forms so you cannot be identified. The information about today's visit to the doctor will be one record in a set of 100,000 records collected in general practices across Australia over the year.

This information will be used by researchers to describe what happens in general practice and to look at different aspects of health care; by government departments to help them plan for our future health; and by pharmaceutical companies to gain a picture of the people who use their drugs and of the problems being treated with the drugs they produce.

Remember: your name will not be on the form and no information will ever be released which could possibly let anyone know who you are. However, if you do not wish your doctor to record any unidentified information about you or your visit please tell your Doctor as soon as you go in. Such a decision will not affect the care your doctor is providing in any way.

#### SEE OVER FOR PROJECT DETAILS

(page 1 / 2)

FMRC, Acacia House, Westmead Hospital, PO Box 533,WENTWORTHVILLE, 2145. Ph: 02 9845 8151 fax: 02 9845 8155 email: jan.charles@sydney.edu.au Web: www.fmrc.org.au

### BEACH <sup>©</sup> Program Details

This program has been approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Sydney. The data are being collected in accordance with the Privacy Act 1988 as amended.

Organisations contributing financially to the conduct of this study in 2010–2011 are: + The Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing

- + AstraZeneca Pty Ltd (Australia)
- ✦ Pfizer Australia Pty Ltd
- + Sanofi-Aventis Australia Pty Ltd
- + CSL Biotherapies Pty Ltd
- + GlaxoSmithKline Australia Pty Ltd
- ✦ Merck Sharp & Dohme (Australia) Pty Ltd
- Novartis Pharmaceuticals Australia Pty Ltd

BEACH is endorsed by the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners



BEACH is endorsed by the Australian Medical Association

AMA

#### FURTHER INFORMATION:

Family Medicine Research Centre The University of Sydney Acacia House, Westmead Hospital Westmead 2145 Phone: (02) 9845 8151 Fax: (02) 9845 8155 Email: jan.charles@sydney.edu.au Web: www.fmrc.org.au

Any person with concerns or complaints about the conduct of this research study can contact The Manager, Human Ethics Administration, University of Sydney on +61 2 8627 8176 (Telephone); +61 2 8627 8177 (Facsimile); ro.humanethics@sydney.edu.au (Email). (page 2/2)

# Appendix 4: Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS

Available at: <purl.library.usyd.edu.au/sup/9781743320181>, see 'Electronic editions and downloads'.

- Table A4.1:
   Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS reasons for encounter and problems managed
- Table A4.2: Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS chronic problems
- Table A4.3:
   Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS problems managed by practice nurses
- Table A4.4: Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS clinical treatments
- Table A4.5: Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS procedures
- Table A4.6: Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS clinical measurements
- Table A4.7: Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS referrals
- Table A4.8: Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS pathology test orders (MBS groups)
- Table A4.9: Code groups from ICPC-2 and ICPC-2 PLUS imaging test orders (MBS groups)

The book provides a summary of results from the 14th year of the BEACH program, a continuing national study of general practice activity in Australia.

From April 2011 to March 2012, 984 general practitioners recorded details about 98,400 GP–patient encounters, at which patients presented 153,218 reasons for encounter and 152,286 problems were managed. For an 'average' 100 problems managed, GPs recorded: 70 medications (including 57 prescribed, six supplied to the patient and seven advised for over-the-counter purchase); 11 procedures; 24 clinical treatments (advice and counselling); six referrals to specialists and three to allied health services; orders for 31 pathology tests and seven imaging tests.

A subsample study of more than 31,000 patients suggests prevalence of the following measured risk factors in the attending adult (18 years and over) patient population: obesity—27%; overweight—35%; daily smoking—15%; at-risk alcohol consumption—25%. One in four people in the attending population had at least two of these risk factors.



SYDNEY UNIVERSITY PRESS sydney.edu.au/sup



